
1

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
 

Date: Thursday, 21 May 2020 
Time 10.30 am
Place: REMOTE MEETING  

Contact: Joss Butler or Ross Pike, Room 122, County Hall
Telephone: 020 8541 7368
Email: joss.butler@surreycc.gov.uk / ross.pike@surreycc.gov.uk
[For queries on the content of the agenda and requests for copies of related documents]

APPOINTED MEMBERS [11]
Tim Hall (Chairman) Leatherhead and Fetcham East;
Edward Hawkins (Vice-Chairman) Heatherside and Parkside;
Saj Hussain Knaphill and Goldsworth West;
Mary Angell Woodham and New Haw;
Bernie Muir Epsom West;
Andrew Povey Cranleigh & Ewhurst;
Keith Taylor Shere;
Rose Thorn Godstone;
Stephen Cooksey Dorking South and the Holmwoods;
Ernest Mallett MBE West Molesey;
Penny Rivers Godalming North;

EX OFFICIO MEMBERS (NON-VOTING)  [4]
Tim Oliver Leader of the Council Weybridge;
Tony Samuels Chairman of the Council Walton South & Oatlands;
Helyn Clack Vice-Chairman of the Council Dorking Rural;
Colin Kemp Deputy Leader Goldsworth East and Horsell Village;

APPOINTED SUBSTITUTES [09]
Nick Darby The Dittons;
Jonathan Essex Redhill East;
Will Forster Woking South;
Nick Harrison Nork & Tattenhams;
Yvonna Lay Egham;
Chris Townsend Ashtead;
Chris Botten Caterham Hill;
Barbara Thomson Earlswood and Reigate South;
Tim Evans Lower Sunbury and Halliford;
Richard Walsh Laleham and Shepperton;
Amanda Boote The Byfleets;

Register of planning applications: http://planning.surreycc.gov.uk/



2

This meeting can be accessed by the public via streaming of the 
committee on the council’s website. 

The live and recorded webcast of the remote meeting can be found 
here: https://surreycc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 

https://surreycc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


3

AGENDA

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive any apologies for absence and notices of substitutions 
under Standing Order 41.

2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on (6 February 2020).

(Pages 1 - 6)

3 PETITIONS

To receive any petitions from members of the public in accordance 
with Standing Order 84 (please see note 7 below).

4 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

To answer any questions received from local government electors 
within Surrey in accordance with Standing Order 85 (please see 
note 8 below).

5 MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME

To answer any questions received from Members of the Council in 
accordance with Standing Order 68.

6 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS

All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the 
meeting or as soon as possible thereafter 

(i) Any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or 
(ii) Other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in 

respect of any item(s) of business being considered at 
this meeting

NOTES:
 Members are reminded that they must not participate in any 

item where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest
 As well as an interest of the Member, this includes any 

interest, of which the Member is aware, that relates to the 
Member’s spouse or civil partner (or any person with whom 
the Member is living as a spouse or civil partner)

 Members with a significant personal interest may participate 
in the discussion and vote on that matter unless that 
interest could be reasonably regarded as prejudicial.

7 MINERALS & WASTE APPLICATION WA/2019/0796 - LOXLEY 
WELL SITE - LAND SOUTH OF DUNSFOLD ROAD AND EAST 
OF HIGH LOXLEY ROAD, DUNSFOLD, SURREY

The construction, operation and decommissioning of a well site for 
the exploration and appraisal of hydrocarbon minerals from one 
exploratory borehole (Loxley - 1) and one side - track borehole 
(Loxley - 1z) for a temporary period of three years involving the 
siting of plant and equipment, the construction of a new access 
track, a new highway junction with High Loxley Road, highway 

(Pages 7 - 172)



4

improvements at the junction of High Loxley Road and Dunsfold 
Road and the erection of a boundary fence and entrance gates with 
restoration to agriculture.

8 MINERALS/WASTE EL18/3802 WO2018/1358 - UNITS 11 AND 
12 WINTERSELLS ROAD, BYFLEET, WEST BYFLEET, 
SURREY KT14 7LF

Change of use to a waste transfer station and recycling facility (sui 
generis) for the receipt and treatment of mixed, dry, non-hazardous 
household, industrial and commercial and construction, demolition 
and excavation waste, including the demolition of the existing 
building at Unit 11 and the erection of a steel portal framed 
building, picking station, storage bays and boundary fencing.

(Pages 173 - 
306)

9 APPLICATION TO RECTIFY THE REGISTER OF COMMON 
LAND. LAND AT THE HALLAMS, LITTLEFORD LANE, 
BLACKHEATH, GUILDFORD

The committee is asked to consider whether or not to remove the 
land the subject of this application from the commons register. 

(Pages 307 - 
356)

10 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Planning & Regulatory Committee will be 
on [   ].

Joanna Killian
Chief Executive

NOTES:

1. Members are requested to let the Democratic Services Officer have the wording of any 
motions and amendments not later than one hour before the start of the meeting.

2. Substitutions must be notified to the Democratic Services Officer by the absent Member 
or group representative at least half an hour in advance of the meeting.

3. Planning officers will introduce their report and be able to provide information or advice to 
Members during the meeting. They can also be contacted before the meeting if you 
require information or advice on any matter. Members are strongly encouraged to 
contact the relevant case officer in advance of the meeting if you are looking to amend or 
add conditions or are likely to be proposing a reason for refusal. It is helpful if officers are 
aware of these matters in advance so that they can better advise Members both before 
and during the meeting.

4. Members of the public can speak at the Committee meeting on any planning application 
that is being reported to the Committee for decision, provided they have made written 
representations on the application at least 14 days in advance of the meeting, and 
provided they have registered their wish to do so with the Democratic Services Officer no 
later than midday on the working day before the meeting.  Registration can be done by 
emailing one of the Democratic Services officers named on this agenda or by using the 
telephone number listed if you do not have access to email. The number of public 
speakers is restricted to five objectors and five supporters in respect of each application.



5

5. Petitions from members of the public may be presented to the Committee provided that 
they contain 100 or more signatures and relate to a matter within the Committee’s terms 
of reference. The presentation of petitions on the following matters is not allowed: (a) 
matters which are “confidential” or “exempt” under the Local Government Access to 
Information Act 1985; and (b) planning applications. Notice must be given in writing at 
least 14 days before the meeting. Please contact the Democratic Services Officer for 
further advice.

6. Notice of public questions must be given in writing at least 7 days before the meeting. 
Members of the public may ask one question relating to a matter within the Committee’s 
terms of reference. Questions on “confidential” or “exempt” matters and planning 
applications are not allowed. Questions should relate to general policy and not detail. 
Please contact the Democratic Services Officer for further advice.

7. On 10 December 2013, the Council agreed amendments to the Scheme of Delegation so 
that:
 All details pursuant (applications relating to a previously granted permission) and 

non-material amendments (minor issues that do not change the principles of an 
existing permission) will be delegated to officers (irrespective of the number of 
objections).

 Any full application with fewer than 5 objections, which is in accordance with the 
development plan and national polices will be delegated to officers.

 Any full application with fewer than 5 objections that is not in accordance with the 
development plan (i.e. waste development in Green Belt) and national policies will be 
delegated to officers in liaison with either the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the 
Planning & Regulatory Committee.

 Any application can come before committee if requested by the local member or a 
member of the Planning & Regulatory Committee.

The revised Scheme of Delegation came into effect as of the date of the Council 
decision.



6

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 – GUIDANCE ON THE DETERMINATION OF 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

This guidance forms part of and should be read in conjunction with the Planning Considerations 
section in the following committee reports. 

Surrey County Council as County Planning Authority (also known as Mineral or Waste Planning 
Authority in relation to matters relating to mineral or waste development) is required under 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (1990 Act) when 
determining planning applications to “have regard to (a) the provisions of the development plan, 
so far as material to the application, (b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to 
the application, and (c) any other material considerations”. This section of the 1990 Act must be 
read together with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (2004 Act), 
which provides that: “If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in 
accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.”

Development plan

In Surrey the adopted development plan consists of the:
 Surrey Minerals Local Plan 2011(comprised of the Core Strategy and Primary 

Aggregates Development Plan Documents (DPD))
 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 (comprised of the Core Strategy, Waste Development and 

Waste Development Control Policies DPDs)
 Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD for the Minerals and Waste Plans 2013 (Aggregates 

Recycling DPD 2013)
 Any saved local plan policies and the adopted Local Development Documents 

(development plan documents and supplementary planning documents) prepared by the 
eleven Surrey district/borough councils in Surrey

 South East Plan 2009 Policy NRM6 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (apart 
from a policy relating to the former Upper Heyford Air Base in Oxfordshire the rest of the 
plan was revoked on 25 March 2013)

 Any neighbourhood plans (where they have been approved by the local community at 
referendum)

Set out in each report are the development plan documents and policies which provide the 
development plan framework relevant to the application under consideration. 

Material considerations

Material considerations will vary from planning application to planning application and can 
include: relevant European policy; the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (revised July 
2018 and updated February 2019) and subsequent updates; the March 2014 national Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) and updates; National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) October 
2014; Waste Management Plan for England 2013; extant planning policy statements; 
Government Circulars and letters to Chief Planning Officers; emerging local development 
documents (being produced by Surrey County Council, the district/borough council or 
neighbourhood forum in whose area the application site lies). 

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated in February 2019. This revised 
NPPF replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012 and revised in July 2018. It 
continues to provide consolidated guidance for local planning authorities and decision takers in 
relation to decision-taking (determining planning applications) and in preparing plans (plan 
making). 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework


7

The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected 
to be applied and the associated March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides 
related guidance. The NPPF should be read alongside other national planning policies on 
Waste, Travellers, Planning for Schools Development, Sustainable Drainage Systems, Parking, 
and Starter Homes .

At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 10). 
The NPPF makes clear that the planning system has three overarching objectives in order to 
achieve sustainable development, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways in order to take opportunities to secure net gains across each of the different 
objectives. These objectives are economic, social and environmental.

The presumption in favour of sustainable development in the NPPF does not change the 
statutory principle that determination of planning applications must be made in accordance with 
the adopted development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is 
one of those material considerations. In determining planning applications the NPPF (paragraph 
11) states that development proposals that accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 
which are most important in determining an application are out of date, permission should be 
granted unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed or any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF as a whole.

The NPPF aims to strengthen local decision making and reinforce the importance of up to date 
plans. Annex 1 paragraph 213 states that in determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should give due weight to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree 
of consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies are to the policies in the Framework, the 
greater the weight they may be given).

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998
GUIDANCE FOR INTERPRETATION

The Human Rights Act 1998 does not incorporate the European Convention on Human Rights 
into English law.  It does, however, impose an obligation on public authorities not to act 
incompatibly with those Convention rights specified in Schedule 1 of that Act.  As such, those 
persons directly affected by the adverse effects of decisions of public authorities may be able to 
claim a breach of their human rights.  Decision makers are required to weigh the adverse impact 
of the development against the benefits to the public at large.

The most commonly relied upon articles of the European Convention are Articles 6, 8 and Article 
1 of Protocol 1.  These are specified in Schedule 1 of the Act.

Article 6 provides the right to a fair and public hearing.  Officers must be satisfied that the 
application has been subject to proper public consultation and that the public have had an 
opportunity to make representations in the normal way and that any representations received 
have been properly covered in the report.

Article 8 covers the right to respect for a private and family life.  This has been interpreted as the 
right to live one’s personal life without unjustified interference.  Officers must judge whether the 
development proposed would constitute such an interference and thus engage Article 8.

Article 1 of Protocol 1 provides that a person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his 
possessions and that no-one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest.  
Possessions will include material possessions, such as property, and also planning permissions 

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-for-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6078/2113371.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6316/1966097.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/December%202014/18%20December/6.%20DCLG-sustainable-drainage-systems.pdf
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-03-25/HCWS488/
http://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-03-02/HCWS324/


8

and possibly other rights.  Officers will wish to consider whether the impact of the proposed 
development will affect the peaceful enjoyment of such possessions.

These are qualified rights, which means that interference with them may be justified if deemed 
necessary in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic well-being of the 
country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the 
protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

Any interference with a Convention right must be proportionate to the intended objective.  This 
means that such an interference should be carefully designed to meet the objective in question 
and not be arbitrary, unfair or overly severe.

European case law suggests that interference with the human rights described above will only 
be considered to engage those Articles and thereby cause a breach of human rights where that 
interference is significant. Officers will therefore consider the impacts of all applications for 
planning permission and will express a view as to whether an Article of the Convention may be 
engaged.



Page 1 of 4

MINUTES of the meeting of the PLANNING AND REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE held at 10.30 am on 6 February 2020 at Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Kingston upon Thames, Surrey KT1 2DN.

These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its next 
meeting.

Members Present:

Mr Tim Hall (Chairman)
Mr Edward Hawkins (Vice-Chairman)
Mr Saj Hussain
Mrs Bernie Muir
Dr Andrew Povey
Mrs Rose Thorn
Mr Stephen Cooksey
Mrs Penny Rivers

Apologies:

Mrs Mary Angell
Mr Keith Taylor
Mr Ernest Mallett MBE

39/18 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  [Item 1]

Apologies for absence were received from Ernest Mallett, Keith Taylor and 
Mary Angell. Nick Darby Substituted for Ernest Mallett. Richard Walsh 
substituted for Keith Taylor. 

40/18 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  [Item 2]

The Minutes were approved as an accurate record of the previous meeting.

41/18 PETITIONS  [Item 3]

There were none.

42/18 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  [Item 4]

There were none.

43/18 MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME  [Item 5]

There were none.

44/18 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  [Item 6]

There were none.

Page 1

2

Item 2



Page 2 of 4

45/18 MINERALS/WASTE TA2019/1608 - LAND AT KINGS FARM, TILBURSTOW 
HILL ROAD, SOUTH GODSTONE, SURREY RH9 8LB  [Item 7]

Officers: 

Samantha Murphy, Deputy Planning Development Manager
Caroline Smith, Interim Planning Group Manager 
Stephen Jenkins, Interim Planning Development Manager 
Nancy El-Shatoury, Principal Lawyer 

Speakers: 

There were no registered speakers. 

Key points raised during the discussion: 

1. Officers introduced the report and provided a brief summary. An 
update sheet was tabled at the meeting and is attached to these 
minutes as Appendix 1. Members noted that the proposal was for the 
retention and extension with upgrading of two appraisal wellsites and 
access track for the production of conventional hydrocarbons, 
including associated infrastructure, all on some 1.78 hectares for a 
temporary period of 15 years with restoration to agriculture without 
compliance with Condition 10 of planning permission ref: 
TA/2015/1572 dated 24 March 2016. The applicant also sought to 
change the method that gas is transported from the sit which was 
covered within paragraphs 14 – 18 of the report. Members further 
noted that the application was supported by both noise and air quality 
assessments. Officers highlighted that no significant impacts had been 
identified.

2. Members of the Committee raised concerns related to the 
contamination membrane noted within paragraphs 153 – 163 of the 
report. In response to concerns, officers highlighted conditions outlined 
in the report which stated that, before the installation of the area of 
extended containment membrane, details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the County Planning Authority of the type of 
existing membrane at Bletchingley Central, the type of membrane to 
be used for the extension, the dimensions of the overlap area, the 
method of cleaning the overlap area prior to joining, the method of 
joining the existing and extended areas of membrane, a Construction 
Quality Assurance (CQA) Plan, and containment system edge details 
demonstrating how the system will provide appropriate containment. 
This shall include details of the existing cellar and surrounding 
concrete apron and how the existing membrane interacts and seals 
against them. This shall also include details of the measures to be 
provided at the vehicle access point to the impermeable area, and how 
the containment is completed in this area. 

3. Members of the Committee highlighted comments related to drainage 
outlined in the report. Officers explained that there was a lack in 
information and clarity on the drainage system at the sites which was 
later resolved following a flood risk assessment. A condition was also 
included in the report which stated that specific details of the drainage 
systems would be presented to the Local Flooding Authority and the 
Geological Consultant. 

Page 2

2



Page 3 of 4

4. The Committee raised concerns about whether there would be a 
significant moderate impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 
Officers explained that the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) was clear that mineral extraction need not be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt provided it preserves the openness. 
Officers made a judgement that the harm to openness was a short 
term harm and that this was overridden by the short term nature of the 
proposal and that the site would be restored.

5. Members noted that the Air Quality Consultant was satisfied that 
emissions from the site were not significant and were dispersing 
appropriately.

6. A Member of the Committee asked whether it would be appropriate to 
secure a bond from the operator for restoration of the site. Officers 
highlighted that this was not usual practice for the County Planning 
Authority to request and that it would only be required under very 
special circumstances. It was however highlighted that it was permit 
requirement of the Oil and Gas Authority to have a programme of work 
which included restoration.  

7. A Member of the Committee stated that they found the very special 
circumstances to be compelling and felt there to be no reason why the 
application shouldn’t be approved.

8. A Member of the Committee supported the officer recommendation 
and highlighted that most residents within the local area where not 
aware of the site’s existence.

Resolved: 

The Planning and Regulatory Committee agreed to PERMIT application 
TA2019/1608 subject to the conditions and informatives listed on pages 61-75 
of the report and the update sheet tabled at the meeting and attached to 
these minutes. 

46/18 SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL PROPOSAL MO/2018/0640 - THE PRIORY 
SCHOOL, WEST BANK, DORKING, SURREY RH4 3DG  [Item 8]

The applicant requested that the application be deferred to a later meeting. 

47/18 ENFORCEMENT & MONITORING UPDATE REPORT  [Item 9]

Officers: 

Stephen Jenkins, Interim Planning Development Manager 

Key points raised in the discussion: 

1. Officers introduced the report and provided Members with a brief 
summary. It was noted that this was a regular report to update 
Members on enforcement activities and various actions taken on 
sites in the county. 

2. The Chairman referenced paragraphs 6.1 – 6.4 in the report and 
thanked the Enforcement Team for their work to facilitate the site 
restoration.

3. Members noted that a private briefing on an enforcement matter 
would later place after the meeting.  

Page 3

2



Page 4 of 4

Resolved: 

The Planning and Regulatory Committee noted the report. 

48/18 DATE OF NEXT MEETING  [Item 10]

The date of the next meeting was noted to take place on 27 February 2020.

Meeting closed at 11.05 am
_________________________
Chairman

Page 4

2



1

Planning & Regulatory Committee 6 February 2020  Item No 7

UPDATE SHEET
 
MINERALS/WASTE  TA/2019/1608

DISTRICT(S) TANDRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Land at Kings Farm, Tilburstow Hill Road, South Godstone, Surrey RH9 8LB

Retention and extension with upgrading of two appraisal wellsites (Bletchingley Central
and Bletchingley 2) and access track for the production of conventional hydrocarbons,
including associated infrastructure, all on some 1.78 hectares for a temporary period of
15 years with restoration to agriculture without compliance with Condition 10 (plans and
drawings) of planning permission ref: TA/2015/1572 dated 24 March 2016 to remove gas 
to grid processing, to allow a change and increase of gas to wire processing from 1MW to
6MW; and the reconfiguration of internal layout of both wellsites (a section 73 
application).

Officer report

Paragraph 61 should refer to Section 17 of the NPPF not the NPPG. 
Paragraph 64 should be amended to state “Both national and development plan planning policy 
with regards to conventional hydrocarbon development have not changed since application 
TA/2015/1572 was assessed by Officers in 2016.”
Paragraph 180 in the Heritage Assets section of the report did not provide the County Heritage 
Officer’s comments in full. These are: “The last Historic Environment Assessment of this site as 
produced under the most recent full planning application (SCC2015/0170) identified that the 
nearest listed buildings are those at Yew Tree Farm which are approximately 530m south of the 
application area. The assessment concluded that the setting of these buildings would not be 
impacted by the development. Owing to their distance from the site and tree coverage I am 
content that this is an accurate assessment. As noted in the above plans and Neighbour 
Information Note the proposal seeks to change the layout of the site rather than increase its 
size. In terms of height, the greatest increase will be from the three proposed generators at the 
Bletchingley Central site. Despite this increase in height, the site will still remain hidden behind 
the trees and will not result in a net increase in harm to Yew Tree Farm or any other heritage 
asset. On this basis there are no reasons to refuse the application on built heritage grounds”. 

Conditions

Condition 1 – add plan “3827 P 14 rev G `Connection to Wire Plan` dated November 2015” 

Condition 5 – delete reference to Class C within this condition. This relates to emergency 
operations and it is not appropriate to require prior approval.

Condition 32 – add word “that” in second sentence after “…….Authority’s consent or” and before 
“dies, or becomes………”.

Condition 33 – delete the first sentence and replace with:

Within 6 months of the date of this decision, details of the tree planting as shown on plan 7262 
PR 03 rev F "Preliminary Site Layout Bletchingley Central" dated November 2019 shall be 
submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval in writing.  

Condition 34 – update last sentence to refer to the revised plan: “7262 PR 03 Rev F "Preliminary 
Site Layout Bletchingley Central" dated November 2019”

Page 5

Minute Item 45/18

Page 5

2



2

Reasons

Reason 1 – add “For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and” at the 
start of the reason. This is so it uses the current national wording for this type of condition. 

Reason 3 – insert the words “pursuant to the Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy 2011 Policy 
MC14” after the word “duration”. 

Informatives

Informative 10 – this should be amended to refer to the Environment Agency’s letter dated 26 
November 2019. 

Informative 12 – this should be amended to refer to paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019. 

Page 6Page 6

2



ITEM NO

TO: PLANNING & REGLATORY COMMITTEE DATE: 21 MAY 2020

BY: PLANNING DEVELOPMENT MANAGER
DISTRICT(S) WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL ELECTORAL DIVISION(S):

Waverley Eastern Villages
Mrs Young
CASE OFFICER:
David Maxwell

PURPOSE: FOR DECISION GRID REF: 501773 137324

TITLE: MINERALS & WASTE APPLICATION WA/2019/0796 

SUMMARY REPORT

Loxley Well Site - Land South of Dunsfold Road and East of High Loxley Road, Dunsfold, 
Surrey

The construction, operation and decommissioning of a well site for the exploration and 
appraisal of hydrocarbon minerals from one exploratory borehole (Loxley-1) and one side 
- track borehole (Loxley-1z) for a temporary period of three years involving the siting of 
plant and equipment, the construction of a new access track, a new highway junction 
with High Loxley Road, highway improvements at the junction of High Loxley Road and 
Dunsfold Road and the erection of a boundary fence and entrance gates with restoration 
to agriculture.

The application site is located in a rural landscape approximately one mile north-east of the 
village of Dunsfold and half-a-mile north of Dunsfold Park in an area known as Loxhill. It extends 
to an area of 2.3 hectares and comprises worked agricultural fields situated in rolling 
countryside. The proposed well site compound would be situated to the south and west of four 
established woodland blocks, three of which are the subject of a clear-fell license granted to the 
Hascombe Estate by the Forestry Commission.

The proposed development is concerned with the exploration and appraisal stages of 
hydrocarbon development using conventional methods and does not involve hydraulic 
fracturing. It involves the drilling of a new well (Loxley-1) and one side-track well (Loxley-1z) for 
the exploration and appraisal of oil and gas for a temporary period of 3 years with restoration to 
agriculture. The primary target for exploration is gas from the Portland Sandstone Formation 
within the Godley Bridge Gas Discovery. The secondary target is oil from the deeper 
Kimmeridge Limestone Formation.

The proposal will be carried out in 4 distinct phases. Phase 1 (Access and Well Site 
Construction) would last for 14 weeks and include the construction of a new junction within High 
Loxley Road, the development of the well site compound with an impermeable membrane, the 
installation of a new access track to connect the new junction with the well site compound and 
minor highway improvement works on High Loxley Road and at the junction of High Loxley 
Road and Dunsfold Road.

Phase 2 (Drilling, Testing and Appraisal) would last up to 60 weeks and include the mobilisation 
and demobilisation of surface plant and machinery, the drilling of the well and side-track well 
using a drilling rig up to 38 metres in height, subsequent appraisal by initial short-term flow 
testing and extended well testing which is likely to involve the use of a crane when necessary up 
to 42 metres in height, and the potential deployment of a rig (up to 35 metres in height) or a coil 

Page 7

7

Item 7



tubing unit (up to 25 metres in height) to support any maintenance workover. Drilling, testing and 
appraisal represent a continuous process and involve 24 hour operations. The need for night 
time working will be minimised by way of considerate scheduling. Where this cannot be avoided 
operations are likely to be intermittent and of a temporary nature. If natural gas is encountered 
flaring would be engaged utilising up to two shrouded ground flares during initial short-term flow 
testing (likely to be intermittent for 7 days), followed by extended well testing (likely to be 
intermittent for 90 days using a single flare).

Phase 3 (Well Plugging, Abandonment and Decommissioning) would take place over a period of  
5 weeks and include the removal of all surface equipment followed by the plugging and 
abandonment of the well. Phase 4 (Site Restoration) would take 5 weeks and involving the 
restoration of the site to its original use subject to a period of aftercare. If commercially 
exploitable reserves of hydrocarbons are found to be present, then restoration would be delayed 
pending the submission of a further planning application to retain the site to enable long term 
production to take place prior to the carrying out of restoration and aftercare. 

The site is situated in Countryside beyond the Green Belt and is designated as an Area of Great 
Landscape Value. The boundary with the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty lies 
approximately 530 metres to the north of the well site compound. The proposal would result in a 
maximum of up to 20 HGV movements per day between 0700 and 1900 hours Monday to Friday 
and 0900 to 1300 hours on Saturdays. The majority will be scheduled within standard hours of 
operation (0800 to 1700 Mondays to Fridays and 0900 to 1300 Saturdays). All lorry traffic will be 
routed via Dunsfold Road and the A281 to the east. 

The oil and gas industry is heavily regulated and requires a range of licences, permits and 
consents from the Oil and Gas Authority (OGA), the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), the 
Environment Agency (EA), and the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA). In relation to the role of 
the MPA, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) says that the focus should be on 
whether the proposed development is an acceptable use of the land, rather than the control of 
processes or emissions where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes. Planning 
decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. 

Petroleum Exploration and Development Licenses (PEDLs) are issued by the Oil and Gas 
Authority (OGA) after a competitive process. This follows an assessment of applications for 
operator competency, financial capability, geotechnical analysis and the proposed work 
programme. A PEDL comprises a production license which covers all three stages of oil and gas 
development - exploration, appraisal and production within a defined area or block. They give 
the licence holder(s) exclusive rights to search, bore for and produce hydrocarbons (oil and gas) 
subject to necessary drilling / development consents and planning permission. Loxley Well Site 
would be located within PEDL) 234. This is on the northern flank of the Weald Basin close to the 
basin centre where the strata are at their thickest and most thermally mature.

In determining this application, it is necessary to consider the proposal against national and 
development plan policies and to assess any environmental impacts of the development against 
those policies. The advice provided by statutory and non-statutory consultees and the views 
expressed by other bodies, groups and individuals will also need to be considered. 

The application site is not located within a statutorily designated area for its landscape or nature 
conservation importance. However it is situated within an Area of Great Landscape Value 
(AGLV) and within the setting of the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 
The site lies in Flood Zone 1 and is not underlain by any groundwater Source Protection Zone 
designations. The nearest Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is located 8.1 km to the north-
west in Godalming. There are two Areas of High Archaeological Potential situated around 345 
metres to the north and 470 metres to the south of the well site compound. The Dunsfold 
Conservation Area is situated around a 1.4 km to the south-west and the Multivallate Hillfort, 
Hascombe Hill County Site of Archaeological Importance (CSAI) is located around 1,890 metres 
to the north-west.

Page 8

7



There are three residential properties lying in extensive grounds located to the north, south and 
south-west of the proposed well site compound, the nearest of which is Thatched House Farm 
located approximately 330 metres to the north of the centre of the compound. These three 
properties contain a total of seven Grade II listed buildings between them. Thatched House 
Farm and High Billinghurst Farm to the south also accommodate established local businesses 
including sheep and organic pig farming, a craft brewery and an annual cancer festival at the 
former and an events venue hosting up to 50 events annually at the latter. Lydia Park and New 
Acres are situated around 485 metres east of the centre of the well site compound and comprise 
a traveller site and mobile home park off Stovolds Hill. A further 4 applications have been 
permitted for gypsy and traveller accommodation on land to the north and west of Lydia Park, 
the closest being 420 metres to the north-east.

Prior to the submission of the application, a request for an Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) Screening Opinion was made to the County Planning Authority (CPA) on behalf of the 
applicant. The CPA adopted its formal EIA Screening Opinion on 28 February 2019 and 
recommended that the proposed development did not constitute ‘EIA development’

A key consideration is need. Government policy requires planning authorities to give great 
weight to the benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy, when determining 
planning applications. It makes it clear that oil and gas remains an important part of the UK’s 
energy mix. Energy policies recognise the continuing importance of fossil fuels but aim to 
manage reliance on them, their potential environmental effects and the risks associated with 
security of supply. While the Government manages the transition to a low carbon energy mix, oil 
and gas will remain key elements of the energy system for years to come (especially for 
transport and heating). Government policy also recognises a need to maximise indigenous oil 
and gas resources both onshore and offshore. Officers consider that there is a demonstrable 
need to maintain a stable and reliable supply of indigenous energy sources, including onshore 
oil and gas, into the future and that significant weight should be attributed to this aspect of the 
proposal which is considered to be in both the national and wider public interest. 

The location of the development has been informed by a detailed assessment process outlined 
in the Site Identification Report which take into account the use of directional drilling to widen the 
search area in the interests of finding a suitable site where the impacts on the environment and 
amenity can be minimised. Securing permission from the land owner was also a key factor. It is 
therefore concluded that the development is justified in this respect.

The Borough Council, local Parish Councils, local action and amenity groups and nearly 80% of 
representations received have raised objection to the proposal. This is due to a broad range of 
concerns which include: the proposal being contrary to Government policy; the inadequacy of 
the EIA screening process; flaws and insufficient information contained in the application; the 
lack of economic benefits; climate change; the unacceptable impact on local amenity and local 
businesses; landscape and visual impacts including the impact from the implementation of the 
clear-felling licence; noise; air quality; highways and traffic; ecology; lighting; archaeology and 
heritage; the impact on rights of way; restoration including the need to secure a restoration bond 
due to the applicant having insufficient funds to meet its restoration commitments; pollution and 
contamination including the risk to groundwater; waste disposal; health and safety; the method 
of drilling and extraction; geology; seismicity; aviation safety; cumulative impacts including in 
relation to traffic and the permitted new settlement at Dunsfold Park; the impact on house prices; 
the lack of oil reserves; the lack of consultation; the need to take into account the likely 
acceptability of a future application for hydrocarbon production; and human rights.

Just over a fifth of representations received have been in support of the development on the 
grounds of economic benefits, the environment (including reduced carbon footprint, low visual 
presence, noise and access), need, the extraction process and the ethical, sensitive and 
responsible nature of the applicant. The application has been carefully reviewed by a number of 
consultees including those providing specialist technical advice in relation to a broad range of 
environmental topic areas. Where concerns have been expressed, these have been addressed 
by the applicant and subsequently found to be cable of being resolved satisfactorily through the 

Page 9

7



provision of mitigation measures and the imposition of planning conditions when considered 
necessary.

The site would be restored back to agriculture and include a legacy enhancement programme. 
This would include the replacement of trees and hedgerows removed during construction works, 
a programme to retain and protect existing trees and hedgerows and a timed programme for the 
planting of new trees and hedgerows and the creation of new biodiversity habitat. This would be 
designed to deliver biodiversity and wider environmental net-gain making use of native species 
and reflecting the historic use of the site as worked agriculture land and forestry. Officers are 
satisfied that this would represent a suitable after-use and that restoration and aftercare can be 
carried out to a high standard and at the earliest opportunity.

Taking into account the need for the development in the context of national policy and other 
relevant policy tests, the advice provided by consultees providing advice on technical matters 
and the mitigation measures proposed by the applicant, Officers recommend that the application 
be permitted subject to appropriate conditions to protect the environment and local amenity.

The recommendation is to PERMIT subject to conditions.

APPLICATION DETAILS

Applicant

UKOG (234) Ltd

Date application valid

28 May 2019

Period for Determination

27 August 2019 (Extension of time agreed until 31 May 2020) 

Amending Documents
 Letter dated 10 June 2019 entitled, “Clarification Statement in Response to the Written 

Statement of Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government 23rd May 2019”;

 Email dated 25 July 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site - Responding to Consultee 
Responses”;

 Email dated 23 October 2019 entitled, “Re: Loxley - Impact of Vibration (on Listed Buildings) 
and Noise (on the Gate House)”;

 Email dated 23 October 2019 entitled, “RE: Loxley - Impact of Vibration (on Listed 
Buildings) and Noise (on the Gate House)”;

 Email dated 30 October 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site - Wild Bird Seed Mixture”;
 Wild Bird Seed Mixtures Advisory Sheet England submitted on 30 October 2019;
 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 1 

of 8”;
 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 2 

of 8 - LANDSCAPE & VISUAL IMPACT”;
 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised by Landscaping, Surrey Hills 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Board and Waverley Borough Council 
including Appendix A (Photoviewpoint Imagery);

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 2 
of 8 - LANDSCAPE & VISUAL IMPACT” containing link to “high-resolution” renditions”;

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 3 
of 8 - ECOLOGY”;

Page 10

7



 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised by Natural England, Surrey 
Wildlife Trust, Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Board, The 
Woodland Trust, Surrey County Aboriculturalist, Surrey County Ecologist and Waverley 
Borough Council including Appendix A: Outline Landscape, Environment and Biodiversity 
Restoration and Enhancement Plan dated October 2019 and Appendix B: Loxley Wells Site 
Addendum to the Aboricultural Impact Assessment dated October 2019;

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 4 
of 8 - AIR QUALITY IMPACT”;

 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised by the Environmental Health 
Officer;

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 5 
of 8 - GEOTECHNICAL & DESIGN”;

 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised by the County Geological / 
Geotechnical Consultant, Restoration and Enhancement Team, the Environment Agency 
and the Lead Local Flood Authority including Appendix A: Updated Loxley Well Site 
Planning Statement & Environmental Report; Appendix 1: Design Statement - Appendix 3 
NAUE Geogrid Design dated 19 September 2019 and Appendix B: Extract from the Loxley 
Well Site Planning Statement & Environmental Report; Appendix 1 Design Statement 
Appendix 1: Site Investigations (Borehole Location Plan and accompanying logs);

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 6 
of 8 - HIGHWAYS”;

 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised by the County Highway Authority 
including Appendix A: Loxley Well Site Supplementary Transport Statement dated 
September 2019 and Appendix B: Loxley Well Site Framework Construction Traffic 
Management Plan dated September 2019;

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 7 
of 8 - LIGHTING IMPACTS”;

 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised by the County Lighting 
Consultant including Appendix A: Exploratory Well Site, Dunsfold, Surrey Lighting 
Assessment dated November 2019;

 Email dated 1 November 2019 entitled, “Loxley Well Site Application 2019/0072 - E-mail 8 
of 8 - NOISE IMPACTS”;

 Letter dated 31 October 2019 in response to issues raised in relation to noise including 
Appendix A: Addendum to Noise Impact Assessment for hydrocarbon exploration, testing 
and appraisal accounting for the clear felling of the Burchetts, Thatchedhouse Planted 
Piece, The Moor and High Loxley Furze dated 6 September 2019 submitted 22 December 
2019;

 Clarifying email dated 19 November 2019 entitled, “RE: Loxley Well Site Application 
2019/0072 - E-mail 2 of 8 – LANDSCAPE & VISUAL IMPACT”;

 Further clarifying email dated 19 November 2019 entitled, “RE: Loxley Well Site Application 
2019/0072 - E-mail 2 of 8 – LANDSCAPE & VISUAL IMPACT”;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-08 Rev 1 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 1 of 4 (Well 
Site) dated December 2019;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-09 Rev 1 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 2 of 4 (Well 
Site to Burchetts SW Corner) dated December 2019;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-12 Rev 1 Proposed Construction Sections Plan dated 
December 2019;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-15 Rev 1 Drilling Mode Layout Plan dated December 2019;
 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-16 Rev 1 Section Through Drilling Mode Layout Plan (BDF 

Rig 28 - Height 37M) dated December 2019;
 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-19 Rev 1 Initial Flow Testing Mode Layout Plan dated 

December 2019;
 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-20 Rev 1 Section Through Initial Flow Testing Mode Layout 

Plan dated December 2019;
 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-23 Rev 1 Extended Well Testing Mode Layout Plan (With 

Temporary Noise Mitigation) dated December 2019;

Page 11

7



 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-24 Rev 1 Section Through Extended Well Testing Mode 
Layout Plan dated December 2019;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-25 Rev 1 Retention Mode Layout Plan dated December 
2019;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-26 Rev 1 Section Through Retention Mode Layout Plan 
dated December 2019;

 Drawing No. ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-27 Rev 1 Proposed Well Site Fencing & Gates Section Plan 
dated December 2019;

 Groundwater Risk Assessment, Thatched House Farm, Envireau Water dated December 
2019.

 Clarifying Email dated 9 January 2020 entitled, “RE: Loxley Well Site: Landscape 
Consultant Site Visit”.

 Email dated 14 January 2020 entitled, “Application SCC Ref: 2019/0072 - Additional 
Information Consultee Responses 1 - SCC Highways Call for Additional Swept Path 
Analysis”;

 Drawing No. LTP/3134/00/02.01 Rev A 16.5m Articulated Vehicle Swept Path Analysis 
Sheet 1 of 3 dated 7 January 2020;

 Drawing No. LTP/3134/00/02.02 Rev A 16.5m Articulated Vehicle Swept Path Analysis 
Sheet 2 of 3 dated 7 January 2020;

 Drawing No. LTP/3134/00/02.03 Rev A 16.5m Articulated Vehicle Swept Path Analysis 
Sheet 2 of 3 dated 7 January 2020;

 Drawing No. LTP/3134/00/03.01 Rev A 4 Axle Tipper Swept Path Analysis Sheet 1 of 3 
dated 7 January 2020;

 Drawing No. LTP/3134/00/03.02 Rev A 4 Axle Tipper Swept Path Analysis Sheet 2 of 3 
dated 7 January 2020;

 Drawing No. LTP/3134/00/03.03 Rev A 4 Axle Tipper Swept Path Analysis Sheet 3 of 3 
dated 7 January 2020;

 Email dated 17 January 2020 entitled, “RE. Application SCC Ref 2019/0072 - Additional 
Information Consultee Responses 1”;

 Email dated 23 January 2020 entitled, “FW: Loxley Utility Infrastructure: Electricity”; 
 Email dated 14 February 2020 entitled, “Loxley Well Site - SCC Ref: 2019/0072 - Planning 

Matters”;
 Email dated 19 February 2020 entitled, “Loxley Well Site - SCC Ref: 2019/0072 - Planning 

Matters”;
 Email dated 24 February 2020 entitled, “RE: Loxley: Three further Questions attaching 

Photo of Southern Boundary of Well Site Host Field and High Billinghurst Farm and Well 
Site Profile Slides”;

 Email dated 4 March 2020 entitled, “RE: Loxley: Three Further Questions”;
 Email dated 16 March 2020 entitled, “RE: Query re Ash Trees Along Northern Boundary”;
 Letter dated 6 May 2020 responding to queries regarding the submitted Transport 

Statement; and
 Email dated 8 May 2020 entitled, “RE: Highways Matters and Pre-Commencement 

Conditions”.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING ISSUES

This section identifies and summarises the main planning issues in the report. The full text 
should be considered before the meeting.

Is this aspect of the 
proposal in accordance with 

the development plan?

Paragraphs in the report 
where this has been 

discussed

Need for the Development
Climate Change

Yes
Yes

146 - 186
187 - 211

Highways, Traffic and Access
Landscape and Visual Impact

Yes
Yes

212 - 275
282 - 350

Page 12

7



Air Quality
Noise and Vibration
Lighting
Water Environment
Geotechnical Issues
Ecology and Biodiversity
Archaeology and Heritage
Rights of Way
Cumulative Impacts
Restoration

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes 
Yes

351 - 402
403 - 447
448 - 462
463 - 497
498 - 525
526 - 560
561 - 599
600 - 612
613 - 623
624 - 646

ILLUSTRATIVE MATERIAL

Site Plan

Plan 1 - Site Location and Application Site Area
Plan 2 - Proposed Construction Layout Plan (Well Site)

Aerial Photographs

Aerial 1 - Loxley Well Site, Dunsfold
Aerial 2 - Loxley Well Site, Dunsfold 
 
Site Photographs

Figure 1  -  Well Site Host Field Looking North East
Figure 2  - Vehicular Entrance to Well Site Compound Looking North East
Figure 3  - Western Boundary of Well Site Compound Looking South
Figure 4  - Western Boundary of Burchetts Woodland Block Looking North
Figure 5  - View Looking East from High Loxley Road along Route of Proposed New Access
Figure 6  - View Looking North along Eastern Boundary of Well Site Host Field
Figure 7  - View Looking West along Northern Boundary of Well Site Host Field
Figure 8  - View Looking West along Track to the North of the Well Site Compound Host Field
Figure 9  - View Looking South from Southern Boundary of Well Site Host Field towards High 

Billinghurst Farm
Figure 10 - View Looking South along High Loxley Road with Site Entrance on the Left
Figure 11 - View Looking East from High Loxley Road towards Thatched House Farm
Figure 12 - View Looking North along High Loxley Road from Proposed Entrance Point
Figure 13 - View Looking West towards Sharp Corner on Dunsfold Road from Junction with High 

Loxley Road
Figure 14 - View Looking East along Dunsfold Road from Junction with High Loxley Road
Figure 15 - View Looking South of towards High Loxley Road and its junction with Dunsfold 

Road
Figure 16 - View Looking West along Dunsfold Road with Vegetation Screening on the Left

BACKGROUND

Site Description

1. The application site is located on agricultural land around one mile north-east of the village 
of Dunsfold and half-a-mile north of Dunsfold Park in an area known as Loxhill. It is 
situated in Countryside beyond the Green Belt approximately 2 miles south-east of 
Hascombe, 3 miles south-west of Cranleigh and 2 miles north-west of Alfold Crossways. 
The application site extends to an area of 2.3 hectares inclusive of the well site compound, 
the access track and other ancillary development.

Page 13

7



2. The well site compound would be developed in a rural area of countryside 500 metres to 
the south of Dunsfold Road and 300 metres to the east of High Loxley Road which 
comprises a no through road. Access would be provided from High Loxley Road to the 
west at a point 180 metres south of the junction between High Loxley Road and Dunsfold 
Road (known locally as Pratts Corner). A new access track would be developed across 
agricultural fields to connect the new access on High Loxley Road with the well site 
compound. The application involves highway safety improvements on High Loxley Road 
and at Pratts Corner to enable heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) to access the site safely. All 
lorry traffic accessing and egressing the site will be routed via Dunsfold Road and the 
A281 to the east which connects Guildford and Horsham.

3. The well site compound would be situated immediately to the south and west of four 
established woodland blocks which are joined together. These comprise The Burchetts to 
the north and north-west, Thatchedhouse Planted Piece to the north-east, The Moor to the 
East and High Loxley Furze to the south-east. This combined woodland block screens the 
proposed well site compound from the north and east. It also screens views of the 
northern half of the well site compound from the west. Three of these woodland blocks 
comprising The Burchetts, The Moor and High Loxley Furze are the subject of a clear fell 
license granted by the Forestry Commission to the landowner, the Hascombe Estate in 
October 2019. 

4. An established narrow single line of trees and hedgerow along the northern edge of the 
well site compound host field remain within the control of the applicant. This boundary 
would be largely retained and enhanced with new planting. However 5 ash trees may need 
to be replaced with other native species during the lifetime of the development. If The 
Burchetts were clear-felled, the retained boundary planting would only provide a partial 
screen from views of the site from the north due to some gaps between the trees and 
hedgerow situated along this field boundary. A broader and more continuous area of trees 
and hedgerow along the eastern boundary of the well site compound host field also 
remains within the applicant’s control and would be retained in full and enhanced. This 
would provide more of an effective screen if the woodland further to the east was felled as 
part of the clear-fell licence.  

5. Views into the wider site including the route of the proposed access track are partly 
restricted by mature trees and hedgerows along both field boundaries and highway verges 
as well as the gently undulating nature of the local countryside. Public bridleway 280 is 
located approximately 100 metres to the south of the well site compound. It connects High 
Loxley Road to the west with Stovolds Hill to the east and is routed along the southern 
edge of the well site compound host field.

6. The wider landscape supports isolated residential properties, situated within extensive 
grounds, and farmsteads. The nearest residential dwellings comprise Thatched House 
Farm 330 metres to the north of the centre of the well site compound, High Billinghurst 
Farm 390 metres to the south, High Loxley 560 metres to the west and a consented 
property at Unit 2, High Stovolds Farm 615 metres to the south-east. 

7. Thatched House Farm also incorporates a number of businesses including sheep farming, 
organic pig farming, a craft brewery and an internationally recognised cancer awareness 
festival which is held every July and is attended by over 1,000 participants. The 2020 
festival has been postponed, potentially until September. The festival offers camping 
retreats and discussion days for participants in the months before and after the festival. 
High Billinghurst Farm contains an events venue that is permitted to hold up to 50 
weddings, funerals and corporate hospitality functions per year which can be attended by 
a maximum of 164 guests, unless prior written approval is obtained from the Borough 
Council. 

8. The Burchetts woodland block currently separates the well site compound from Thatched 
House Farm. High Loxley and High Billinghurst Farm are accessed by means of High 

Page 14

7



Loxley Road. The nearest residential communities are Lydia Park and New Acres which 
comprise a traveller site and mobile home park off Stovolds Hill. These are situated 
around 485 metres to the east of the centre of the well site compound beyond a mature 
area of woodland, part of which is included within the clear fell licence issued to the 
Hascombe Estate. A further 4 applications have been granted planning permission for 
gypsy and traveller accommodation on land to the north and west of Lydia Park. The 
nearest of these to the application site was permitted on Appeal in August 2018 and 
comprises accommodation for 3 Romani Gypsy families on land west of Lydia Park 
approximately 420 metres to the north east of the centre of the well site compound.   

9. The nearest major commercial land is situated at Dunsfold Park, approximately 850 
metres to the south where planning permission (ref: APP/R3650/V/17/3171287 dated 29 
March 2018) exists for the development of a new settlement. This permission includes the 
development of 1,800 new homes, a new commercial centre, new business units, non-
residential institutions, community centre, new primary school, the relocation of an existing 
school, amenity space and supporting infrastructure. An established solar farm operation 
situated on land to the south of High Billinghurst Farm is also accessed via High Loxley 
Road.  

10. The application site is situated within a designated Area of Great Landscape Value 
(AGLV). Land to the north of Dunsfold Road is situated within the Surrey Hills Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The AONB lies around 530 metres north of the well 
site compound. Land to the north of the site, adjacent to Dunsfold Road, is designated as 
an ‘Area of High Archaeological Potential’. Part of the southern area of The Burchetts 
woodland block is designated as ancient semi-natural woodland comprising a Plantation 
on Ancient Woodland Site (PAWS) where the semi-natural woodland has been replaced 
with a plantation. This area is included within the Clear Fell Licence area as it is the 
seedbed rather than the trees themselves that are protected.  

11. The Chiddingfold Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lies some 1.99 kilometres 
to the south of the proposed development site. The nearest Sites of Nature Conservation 
Importance (SNCI) to the well site compound comprise Sayers Land, Jewings Hurst and 
Benbow Rew SNCI approximately 385 metres to the south and south-west, Benbow Rew 
SNCI and Furtherfits, Dunsfold Aerodrome SNCI around 560 metres to the south and 690 
metres to the south-east respectively, Mill Copse SNCI 1,100 metres to the east, Dunsfold 
Common and Green SNCI 1,200 metres to the west and Hascombe Hill SNCI 1,650 
metres to the north-west.

12. The proposed development is located in an area of land classified by the Environment 
Agency (EA) as Flood Zone 1 which has a low fluvial flood risk (i.e. less than a 1 in 1,000 
probability of river or sea flooding in any year). It is not underlain by any groundwater 
Source Protection Zone designations. A confirmed utilised groundwater source is present 
at the nearest residential property, Thatched House Farm. The nearest Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA) is located 8.1 km to the north-west in Godalming. This was 
designated for exceedances of air quality standards for nitrogen dioxide.

13. Two Areas of High Archaeological Potential are situated within the vicinity of the 
application site. These are located south of Dunsfold Road between High Loxley Road and 
Thatched House Farm to the east and around 470 metres to the south of the well site 
compound beyond High Billinghurst Farm. The Dunsfold Conservation Area is situated 
around a 1.4 km to the south-west of the well site compound. 

14. The nearest listed buildings to the well site compound are all Grade II listed and comprise: 
Thatched House Farm House, the Barn at Right Angles to the North of Thatched Farm 
House and  the former Granary at Thatched House Farm around 330 metres to the north 
of the centre of the well site compound; High Billinghurst Farm House around 390 metres 
to the south; and High Loxley, the Barn to the North East of High Loxley House, and the 
Barn to the Front of High Loxley House approximately 560 metres to the west. The 

Page 15

7



Multivallate Hillfort, Hascombe Hill County Site of Archaeological Importance (CSAI) is 
located around 1,890 metres to the north-west.

Planning History

15. The application site has no planning history. It has an historic agricultural use. 
Hydrocarbon activity has taken place previously in the surrounding area with wells having 
been drilled and completed during the 1980s at Godley Bridge-1 to the north-west of 
Chiddingfold, Alfold-1 to the north-east of Alfold and both Godley Bridge-2 and Godley 
Bridge-2z to the north-east of Grayswood.

16. The primary objective of all of these wells was to penetrate the Jurassic Portland 
sandstone, with a secondary objective being to penetrate the Jurrasic Great Oolite 
limestones and Inferior Oolite limestones. These are the same geological formations being 
targeted by the proposed development.

17. On 1 July 2019, the applicant subsequently submitted an application (ref: WA/2019/1089) 
for an alternative access to the application site from Dunsfold Road to the north. This 
application was subsequently withdrawn by the applicant in March 2020.

THE PROPOSAL

18. The application is for the construction of a new temporary hydrocarbon well site on land 
south of Dunsfold Road and east of High Loxley Road. It involves the drilling of a new well 
(Loxley-1) and one side-track well (Loxley-1z) for the exploration and appraisal of 
hydrocarbons for a temporary period of 3 years with restoration to agriculture. The primary 
target for exploration is gas from the Portland Sandstone Formation within the Godley 
Bridge Gas Discovery. This consists of a hydrocarbon reservoir up to 2km below ground 
and 2km wide, stretching from Chiddingfold in the west to Alfold Crossways in the east. 
The secondary target is oil from the deeper Kimmeridge Limestone Formation. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the development does not include the use of high-volume fracturing.

19. The proposal will comprise 4 distinct phases:

Phase 1: Access and Well Site Construction

20. Summary: This will comprises minor highway improvement works at the junction of 
Dunsfold Road and High Loxley Road, the construction of a new junction within High 
Loxley Road, the installation of up to 1km of new compacted-stone access track, 
construction of a compacted-stone well site with an impermeable membrane, perimeter 
surface run-off containment ditch and drilling cellar (i.e. concrete chamber within which the 
exploratory borehole will be drilled) to accommodate a conductor casing (i.e. the outer 
casing of the well) with security fencing, entrance gates and other ancillary development.

21. A crushed and compacted stone access track will connect the well site to a new temporary 
tarmac priority junction with the public highway at High Loxley Road. This will require the 
removal of up to 10 metres of internal field boundary hedgerow which would be reinstated 
in the first available planting season post construction. The junction will comprise a 30 
metre wide bell-mouth leading into the site and a vehicular passing place within the 
highway verge to allow for the two-way free flow of traffic within High Loxley Road. The 
installation of the junction and the provision of clear lines of vehicular visibility will require 
targeted excavation and the removal of up to 55 metres of hedgerow along with the loss of 
two trees (assessed by the applicant to be of low value and quality) from the eastern side 
of High Loxley Road. 

Page 16

7



22. Removal will be kept to a minimum and subject to a detailed Landscape, Environment and 
Biodiversity Restoration and Enhancement Plan (LEBREP) to compensate for any loss of 
vegetation with reinstatement proposed in the first available planting season post 
construction. This would provide for the reinstatement of the lost hedgerow and the 
planting of 6 new trees with the intention of replacing each tree lost with 3 new trees. The 
full restoration of lost hedgerows would be undertaken upon completion of the 
development. This forms part of a broader LEBREP which will seek to deliver new tree 
and hedgerow planting to enhance existing field boundaries along a section of High Loxley 
Road, between High Loxley Road and the south-west corner of The Burchetts, and around 
the northern, eastern and southern boundaries of the well site host field.   

23. The carriageway at the junction of High Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road would be 
extended by up to 0.9 metres on all sides and strengthened to facilitate the turning of 
vehicles and to protect the verges from rutting. The carriageway along the western side of 
High Loxley Road would be extended in places by up to 0.9 metres to facilitate HGVs and 
abnormal loads entering and exiting the site. Localised widening on the east side of High 
Loxley Road to the south of the proposed site access is also proposed to provide a 
passing place for vehicles travelling south when vehicles heading north are waiting at the 
new portable traffic signals proposed to be installed to the south of the site entrance.

24. Highway improvement works are proposed at Pratts Corner consisting of localised 
widening on the north side of Dunsfold Road opposite the junction and on both the east 
and west sides of High Loxley Road adjacent to the junction. This is necessary to 
accommodate the swept paths of HGVs and abnormal loads entering and exiting the site. 
The maximum amount of widening is 0.91 metres in all cases to ensure that the proposed 
highway works are within the extents of the adopted public highway. Temporary portable 
traffic signals will also be introduced at Pratts Corner, comprising the High Loxley Road / 
Dunsfold Road / Dunsfold Common Road Junction to facilitate the movement of HGVs 
entering and exiting High Loxley Road with a temporary 30 mph speed limit introduced on 
all approaches to this junction.

25. The temporary signals and associated temporary traffic management could be removed 
outside of the scheduled 12-hour HGV delivery period on Monday-Friday 0700-1900 and 
Saturday 0900-1300 and on days when the scheduled vehicles are able to accommodate 
the junction at Pratts Corner without the use of traffic signals. This would enable Pratts 
Corner to revert to operating as a priority junction. Recognising the need to minimise 
delays and queuing the traffic signals would operate flexibly over the 12-hour HGV 
delivery period to reflect traffic demands on Dunsfold Road and Dunsfold Common Road 
particularly in the morning and evening traffic peak periods. This would be done by utilising 
a combination of traffic signal technology to optimise the signal operation and the adoption 
of an on-site traffic management regime to schedule HGV activity outside of peak periods.            

26. Approximately 1 kilometre of internal access track will be installed by stripping the top-soil 
and storing it in low-level earth bunds (under 1 metre in height) alongside the track to 
minimise the disturbance of soil structure, avoid tracking over exposed sub-soils and 
aiding restoration. The track and well site have been placed to avoid ecological habitats 
and no trees internal to the site would be lost. However, a 10 metre long section of internal 
hedgerow (assessed by the applicant to be of low value and quality) would be removed to 
accommodate the track as it navigates the south west corner of The Burchetts Wood. This 
would be reinstated in the first available planting season post construction.

27. Traffic routeing for HGVs will be via High Loxley Road and the B2130 Dunsfold Road that 
connects with the A281 at a traffic signal junction some 2.2 km east of the application site. 
Onward journeys from the A281 will be via connecting Principal ‘A’ Roads allowing larger 
delivery vehicles to remain on higher classification roads for a greater proportion of the 
route. All traffic would therefore avoid The Green and Dunsfold Village (accessed via 
Dunsfold Common Road) and Loxhill, Hascombe, Busbridge and Godalming (accessed 
via Dunsfold Road).     

Page 17

7



28. A level plateau to accommodate the well site will be formed by way of a neutral cut and fill, 
retaining all excavated soils on-site for future reinstatement. It will be designed to British 
Standard (BS EN 1997-2:2007 Eurocode 7. Geotechnical Design. Ground Investigations 
and Testing) and UK guidance ‘Containment Systems for the Prevention of Pollution’ 
(CIRIA C736: Containment Systems for the Prevention of Pollution - Secondary, Tertiary 
and other measures for industrial and commercial premises, I L W Walton (SLR 
Consulting) CIRIA 2014). It will rely upon appropriately designed site investigations 
performed as part of a geotechnical assessment process managed by suitably qualified 
engineers.

29. Excavated top-soil will be stripped and retained on-site as an earth bund along the 
southern boundary of the well site 4 metres in height. The subsoil will be cut and filled 
appropriately to create a level surface and a ‘v-profile’ ditch will be excavated around the 
perimeter of the active area of the site. A drilling cellar (concrete chamber) will be 
constructed in the middle of the active area using pre-cast concrete rings, within which the 
exploratory borehole will be drilled. 

30. An impermeable high-density polyethylene membrane (HDPE) complete with protective 
geotextile layers (above and below the HDPE) will then overlay the plateau and perimeter 
ditch. A stable and flat surface of crushed and compacted stone will overlay the HDPE 
membrane allowing for the containment and controlled drainage of surface run-off. Upon 
completion of well site construction, the perimeter containment ditch will either be fitted 
with a continuous infiltration drainage pipe and enclosed with granular fill or left as an open 
drainage channel.

31. All container units to be positioned within the well site compound will be up to 2.6 metres 
in height with some of the larger fluid tanks and staff accommodation cabins being up to 3 
metres. Up to 5 lighting towers will be required at a height of 9 metres each. Surface run-
off will be tankered off-site for subsequent treatment and/or disposal at an EA permitted 
waste water treatment works. The discharge of water will be regulated by the EA under the 
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (EPR 2016).

32. To protect groundwater and isolate near surface permeable strata, a well consists of 
concentric casing strings (i.e. steel pipes set within concrete casings). A conductor casing 
(i.e. the outer casing) will be installed and cemented from surface to provide a stable and 
watertight foundation for the subsequent drilling and setting of smaller diameter and 
deeper casing strings. A conductor setting rig with a mast of up to 15 metres in height will 
be used.

33. The new site junction within High Loxley Road will be secured by 2.5 metre high entrance 
gates incorporating close mesh panelling and close boarded timber to the front elevation. 
Security fencing of the same height and design will enclose a two-way vehicular access 
enabling HGVs to enter and exit without compromising the free flow of traffic within High 
Loxley Road. The junction will key into High Loxley Road and will therefore be of the same 
specification comprising a sub-base of loose fill material with a tarmac carriageway 
surface sufficient to support the predicted HGV activity and prevent mud leaving the site 
and being deposited on the surrounding highway network. A 3 metre high modular 
gatehouse will be placed internal to the site behind the entrance gates to manage 
vehicular access.

34. The well site, its drainage system and earth bund will be enclosed by 2.5 metre high 
entrance gates and security fencing incorporating close mesh panelling. The security 
fencing will extend to a height of 4 metres along the southern and eastern boundaries of 
the well site and 2.46 metres along the northern and western boundaries. The security 
fence along the southern and eastern boundaries will be internally clad with netting. This is 
intended to screen views into the site including from public bridleway 280 and High 
Billinghurst Farm to the south. 

Page 18

7



35. The existing wild bird seed mix planting to the south and east of the well site, which is very 
durable through the winter, will be retained for the duration of the development. This 
comprises an area equivalent to the size of the well site. The crop has a maximum height 
of around 2.1 metres. A mix of manual and natural seeding will maintain the crop yield and 
its screening potential throughout the year. A 4 metre high screening fence incorporating 
debris netting will be erected along the northern edge of the well site compound. This will 
reduce inward visibility from the north in the event that The Burchetts wood is felled by the 
Hascombe Estate. 

36. Low-level and downward facing lighting will be installed centrally within the well site to 
provide for the health and safety of site workers. Shrouded and directional lighting will be 
installed along the well site boundary with discrete pole mounted surveillance equipment. 
A modular gatehouse will manage vehicular access and single-story welfare units will be 
installed complete with car parking bays to provide on-site offices and worker facilities. 

Phase 1 Programme:

37. Approximately twelve construction staff will be required together with between three and 
six security staff accessing the site via cars and light goods vehicles (LGV’s). Plant, 
machinery and materials will be delivered by HGVs between 0700 and 1900 hours 
Monday to Friday and 0900 and 1300 hours on Saturdays. The majority of HGV 
movements will be scheduled within standard hours of operation (i.e. 0800 - 17:00 hours 
Monday to Friday and 0900 - 1300 hours on Saturdays. Outside of these periods, the flow 
of HGVs will be controlled by appropriate traffic management measures, where necessary, 
to avoid any adverse traffic effects and delays.

38. Foul water, sewage and domestic waste will be collected and contained on site for 
subsequent off-site transfer to an EA permitted waste treatment facility. Timber and 
packaging waste will be segregated for off-site transfer and recycling. The phase 1 
programme comprises:

Table 1: Phase 1 Programme

Hours of Site Operations
Access and Well Site Construction

Mon - Fri Sat Sun / Bank 
Hols

Estimate
d 

Duration
1.A: Access and Well Site 
Construction 0700 - 1900 0900 - 1300 None 14 weeks

Phase 2: Drilling, Testing and Appraisal

39. Summary: This will include the mobilisation and demobilisation of surface plant and 
machinery ancillary to the drilling of one borehole (Loxley-1), one side-track borehole 
(Loxley-1z) and subsequent appraisal by initial and extended well testing.

40. The drilling programme comprises the following operations:

  mobilisation of the main drilling rig up to 38 metres in height and ancillary equipment 
to site; 

  drilling an exploratory well (Loxley-1) followed by a side-track well (Loxley-1z) if 
necessary; 

  temporary storage of drilling mud and rock cuttings for subsequent off-site disposal; 
  shrouded external lighting illuminating the rig mast, rig floor and ancillary 

infrastructure; and 
  delivery of fuels, equipment, materials, drilling chemicals, steel casing and tubing. 

Page 19

7



Drilling the Well

41. The target formations for exploration are the Portland sandstones and Kimmeridge 
limestones. They will be accessed by a well set within the stable and secure surface 
conductor casing. A drill string will be installed within the conductor casing comprising a 
drill pipe, a bottom hole assembly and a drill bit. The drill bit sits at the bottom of the drill 
string below the bottom hole assembly, consisting of drill collars and stabilisers. The 
stabilisers assist with drilling a straight hole and the drill collars provide the weight on the 
drilling bit which is designed to drill using a crushing and shearing motion. The drill pipe 
and collars are around 10 metres each in length and have tapered threads so they can be 
screwed together. The entire drill string is hollow to allow drilling mud to be circulated while 
the pipe is rotated during the drilling process. As the borehole gets deeper additional 
lengths of drill pipe are then added to the drill string.

42. Drilling muds clean and lubricate the hole whilst providing borehole stability. They also 
propel well cuttings to surface for separation and subsequent removal off-site. At depth, 
oil-based muds or water-based muds with additives (predominantly polymers to provide 
gel strength to lift the cuttings from the well) are used to minimise filtration within the drilled 
formations. When used to facilitate the drilling of near surface geology, freshwater and 
natural non-organic thickening agents (such as bentonite) are used to minimise the impact 
on groundwater.

43. The precise specification of the drilling rig will not be known until a contractor has been 
selected. However a rig similar to the British Drilling and Freezing Company (BDF) Rig 28, 
the Ideco ‘Back in Rambler’ (BIR) 5625 would be engaged which has a height of 37 
metres. This rig has been deployed at multiple sites across the UK with predictable 
environmental impacts and effects. The rig floor extends 4 metres above ground level 
directly supporting a 33 metre high telescopic mast. The rig comes complete with two 
generators but only one is run at any one time with the other being on standby as the rig is 
not synchronised for ‘dual running’. All ancillary equipment is housed within acoustic 
enclosures. 

44. Should Rig 28 not be available, the likely fall-back would be the BDF Rig 51 Cabot 900. 
This has a rig floor 7 metres above ground level directly supporting a 31 metre high 
telescopic mast. This has a height of 38 metres although many other rigs would fit within 
the proposed specification envelope.

45. All of the major components associated with a drilling rig (i.e. water tanks, pipe store, mud 
and fuel tanks, generators, office and accommodation facilities) are contained within the 
drilling compound. Once started, drilling needs to be a 24-hour operation for the following 
reasons:

  coagulation: if mud circulation is interrupted and the drill cuttings settle this can cause 
the drill string to become compacted and inoperable; and

  well integrity: the borehole can cave-in because of swelling clays and porous 
formations, which means the immediate deployment of casing strings is 
recommended to provide stability.

46. A 24-hour drilling programme represents the most efficient uses of resources. By limiting 
the duration of operations, it minimises the scope for adverse environmental effects. This 
approach has been acceptably adopted at many other UK operational on-shore 
exploratory sites on the basis that it represents the most sustainable form of development.

47. The need for night time working will be minimised by way of considerate scheduling. 
Where this cannot be avoided operations are likely to be intermittent and of a temporary 
nature. When operating at night, the rig, rig floor and ancillary equipment are illuminated 
by shrouded external lights attached to the rig mast along with mobile and shrouded 

Page 20

7



ground-based lighting columns. Noise emissions would be within standard night time 
limits.

Well Design

48. As the crest of the discovery structure is south of the site, it is likely that the well(s) would 
be deviated across 90 degree arcs centred in a south-easterly and south-westerly 
direction extending up to 2.5km. The well design has been informed by the below ground 
formation depths and configuration. A conductor setting rig will drill a 24” hole within the 
impervious Weald Clay to 40ft measured depth (MD)1 and total vertical depth (TVDss) to 
accommodate the conductor casing. The main drilling rig would then be mobilised to site 
to install surface casing to the base of the Weald Clay at a 1,100 ft MD/TVDss. Drilling the 
hole would use water-based mud with the casing cemented back to surface to isolate the 
Weald Clay formation.

49. The main drilling rig would then install surface casing to the top of the Portland sandstone 
at 3,550ft MD (3,050ft TVDss) using either water-based or oil-based mud cementing the 
casing back to surface to isolate the Lower Cretaceous Beds. A hole will then be drilled to 
6,600ft MD (4,750ft TVDss) using either water-based or oil-based mud to accurately locate 
the base of the Corallian Beds, targeting the shallow primary Portland gas and the deeper 
secondary Kimmeridge oil.

Side-track Well Design

50. A side-track is the drilling of a new section of hole from the main borehole (Loxley-1) to 
reposition the bottom of the well in a new area of the target formation. In this case, the 
side-track well would be known as Loxley-1z and its installation would require the main 
drilling rig. As the Loxley-1 well would already be in place, the duration of the Loxley-1z 
side-track drilling operation should be less but it would still necessitate 24-hour working in 
the interests of well stability and control.

51. As with Loxley-1, the side-track well design has been informed by the below ground 
formation depths and configuration. Should a side-track be necessary, Loxley-1 would be 
plugged back and a whipstock kick-off assembly run to between 1,500ft and 2,000ft MD. 
An 8½” hole would be drilled to land within the target formation at 4,500 ft MD (3,100 ft 
TVDss). Casing would then be run to enable the drilling of a horizontal hole to enable the 
recovery of the hydrocarbon resources. The casing would be cemented on the outside in a 
similar fashion to Loxley-1, to isolate the formations and prevent pathways between strata.

Appraisal and Testing

52. Following the completion of the drilling programme, Loxley-1 would be the subject of well 
testing, commencing with initial short-term flow testing to confirm the existence of a 
hydrocarbon reservoir. If successful, a period of extended well testing would then be 
performed by way of a series of workover operations to determine the productivity and 
characteristics of the reservoir, estimate its volume and its likely recovery rate.

53. During testing, it is likely that a crane would be used to lower tools into the well on a wire 
or within a coiled tubing to perforate the target formation(s) and remove debris from within 
the well, by way of a dilute acetic acid wash (i.e. vinegar) prior to the installation of flow-
testing and pumping equipment. When fully extended, the crane could be up to 42 metres 
in height. However, the times when the crane is fully extended are limited and works are 

1 Because wells are not drilled vertically, two depths are provided, namely a) the measured depth (MD): a 
measure of the path of the borehole, and b) the true vertical depth minus the elevation above mean sea 
level (TVDss): the absolute vertical distance between the ground level and the base of the borehole. In 
perfectly vertical wells, the MD equals the TVDss where the well is drilled at datum (e.g. mean sea level), 
otherwise, the TVDss is less than the MD measured from the same datum point.  

Page 21

7



designed to enable the crane to leave the site on a daily basis without being stored 
overnight. 

54. In some circumstances, there may be the need to mobilise a workover rig, which is likely 
to be either 34 or 35 metres height, or a coil tubing unit (up to 25 metres in height) to 
perform a maintenance workover should downhole pumps need to be changed, tubing 
replaced, or formations cleaned. In practice however, it is proving possible to perform 
maintenance and testing much more quickly with a crane. Only one crane or one rig would 
be present on site at any one time. (NB: An EA Fact Sheet on ‘Acidisation’ published in 
January 2018 explains that operators often use coiled tubing units to ensure that the acid 
is delivered to the correct location within the well and is spread evenly along the target 
area. A coiled tubing unit is a specialised piece of equipment consisting of a reel mounted 
tubing string. The coiled tubing is run inside the well’s production tubing to the area to be 
targeted for treatment. The acid is then pumped down the tubing to the target formation.) 

55. Well testing is a continuous process requiring 24-hour working, which introduces noise, air 
and light impacts outside of the standard hours of operation. However, the need for night 
time working will be minimised by way of considerate scheduling. Where this cannot be 
avoided, operations are likely to be intermittent and of a temporary nature. The crane will 
give rise to noise emissions within standard night time limits and lighting would be mobile, 
shrouded and directional to minimise the scope for adverse off-site light spill and glare. 
Plant, machinery and materials will be delivered by HGV’s between 07:00 - 19:00 hours 
Monday-Friday and 09:00 - 13:00 hours on Saturdays engaging appropriate traffic 
management measures where necessary. However, the majority of HGV movements will 
be scheduled within standard hours of operation.

56. If natural gas is encountered flaring would be engaged utilising up to two shrouded ground 
flares (12 metres in height) during initial short-term flow testing. This is likely to involve 
intermittent flaring for a period of 7 days. This would be followed by extended well testing 
which is likely to involve intermittent flaring for a period of 90 days using a single flare. 
Shrouded flares screen the flame from view and its use would be monitored and managed 
by the EA in accordance with the EPR 2016.

Phase 2 Programme:

57. During the periods of drilling and testing, approximately twenty personnel (working back to 
back 12-hour shifts) will be required with 3-6 security staff. Accommodation is provided for 
key staff on-call. Waste will consist of:

  Extractive waste: drilling muds, rock cuttings, excess cement, spent dilute acid, 
produced formation water and associated natural gas (which are subject to a mining 
waste permit under the EPR 2016). Waste would be collected and contained on-site 
for off-site transfer to an EA permitted waste treatment facility: and 

  Non-extractive waste: foul water, sewage and domestic waste will be collected and 
contained on-site for off-site transfer to an EA permitted waste-water treatment facility. 
Timber and packaging waste will be segregated for off-site transfer and recycling. 

58. Upon completion, appraisal equipment and all other surface machinery will be 
deconstructed or dismantled, cleaned and removed from site. The phase 2 programme is 
likely to be:

Table 2: Phase 2 Programme
Hours of Site Operations

Drilling, Testing and Appraisal
Mon - Fri Sat Sun / Bank 

Hols

Estimate
d 

Duration
2.A: Drilling: Mobilisation / 
Demobilisation 0700 - 1900 0900 - 1300 None 3 weeks

Page 22

7



2.B. Drilling 24 hours 24 hours 24 hours 12 weeks
2.C: Testing : Mobilisation / 
Demobilisation 0700 - 1900 0900 - 1300 None 3 weeks

2.D: Testing: Initial and Extended Well 
Testing 24 hours 24 hours 24 hours 26 weeks

2.E: Side-track Drilling 24 hours 24 hours 24 hours 12 weeks
2.F: Maintenance Workover 24 hours 24 hours 24 hours 4 weeks

Phase 3: Well Plugging, Abandonment and Decommissioning

59. Summary: This will comprise the removal of all surface equipment followed by the 
plugging and abandonment of the well. (NB: In the event that commercially viable reserves 
are found to exist, the well will be suspended, rather than being plugged and abandoned, 
pending the outcome of the submission of a further temporary planning application 
proposing the retention of the site to allow longer term hydrocarbon production to take 
place).     

60. A workover rig will be mobilised to the site along with diesel power generation, pumps and 
tanks. Cement plugs (barriers) will then be set within the well to ensure that all distinct 
permeable zones penetrated by the well are isolated from each other and from the surface 
by a minimum of one permanent barrier. Permeable zones penetrated by the well which 
are hydrocarbon-bearing or over-pressured and water-bearing will be isolated by two 
permanent barriers from the surface (the second being a back-up to the first). Once the 
well is abandoned, the casing within the drilling cellar will be cut 1.5m below ground level 
and a steel plate welded over the top of the casing to prevent soil from re-entering the 
borehole.

Phase 3: Programme

61. 24-hour working will be necessary, introducing noise, air and light impacts outside of the 
standard hours of operation. Plant, machinery and materials will be delivered by HGV’s 
between 0700 - 1900 hours Monday - Friday and 0900 - 1300 hours on Saturdays 
engaging appropriate traffic management measures where necessary. However, the 
majority of HGV movements will be scheduled within standard hours of operation. Upon 
completion, the rig and all other surface machinery will be dismantled, cleaned and 
removed from the site. 12 personnel will be required with 3-6 security staff. Waste will be 
the same extractive/non-extractive mix as at phase 2. The phase 3 programme is likely to 
be:

Table 3: Phase 2 Programme
Hours of Site OperationsWell Plugging, 

Abandonment and 
Decommissioning Mon - Fri Sat Sun / Bank Hols

Estimated 
Duration

3.A: Plugging and 
Abandonment 24 hours 24 hours 24 hours 3 weeks

3.B. Removal of Surface 
Equipment 0700 - 1900 0900 – 1300 None 2 weeks

Phase 4: Site Restoration (or Retention)

62. Summary: This will include the restoration of the site to its original use subject to a period 
of aftercare. (NB: In the event that commercially viable reserves are found to exist, a 
further temporary planning application proposing the retention of the site will be submitted 
to allow hydrocarbon production prior to restoration and aftercare taking place).

Page 23

7



63. All concrete hardstanding and bunded areas will be cleaned prior to dismantling. The 
concrete chamber (drilling cellar) will be dismantled leaving the lowest pre-cast concrete 
ring in situ. Surface aggregates will be inspected prior to removal. Areas where 
contamination is identified will be removed for subsequent off-site treatment and reuse. 
The remaining surface aggregate will be carefully removed for subsequent off-site reuse.

64. Once the impermeable membrane has been removed, the exposed subsoils will be 
inspected. In the unlikely event that localised contamination is identified the affected area 
will be excavated for subsequent off-site treatment and/or disposal at an EA permitted 
waste facility. Soil samples will be taken, analysed and compared with soil samples taken 
prior to construction to confirm the absence of contamination. The subsoil will be cultivated 
to a depth of 600mm after-which the soil will not be traversed by machinery.

65. Topsoil may have degraded during storage so it will be tested prior to replacement to 
determine what treatments, if any, are required to improve its condition. Treatments will be 
applied during soil replacement to improve penetration and effectiveness. Topsoil will be 
back-tipped from the store onto loosened subsoil and graded to its original profile.

Phase 4 Programme

66. Approximately six personnel will be required with 3 to 6 security staff. Plant, machinery 
and materials will be delivered by HGV’s between 0700 - 1900 hours Monday-Friday and 
09:00 - 13:00 hours on Saturdays engaging appropriate traffic management measures 
where necessary. However, the majority of HGV movements will be scheduled within 
standard hours of operation. Waste generated will be the same as phase 1. The phase 4 
programme is likely to be:

Table 4: Phase 4 Programme
Hours of Site OperationsSite Restoration or 

Retention Mon - Fri Sat Sun / Bank 
Hols

Estimated 
Duration

4.A: Site Restoration 0700 - 1900 0900 - 1300 None 5 weeks

Development Programme

67. The phases of development are largely consecutive, adopting a logical progression from 
well site construction, through drilling and testing to decommissioning, retention or 
restoration with no material periods of simultaneous operations. Phase progression may 
be disrupted as a result of equipment constraints, the need for maintenance or adverse 
weather conditions. Such periods will not be significant when the development programme 
is considered as a whole.

Development Traffic and Transport

68. The movement of HGVs associated with each phase of the development will be between 
0700 - 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0900 - 1300 hours on Saturdays. The majority of 
HGV movements will be scheduled within standard hours of operation (i.e. 0800 - 1700 
hours Monday - Friday and 0900 - 1300 hours Saturday) minimising HGV movements 
outside of these time periods. HGV movements outside of these periods will be controlled 
by appropriate traffic management measures, where necessary, to avoid any 
unacceptable residual traffic effects.

69. The daily maximum number of HGV movements generated by the development will vary 
between 10 and 20 movements per day depending on the particular phase / sub-phase of 
the development. The applicant has estimated that up to 10 HGV movements per day will 
be generated for a third of the time and up to 20 HGV movements per day will be 

Page 24

7



generated for two-thirds of the estimated duration of the development. The number of 
HGV movements will be scheduled to meet the limits set out in Table 5 below.

Table 5: Heavy Goods Vehicle Movements

Phase Sub-Phase Estimated 
Duration

Maximum 
HGV 

Movements 
(in and out)

Phase 1: Access and 
Well Site Construction

1.A Access and Well Site 
Construction 14 weeks 20

2.A: Drilling – Mobilisation / 
Demobilisation 3 weeks

2.B: Drilling 12 weeks
2.C: Testing 3 weeks

20

2.D: Testing - Initial and Extended 
Well Testing 26 weeks 10

2.E: Side-track Drilling 12 weeks

Phase 2: Drilling, 
Testing and Appraisal

2.F: Maintenance Workover 4 weeks 
20

3.A: Plugging and Abandonment 3 weeks 20Phase 3: Well Plugging, 
Abandonment and 
Decommissioning

3.B: Removal of Surface 
Equipment 2 weeks 10

Phase 4: Site 
Restoration 4.A: Site Restoration 5 weeks 20

70. There may be exceptional occasions during the transition between phases and during 
drilling when these limits may be exceeded in the interests of well integrity and the efficient 
operation of the Site. These occasions would be exceptional with the majority of HGV 
movements scheduled within standard hours of operation. Movements would be controlled 
by bespoke traffic management measures where necessary to avoid any unacceptable 
residual transport and traffic effects. Adopting this approach would allow the duration of 
the phases to be reduced and it would limit the time that HGV’s spend on the surrounding 
highway network.

71. Non-HGV traffic would consist of light goods delivery vehicles and the vehicles of site 
workers (shuttle bus or private cars). During periods of construction and restoration up to 
12 staff would be on site within standard working hours. During periods of drilling, side-
track drilling, maintenance workovers, well plugging and abandonment, the same quota of 
up to 12 staff would remain on site permanently (2 x 12hrs shifts), with numbers peaking 
for short periods at up to 20. However vehicular movements would be spread across the 
entire day and would therefore not compromise the free flow of highway traffic within the 
standard hours of operation. A quota of up to 6 security staff would be permanently 
stationed on site (2 x 12hrs shifts).

Exploration and Appraisal Methodology

72. The applicant states that the near identical reservoir geology between the Loxley Well Site 
and the exploration and appraisal sites at Broadford Bridge, West Sussex and Horse Hill, 
Surrey indicates that the Kimmeridge and Portland reserves may be linked. Therefore, the 
most important technical goal of the exploration and appraisal work at Loxley is the 
confirmation of the Kimmeridge/Portland ‘Geological Concept’, namely the presence of an 
open and continuous natural network of hydrocarbon deposits capable of flowing to 
surface without stimulation. The need to ‘confirm the nature and extent’ of this regional 
system will be key to the future commercial recovery of deposits across the wider Weald 
Basin formation.

Page 25

7



73. The Planning Statement sets out that flow tests and pressure data from the Broadford 
Bridge and Horse Hill wells sites have been sub-commercial which is why the ‘potential 
means of recovery’ needs to be tested at Loxley. This is precisely why the side-track well 
(L-1z) forms part of the development proposal. L-1z will allow alternate completion 
methodology, new completion fluids and the possible use of small-bore radial drilling to be 
deployed in the search for higher sustainable recovery rates. Knowledge gained at Loxley 
would be used elsewhere within the PEDL-234 licence area to benefit hydrocarbon 
recovery.

CONSULTATIONS AND PUBLICITY

District Council

74. Waverley Borough Council
Object on 17 separate grounds. Also consider that the proposal is contrary to the Borough 
Council’s adopted Climate Change motion and query whether the application is valid as 
the access may cross Common Land. The Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for 
Environment and Sustainability has also responded separately requesting that the 
application be refused on a range of environmental and safety grounds.

75. Environmental Health
Concerned that proposed noise levels are well above background sound levels, 
particularly at night and would impact on local residents. Recommends conditions setting 
noise limits for temporary operations, during the day time and night time periods, and to 
require the submission of a Noise Mitigation Strategy, Noise Monitoring Plan and 
Complaints Handling and Liaison Scheme.

Raises issues in relation to air quality, odour, vehicle movements and lighting. 
Recommends that consideration should be given to the imposition of a number of planning 
conditions if the application is approved to control the number of HGV movements, provide 
a dust mitigation plan, a dust management plan, an air quality monitoring plan and an 
odour assessment, to control lighting and to secure the proposed lighting mitigation 
measures. Advises that the Environmental Permit should adequately control any potential 
emissions to land and appropriate remediation if needed.   

Consultees (Statutory and Non-Statutory)

76. Environment Agency
No objection subject to a condition requiring the submission and approval of a scheme to 
dispose of surface water and trade effluent prior to the development taking place. Also 
highlight that the proposal will require Environmental Permits which will require additional 
assessment of the risks to controlled waters.

77. Lead Local Flood Authority
Satisfied with the proposed drainage scheme and content with the development proposed 
subject to conditions to ensure that the sustainable urban drainage systems (SuDS)  
scheme is properly implemented and maintained throughout the lifetime of the 
development.

78. Natural England
No objection subject to appropriate mitigation measures being secured by condition. 

79. County Highway Authority
No objection subject to conditions to ensure the development does not prejudice highway 
safety or cause inconvenience to other highway users.

80. County Noise Consultant

Page 26

7



Unable to provide technical advice due to a potential conflict of interest in relation to their 
involvement with another site nearby. Refer to Environmental Health response above. 

81. County Air Quality Consultant
The air quality impacts have been assessed using an appropriate methodology and the 
effects are not considered significant.

82. County Landscaping Consultant
The visual impact on Thatched House Farm, Park Hatch and users of Dunsfold Road 
resulting from the clear-felling of nearby woodland should be assessed by the applicant 
stating any mitigation measures to reduce these visual impacts. The adverse visual impact 
of the rig and crane are unlikely to be significant. Concur with view of the Surrey Hills 
AONB Planning Adviser that the visual impact from the north and the AONB would be 
softened by the line of trees within the applicant’s control. 

83. County Lighting Consultant
A comprehensive report and lighting scheme have been submitted which demonstrate 
minimum light spillage from the site with light trespass and perceived glare being within 
acceptable limits at the nearest sensitive receptor.  

84. County Geotechnical Consultant
Considers it appropriate for a Stability Assessment Report (SAR) to be submitted prior to 
determination and recommends the imposition of conditions in respect of restrictions on 
the use of the unlined area of the drilling compound, the submission of reports covering 
pre- and post-development geochemical soil testing and platform and foundation stability, 
and the submission of a Soil Conservation and Management Plan (SCMP) and a 
Construction Quality Assurance (CQA) Plan.   

85. County Ecologist
No objection having also considered the responses submitted by both the Surrey Wildlife 
Trust and the Woodland Trust. Recommends a condition requiring a final restoration 
scheme to be submitted taking into account prevailing ecological conditions at that time.

86. Countryside Access Team (Rights of Way)
No objection having reviewed the application including information regarding the activity 
and noise levels.

87. Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser
The proposal would be a seriously incongruous feature in the AGLV and compensation 
should be provided if mitigation is insufficient. Not sure that remaining trees along field 
boundaries to the north-west, north-east and east would provide sufficient screening 
following clear felling. Proposed new planting would be unlikely to be sufficiently large to 
provide an effective screen. Considers that it would be difficult to justify refusal of the 
application because of a significant visual impact of the well site when viewed from the 
AONB to the north. 

88. County Arboriculturalist
Agrees with the initial advice provided by the County Ecologist in relation to T37 (‘Veteran’ 
lapsed coppice) that the Root Protection Area should be extended by adjusting the access 
route.

County Historic Buildings Officer
89. Notes that vibration will be limited to the drill floor. Advises that there is no guidance to 

support the argument that vibration can cause damage to historic buildings in terms of 
their foundations although masonry arches could be affected. Considers that the potential 
for damage to listed buildings from the airborne sound (and ground vibration) can be 
discounted. Points out that the setting of listed buildings in Surrey tend to be relatively tight 
given the heavily wooded nature of the County. To prevent roads getting incrementally 

Page 27

7



wider, would supports the inclusion of an informative advising the developer that any 
highway works should use flush set concrete retainers with a ribbed surface, as 
upstanding kerbs would be very damaging to the wider character of the area.

90. County Archaeological Officer
Recommends a planning condition to secure a programme of test pitting along the access 
road and trial trench evaluation within the area of the proposed well site compound to 
enable suitable mitigation measures to be developed.

91. Environmental Assessment Team
The proposal is not Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development and the 
proposal would not give rise to likely significant effects alone or in-combination with other 
development.      

92. County Restoration and Enhancement Team
Content that the protection of the soil resource and identification of the soils available for 
restoration can be covered by a SCMP as recommended by the County Geotechnical 
Consultant and concur with their advice on the issue of geochemical testing. An aftercare 
scheme should be submitted up front or required by condition.
   

93. Surrey Wildlife Trust
Object due to the impact on climate change and the ecological impact on the natural 
environment. Consider that proposed biodiversity enhancements do not go far enough.   

94. Public Health England
Advises that the drilling and operation of hydrocarbon wells is subject to regulation under 
the Environmental Permit regime, which will further assess potential emissions to air, 
water and the management of waste as well as consideration of accident management 
plans. The EA where necessary will consult Public Health England (PHE) as part of the 
environmental permitting process. 

95. Surrey Gypsy and Travellers Community Forum
Advises of the presence of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller (GRT) population living nearby at 
New Acres, Lydia Park and Hilltops. Does not anticipate any heavy traffic passing GRT 
site entrances on Stovolds Hill, notes proposed limitations on hours of operation and 
proposed security measures and would not expect noise to be a major issue.  

96. Gatwick Airport
Has no issues having assessed the proposed drilling rigs and estimated crane heights 
against their Instrument Flight Procedures and taken the shrouded flares into account.  

97. Health and Safety Executive (HSE)
Advises that the proposed development site does not currently lie within the consultation 
distance of a major hazard site or major accident hazard pipeline. Also advises on the role 
of the HSE in respect of the regulation of onshore oil and gas wells. 

98. Thames Water
No views received.

99. SGN
Infrastructure plans provided indicate that there are no constraints on the development 
posed by the presence of any gas infrastructure. Leaflets and guidance containing gas 
safety information and advice have been provided and forwarded to the applicant.   

100. UK Power Networks
Infrastructure plans indicate the presence of an 11 KV underground cable, an abandoned 
underground cable and a sub-station within the vicinity of the application site. Fact sheet 

Page 28

7



and leaflet containing electricity safety information and advice have been provided and 
forwarded to the applicant.   

101. National Grid
Have checked our records and cannot find any trace of owning any land in this area.

102. Dunsfold Aerodrome Ltd
It is not apparent that the application has properly considered the sensitivity of existing and 
proposed uses at Dunsfold Park including the use of the existing operational airfield. 
Requests that the proposed structures and gas flaring activities are brought to the 
attention of the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA).

103. Civil Aviation Authority
Refers the County Planning Authority (CPA) to their standing advice on the need to 
consult the CAA which requires the CAA to be notified of details of proposed flaring activity 
within the vicinity of an aerodrome. Advise that the condition suggested by the CPA 
requiring obstacle lights to be placed as close as possible to the top of the rig / crane 
would be a good mitigation to avoid danger to flying aircraft. Provide link to their 
publication “Guidance to Crane Operators on Aviation Lighting and Notification”. Request 
that the operator contacts both the CAA’s Operations Team and the Military Low Flying 
Cell once operational dates for the site are established and before site activity takes place. 
Request that their enclosed “Crane Notification Form” is completed by the operator and 
submitted to the CAA’s Operations Team.

 
104. Hascombe Estate

Object due to: the felling of The Burchetts woodland will fully expose the proposed oil well 
within the AGLV and from the AONB; environmental assessments should have been 
undertaken when there were no leaves on the trees; the design for safe surface water 
drainage is inadequate; the threat to ancient woodland, replanted areas, wildlife and 
ecology; the impact on local businesses; climate change; noise; the generation of HGV 
movements; the risks of pollution; the escape of gas; and, earth tremors. If permitted, 
recommend conditions to provide for adequate waste, chemical and water protocols, a 30 
metre buffer between the well site and the woodland boundary and for a restoration bond 
to be lodged with the Council.       

105. The Woodland Trust
Concerned over potential impact on T37 (a veteran ash tree in proximity to the proposed 
access track) due to encroachment on the Root Protection Area (RPA). A RPA in line with 
Natural England’s Standing Advice should be provided.

106. Forestry Commission
Standing advice on ancient woodland and veteran trees has been consulted in relation to 
the dependency of the development’s location; the impact on ecological diversity of the 
woodland; the connectivity of the woodland to other vegetation and enhancement 
opportunities; impact on the root protection areas; changes to air quality and ground water 
from risks of pollution; the current and planned function of the woodland and the use of 
native species in landscaping. 
  

Parish/Town Council and Amenity Groups

107. Dunsfold Parish Council
Object because: a significant restoration bond should be secured; a full Environmental 
Assessment provided; the drilling methodology disclosed; and, request conditions on air 
quality and noise monitoring if Surrey County Council (SCC) is minded to grant planning 
permission. Concerned about the impact on the AONB, seismicity, and noise and light 
pollution. Support both Alfold and Cranleigh parish councils’ responses. Consider that 
implications of a future application for production should be taken into account.      

Page 29

7



108. Bramley Parish Council
Object as applicant has not acknowledged the presence of hydrogen sulphide (H2S) which 
is corrosive and toxic and makes no provision to manage it despite relative proximity of 
several properties.    

109. Alfold Parish Council
Strongly object due to: concerns over the quashing of paragraph 209a of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF); seismicity; aviation safety; traffic safety and the high 
level of recorded traffic collisions; the impact on the countryside and landscape; SCC’s 
declaration of a climate emergency; and, failure to reflect concerns expressed by the local 
community. Urge SCC to take into account the impact from protesters.

110. Hascombe Parish Council
No views received.

111. Witley Parish Council
Object due to: errors and incomplete information in the application; proposal being 
contrary to Government policy to be carbon neutral; questions over the viability of the 
travel plan and subsequent enforcement; and the effect on local water courses. Request a 
restoration bond if planning permission is granted.  

112. Cranleigh Parish Council
Strongly object due to: a lack of consultation on the application; Government commitment 
to move away from fossil fuels; an Environmental Impact Assessment has not been 
provided; impact on the countryside and AGLV; visual impact of the drilling rig from the 
AONB; and concerns over the Travel Plan. Express support for both Alfold and Dunsfold 
parish councils’ responses.

113. Campaign to Protect Rural England
Encourage SCC to refuse the application due to: sprawling industrialisation of the 
countryside; Green Belt land being able to be redefined as brownfield once blighted; the 
need for acid fracking, matrix acidisation or nitrogen uplift; the Government’s climate 
change commitments; SCC’s declaration of a climate emergency; the potential need for a 
restoration bond to be secured; and, the need to minimise adverse environmental impacts.    

114. Waverley Friends of the Earth
Object on grounds of: traffic safety; the impact on the AONB and local businesses; the 
level of noise; the insufficient buffer between the well site compound and the ancient 
woodland having a detrimental impact on biodiversity; the risk of restoration requirements 
not being met given the precarious financial position of the applicant; and, climate change 
including SCC’s declaration of a climate emergency.

Summary of publicity undertaken and key issues raised by public

115. The application was publicised by the posting of 4 site notices and an advert was placed in 
the local newspaper. A total of 14 owner/occupiers of neighbouring properties were 
directly notified by letter. In November 2019, a further round of publicity was carried out by 
the County Planning Authority (CPA). This was undertaken in combination with now 
withdrawn planning application ref: WA/2019/1089 (for an alternative access to the 
application site from Dunsfold Road to the north). All those who had previously responded 
to either application were notified as part of this further round of publicity. This followed the 
submission of amending and amplifying information by the applicant on 1 November 2019.

116. A total of 469 written representations and 4 petitions have been received to date although 
a number of people have written in more than once. In terms of the written representations 
received, 102 of these have been in support of the development and 367 against. The 
main reasons given in support of this proposal are as follows:

Page 30

7



 Economic: development of the vast Weald oil deposit is of national importance and 
must be expedited in the national interest; onshore hydrocarbon extraction is required 
in view of diminishing North Sea reserves; benefits not just Surrey but the whole 
country at a very critical time as minerals have to be shared; supports the wellbeing and 
economy of the nation through securing energy through its natural resources; creates 
jobs and increases self-sufficiency post Brexit; supports the balance of payments; 
provides a buffer against the unreliability of imported fuel; provides additional tax 
revenue for the local community; and, will contribute to Surrey’s local economy.

  Environment: reduces carbon footprint of transportation from importation; clean 
production of oil on-shore in the UK is better than importation; UKOG has demonstrated 
at Horse Hill, Horley how to build a hydrocarbon well site with a low visual presence on 
the landscape; the Dunsfold test track neighbours the site and also contributes to 
existing noise pollution; roads have been assessed by the planning inspector and the 
secretary of state; HGV and site traffic on High Loxley Road will barely be visible from 
Thatched House Farm; UKOG has produced excellent plans in a professional manner 
and taken all necessary steps to protect the environment; and, surrounding woodland is 
not in pristine condition with abandoned cars and bikes.

   Need: complies with our need for energy under the NPPF.

  Extraction Process: the application does not involve fracking and must be approved; 
and, it is for the natural progression of oil extraction.

  Applicant Credentials: UKOG have proceeded responsibly in the development of 
exploration wells at all times and have an excellent reputation of sensitively operating 
within the Weald Basin; and, UKOG are an ethical company that will support locals and 
provide good revenues for councils.  

117. The following contains a summary of the main reasons given by those objecting to the 
application:

   General: the borough council have requested that the application is refused; the 
borough council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has raised serious concerns; 
refusal could avoid a lot of disruption as there are no large oil reserves in the area; 
reference to ‘Waverley Against Drilling’ website set up against the proposal; proposal 
will lead to a negative impact on house prices; there will be no benefits to the local 
economy as existing employees will be used; it would harm local businesses contrary to 
NPPF paragraph 182; query how UKOG’s cash contribution pledge to the local 
community would work in practice; concern over ability of mains water supply to cope; 
the HSE are not sufficiently resourced to monitor the site in the future; the impact of 
health and safety on the site and environs; and, permission would effectively pre-
determine in favour of any future application for production.  

   Planning Application Information: Assessment includes a long list of modelling 
uncertainties which can’t be relied on; Environmental Report summary does not use 
reassuring definite language; there is a lack of information on extraction processes and 
how impacts will be mitigated; buffer between the site and local dwellings / businesses 
is less than those stated; the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment is based on a 
37 metre rig although a 38 metre rig could be used; more information is needed on the 
volume of water required, how it will be sourced and where contaminated water will be 
managed; the proposed design would not cater for this being a zero-discharge site as 
outflow is too low; and, disagree with the assertions made in the Groundwater Risk 
Assessment for Thatched House Farm. 

  Policy: Strong support for onshore hydrocarbon exploration is no longer part of the legal 
framework following removal of NPPF paragraph 209(a); and, temporary 3 year 

Page 31

7



proposal does not meet Government energy policy because commercial success and 
long term production would be required.

  Climate Change: fossil fuels are major contributors to greenhouse gas emissions; 
contradict SCC’s climate emergency declaration and NPPF paragraph 148 which 
support the transition to a low carbon future, and paragraph 149 in relation to mitigating 
and adapting to climate change; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change reported 
we have 12 years to avert a complete climate catastrophe; drilling for hydrocarbons is 
contrary to objectives to reduce the use of fossil fuels (net zero carbon targets and 
2008 Climate Change Act); need for new hydrocarbon sources extracted using 
acidisation is not justified; oil production produces methane, an important contributor to 
climate change; should look towards green energy; oil exploration is a backwards step; 
its unnecessary to be dependent on onshore exploration; concern over impact on future 
generations; the full lifecycle of development and the impact on need for further sites 
(industrialising rural areas) is unknown; plans for a Heathrow third runway have been 
ruled illegal by the Court of Appeal; and, the applicant should withdraw the application 
and pay for the damage it has caused (‘polluter pays’ principle’).

  Extraction Method: stimulation is required to obtain reserves at commercial rates; 
concern that proposal involves fracking; concern that experimental techniques will be 
used with no information on what these are or what the likely impacts will be; the use of 
acids to erode the rock to free gas and oil is unproven and has a high risk of 
contamination; and, if permission is granted, conditions should require an outright ban 
on the use of any acids other than acetic acid. 

  Seismicity: acidisation is just as likely to cause earthquakes as fracking; impact of earth 
tremors has not been assessed despite the site being located on a fault line; there have 
been a swarm of earth tremors occurring around Horse Hill; the onus of proof to prove 
that any seismicity is unrelated to the proposal should lie with the operator; and, 
extraction would extend beneath the proposed new settlement at the airfield. 

  Amenity: not apparent that the impact on existing and future committed sensitive uses 
at Dunsfold Aerodrome has been considered; proposal will conflict with objectives of 
new settlement at Dunsfold; an 850 metre buffer to the nearest dwellings should be 
provided; a 500 metre buffer is required in Northern Ireland and the United States; 
proposal will affect the three nearest dwellings; concern over proximity to local GRT 
sites; taller structures such as portacabins should be placed along the northern 
perimeter to reduce noise and lighting impacts on Thatched House Farm following the 
felling of the woodland; and, peoples’ peace and standard of living will be disrupted. 

  Noise and Vibration: cannot rely on woodland to provide acoustic attenuation because 
it will be clear-felled exacerbating noise intrusion; assessment should address BS: 
4142 (Environmental Noise); impact of vibration, including on heritage properties with 
weaker structural foundations, has not been assessed; NPPF paragraph 180 requires: 
noise to be mitigated / minimised, significant noise impacts to be avoided and tranquil 
areas to be protected; 24 hour working will cause significant disturbance at night 
affecting the GRT community the most given the temporary nature of their 
accommodation; contrary to Surrey Noise Guidelines which recommends working 
hours of 07:00-19:00 and a noise level of 10dB at night rather than 43dB as proposed; 
night time noise at High Billinghurst Farm will be 20dB above background noise level 
with impacts causing a health risk; Waverley EHO has raised concerns; a resident near 
Horse Hill, Horley has stated that noise is significant; 3 years of excessive noise is not 
temporary or acceptable; application could be a precursor to lengthier drilling in the 
future; noise could have significant health and commercial implications for local 
communities; disagree that the noise baseline should include Gatwick and race cars at 
Dunsfold Park as former is not noticeable and the latter is infrequent; noise will exceed 
policy recommendations; and, noise will seriously impact the annual Trew Fields 
Cancer Awareness Festival at Thatched House Farm.  

Page 32

7



  Air Quality: will be worsened by HGV movements (HGVs) and other traffic with 
negative health impacts for recreational users of roads and footpaths; Waverly’s EHO 
has expressed concerns about emissions and odour; deployment of air quality 
assessment diffusion tubes on site should be considered, an evacuation protocol 
established and procedures to protect local residents; concern over presence of highly 
toxic Hydrogen Sulphide, Nitrogen Dioxide, and/or other gases and potential 
accelerated corrosion of pipework and plant; will cause an unpleasant odour; concern 
that adverse impacts of odour could last for 3 years; and, people and horses have had 
nose bleeds at Horse Hill.

  Landscape and Visual: The Burchetts and other woodland will be harvested and cannot 
be relied upon to provide visual screening increasing the impacts; reference to a 
retained mature tree line to provide screening is nonsensical because all Burchett’s 
trees will be felled; concern over proximity of AONB with proposed access road 
touching the AONB boundary; contrary to NPPF policy; concern over visual impact of 
the rig from the AONB and Hascombe Hill; rig floor heights of 4 to 7 metres could have 
further impacts; question ability of 4 metre fence to screen views of tall structures from 
the public bridleway and High Billinghurst Farm and it’s wedding business; a 4.75 metre 
security fence along the access track is inappropriate in the AGLV and post and wire 
fencing with fast growing native hedgerows would be preferable; replacement of the 
ash tree component along the northern boundary will not have any material benefit on 
views from Thatched House Farm; ruined landscape will adversely impact on local 
businesses (wedding venue, craft brewery, Trew Field Cancer Festival, and Horse 
Riding Surrey at Painshill Farm); the proposal will destroy the approach to the wedding 
venue along High Loxley Road  and views from the venue which is fully booked for 
2020; contrary to Local Plan Policy RE3 and paragraph 13.35 given location within the 
AGLV; images of trees in full leaf does not represent the seasonable impact on views 
and site exposure; a 38 metre rig rather than a 37 metre rig should have been 
assessed; and, security arrangements at the access and lighting and will have an 
adverse impact on views from Hascombe Hill. 

  Highways: will create more heavy traffic on unsuitable roads; network is already at 
capacity and in a dreadful state and suffers from potholes; HGVs will cause the road to 
break up; operator has underestimated traffic movements; impacts are unclear as not 
known where hydrocarbons will be transported to; safety concerns from slow HGVs 
moving in and out of High Loxley Road and HGVs having to cross the carriageway 
centre line on Dunsfold Road causing oncoming vehicles to brake; concerned site 
traffic will not comply with safety requirements; proposed 30 mph speed limit is 
unsuitable; lanes are too narrow and bends too sharp for HGVs and abnormal loads; 
roads are ‘hammered’ by Dunsfold Park traffic; increased risk of severe accidents 
involving cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders; Pratts Corner is a dangerous junction 
on a blind corner with high traffic speeds and 2 to 3 accidents per month resulting in the 
garden wall at Gate House Cottage being destroyed 6 times; difficulty negotiating 
junction with the A281; are narrow pinch points on the A281 at Alfold; permission for 
the Craft Brewery restricts employee numbers, working hours and traffic movements to 
take account of the rural setting; is contrary to NPPF policy on highway safety; is a 
need to cut into several metres of Common Land; new traffic signals near the site 
access on High Loxley Road will cause unacceptable delays to traffic associated with 
the events venue at High Billinghurst Farm; and, installation of traffic signals will 
encourage traffic to find alternative routes. 

  Pollution / Contamination: the Hydrogeological and Flood Risk Assessment and the 
Waste Management Assessment contain deficiencies; proposal is inadequate to 
contain run-off during extreme weather; risk to surrounding aquifers and private water 
supplies at Thatched House Farm should be assessed including impact on water well 
at Thatched House Farm used for animal drinking water, irrigation of vegetables and 
suitable for human consumption if filtered; pollution will adversely impact on local 

Page 33

7



businesses including the Craft Brewery where a borehole is being sunk to provide 
water for the brewery; the water table and aquifers will be polluted, potentially by toxic 
run-off; source protection zone is vulnerable to contamination; boreholes will impact on 
the local environment; increased risk caused by fault lines; contrary to EA guidance 
(Nov 2012) on protection of groundwater quality; risk of contamination from rupturing of 
borehole casing and grout seals; impacts of strong chemical ‘acid fracturing’ are 
unknown; request a condition for adequate waste, chemical and water management; 
concern over disposal of contaminated water; use of new completion fluids suggests a 
substance stronger than vinegar; and, the proposal will poison the area.  

  Ecology: proposed buffer between the site and woodland is insufficient to protect 
woodland and habitat and should be extended to 30 metres; NPPF paragraph 175 
gives ancient woodland the highest protection; applicant has not undertaken an 
environmental survey of The Burchetts; landowner has fenced and trenched the well 
site host field which could damage several Burchetts trees; clear-felling will be subject 
to a long-term management plan to provide suitable mitigation; 3 years is not temporary 
as wildlife migration and habitats are likely to permanently change; Phase 1 habitat 
survey was undertaken at a sub-optimal time and may not be entirely accurate or 
robust; Ecological Impact Assessment excluded farmland and breeding bird surveys; 
noise and light pollution will have a significant impact on wildlife such as bats; adverse 
impact on sheep rearing and organic pig farming at Thatched House Farm and a 
number of bee hives in the vicinity; lack of provision for wildlife to access environment 
around the proposed stock fencing; impact from the introduction of heavy machinery; 
loss of precious habitat from the removal of trees and hedgerows; and, proximity to 
Chiddingfold Forest SSSI.

  Lighting: 24 hour working with artificial lighting and flaring of gas is contrary to the 
Institute of Lighting Professionals sky-guide criteria for the AONB; NPPF paragraph 
180 requires the impact of light pollution from artificial light to be limited; the area 
benefits from dark skies at night; lighting will be visible from Hascombe Hill; and, 
lighting will cause disturbance to wildlife.

  Archaeology and Heritage: concern raised that the proposal would take place on an 
archaeological site; the need for further information to address the poor quality of the 
submitted assessment has not been provided; and, concern regarding protection of 
heritage assets with 7 grade II listed buildings nearby.

  Rights of Way: there would be a restriction on the width and partial blocking of an 
existing public bridleway; public bridleway would be obstructed with barbed wire 
fencing and wooden bollards; loss of The Burchetts wood will increase the impacts; 
and, the adverse impact on users of footpaths and the adjacent bridleway are contrary 
to Minerals Local Plan Policy MC14 and Waverley Local Plan Policy LT11. 

  Environmental Assessment: concern raised about EIA screening process.

  Restoration: the NPPF justifies a requirement to obtain a financial guarantee to cover 
restoration where a novel approach or technique is to be used or where there is reliable 
evidence of the likelihood of financial or technical failure, both of which are considered 
applicable in this case; request a condition requiring a restoration bond and/or cash 
deposit to be lodged prior to commencement as UKOG has a record of consecutive 
annual losses and insufficient finances to restore the site; restoration costs should not 
fall on the public purse; query who is responsible for taking out environmental liability 
insurance as the applicant states it will not be the oil company; no plan has been 
provided for a replanting scheme for tree removal; UKOG track record is not good for 
managing the impact on the site and its surroundings; and, a condition should be 
imposed requiring a detailed scheme of restoration and aftercare to be submitted to 
and approved by the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA) prior to any development taking 
place.

Page 34

7



  Airport Safeguarding: input should be provided from the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) 
to ensure the safety of the operational airfield is maintained.

  Human Rights: Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the European Convention of Human rights 
provide a duty to protect human rights including the peaceful enjoyment of home life 
and farm diversification businesses.

  Cumulative Impacts: concern over numerous wells being drilled in the countryside and 
potential further proposal to drill for hydrocarbons near Loxhill; concern that there are 
already existing permissions for an anaerobic digestion facility and large energy centre 
at Dunsfold Park; proposal would have an adverse cumulative impact on the road 
network; and, the impact of development at Dunsfold Park has not been considered.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

Introduction 

118. The guidance on the determination of planning applications contained in the 
Preamble/Agenda front sheet is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in 
conjunction with the following paragraphs. 

119. In this case the statutory development plan for consideration of the application consists of 
the Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011 (SMP CS DPD 
2011), the Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies and Sites 2018 (LPP1) 
and the ‘saved’ policies contained within the Waverley Borough Local Plan 2002 (WBLP).

120. The Borough Council have started work on the preparation of the Waverley Borough Local 
Plan Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (LPP2) and 
published its LPP2 Preferred Options for consultation in 2018. However, the LPP2 remains 
at an early stage of preparation and is not expected to be adopted until May/June 2021 
according to the Borough Council’s latest Local Development Scheme (LSS) published in 
January 2020. It is therefore considered that ‘little weight’ can be attributed to the draft 
policies contained within the emerging plan. Dunsfold Parish Council have commenced 
work on the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan after their application to designate the 
parish of Dunsfold as a Neighbourhood Area was approved by the Borough Council on 2 
August 2017. The parish council have yet to produce a draft Plan for consultation. The 
application site is located within this Neighbourhood Area in its entirety.      

121. In considering this application the acceptability of the proposed development will be 
assessed against relevant development plan policies and material considerations, this 
includes the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy 
Guidance (nPPG). In assessing the application against development plan policy it will be 
necessary to determine whether the proposed measures for mitigating any environmental 
impact of the development are satisfactory. In this case the main planning considerations 
are: need; climate change; highways, traffic and access; landscape and visual impact; air 
quality; noise and vibration; lighting; water environment; geotechnical issues; ecology and 
biodiversity; archaeology and heritage; rights of way; cumulative impacts; restoration; and 
aerodrome safeguarding.

Oil and Gas Regulation

122. The oil and gas industry is heavily regulated and requires a range of licences, permits and 
consents from the Oil and Gas Authority (OGA), the Health and Safety Executive (HSE), 
the Environment Agency (EA), and the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA). In relation to the 
role of the MPA in devising planning policies and making decisions, the NPPF says that 
the focus should be on whether the proposed development is an acceptable use of the 
land, rather than the control of processes or emissions where these are subject to 

Page 35

7



separate pollution control regimes. Planning decisions should assume that these regimes 
will operate effectively. 

Oil and Gas Authority (OGA)
123. Oil and gas exploration and appraisal requires planning permission but also requires 

licensing. The Oil and Gas Authority (OGA), which comprises a Government company with 
the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) the sole 
shareholder, regulates the licensing of the exploration and development of the UK’s oil and 
gas resources. The objective of the licensing regime is to secure the exploration and 
appraisal of the United Kingdom's (UK's) oil and gas resources and maximise their 
economic recovery, while aiming to maintain high standards of safety and environmental 
management through effective asset stewardship.
 

124. Petroleum Exploration and Development Licenses (PEDLs) are issued by the Oil and Gas 
Authority (OGA) under powers granted by the Petroleum Act 1998. They are issued after a 
competitive process following an assessment of applications for operator competency, 
financial capability, geotechnical analysis and the proposed work programme. A PEDL 
comprises a production license which covers all three stages of oil and gas development - 
exploration, appraisal and production within a defined area or block. They give the licence 
holder(s) exclusive rights to search, bore for and produce hydrocarbons (oil and gas) 
subject to necessary drilling / development consents and planning permission.

125. The OGA has strict controls in place to ensure that operators manage the risk of induced 
seismicity from such operations and has a critical role in supporting and influencing the 
UK’s transition to a low carbon economy. The OGA has discretion in the granting of 
licences. One of the objectives of the regulatory regime for oil and gas exploration and 
production established under The Petroleum Act 1998 is to protect the taxpayer from any 
residual liability. All companies on a licence share joint and several liability for obligations 
and liabilities that arise under it, with each licence taking the form of a deed, which binds 
the licensee to obey the licence conditions. As an example, these will typically require the 
avoidance of harmful methods of working through maintaining all apparatus and 
appliances in good repair and condition and the execution of all operations in a proper and 
workmanlike manner in accordance with good industry practise.

126. A license does not confer any exemption from other legal/regulatory requirements, such as 
the need to gain access rights from landowners, health and safety regulations, or planning 
permission. Once a PEDL has been granted, planning permission must be obtained before 
the OGA will authorise consent to drill and extended well testing (EWT). The consent to 
drill and for EWT is obtained from the OGA via the Petroleum Operations Notice (PONS) 
approval process.

Health and Safety Executive (HSE)
127. All oil and gas wells drilled in the UK must be constructed to recognised industry standards 

and are cased using steel and cement to ensure the risk of an unplanned leak of fluids is 
as low as reasonably practicable. Near the surface, where there is nearby groundwater, or 
an aquifer, there are normally three layers of this steel casing. The operator will conduct a 
range of checks on the well to test for leaks. Suitable well control equipment must also be 
provided to protect against the risk of a release of fluids from the well. There have been 
over 350 onshore oil and gas wells drilled in the UK since 2000.

128. The HSE has a regulatory role to play in relation to the proposed development under the 
Borehole Sites and Operations Regulations 1995 (BSOR). These regulations apply to all 
onshore oil and gas wells. They require notifications to be sent to HSE about the design, 
construction and operation of wells, and the development of a health and safety plan 
which sets out how risks are managed on site.

129. The HSE’s regulatory regime is long-established and goal-setting. There are general 
duties under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (HSWA). Those who create 

Page 36

7



health and safety risks to workers or the public as part of their undertaking have a duty to 
manage and control the risks so far as is reasonably practicable. This is supplemented 
with more specific regulations particular to the extraction of gas and oil through wells.

130. The Offshore Installations and Wells (Design and Construction etc) Regulations 1996 
(DCR) include specific requirements for all wells and include well integrity provisions which 
apply throughout the life of gas or oil wells. They require the well operator to send a 
weekly report to HSE during the construction of the well so that inspectors can check that 
work is progressing as described in the notification. The operator must also appoint an 
independent well examiner who has an important quality control role in ensuring that the 
well is designed, constructed operated and abandoned to industry and company standards 
and that regulatory requirements are met.

131. This combination of duties ensures that HSE is provided with information at key stages in 
the lifecycle of a well and allows HSE inspectors to assess whether risks are being 
adequately controlled and, if not, to take the appropriate regulatory action.

132. HSE’s intervention approach has two main elements: Firstly, specialist well engineers help 
develop best practice standards for the industry as a whole with Oil and Gas UK and the 
United Kingdom Onshore Oil and Gas (UKOOG). All members of UKOOG have agreed to 
comply with the latest standards published in February 2013.

133. Secondly, risk-based interventions are used on particular sites and operators and to 
ensure they are managing well integrity. HSE uses its team of expert wells engineers who 
cover all types of hydrocarbon wells. An oil or gas well is a complex engineered 
construction, most of which is below ground and so not accessible to visual inspection. 
HSE therefore takes a lifecycle approach to well integrity, using the notifications and 
weekly well reports as well as meetings with the operator and on-site inspection to ensure 
the operator is managing the risks appropriately.

134. To comply with the BSOR, the well operator must submit a notification to HSE at least 21 
days before work commences. It consists of a broad range of information on the design 
and construction of the well including the risks identified with the work and how these risks 
will be managed. 

135. A notification is also required for any other activity that could result in an accidental 
release of fluids from the well. These notifications allow HSE to assess the well design and 
operations before activity starts. This is a key phase of work where the vast majority of 
issues likely to have an impact on well integrity will be identified and addressed by the well 
operator. It includes ensuring that safety features are incorporated into the design. 
Inspectors will contact the operator if they have any concerns or queries about the 
information supplied. Further notifications are required if there is a material change to the 
information previously supplied in a notification and before the well is decommissioned.

136. To comply with DCR, the operator must report to HSE every week during construction of 
the well and during work to decommission the well. This provides HSE with assurance that 
the operator is constructing and operating the well as described in the notification. If they 
are not, HSE can take the appropriate regulatory action. The weekly report gives details of 
all work that has taken place since the previous report including well integrity tests and 
details of the drill fluid density which allows the inspector to gauge the pressure in the well 
and identify any stability issues.

137. There is also a specific set of occurrences that the well operator must report to HSE under 
RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013) 
including a blowout (i.e. an uncontrolled flow of well fluids), the unexpected detection of 
H2S (hydrogen sulphide - an explosive gas), failure to maintain minimum separation 
distance between wells, mechanical failure of any safety-critical element of a well. 

Page 37

7



Reporting of well incidents enables HSE to investigate those that would have an effect on 
well integrity and ensures the well operator secures improvements to their operations.

Environment Agency

138. The Environment Agency (EA) is the environmental regulator for onshore oil and gas 
operations in England. They ensure that oil and gas operations are carried out in a way 
that protects people and the environment working closely with Public Health England, the 
HSE, the OGA and MPAs. The EA’s role includes assessing any risks to controlled waters 
including both surface water and groundwater. In order to drill the proposed wells, the 
applicant will be required to obtain Environmental Permits from the EA where activities 
include:

   Mining waste activity - this applies in all circumstances;
  Groundwater activity - this is likely to be required in association with losses / 

procedures in drilling and well testing;
  An installation under the Industrial Emissions Directive - this is likely to be dependent 

on:
 
o radioactive substances activity - potentially in association with oil or gas when it is 

produced due to Naturally Occurring Radioactive Material (NORM) which may be 
stimulated during operations;

o water discharge activity - unlikely if no discharge is proposed, but may be if any 
water is disposed to surface water or groundwater; and 

o Abstraction Licence - in the event that the applicant decides to abstract 
groundwater from a designated well or borehole on the site and the required 
volume of water is in excess of 20m3 per day.

139. The applicant is required to notify the EA of their intention to drill a borehole(s) in 
accordance with section 199 (1) Notice etc. of mining operations which may affect water 
conservation (Water Resources Act 1991). The applicant is also required to provide 
additional information on potential risks and safeguards when applying for these permits. 
The possible presence of hydrogen sulphide is also addressed as part of the 
determination of the Environmental Permit. 

140. Where any impacts to groundwater are noted, appropriate action is required through 
controls on the Environmental Permit to ensure that any potential receptors are protected. 
Any additional details of site design, operations, controls and safeguards are also required 
in association with the Environmental Permit application.

141. The EA take environmental damage extremely seriously. If there is an incident which 
causes pollution of the environment, environmental damage, or if there is a breach of the 
environmental permit or non-compliance with environmental legislation, the EA has a 
range of enforcement powers available to them. Where appropriate, they may also make 
companies undertake remedial works to rectify environmental damage. Any enforcement 
action they take will be proportionate to the risks posed to people and the environment and 
also to the seriousness of the breach of the law.

Environmental Impact Assessment

142. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 
concern the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the 
environment. Development proposals falling under Schedule 1 of the regulations require 
an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) in every case while those under Schedule 2 
only require an EIA where development is likely to have significant environmental effects. 
Schedule 2 lists mineral extraction amongst the types of development where an EIA may 
be required. Where any part of the proposal is in a sensitive area, such as an AONB, a 

Page 38

7



SSSI, Special Protection Area (SPA) or Special Area of Conservation (SAC) for example, 
or exceeds / meets certain thresholds or criteria, then an EIA may be required.
  

143. Prior to the submission of the current application, a request for an EIA Screening Opinion 
was made to the CPA on behalf of the applicant. The CPA adopted its formal EIA 
Screening Opinion on 28 February 2019 and recommended that the proposed 
development did not constitute ‘EIA development’ for the following reasons:

a) The area of land that would be affected by the proposed development is 1.8 hectares, 
which is below the recommended EIA thresholds of 5 hectares and 10 hectares 
defined in the national Planning Practice Guidance (nPPG) on EIA for deep drilling 
operations (Schedule 2, paragraph 2(d)) and surface installations for hydrocarbon 
extraction (Schedule 2, paragraph 2(e));

b) Any volumes of hydrocarbon produced over the course of the exploration and 
appraisal operations would be small and incidental, and would not exceed the 
recommended EIA threshold of 100,000 tonnes of petroleum per year defined in the 
nPPG on EIA for surface installations for hydrocarbon extraction (Schedule 2, 
paragraph 2(e)); and

c) The proposed development site is not situated within any of the categories of sensitive 
areas listed under Regulation 2 of the EIA Regulations. The proposed development 
site is located some 0.54 kilometres to the south of the Surrey Hills Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), and some 1.85 kilometres to the south of a 
Scheduled Monument (‘Hascombe Camp: a small multivallate hillfort north west of 
Lodge Farm’ (Historic England List ID 1008522)). 

It was acknowledged that the presence of the well site on land within the visual 
envelope of the Surrey Hills AONB and the Scheduled Monument would give rise to 
short term and temporary impacts that would be adverse in nature, by virtue of the 
introduction of drilling rigs for short periods of time, and in the case of the Surrey Hills 
AONB of the small increase in the daily volume of HGV traffic (including occasional 
abnormal loads) making use of roads adjoining the Surrey Hills AONB. 

However given that the operations would be short term, and that temporary 
permission would be sought for a period of up to 3 years, and the fact that views south 
from the AONB and the Scheduled Monument towards the proposed development site 
would be set against the background of the existing Dunsfold Aerodrome and the 
Dunsfold solar farm, it was concluded that the impacts that would arise would not be 
significant with reference to the integrity of either the Surrey Hills AONB or the 
Scheduled Monument or their respective contexts and settings.

144. Waverley Borough Council (WBC), Dunsfold Parish Council and Cranleigh Parish Council 
have raised objection due to the lack of an EIA and a representation has raised concerns 
about the EIA screening process. In particular, the Borough Council has stated that a 
review of the proposed scheme by Hampshire County Council acting for WBC concludes 
that the requirements of the EIA regulations indicates that the proposal would qualify as a 
Schedule 2 development and hence a full Environmental Statement (ES) should be 
required. WBC also question the CPA’s decision given the lack of evidence provided by 
the applicant for some topic areas.

145. Paragraph 119 of the Minerals section of the nPPG advises that whilst all applications 
must be assessed on a case-by-case basis, it is unlikely that an Environmental Impact 
Assessment will be required for exploratory drilling operations which do not involve 
hydraulic fracturing. Officers are satisfied that the EIA screening opinion is robust and 
accords with the relevant legislation contained in the EIA Regulations and the advice set 
out in the nPPG. Further, any third party who disagrees with the Screening Opinion issued 

Page 39

7



by the CPA can request an EIA Screening Direction from the Secretary of State. Officer 
note that no such Screening Direction has been requested to date.  

Need for the Development

Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy 2011
Policy MC1: Spatial Strategy - Location of Mineral Development in Surrey
Policy MC12: Oil and Gas Development

National Planning Policy and Guidance

146. One of the key considerations in the determination of this application will be the need for 
the development. There are three separate phases of oil and gas development: 
exploration, appraisal and production. Each requires separate planning permission. This 
application is for the first two phases, exploration and appraisal. When planning for on-
shore oil and gas development, paragraph 209 of the NPPF explains that minerals 
planning authorities (MPA’s) should clearly distinguish between, and plan positively for, 
the three phases of development (exploration, appraisal and production). Government 
guidance contained in paragraph 094 of the Minerals chapter of the nPPG advises that 
applications are able to cover more than one phase of extraction.

147. Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that it is essential that there is a sufficient supply of 
minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs.  
NPPF paragraph 205 sets out that when determining planning applications, great weight 
should be given to the benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy. Paragraph 
001 of the nPPG Minerals chapter advises that mineral resources make an essential 
contribution to the country’s prosperity and quality of life.

148. NPPF paragraph 203 explains that since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can 
only be worked where they are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their 
long-term conservation. Paragraph 001 of the nPPG Minerals chapter advises that 
minerals can only be worked where they naturally occur, so location options for the viable 
and environmentally acceptable extraction of minerals may be limited. 

149. In relation to hydrocarbon extraction, paragraph 091 of the nPPG Minerals chapter states 
that hydrocarbon extraction covers both conventional and unconventional hydrocarbons 
and that conventional hydrocarbons are oil and gas where the reservoir is sandstone or 
limestone. Unconventional hydrocarbons refers to oil and gas which comes from sources 
such as shale or coal seams which act as the reservoirs.

150. Paragraph 095 of the nPPG Minerals chapter explains that the exploratory phase seeks to 
acquire geological data to establish whether hydrocarbons are present. It may involve 
seismic surveys and exploratory drilling. In respect of duration, paragraph 098 explains 
that for conventional hydrocarbons, exploration drilling onshore is a short-term, but 
intensive, activity and that typically, site construction, drilling and site clearance will take 
between 12 to 25 weeks. Paragraph 099 adds that the appraisal phase takes place 
following exploration when the existence of oil or gas has been proved, but the operator 
needs further information about the extent of the deposit or its production characteristics to 
establish whether it can be economically exploited.

151. In the determination of applications, paragraph 124 of the nPPG Minerals chapter states 
that MPA’s should take account of government energy policy, which makes it clear that 
energy supplies should come from a variety of sources. This includes onshore oil and gas, 
as set out in the government’s Annual Energy Statement published in October 2013.

Development Plan Policy

Page 40

7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/annual-energy-statement-2013


152. SMP CS DPD Policy MC1 states that oil and gas development will be concentrated in the 
southern half of the county. Paragraph 3.16 of the supporting text explains that the Weald 
Basin is one of the only two locations in southern England where commercial deposits of 
hydrocarbons are thought to exist. In Surrey, licences have been issued predominantly to 
the south of the North Downs.
 

153. Paragraph 3.17 sets out that since the 1950s exploration and appraisal has occurred fairly 
widely across the southern part of the county. Paragraph 3.18 adds that further exploration 
and appraisal activity within the licensed areas is likely as UK offshore resources decline. 
Whilst it is not possible to identify locations where proposals will be forthcoming, each 
must be treated on its merits. A number of licensed areas lie wholly or partially within the 
Surrey Hills AONB, and also include other designated sites of biodiversity or heritage 
interest. The implications for the conservation of these assets must be set against the 
need for energy and the effect of proposals for exploration, appraisal or production.

154. Policy MC12 of the SMP CS DPD states that planning applications for the exploration, 
appraisal or production of oil and gas will be permitted only where the MPA is satisfied 
that, in the context of the geological structure being investigated, the proposed site has 
been selected to minimise adverse impacts on the environment and that the use of 
directional drilling to reduce potential environmental impacts should be assessed. The 
policy also states that planning applications for drilling to appraise potential oil or gas fields 
will only be permitted where the need to confirm the nature and extent of the resource, and 
potential means of recovery, has been established. Paragraph 5.36 of the supporting text 
recognises that conventional oil and gas development differs from other mineral 
development in that it involves continuous periods of working with most of this disturbance 
occurring at the exploration and appraisal stage. However these stages are usually of 
relatively short duration and may or may not be followed by production.

EU Context

155. The European Commission (EC) has adopted Green Papers and Strategic Energy 
Reviews to advance the agenda on sustainability, competitiveness and security of supply. 
A core goal of European energy policy is to ensure safe, secure, sustainable and 
affordable energy for all and is of fundamental importance to the EU's economy, industry 
and citizens.

156. The European Council has adopted ambitious energy and climate change objectives for 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions. To address the challenges of energy security and 
climate change, the EU’s energy and climate goals are incorporated into the Europe 2020 
Strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, which was adopted by the European 
Council in June 2010, and into its flagship initiative ‘Resource Efficient Europe’.

157. The EU Energy Security Strategy (May 2014) sets out that the EU imports more than half 
of all the energy it consumes. Its import dependency is particularly high for crude oil (more 
than 90%) and natural gas (66%). The total import bill is more than €1 billion per day. 
Energy security has also to be seen in the context of growing energy demand worldwide, 
which is expected to increase by 27% by 2030, with changes to energy supply and trade 
flows.

158. To meet the EU’s energy and climate targets for 2030, the European Commission stated 
that EU Member States had to establish a 10 year integrated national energy and climate 
plan for the period from 2021 to 2030. These plans are to cover energy efficiency, 
renewables, emissions reduction, interconnections and research and innovation. The UK 
submitted their plan in December 2018. This document states that the UK is committed to 
ensuring there are secure supplies for consumers, regardless of the energy mix, and sets 
actions to enhance energy security by delivering a more diverse and reliable energy mix.

UK Energy Supply and Demand

Page 41

7



159. Oil and gas form an integral part of the UK’s energy and generation mix maintaining 
energy security, affordability and decreasing carbon emissions in the UK. The Annual 
Energy Statement 2014 (paragraph 39) explains that the Government is undertaking 
activities in a number of areas to enhance energy security whilst also delivering wider 
energy goals. This includes measures to: incentivise deployment of flexible gas and low 
carbon generation; maximise economic production of domestic oil and gas reserves; and 
prevent possible disruptions to UK energy supply.

160. A Ministerial Statement on Shale Gas dated 17 May 2018 set out details of the importance 
of domestic onshore gas supplies in the UK. Although related to shale gas, this Statement 
recognises that the UK has a diverse range of energy sources, which includes natural gas, 
and that gas makes up around a third of the current energy usage. The Ministerial 
Statement recognises that the UK must have safe, secure and affordable supplies of 
energy with carbon emission levels that are consistent with carbon budgets defined in the 
Climate Change Act. However, despite improvements in efficiencies in off-shore oil and 
gas production, the UK has gone from being a net exporter to a net importer, importing 
over half (53%) of gas supplies in 2017. Estimates suggest that the UK could be importing 
72% of its gas by 2030. Although the UK’s current import mix, via pipelines from Norway 
and Continental Europe and Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) terminals that can source gas 
from around the world, provides it with stable and secure supplies, the Government 
believes “it is right to utilise our domestic gas resources to the maximum extent”.

161. National policy with regard to energy is set out in the White Paper ‘Meeting the Energy 
Challenge’ published in May 2007 (2007 Energy White Paper) and incorporates EU 
objectives towards energy and climate. The 2007 Energy White Paper recognises that 
‘energy is essential in almost every aspect of our lives, as well as for the success of our 
economy’. The 2007 Energy White Paper sets out the Government’s response to the long-
term energy challenges posed by the need to tackle climate change and reducing carbon 
dioxide emissions, and ensuring that the country has secure, clean and affordable energy 
supplies. The four energy policy goals in the White Paper are to:

 cut emissions by some 60% by about 2050, with real progress by 2020;
  maintain the reliability of energy supplies;
  promote competitive markets in the UK and beyond; and
  ensure that every home is adequately and affordably heated.

162. The Energy White Paper explains that while the UK has benefitted from indigenous 
reserves of oil and gas for many years, as the North Sea matures, the UK will become 
increasingly dependent on imported energy, and therefore needs to be confident that the 
market for fossil fuels continues to ensure reliable supplies of these fuels at competitive 
prices; and that fossil fuels will be relied upon for the foreseeable future.
 

163. The Energy Act 2008 implemented the legislative aspects of the 2007 White Paper and 
reflected the changing requirements for security of supply infrastructure and adequate 
protection for the environment and the UK’s population, as the energy market changes. 
The Energy Act 2011 has three principle objectives: to tackle barriers to investment in 
energy efficiency; enhance energy security; and enable investment in low carbon energy 
supplies.

164. The Climate Change Act 2008 established a legally binding target to reduce the UK’s 
greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% below base year levels by 2050, to be 
achieved through action at home and abroad. To drive progress and set the UK on a 
pathway towards this target, the Act introduced a system of carbon budgets which provide 
legally binding limits on the amount of emissions that may be produced in successive five 
year periods. In 2019, this target was strengthened through the Climate Change Act 2008 
(2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019, to commit the UK to reaching net zero greenhouse 
gas emissions by 2050.

Page 42

7



165. The Government introduced the ‘The Carbon Plan: Delivering our low carbon future’ in 
December 2011. The Plan sets out how the UK will achieve decarbonisation within the 
framework of our energy policy: to make the transition to a low carbon economy while 
maintaining energy security, and minimising costs to consumers, particularly those in 
poorer households.

166. The Government states through its Gas Generation Strategy (2012) that it is determined to 
ensure that the UK maximises its indigenous oil and gas resources as any overreliance on 
gas or any energy source, could put the UK at risk of disruption in supply. The Gas 
Generation Strategy states that the most energy-efficient way of using gas is to convert it 
into power and heat simultaneously as this reduces the amount of energy rejected as 
waste heat relative to the amount generated.

167. The Government’s Energy Security Strategy 2012 explains the exploitation of our North 
Sea oil and gas reserves has brought significant energy security as well as commercial 
benefits. Although UK production still provided the equivalent of 72 per cent of our oil use 
(including bunkers) and 55 per cent of our net gas use, the UK continental shelf (UKCS) is 
on a downward trend. By 2020 it expects the UK will be net importers of 43 per cent of the 
UK oil demand and 53 per cent of gas demand.

168. The Annual Energy Statement 2010 recognises that encouraging the necessary 
investment in oil and gas production is an important component of the transition towards a 
low carbon economy. The Annual Energy Statement 2013 states that with oil and gas 
remaining key elements of the energy system for years to come (especially for transport 
and heating), the Government is committed to maximising indigenous resources, onshore 
and offshore, where it is cost-effective and in line with safety and environmental 
regulations to help ensure security of supply. 

169. The most recent Annual Energy Statement 2014 explains that the Government is 
undertaking activities in a number of areas to enhance energy security whilst also 
delivering wider energy goals. This includes measures to: incentivise deployment of 
flexible gas and low carbon generation; maximise economic production of domestic oil and 
gas reserves; and prevent possible disruptions to UK energy supply. The statement 
advocates a balanced approach towards securing a reduction in energy consumption. This 
includes husbanding domestic supplies to reduce the reliance on imports, in combination 
with bringing forward cost effective renewables as part of a balanced, low carbon and 
secure energy mix. Nevertheless, the UK’s energy and climate change policy is influenced 
by decisions taken in Europe and as the importation of oil and gas increases, so does the 
influence of international issues.

170. The British Geological Survey (BGS) Mineral Planning Factsheet “Onshore Oil and Gas” 
(April 2011) states that the UK economy is highly dependent on oil and gas as primary 
sources of energy play an important role for generating electricity and domestic heating; 
and being essential fuels for transport on land, sea and in the air alongside their use in 
millions of products made from chemical processing. The Factsheet states that “whilst 
onshore oil production, and particularly gas, is small there will be a ready market and 
continuing need for these minerals for the foreseeable future”.

Assessment

171. The applicant is proposing to investigate the geological structures of the gas-bearing 
Portland Sandstone and the oil-bearing Kimmeridge Limestone formations of the Weald 
Basin. Paragraph 091 of the nPPG Minerals chapter describes resources found in these 
geological formations as conventional hydrocarbons. The proposed development is 
situated in the southern half of the county where SMP CS DPD Policy MC1 anticipates 
that oil and gas development will be concentrated.

Page 43

7



172. The applicant states that the application site is on the northern flank of the Weald, close to 
the basin centre where the strata are at their thickest and most thermally mature (i.e. 
conditions most likely to support the presence of hydrocarbon reserves). Historic 
exploration at the Godley Bridge and Alfold well sites and more recent results from the 
Broadford Bridge well site, West Sussex and the Horse Hill well site, Surrey, identify the 
prime prospective area to be the Godley Bridge Gas Discovery; a hydrocarbon reservoir 
up to 2km below ground and 2km wide stretching from Chiddingfold to Alfold Crossways.

173. The near identical reservoir geology between the proposed well site and the exploration 
and appraisal sites at Broadford Bridge and Horse Hill indicates that the Kimmeridge and 
Portland reserves may be linked. Therefore, the most important technical goal of the 
exploration and appraisal work at Loxley is the confirmation of the Kimmeridge/Portland 
‘Geological Concept’, namely the presence of an open and continuous natural network of 
hydrocarbon deposits capable of flowing to surface without stimulation.

174. Flow tests and pressure data from Broadford Bridge and Horse Hill have been sub-
commercial which is why the ‘potential means of recovery’ needs to be tested at Loxley. 
The proposed side-track well (L-1z) will assist in this process by allowing alternate 
completion methodology, new completion fluids and the possible use of small-bore radial 
drilling to be deployed in the search for higher sustainable recovery rates. Knowledge 
gained at Loxley would then be used elsewhere within the PEDL-234 Petroleum Licence 
area to benefit hydrocarbon recovery.

175. Whilst minerals can only be worked where they are found, in relation to hydrocarbon 
extraction, Officers recognise that the potential to use directional drilling provides greater 
flexibility in terms of the siting of the well site compound. Despite this, drilling sites still 
need to be relatively proximate to potential reserves. The applicant points out that 
directional drilling enables a search area to extend up to 1km beyond the footprint of the 
below ground gas discovery. Accordingly, the defined search area for a new well site was 
confined to land to the east of Dunsfold and south west of Cranleigh.

176. The location of oil and gas development raises distinct issues. Geological and operational 
factors as well as environmental and landownership issues limit the locations available for 
oil and gas development. In support of the application, the applicant has submitted a Site 
Identification Report which outlines how site identification is influenced by technical 
constraints, direct constraints and indirect constraints. Directional drilling was engaged to 
maximise the search area in the interests of minimising the scope for adverse impacts. 

177. In terms of technical constraints, the applicant explains that the search area is defined by 
the extent of the below ground discovery, the above ground Petroleum Licence area in 
which the discovery falls (PEDL 234) and the degree to which a pathway between both is 
compromised by local geological considerations. Further, accessibility from the 
surrounding road network is material together with slope, load bearing capacity and 
potential for localised flooding. The applicant refers to direct constraints as being the 
physical encroachment of the proposal upon the landscape and its natural and built 
heritage assets, the loss or degradation of natural resources and development plan 
allocations or policies applying to the area of the proposal. Indirect constraints are 
recognised as relating to impacts on amenity, the setting of natural and built heritage 
assets and cumulative impacts. 

178. The applicant acknowledges that striking an appropriate balance between the national 
need for hydrocarbons and the capacity of the local environment to accommodate the 
development requires careful consideration. Having applied the identified constraints 
across the search area, the applicant found that there were no locations free from 
designations or constraints with some locations hosting a mix. The selection of any site 
would therefore engage at least one planning policy or environmental designation 
constraint giving rise to a degree of conflict. 

Page 44

7



179. Despite this 23 sites of least constraint were identified of which 17 were discounted 
following a detailed assessment of their environmental impact. Of the six remaining sites, 
only two remained following the search for landowner consent. These comprised Location 
4: Land at High Loxley Road (West) and Location 15: Land at High Loxley Road (East). 
Despite being 350 metres to the north of the discovery footprint, Location 15 was 
considered more environmentally acceptable as it would have less of a visual impact from 
the AONB, a lower impact on a nearby SNCI, and the environmental impact of access 
provision would be lower. 

180. The applicant states that by making use of the world’s latest oil and gas technologies, they 
are endeavouring to turn potential discoveries into environmentally acceptable and 
commercially viable solutions for the benefit of Surrey and the UK. The site identification 
process has been based on the principles of minimising the impact of operational 
development on local communities and the local environment.

181. A number of representations have been received in support of the application arguing that 
the proposal is of national importance, supports economic wellbeing and energy security 
with North Sea reserves diminishing and complies with energy policy set out in the NPPF.

182. Waverley Borough Council have raised objection stating that the application is in breach of 
energy safeguarding policies and that no economic assessment of benefits arising from 
the proposal has been provided. They also state that the proposal is contrary to the 
emerging government policy agenda where dependency on fossil fuels will be phased out 
and refer to the quashing of NPPF paragraph 209(a) due to the public consultation 
exercise being flawed.

183. Objections have also been received due to: the damage to the climate; the quashing of 
NPPF paragraph 209(a); the proposal being contrary to the Government’s carbon neutral 
policy stance and its commitment to move away from fossil fuels; the proposal 
contradicting policy supporting the transition to a low carbon future; dependency on 
onshore exploration being unnecessary; there being no large oil reserves in the area; the 
lack of any local employment benefits; and the need for the applicant to withdraw the 
application and pay for the damage it has been causing in line with the ‘polluter pays’ 
principle.

184. Paragraph 209(a) of the previous version of the NPPF stated that MPAs should recognise 
the benefits of on-shore oil and gas development, including unconventional hydrocarbons, 
for the security of energy supplies and supporting the transition to a low-carbon economy; 
and put in place policies to facilitate their exploration and extraction. Despite the court 
order to quash this paragraph, a Written Ministerial Statement made on 23 May 2019 set 
out that:

a) the remainder of the NPPF policies including Chapter 17 on Facilitating the 
Sustainable Use of Minerals remain unchanged and extant;

b) for the purposes of the NPPF, hydrocarbon development are considered to be a 
mineral resource;

c) specific policy on planning considerations associated with hydrocarbon development 
is set out at paragraphs 203-205 and the remainder of 209 of the NPPF; and

d) in particular, paragraph 204(a) of the NPPF states that planning policies should 
provide for the extraction of mineral resources of local and national importance with 
paragraph 205 stating that when determining planning applications, great weight 
should be given to the benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy.  

185. In view of the clarification provided in this ministerial statement, the quashing of paragraph 
209(a) is not considered to change Government planning policy in support of making 
provision for the extraction of hydrocarbons. Further, the review of Government policy set 
out above demonstrates that hydrocarbon development remains necessary and is in the 
national and wider public interest considering that fossil fuels will be relied upon for the 

Page 45

7



foreseeable future and the need for the UK to utilise its domestic gas resources to the 
maximum extent. Hydrocarbon development is also required to help contribute towards 
and husband domestic energy supplies, provide energy security, prevent possible 
disruptions to energy supply, reduce reliance on imports, and support the transition to a 
low-carbon future. The application would enable the extent of hydrocarbon reserves within 
the area to be determined and is considered likely to support local employment through 
the construction and decommissioning phases of the development.

Conclusion    

186. Officers are satisfied that the proposal is in accordance with national energy and planning 
policy and that the applicant has established the need to confirm the nature and extent of 
the resource, and potential means of its recovery. Officers consider that there is a 
demonstrable need to maintain a stable and reliable supply of indigenous energy sources, 
including onshore oil and gas, into the future and that significant weight should be 
attributed to this aspect of the proposal. Such potential indigenous supplies of natural gas 
and oil, regardless of their quantity, should be investigated in the interests of maximising 
the energy recovery of domestic supplies and contributing to the energy mix. The location 
of the development has been informed by a detailed assessment process outlined in the 
Site Identification Report which take into account the use of directional drilling to widen the 
search area in the interests of finding a suitable site where the impacts on the environment 
and amenity can be minimised. It is therefore concluded that the need for the proposal has 
been established, the development is in the national and wider public interest and that the 
location of the development has been justified in accordance with the development plan. 

Climate Change

Waverley Local Plan Part 1 2018
Policy CC1: Climate Change

187. Paragraph 1.43 of the SMP CS DPD recognises the importance of climate change stating 
that the county council is committed through its Climate Change Strategy 2008 to helping 
communities and businesses in Surrey to act on climate change in their own work and 
lives. However, the SMP CS DPD recognises that the plan is specific to the single subject 
matter of minerals and consequently may only make a limited contribution to this critical 
objective. Paragraph 1.43 recognises that transport emissions are a key issue in Surrey as 
most minerals are moved by road. This states that the choice of locations readily 
accessible to the market and by the same token a spread of locations, is likely to lead 
overall to lower vehicle kilometres and emissions. Operators’ vehicle fleets may also 
assist, both through regular maintenance and timely replacement with fuel efficient and/or 
low emission vehicles, although the plan has no direct control here.

188. LPP1 Policy CC1 supports development where it contributes to mitigating and adapting to
the impacts of climate change, including measures that: (i) use renewable and low carbon 
energy; (ii) provide appropriate flood storage capacity; (iii) address issues of flood risk; and 
(iv) provide high standards of sustainable design and construction with built-in resilience to 
climate change; and (v) use green infrastructure and SuDS to help absorb heat, reduce 
surface water run-off and support habitat networks.

189. NPPF paragraph 148 states that the planning system should support the transition to a low 
carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It 
should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse 
gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of 
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable 
and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.

190. The NPPF does not specifically set out how the consideration of greenhouse gas 
emissions from a proposal should be balanced in the decision making process and instead 

Page 46

7



looks to new development to be designed in a way that is resistant to climate change and 
to incorporate renewable or low carbon energy.

191. The United Nations and the international scientific community have made clear the 
potentially severe global human, environmental and economic impacts anthropogenic 
climate change poses. In 2018, the UN Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) released a landmark report highlighting that even half a degree rise in global 
temperatures beyond 1.5°C would significantly worsen the risks of drought, floods, 
extreme heat and poverty for hundreds of millions of people.

192. The Climate Change Act 2008 established the context for government action, 
incorporating a requirement to undertaken climate change risk assessments and to 
development a National Adaptation Programme to address the opportunities and risks 
from climate change. The Act also established a legally binding target to reduce the UK’s 
greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% in 2050 from 1990 levels. In 2019, this target 
was strengthened through the Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 
2019, to commit the UK to reaching net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. The 
nPPG states that every area will have different challenges and opportunities for reducing 
carbon emissions from new development such as energy related development.

193. Following the Government’s announcement in June 2019 that the UK would be net zero 
carbon by 2050, the following month, in July 2019, SCC declared a climate change 
emergency and made a commitment that the County would be net zero carbon by 2050, in 
line with the Government’s target. Surrey’s district and borough authorities have also 
recognised the severe and imminent threat that climate change poses, and have declared 
a number of their own climate emergencies and emissions reduction targets.

194. The public declaration of a net zero carbon target commits all local authorities in Surrey to 
tackling climate change across every aspect of their assets and service provision in 
conjunction with partners, residents, businesses and Government to support a reduction in 
the carbon emissions produced in Surrey. This ambition is not only considered necessary 
to tackle the climate emergency for current and future generations but also offers a 
significant opportunity to increase energy efficiency, improve resilience and deliver a 
greener, healthier society.

195. In April 2020, SCC’s Cabinet endorsed Surrey’s Climate Change Strategy and approved 
its associated actions. This sets out the intended approach to delivering these ambitions 
over the next thirty years. It provides a joint framework for collaborative action across 
Surrey’s 12 local authorities to reduce emissions to net zero between now and 2050. The 
Strategy specifically commits SCC to reducing carbon emissions from its own corporate 
estate to net zero by 2030. This target, although challenging, can be achieved as these 
emissions fall completely within the Council’s control, and would demonstrate the 
Council’s commitment to this agenda. At the time of the Strategy’s publication, nine of the 
eleven boroughs and districts in Surrey had adopted net zero carbon organisational 
emissions targets.

196. Surrey’s carbon emissions have fallen by 35% since 2005, due largely to the 
decarbonisation of the national grid. Currently, Surrey is estimated to produce 6 million 
tonnes of carbon a year, of which 46% comes from the transport sector, with housing then 
responsible for 28% of emissions, public & commercial buildings for 15% and industry 
11%. The Strategy sets out strategic priorities, the actions required to deliver them as well 
as a series of emissions reduction targets.  

  
197. Whilst the Strategy requires the action of many partners across the County, SCC itself has 

a significant role to play in several sectors - as Local Highway Authority in reducing 
transport emissions, for instance, and in respect of SCC’s own organisational emissions, 
where there is the opportunity to lead by example in the delivery of emissions reductions 
across SCC’s own estate, assets and services.

Page 47

7



198. Critical to all sectors is the way in which energy used is generated in the first place. In 
order to meet its net zero carbon target, Surrey needs to contribute to the national agenda 
of decarbonised heating and electricity, and SCC’s priorities commit the Council to 
expanding renewable energy generation capacity across Surrey, as well as developing 
more localised smart energy systems to reduce losses in the network. However, it is 
acknowledged that whilst local partners will be able to make a significant impact through 
their collective actions, Government intervention will be vital to enable the County to 
achieve the delivery of a fully net zero carbon target by 2050. The Strategy clarifies where 
such intervention is needed, principally in respect of policy change and investment.

199. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection to the development stating that it is in 
breach of climate safeguarding policies and that the impacts, and any identified output, 
should be assessed on factors such as climate change. They also state that the 
application is contrary to the principles promoted in the County Council’s approved motion 
to declare a climate emergency as well as the intentions of the climate emergency 
ambition adopted by the Borough Council in September 2019. 

200. Witley Parish Council, Cranleigh Parish Council, the Campaign to Protect Rural England 
(CPRE) and Waverley Friends of the Earth (FoE) have all objected on a range of related 
matters including the proposal being contrary to Government commitments on climate 
change and moving away from fossil fuels, the Government’s carbon neutral policy stance 
and the County Council’s declaration of a climate emergency. Alfold Parish Council has 
stated that further exploitation of non-renewable energy would be inconsistent with the 
Council’s Climate Emergency declaration.  

201. Representations have been received in support of the proposal due to the higher carbon 
footprint of imported hydrocarbons when transportation is taken into account and clean 
production of oil onshore being considered preferable to importation. Concerns have been 
raised regarding how the proposal aligns with the Government’s commitment to tackling 
climate change. A large number of representations have raised objection on climate 
change grounds for a broad range of reasons including the contribution to greenhouse gas 
emissions, the proposal being contrary to objectives aiming to reduce fossil fuels and 
support the transition to a low carbon economy, the need to look towards green energy 
and plans for a Heathrow third runway having been ruled illegal by the Court of Appeal.  
Further, the Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has 
requested that the application be refused because SCC’s declaration of a climate 
emergency is completely incompatible with the proposed development.

202. Climate change and energy policies are interlinked, and the Government recognises that 
the way we produce and use energy plays a major part in meeting the challenge of climate 
change and emissions targets and policies are in place intended to support a transition 
towards a low carbon energy mix. The Government is undertaking activities in a number of 
areas to enhance energy security whilst also delivering wider energy goals, which includes 
measures to maximise economic production of domestic oil and gas reserves; and prevent 
possible disruptions to the UK energy supply. An assessment of the compatibility of the 
development with LPP1 Policy CC1, as well as other relevant development plan policies, 
in respect of surface water management and ecology is addressed below under the 
sections dealing with the Water Environment and Ecology and Biodiversity. 

203. On 24 December 2019, the High Court refused permission for the Claimant to apply for 
judicial review (CO Ref: CO/4441/2019) of Surrey County Council’s decision on 27 
September 2019 to grant planning permission for the retention and extension of an 
existing well site at Horse Hill. This permission allowed the drilling of four new hydrocarbon 
wells to enable hydrocarbon production from six wells for a period of 25 years. A renewed 
application for permission to apply for judicial review was refused on 13 February 2020. 

Page 48

7



204. The first ground of challenge was that Surrey County Council (SCC) did not comply with 
the obligations imposed by the EIA Directive and by the EIA Regulations because it failed: 
(i) to assess the indirect impact of greenhouse gases from the combustion of the oil 
produced by the wells; and (ii) to take into account the urgent need to address the climate 
crisis and the requirement to reduce the emissions of greenhouse gases by at least 100% 
below the 1990 baseline.

205. The judge found that neither limb of ground one is arguable because SCC cannot 
influence, still less, control, downstream impacts and that SCC was entitled rationally to 
decide not to assess those impacts. The judge referred to the fact that SCC is a MPA 
which has declared a climate emergency and stated that the view that there is still a need 
to maximise domestic extraction of hydrocarbons is rationally tenable. The judge also sets 
out that a requirement to take a material consideration into account does not entail an 
obligation to give that consideration decisive weight.

206. The second ground of challenge claimed that SCC failed to take into account a material 
consideration and/or erred in law by failing to consider the development’s impact on 
climate change in the light of the obligation in the Climate Change Act 2008 to reduce 
emissions to zero. The judge found that this was another way of putting the second limb of 
ground one and was not arguable either. The Order dated 13 February 2020 may still be 
appealed. 

207. The judgement handed down by the Court of Appeal in February 2020 relating to 
proposals for the construction of a third runway at Heathrow Airport did not find that the 
development was incompatible with Government policy on climate change. Instead, the 
Appeal succeeded on one ground with the Court concluding that the Airports National 
Policy Statement (ANPS) supporting this project was not legally compliant because it’s 
preparation did not take into account the Paris Agreement on climate change. The Court 
also emphasised that the Secretary of State was not required to follow or act in 
accordance with government policy. Instead, the Secretary of State is only required to 
explain how it has taken government policy into account. On 7 May 2020, the Supreme 
Court granted Heathrow Airport and the developer the right to appeal against the decision. 

208. Further, Government planning policy contained in paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that           
the focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed development 
is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where 
these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Officers consider that the High 
Court decision on 24 December 2019 demonstrates that emissions arising from the future 
use of whatever is produced by the development is a separate matter, notwithstanding the 
fact that this application is for exploration and appraisal as opposed to production.

209. The climate emergency declaration is concerned with what action can be taken locally to 
facilitate the 2050 target with the aim of identifying and implementing measures to help to 
achieve this target as early as possible. The Borough Council’s declaration of a climate 
emergency regards climate change as a serious threat that requires urgent action to 
reduce carbon emissions and conserve biodiversity. This sets out the Borough Council’s 
aim to become carbon-neutral by 2030. To help achieve this target, the Borough Council 
will accelerate its efforts by introducing greener buildings, transportation and energy.    

210. In this respect, it is considered that the need for hydrocarbons to support a diverse energy 
mix, provide energy security, reduce reliance on imports by increasing domestic sources 
of energy, which are considered more sustainable to transport, and support the transition 
to a low carbon economy form a key element of Government policy. Therefore, these 
objectives remain relevant in the context of both SCC’s and the Borough Council’s 
declaration of a climate emergency. The main tension is likely to be centred on how soon 
the 2050 target can be met. Officers also note that Surrey’s Climate Change Strategy 
acknowledges that Government policy intervention will be vital to enable its net zero 
carbon target by 2050 to be met.     

Page 49

7



Conclusion

211. In view of the above considerations and the UK Government’s current policy, Officers 
consider that, on balance, and as part of the transition to a low carbon future, the 
proposed development would not be in conflict with the climate change policy agenda or 
the aims of LPP1 Policy CC1.

Highways, Traffic and Access

Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy 2011
Policy MC15: Transport for Minerals
Waverley Local Plan Part 1 2018
Policy ST1: Sustainable Transport
Policy ICS1: Infrastructure and Community Facilities
Waverley Local Plan 2002
‘Saved’ Policy D1 Environmental Implications of Development
‘Saved’ Policy M13: Heavy Goods Vehicles 

212. SMP CS DPD 2011 paragraph 7.1 recognises that lorry traffic is one of the most 
significant impacts of mineral working in Surrey, and the one that usually causes the most 
public concern. This is because they are usually noisier and more intimidating than 
ordinary traffic. Paragraph 7.7 explains that it is important that mineral development does 
not compromise highway safety and to consider the needs of pedestrians, cyclists, horse 
riders and other vulnerable road users. Paragraph 7.9 refers to the need to ensure that the 
effects of mineral traffic on local communities, the environment and the local road network, 
are carefully considered. Paragraph 7.10 recognises the need to consider the routeing of 
vehicles between the proposed development and the motorway and primary route network 
including the use of lorry routeing agreements where appropriate.

213. Policy MC15 states that applications for mineral development should include a transport 
assessment of potential impacts on highway safety, congestion and demand management 
and explore how movement of minerals within and outside the site will address issues of 
emissions control, energy efficiency and amenity. Mineral development involving 
transportation by road will be permitted only where:

i) there is no practicable alternative to the use of road based transport that would  
have a lower impact on communities and the environment;

ii) the highway network is of an appropriate standard for use by the traffic generated by 
the development or can be suitably improved; and

iii) arrangements for site access and the traffic generated by the development would not 
have any significant adverse impacts on highway safety, air quality, residential amenity, 
the environment or the effective operation of the highway network.

214. LPP1 Policy ST1 states, relevant to this proposal, that the Council will work in partnership 
with key stakeholders to ensure that development schemes: are located where 
opportunities for sustainable transport modes can be maximised; make the necessary 
contributions to the provision of new transport schemes that improve accessibility and give 
priority to the needs of pedestrians and cyclists; require the submission of Transport 
Assessments for new developments that generate significant traffic volumes; contribute to 
transport infrastructure improvements, where appropriate and viable; are consistent with 
the objectives and actions within the Air Quality Action Plan; and make appropriate 
provision for car parking. Policy ICS1 of the LPP1 requires infrastructure considered 
necessary to support new development to be provided either on- or off-site either as a 
requirement of planning conditions or by the payment of financial contributions through 
planning obligations, and/or the Community Infrastructure Levy.

Page 50

7



215. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be permitted where it would 
result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of levels of traffic which are 
incompatible with the local highway network. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy M13 seek to minimise 
the adverse impact of lorry traffic by: (a) seeking to locate developments which are likely to 
generate HGV movements where the highway infrastructure is capable of accommodating 
those movements; and, (b) in appropriate circumstances, require development proposals 
to be supported by a Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan.

216. NPPF paragraph 111 states that all developments that will generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that 
the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed. Paragraph 103 explains that 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural 
areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and decision-making. 
NPPF paragraph 109 states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

217. The Site Identification Report found that the nearest railway line was 7 km west of the 
search area and that the nearest railway sidings were at Dorking, Redhill and Salfords. 
Given the separation distances from the search area to the nearest rail line and siding, the 
applicant determined that there was no practical alternative to a road-based transport 
solution that would have a lower impact on communities and the environment. 

218. The application site will be accessed from High Loxley Road at a point approximately 180 
metres to the south of the junction with Dunsfold Road (known locally as Pratts Corner). 
High Loxley Road comprises a narrow rural lane with a single carriageway and is a no 
through road. It is derestricted in terms of speed limit and there is no footway. The road 
serves two residences comprising High Loxley and High Billinghurst Farm, as well as an 
established solar farm, all of which are situated to the south and east of the proposed new 
site entrance. High Billinghurst Farm incorporates an events venue which can hold up to 
50 weddings, funerals and corporate hospitality functions per year.

219. Pratts Corner also comprises a junction with Dunsfold Common Road approximately 40 
metres to the west of the junction with High Loxley Road. Dunsfold Common Road 
connects Pratts Corner with Dunsfold Village approximately 1.5 km to the south-west. 
Pratts Corner is on a blind bend where Dunsfold Road turns sharply in a north westerly 
direction towards Hascombe and Godalming.  

220. Dunsfold Road is currently derestricted in terms of speed limit with vehicles permitted to 
travel at 60 mph. However, the speed limit is limited to 40 mph between Thatched House 
Farm and the A281 (Horsham Road) to the east as this section contains a number of 
relatively sharp bends. The lack of a footway on Dunsfold Road greatly discourages 
pedestrians from using this road given the danger from the high speed of passing traffic.

221. The movement of HGVs associated with each phase of the development will be between 
0700 - 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0900 - 1300 hours on Saturdays. The majority of 
HGV movements will be scheduled within standard hours of operation (i.e. 0800 - 1700 
hours Monday - Friday and 0900 - 1300 hours Saturday) minimising HGV movements 
outside of these time periods. All lorry traffic accessing and egressing the site will be 
routed via Dunsfold Road and the A281 to the east which connects Guildford to the north 
with Horsham to the south-east.

Vehicle movements
 

222. The applicant has assessed traffic volumes on High Loxley Road to be very low equating 
to between 2 and 3 movements per hour although this would be when there are no events 
taking place at High Billinghurst Farm. Traffic survey data indicates that average daily 
traffic flows on Dunsfold Road between 0700 and 1900 hours Monday to Friday are 6,159 

Page 51

7



vehicles comprising 5,380 (87.4%) cars and vans (< 3.5 tonnes) and 779 (12.6%) heavy 
vehicles (> 3.5 tonnes). On Saturdays, the daily traffic flow is 1,505 vehicles between 0900 
and 1300 hours comprising 1,380 (91.7%) cars and vans and 125 (8.3%) heavy vehicles.

223. The proposal would generate a maximum of 72 vehicle movements per day during the 34 
week drilling, testing and appraisal stage of Phase 2. These would comprise 52 workers 
vehicles and light commercial vans and 20 HGVs. This would equate to an average of 4.3 
workers vehicles and light commercial vehicle movements per hour and 1.7 HGV 
movements per hour between 0700 and 1900 Monday to Friday. The applicant has stated 
that non-HGV traffic movements would be spread across the entire day and would 
therefore not compromise the free flow of highway traffic within the standard hours of 
operation. If all HGV movements were scheduled within standard hours, then this would 
equate to an average of 2.2 vehicle movements per hour between 0800 and 1700 hours 
Monday to Friday. This compares with an average of 65 heavy vehicle movements per 
hour already using Dunsfold Road between 0700 and 1900 hours Monday to Friday. 
These numbers of additional vehicle movements are not considered to be significant in 
transportation terms and would add a small amount of additional traffic to existing traffic 
flows on Dunsfold Road. 

224. This suggests that the cumulative impact of the proposal on traffic associated with both 
existing and permitted uses at Dunsfold Park is likely to be limited. This is given the small 
amount of additional traffic generated, traffic movements being spread throughout the day 
and the bulk of HGV traffic movements being scheduled to avoid peak periods. Further in 
terms of air quality, the application site is not located within an AQMA and the volume of 
additional traffic proposed is below the threshold requiring an assessment to be 
undertaken as explained in the section on Air Quality below. Consequently the impact of 
vehicle emissions on air quality is considered acceptable.   

 
Proposed Site Access and Highway Safety Improvements 

225. The proposed access to the site onto High Loxley Road comprises:

 the formation of a priority junction between High Loxley Road and the proposed 
access route into the site incorporating a 30 metre wide bell-mouth leading into the 
site;

 localised widening on the west side of High Loxley Road north of the proposed access 
to facilitate the swept paths of HGVs and Abnormal Load Vehicles entering and 
exiting the site;

 localised widening on the east side of High Loxley Road south of the proposed access 
to provide a passing place for vehicles travelling to properties south of the proposed 
highway access when vehicles travelling north on High Loxley Road are waiting at the 
proposed portable traffic signals; and

 the removal / reduction of a limited section of the existing hedgerow on the east side 
of High Loxley Road to allow both the construction of the proposed site access and to 
accommodate required visibility sightlines.

226. The proposed site access has been provided with 2.4 metres x 70 metres visibility splays, 
which can be provided either within land under the applicant’s control or land classified as 
public highway. These visibility splays are commensurate with an 85th percentile speed of 
40mph. The County Highway Authority (CHA) is satisfied that vehicle speeds on High 
Loxley Road do not exceed 40mph, due to the natural alignment and width of the 
carriageway, and therefore considers visibility splays of 2.4 metres x 70 metres to be 
acceptable. The new junction will be connected to the well site compound through the 
installation of a new crushed and compacted stone access track approximately 1km in 
length.

227. Highway safety improvements are proposed at Pratts Corner in order to enable 
development related traffic to safely negotiate this junction. The proposed traffic 

Page 52

7



management scheme at this junction between High Loxley Road, Dunsfold Road, and 
Dunsfold Common Road comprises:

 selected carriageway widening up to a maximum of 0.91 metres within the extent of 
the adopted pubic highway;

 the introduction of portable traffic signal control equipment to separately control 
Dunsfold Road (East), Dunsfold Road (West), Dunsfold Common Road, High Loxley 
Road south of the proposed site access and the proposed site access itself;

 the use of temporary traffic management to facilitate the operation of the temporary 
traffic signals; and

 the introduction of high friction anti-skid resistance surfacing on the approach to the 
temporary traffic signals on Dunsfold Road (East), Dunsfold Road (West) and 
Dunsfold Common Road.

228. The CHA has explained that the submitted traffic management scheme was subject to a 
Stage 1 and 2 Road Safety Audit (RSA). This recommended providing a reduced speed 
limit on the approaches to the proposed traffic signal installations for the duration of the 
proposed works and concluded that the proposed traffic management measures would not 
detriment highway safety. In response, the applicant’s transport consultant proposed a 
reduction of the speed limit on the approaches to the junction to 30mph.

229. A representation has been submitted objecting to the proposal and is supported by a letter 
prepared by a transport consultant. This raises concern over the adequacy of the 
temporary portable traffic signals and associated temporary speed limit given the evidence 
of high approach speeds within Dunsfold Road. A further representation has objected to 
the proposed reduction in the speed limit from 60 to 30mph on a rural road which is 
claimed to be contrary to policy and best practice. 

230. In response, the CHA has confirmed that the speed limit reduction (from 60mph) would be 
temporary, and only in force when the associated temporary traffic signals and traffic 
management are in use. 

231. The CHA has reviewed the 30mph temporary speed limit proposed by the applicant 
against the requirements set out in the County Council’s ‘Setting Local Speed 
Limits’ policy. The policy advises that a signed only speed limit reduction from 60mph to 
40mph would only be appropriate in this instance, as long as measured mean speeds are 
46mph or less. The applicant’s speed survey data confirms that mean speeds on Dunsfold 
Road are 39.5mph northbound and 40.9mph southbound. The CHA has therefore advised 
that the introduction of a temporary 40mph speed limit on the approaches to the temporary 
signal installation should be provided in order to accord with this policy. 

232. Otherwise, the CHA is satisfied that applicant’s transport consultant has addressed all of 
the recommendations contained in the RSA. The 40mph speed limit would be introduced 
through Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders (TTROs), which would allow for the 40mph 
speed limit reduction to be removed during phases of the development when the traffic 
management and temporary signals are not in use. 

233. The lengths of the temporary speed restrictions have been determined pursuant to 
guidance provided in the DfT Circular 01/2013 that recommends that the minimum length 
of speed restriction is 600 metres. Further, the proposed start/end points for the speed 
restrictions on each road have been determined on the basis of the availability of suitable 
locations within the verge to provide the required traffic signs.

234. A further representation has raised concerns that while the portable lights are in operation 
the applicant’s traffic statement confirms there will be delays to all vehicles driving 
east/west on the B2130 and on Dunsfold Common Road where none are currently 
experienced. The CHA has responded saying that whilst there will be delays at peak 
times, the modelling assessment shows that the signals operate within capacity on all 

Page 53

7



arms, including Dunsfold Road and Dunsfold Common Road. The maximum delays at the 
temporary signals will be largely confined to the am and pm assessment periods and the 
modelling results show that delays will be uniform (i.e. traffic will pass through the signals 
on the first green phase). This means that although journey times will be increased the 
reliability of journeys will remain the same.

Traffic Signal Modelling Results

235. A LinSig model has been developed utilising traffic data obtained from a 12-hour classified 
junction turning count undertaken at Pratts Corner on Wednesday 26th September 2018. 
Modelling scenarios have been created for the three assessment hours between 08:30 
and 17:00 over which time it is proposed HGV movements to and from the site will take 
place. The assessment periods are:

 08:30 to 09:30 - AM Peak Hour;
 12:00 to 13:00 - Typical Inter-Peak Hour;
 16:00 to 17:00 - PM Peak Hour.

236. In addition, TEMPRO growth factors have been added to the survey data to reflect an 
assessment year of 2019. The maximum number of HGV movements to and from the 
development is estimated to be 20 two-way (10 in and 10 out) movements per day. In 
addition, it is estimated that the proposed development would generate up to 52 two-way 
(26 in and 26 out) car and light vehicle movements per day.

237. The CHA has audited the LinSig model and is satisfied that the proposed temporary signal 
arrangements will operate within capacity over the proposed 12-hour HGV delivery period. 
The operation of traffic signals would be optimised using detector technology and Vehicle 
Actuation (VA) to minimise the cycle times. The scope for delays would be reduced further 
by the scheduling of HGV movements outside peak periods and non-HGV traffic 
movements being spread across the entire day.

HGV Swept Path Analysis

238. The Transport Assessment includes a Swept Path assessment for an articulated HGV and 
an Abnormal Load Vehicle (ALV) for the route between the site and the A281. This is the 
only route that vehicles associated with the proposed development would be permitted to 
follow. The CHA has noted the following results from this assessment:

a) Bend No.1: Painshill Farm Corner - incoming articulated HGVs cross the centre line at 
apex of the bend, outgoing HGVs cross the centre line on exit of the bend. However 
there is residual lane width sufficient to enable a cars and light vehicles to pass a HGV;

b) Bend No.2: Stovolds Hill Corner - incoming and outgoing articulated HGVs cross the 
centre line on exit of the bend only. However there is residual lane width sufficient to 
enable a car and a light vehicle to pass a HGV;

c) Bend No.3: A281 Signalised Junction - no crossing of the centre line occurs.

239. The CHA considers that the movement of HGVs associated with the proposed 
development between the site and the A281 would not prejudice highway safety. The 
traffic survey data shows that existing HGV flows between High Loxley Road and the A281 
(October 2019 Automatic Traffic Count records 32 HGVs eastbound and 28 westbound) 
do not compromise road safety. Given the low level of HGV flows introduced by the 
proposed development (10 eastbound and 10 westbound per day), the CHA considers that 
larger vehicles would continue to manage speeds and avoid conflict.

240. Temporary traffic signage would be implemented as part of a Transport Management Plan 
(TMP) which the CHA has recommended should be secured by planning condition. The 

Page 54

7



condition would require the TMP to be submitted for written approval prior to the 
commencement of the development. This signage would alert drivers to the presence of 
construction / operational traffic along this section of the B2130 Dunsfold Road.

241. A representation has been received raising concerns that the need for ALVs to do a three-
point turn with a reversing manoeuvre into Dunsfold Common Road before turning west to 
access High Loxley Road presents a serious road safety issue and may cause significant 
delays to other vehicles.

242. The CHA has considered the highway safety implications of an ALV, which would be 
required to access the site on a very limited number of occasions. A swept-path 
assessment has been undertaken for an ALV, which demonstrates that this vehicle could 
access the site under traffic managed conditions. As is often the case with an ALV, 
temporary works would be required at the Nanhurst Crossroads signalised junction with 
the A281, to accommodate this size of vehicle. This would comprise:

 North-west end of the existing traffic island on the southern arm of the A281: 
temporarily disconnect and demount the secondary traffic signal head / pole and keep 
the left bollard and provide temporary protection of traffic island to allow over-run by 
the ALV; and

 Eastern footway of A218 Horsham Road south of Elmbridge Road: provision of 
temporary protection of footway to allow over-run by the ALV.

243. The impacts of ALVs would be further reduced by mitigation measures including: (i) 
movements being supported by escort vehicles as necessary to ensure ALV movements 
are managed safely with banksmen available at all times to assist with traffic 
management; and (ii) movements being arranged outside peak periods to minimise traffic 
impacts. Details of these temporary traffic management measures would form part of the 
TMP. An ALV movement would only be required on two occasion, to deliver and then 
remove the rig or crane. The CHA therefore consider that, subject to the above temporary 
highway works, an ALV would be capable of safely accessing and egressing the site.

244. The representation received supported by a letter prepared by a transport consultant 
raises concern that the submitted Transport Statement fails to demonstrate that HGVs can 
adequately access the site via High Loxley Road. A further representation claims that the 
swept path analysis highlights that the body of a semi low loader vehicle will not be able to 
turn at the junction of High Loxley Road within the available public highway margins on 
Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road without relying on third party land. No information has 
been provided on whether access over third party land has been secured or whether there 
are any physical obstructions that would have to be removed. 

245. The CHA has advised that swept-path assessments have been submitted by the applicant 
for all types of HGVs that will require access to the site. The CHA has reviewed the 
submitted swept-path drawings and confirm that all turning wheel bases can navigate the 
High Loxley Road junction with Dunsfold Road within the limits of the public highway. 

246. However, the CHA has confirmed that the body of a semi low loader does extend beyond 
the limits of the public highway on both sides of High Loxley Road by 0.6 metres, over an 
area of grass verge classified as Common Land. The semi low loader is required to 
transport a mud tank to the site. The swept-path assessment shows that the mud tank 
itself would overhang beyond the limit of the public highway by 0.6 metres on the north 
side of Dunsfold Road and by 0.5 metres on both sides of High Loxley Road, again over 
grass verge classified as Common Land. The CHA has found that there are no physical 
obstructions on the area of Common Land to prevent the safe movement of the semi low 
loader. The CHA has therefore stated that they are satisfied that safe access to and from 
High Loxley Road can be achieved and that the movement of HGVs would not have an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety.

Page 55

7



Road Casualty Appraisal

247. The CHA has assessed Personal Injury Collision (PIC) data for the highway network local 
to the site for the most recent available five-year study period (1 January 2014 to 31 
December 2018). A total of 30 collisions occurred within the study area, which includes 
High Loxley Road, Dunsfold Road, Barrihurst Lane, and the signalised junction at 
Nanhurst Crossroads. The data shows that the majority of collisions occurred at the 
relatively sharp bends on Dunsfold Road between the A281 and Pratts Corner, which 
occurred as a result of reckless driving and failing to break in time. It is acknowledged that 
one fatality occurred during the study period on Dunsfold Road, involving three 
motorcyclists. This collision occurred away from any junction or bend in the road. The CHA 
does not consider this collision is indicative of any existing road safety issues within the 
vicinity of the site.

248. The CHA note that concerns have been raised in representations about the highway 
safety implications of additional HGV traffic on Dunsfold Road. However it should be noted 
that no casualties have been recorded for collisions involving larger vehicles. Given that 
the proposed development would only result in a small increase in HGV traffic per day, the 
CHA does not consider that the HGV movements generated by the proposed development 
would prejudice highway safety on the route between the site and the A281.

249. Access to the site is via the High Loxley Road junction with Dunsfold Road, which is in 
close proximity to the junction between Dunsfold Common Road and Dunsfold Road. Two 
collisions have occurred within the vicinity of these two junctions, both located at a bend 
on Dunsfold Road. The CHA is satisfied that the proposed traffic management measures 
including the installation of temporary signals and a reduction in the speed limit to 40mph 
will ensure safe access to the site for all vehicles associated with the development.

Impact of the Events Venue at High Billinghurst Farm 

250. The CHA are aware that High Billinghurst Farm, located to the south and east of the 
proposed well site compound and accessed from High Loxley Road, has obtained 
planning permission for the change of use of one of their barns to provide an events venue 
together with the provision of associated parking. The planning consent allows them to 
hold weddings, funerals and corporate hospitality functions, with a maximum of 50 events 
held in a year.

251. The representation received supported by a letter prepared by a transport consultant 
raises concerns over excessive delays occurring if vehicle traffic associated with the 
events venue at High Billinghurst Farm is factored into the LinSig3 assessment. It is 
claimed that this would be likely to encourage non-compliance with the traffic signals.

252. The CHA has reviewed the Transport Assessment submitted in support of planning 
application ref: WA/2020/0220 approved on 26 March 2020 to increase the number of 
events held from 30 to 50. The assessment looks at the worst case trip generation 
scenario for events (typically weddings) in terms of the number of vehicular movements 
and periods of the day when these movements occur. It also states that events usually 
take place on a Saturday, with some set up activities occurring usually one or two days 
before and clear up activities taking place one or two days after the event. Events usually 
start from about 2.00 pm when guests start to arrive and typically finish by 12.00 pm. 
Guest arrival is typically focused during the afternoon/early evening (for arrivals) whilst 
departures are typically spread out and occur between 9.00 pm and 1.00 am during the 
evening / early morning. The assessment also assumes that with peak travel (to and from 
events) generally occurring over the weekend, the traffic impacts associated with the 
events venue do not coincide with peak travel on the adjacent highway network, or the 
peak number of vehicular movements associated with the proposed hydrocarbon well site.

Page 56

7



253. The assessment shows that a typical event would generate 120 two-way vehicular 
movements, with 90% of vehicular movements occurring after 2pm. Given that the 
proposed well site would operate from 0900 - 1300 hours on a Saturday and will not 
operate on a Sunday, there will be minimal interaction between event traffic associated 
with High Billinghurst Farm and traffic associated with the well site. 

254. Notwithstanding this, the CHA note that the applicant has advised that vehicle movements 
associated with the well site operation will be very minimal on a Saturday, and they would 
be willing to liaise with High Billinghurst Farm so that the traffic signals can be removed at 
weekends when events are taking place. On the small number of occasions when events 
are taking place on a weekday, the applicant has advised that as part of the TMP to be 
secured by condition, they would be willing to consult High Billinghurst Farm on the 
submission of traffic management measures, by phase, to address the cumulative traffic 
flows generated by the proposed well site and High Billinghurst Farm when an event is 
taking place. 

255. The CHA are satisfied that this can be addressed by inserting a clause into the proposed 
pre-commencement condition requiring the submission of a TMP for written approval. The 
CHA has advised that they are satisfied that this requirement will ensure that the 
cumulative impact of traffic associated with the proposed well site and events taking place 
at High Billinghurst Farm, during the main operating hours of the well site, can be robustly 
managed by the applicant to ensure that there would not be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety. Officers have also proposed an informative advising the applicant to have 
particular regard for the residents and businesses that neighbour the site, including High 
Billinghurst Farm. This advises the applicant to liaise with neighbours to ensure the 
impacts of the development are minimised and maintained at acceptable levels. The 
applicant has agreed to this request to address the concerns of High Billinghurst Farm. 

256. Further, the proposed temporary signal junction arrangement includes a dedicated signal 
head for traffic on High Loxley Road south of the proposed site access (i.e. coming from 
High Billinghurst Farm towards Dunsfold Road), which will ensure that the movement of 
traffic associated with High Billinghurst Farm will not conflict with the movement of traffic 
associated with the proposed well site. The CHA is therefore satisfied that the proposed 
access arrangements for the well site, including the proposed traffic management 
measures and temporary signals, will provide safe access for vehicles travelling to events 
at High Billinghurst Farm.

County Highway Authority Response

257. Having assessed the proposal on highway safety, capacity and policy grounds, the CHA 
has raised no objection to the development. They have recommended the imposition of a 
number of conditions to ensure that the development does not prejudice highway safety or 
cause inconvenience to other highway users. These aim to ensure: the submission of a 
TMP incorporating details of HGV routeing amongst other matters; no operations 
associated with the well site compound take place prior to the construction of the new 
access track, the new junction on High Loxley Road and the highway improvement works 
at the junction of High Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road; the provision of facilities to 
prevent dangerous conditions for road users; space is laid out for the parking, loading, 
unloading and turning of vehicles before the development is brought into use; a limit on the 
number of HGV movements; and, that the site access is permanently closed, the kerbs 
and verges reinstated, and the temporary highway works at Pratts Corner are removed 
and the highway is reinstated within 3 months following the decommissioning of the well 
site. 

Matters Raised During Consultation and Publicity 

258. Waverley Borough Council (WBC) has raised objection due to the lack of technical 
information in a number of areas including transport. To inform their response, WBC 

Page 57

7



commissioned MK Transport Planning to review the transport implications and carry out a 
critique of the Transport Statement. WBC have requested planning conditions requiring: 
the installation CCTV to monitor vehicle movements; a qualified banksman to be available 
on site; a regime to ensure traffic signals always work to their optimum with a person being 
available at short notice to address any issues; and the removal of traffic signals outside 
the operational period of the site. WBC have also queried whether the grass verge area on 
High Loxley Road, over which the new access is proposed, is Common Land.

259. WBC’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has pointed out that HGV movements have 
the potential to impact on noise and air quality and recommend that the limits on HGV 
movements proposed by the applicant are controlled by condition. The Portfolio Holder for 
Environment and Sustainability at WBC has requested that the application be refused due 
to concerns over local traffic and the rural lanes being unsuitable and unsafe for HGVs.

260. The Hascombe Estate has raised objection due to the generation of HGV movements. 
Local Parish Councils and Waverley Friends of the Earth have objected due to traffic 
safety concerns, with Parish Councils’ also objecting due to the viability of the travel plan 
and subsequent enforcement.

261. Representations submitted in support of the application claim that roads have been 
assessed by the planning inspector and the secretary of state and that HGV and site traffic 
on High Loxley Road will barely be visible from Thatched House Farm. Objections have 
been received from members of the public on grounds of: the additional heavy traffic; 
unsuitable nature of local roads, the network already being at capacity; it being unclear 
where the mineral will be transported to; highway safety; the 30 mph speed limit being 
unsuitable; damage to the highway; risk to vulnerable road users; narrow pinch points on 
the A281; planning permission for the Craft Brewery Company placing a restriction on 
employee numbers; the loss of Common Land; the traffic impact on a rural setting; and the 
adverse cumulative traffic impact.

262. The CHA has reviewed the application on highway safety, capacity and policy grounds 
and found the application to be acceptable in transportation terms subject to the imposition 
of a number of planning conditions as referred to above. Given the low number of HGV 
movements generated by the development relative to the existing number on the local 
highway network, the need to install CCTV to monitor lorry movements is not considered 
to be justified. However, the CHA has recommended a planning condition limiting the 
number of HGV movements and requiring the operator to keep detailed records of the 
number of daily HGV movements and to make these available to the CPA on request. The 
application proposes that banksmen should be available at all times to assist with traffic 
management in connection with the movement of abnormal loads and that would form part 
of the TMP to be secured by condition. Consideration of the TMP will provide an 
opportunity to extend this for other HGVs should the CHA consider this necessary. 

263. With regard to the temporary portable traffic signals, the submitted Transport Assessment 
states that these would operate when required during the scheduled HGV delivery times in 
recognition of the need to minimise delays. Outside these periods and on days when 
scheduled vehicles are able to access the site without the use of traffic signals, these 
could be removed and the junction revert to operating as a Priority Junction.

264. Further, the representation received supported by a letter prepared by a transport 
consultant raises additional concerns over: the significant delays resulting to all users of 
the Pratts Corner road junction due to the significant length of High Loxley Road that 
would be subject to traffic signal control; and the LinSig3 assessment of the operation of 
the temporary portable traffic signals being flawed as it assumes just 2-3 vehicles 
emerging from High Loxley Road per hour (during peak periods). 

265. In terms of the delays resulting to all users of Pratts Corner, the CHA has advised that the 
operation of the temporary traffic signals has been modelled using Linsig3 and audited by 

Page 58

7



SCC’s modelling team. The model results demonstrate the proposed traffic signals will 
operate within capacity over the proposed 12-hour HGV delivery period. For the inter-peak 
and pm peak periods, the higher practical reserve capacity demonstrates there is potential 
to further reduce the cycle time thereby providing an additional reduction in vehicle delays 
and/or additional opportunities for vehicles to exit High Loxley Road.

266. With regard to the concern that the LinSig3 assessment of the operation of the temporary 
portable traffic signals is flawed, the CHA has explained that the assessment models the 
operation of the temporary traffic signals during normal peak period traffic conditions, 
when traffic flows on High Loxley Road are very low (3 vehicles on High Loxley Road 
northbound in the am peak hour). The junction has been modelled to maximise green time 
on Dunsfold Road and Dunsfold Common Road which experience far higher traffic flows 
than High Loxley Road. 

267. The average delays on High Loxley Road are a worst case scenario. In reality the 
operation of traffic signals would be optimised using detector technology and vehicle 
actuation (VA) to minimise the cycle times and the scope for delays. Delays would be 
reduced further by the scheduling of movements outside peak periods. Furthermore, the 
temporary traffic signals would be supervised at all times when in operation and a qualified 
banksman would be located at the site access to safely manage the movement of traffic 
where the site access meets High Loxley Road. In view of these considerations, the CHA 
are satisfied that the potential level of delay to northbound traffic in normal traffic 
conditions on High Loxley Road would not have an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety.

268. The traffic management scheme and proposed temporary signal arrangements have been 
assessed by the CHA and considered to be satisfactory subject to the introduction of a 
temporary 40mph speed limit on the approach to the proposed traffic signalised junction at 
Pratts Corner. Details of the traffic management scheme will form part of the TMP to be 
secured by planning condition.

269. A further representation has expressed concerns that there will be very long and 
unacceptable delays to vehicles exiting from High Loxley Road at peak periods, due to the 
proposal to install five-way temporary traffic signals and the fact that the lights will be set 
back at a distance of 200 metres and will only turn green on alternative cycle. The 
response also raises concerns over the need for multiple cones to channel traffic in both 
directions on the B2130; the need for road signage required on all approaches to Pratts 
Corner; the practicality of the traffic management proposals; the inevitable delays caused 
to users of the highway network if the temporary traffic management measures are 
removed after 1900 hours every evening and replaced before 0700 hours every morning 
over a period of 96 weeks resulting in many drivers using alternative side roads; and 
questions the likelihood of the applicant deploying vehicles and staff to move these cones 
and signs.

270. In response, the CHA has advised that the timing and duration of use for the proposed 
portable traffic signals would be informed by the TMP that will include a bespoke strategy 
for each of the four development phases referenced in the applicant’s Transport 
Statement. The expectation for the TMP proposals would be that the use of proposed 
portable traffic signals would be minimised and only used when daily HGV movements are 
likely to be at the higher end of the anticipated daily 2-way vehicle movements as 
indicated in Table 2 of the Transport Statement, which in the case of HGVs is 10 per day.

271. Where proposed HGV movements are lower, access and egress to the site could be 
facilitated through the use of banksmen. With reference to Table 2, HGV movements are 
anticipated to be 5 or less during sub-phase 2D, 3B and 4B which constitute 54 weeks or 
approximately 50% of the proposed 110 week development programme. For other periods 
there is a likelihood that HGV movements across some of the days/weeks within the sub-
phases will be none or low during which time the access arrangements could be operated 

Page 59

7



without the use of the portable traffic signals. Again, this would be identified within the 
detail of the TMP and in this way the use of the portable traffic signals is minimised.

272. The public highway at Pratts Corner, together with Dunsfold Road to the east and the 
extreme northern section of High Loxley Road are all surrounded by an area of registered 
Common Land (CL 162 Dunsfold Common and Dunsfold Green). The undeveloped 3 foot 
wide verges have previously been removed from CL 162 and are included within the 
extent of the public maintainable highway. The proposed highway improvements at Pratts 
Corner are within the extent of the public highway and are therefore outside the Common 
Land boundary. Further, where the proposed new site access on High Loxley Road is to 
be constructed 180 metres to the south of Pratts Corner, previously registered Common 
Land (CL 161 Manorial Waste of the Parish of Dunsfold) has been revoked and the extent 
of the public maintainable highway extended beyond the road surface to include the 3 feet 
wide verges. The status of the land within the highway corridor is therefore now public 
highway. The site access has been purposefully proposed in this location to avoid any 
unnecessary loss of Common Land.

273. The CHA has assessed the proposals and found that subject to the implementation of the 
proposed highway improvements, development related traffic could be accommodated 
satisfactorily without compromising highway safety. As part of the TMP to be secured by 
condition, the CHA has recommended that this should include: measures to prevent the 
deposit of materials on the highway; before and after construction condition surveys of the 
highway in proximity to the site and a commitment to fund the repair of any damage 
caused; an abnormal load traffic management plan; a requirement for the applicant to 
consult High Billinghurst Farm on the submission of traffic management measures to 
reduce the potential for any cumulative traffic impacts; and details of HGV routeing. The 
CHA has also recommended a condition requiring the submission of a scheme for 
approval to prevent the creation of dangerous conditions for road users on the public 
highway. The purpose of these conditions is to ensure that the development does not 
prejudice highway safety or cause inconvenience to other highway users.

274. The risk of material being deposited on or damaging the highway from uncleaned wheels 
or badly loaded vehicles or in any other way is covered under the Highways Act 1980. 
Nevertheless the CHA will seek, wherever possible, to recover any expenses incurred in 
clearing, cleaning or repairing highway surfaces and prosecute persistent offenders. The 
proposal is not considered likely to have any cumulative traffic impacts as the number of 
additional vehicle movements is not considered significant and will be spread out 
throughout the day. In addition, the applicant has agreed to communicate with High 
Billinghurst Farm to ensure that there is no conflict when events are taking place within the 
main operational hours of the well site. This should ensure that the free flow of traffic is not 
compromised by the proposal. The applicant also states that the scope for any adverse 
impact will be further reduced by scheduling the bulk of HGV movements to avoid peak 
hour traffic.

Conclusion

275. The proposal has been assessed by the CHA and found to be acceptable on highway 
safety, capacity and policy grounds. A number of planning conditions are proposed to 
ensure that the development does not prejudice highway safety or cause inconvenience to 
other highway users. In view of the above, Officers are satisfied that development related 
traffic would not have an unacceptable impact on highway safety, air quality, residential 
amenity, the environment, the effective operation of the highway network or have a severe 
residual cumulative impact on the road network. The proposal is therefore considered to 
meet the requirements of the development plan in respect of highways, traffic and access. 

Environment & Amenity

Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy 2011

Page 60

7



Policy MC2: Spatial Strategy - Protection of Key Environmental Interests in Surrey
Policy MC12: Oil and Gas Development 
Policy MC14: Reducing the Adverse Impacts of Mineral Development
Policy MC17 Restoring Mineral Workings
Policy MC18 Restoration and Enhancement
Waverley Local Plan Part 1 2018
Policy SP1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy SP2: Spatial Strategy
Policy RE1: Countryside beyond the Green Belt
Policy RE3: Landscape Character
Policy HA1: Protection of Heritage Assets
Policy NE1: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation
Policy NE2: Green and Blue Infrastructure
Policy CC4: Flood Risk Management
Waverley Local Plan 2002 (Saved Policies)
Policy D1: Environmental Implications of Development
Policy D2: Compatibility of Uses
Policy D4: Design and Layout
Policy D7: Trees, Hedgerows and Development
Policy C6: Landscape Enhancement 
Policy C7: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
Policy HE3: Development Affecting Listed Buildings or their Setting
Policy HE13: Scheduled Ancient Monuments and County Sites of Archaeological Importance
Policy HE14: Sites and Areas of High Archaeological Potential 
Policy HE15: Unidentified Archaeological Sites
Policy LT11: Walking, Cycling and Horseriding 
Policy RD8: Farm Diversification 
Policy RD9: Agricultural Land 

Introduction

276. There can be a wide range of potential environmental impacts associated with mineral 
development. Policy MC14 of the SMP CS DPD states that mineral development will be 
permitted only where a need has been demonstrated and the applicant has provided 
information sufficient for the mineral planning authority to be satisfied that there would be 
no significant adverse impacts arising from the development. The policy sets out a number 
of criteria which, when determining a planning application for minerals development, 
should be considered in terms of any potential impacts.
 

277. The criteria in the policy relevant to this planning application are: i) noise, dust, fumes, 
vibration, illumination; ii) flood risk, water quality and land drainage; iii) the appearance, 
quality and character of the landscape and any features that contribute to its 
distinctiveness; iv) the natural environment and biodiversity; v) sites of archaeological 
interest and structures of historic interest and their settings; vi) the rights of way network; 
vii) the use of land and soil resources and land stability; viii) the need to manage the risk of 
bird strike to aircraft; and ix) cumulative impacts arising from the interactions between 
mineral developments, and between mineral and other forms of development.

278. With regards to oil and gas development, paragraph 5.37 of the SMP CS DPD recognises 
there are three separate phases of development, comprising exploration, appraisal and 
production. Applications for exploratory wells will need to consider locating sites to 
minimise intrusion and control noise and light emissions from drilling rigs, especially during 
night-time operations. These issues are then expected to be considered afresh under 
subsequent appraisals.

279. SMP CS DPD Policy MC12 states that planning applications for drilling to appraise 
potential oil or gas fields will only be permitted where the need to confirm the nature and 
extent of the resource, and potential means of its recovery, has been established. Well 

Page 61

7



sites, including the re-use of wellheads used at the exploratory stage, should be located 
such that there are no significant adverse impacts.

280. LPP1 Policy SP1 states that when considering development proposals, the Council will 
take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). It will always 
work proactively with applicants to find solutions so proposals can be approved wherever 
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area. Policy SP2 seeks to avoid major development on 
land of the highest amenity and landscape value, such as the Surrey Hills Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, and to safeguard the Green Belt to maintain Waverley’s 
character whilst ensuring that development needs are met in a sustainable manner.

281. The NPPF paragraph 205 states that in determining applications for mineral extraction, 
mineral planning authorities should ensure that there are no unacceptable adverse 
impacts on the natural and historic environment, human health or aviation safety and take 
into account the cumulative effect of multiple impacts from individual sites and/ or from a 
number of sites in a locality. 

Landscape and Visual Impact

282. NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by: protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and 
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. Paragraph 172 of the 
NPPF requires great weight to be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and 
scenic beauty in the AONB which, alongside National Parks and the Broads, has the 
highest status of protection. 

283. The Natural Environment chapter of the nPPG advises at paragraph 42 that land within the 
setting of AONBs often makes an important contribution to maintaining their natural 
beauty, and where poorly located or designed development can do significant harm. This 
is especially the case where long views from or to the designated landscape are identified 
as important, or where the landscape character of land within and adjoining the designated 
area is complementary. Development within the settings of these areas will therefore need 
sensitive handling that takes these potential impacts into account. 

284. Paragraph 005 of the nPPG Natural Environment chapter recognises the importance of 
green infrastructure in providing enhanced biodiversity and landscapes. Paragraph 006 
explains how green infrastructure can help to conserve and enhance the natural 
environment by facilitating biodiversity net gain and nature recovery networks. Paragraph 
020 advises that net-gain in planning describes an approach to development that leaves 
the natural environment in a measurably better state than it was beforehand. Further, the 
aim of wider environmental net-gain is to reduce pressure on and achieve overall 
improvements in natural capital, ecosystem services and the benefits they deliver 
(paragraph 028) 

285. SMP CS DPD Policy MC2 only allows development having a direct or indirect significant 
adverse impact on an AONB to be permitted if it has been demonstrated to be in the public 
interest and the applicant can establish that development and restoration can be carried 
out to the highest standards and in a manner consistent with safeguarding the AONB. 
Policy MC14 seeks to protect the appearance, quality and character of the landscape.

286. LPP1 Policy SP2 seeks to avoid major development on land of the highest amenity and 
landscape value, such as the AONB. Policy RE1 of the LPP1 aims to recognise and 
safeguard the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside. LPP1 Policy RE3 requires 
new development to respect and where appropriate, enhance the distinctive character of 
the landscape in which it is located. The policy states that the setting of the AONB will be 
protected where development outside its boundaries harm public views from or into the 

Page 62

7



AONB. It also requires the same principles for protecting the AONB to be applied to the 
AGLV pending a review of the Surrey Hills AONB boundary.

287. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be permitted where it would 
result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of the loss or damage to important 
environmental assets including landscape and harm to the visual character and 
distinctiveness of a locality, particularly in respect of the design and scale of the 
development and its relationship to its surroundings. WBLP ‘saved’ Policy D4 seeks to 
ensure that development is appropriate to the site in terms of its scale, height, form and 
appearance and does not significantly harm the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring 
properties by way of overbearing appearance or other adverse environmental impacts. 
‘Saved’ WBLP Policy C6 seeks to secure improvements to the landscape within the 
Borough.

288. The Surrey Hills AONB Management Plan 2020-2025 aims to ensure that new 
development enhances local character and the environmental quality of its nationally 
important setting. Policy P6 states that development that would spoil the setting of the 
AONB by harming public views into or from the AONB will be resisted. 

289. SCC’s Landscape Character Assessment (2015) identifies 21 generic landscape character 
types across the county. These are split into 140 locally related and named landscape 
character areas. The application site is located within generic landscape character area 
WW Wooded Low Weald. This comprises predominantly lowland, undulating between 
roughly 50m AOD and 100m AOD, and rising up to meet the greensand hills to the north. 
The area is scattered with woodland blocks and includes significant amounts of tree cover, 
including ancient woodland, tree belts, shaws, hangers and large mature hedgerow trees 
such as Oaks.

290. The application site lies in WW5: Grafham to Dunsfold Wooded Low Weald local character 
area. Key characteristics are: that it consists of medium scale arable fields and smaller 
areas of pasture, the majority of the fields are bounded by hedges and tree belts, along 
with dispersed blocks of mostly broadleaved woodland, which includes some areas of 
ancient woodland within the northern part of the character area; and that it comprises a 
rural tranquil landscape, due to woodland and limited impact from settlement and roads.

291. Public bridleway 280 runs along the southern boundary of the well site host field and lies 
at a height of 70 metres above ordnance datum (AOD). This field contains a ridge at 72 
metres (AOD) which runs east to west across the centre. From the crest of this ridge, the 
field slopes downhill towards its northern and southern boundaries. The well site 
compound would be situated in the northern half of this field and would be developed on a 
level platform. In view of the slope, it would be constructed through cut and fill at a height 
of 68 metres AOD.  

292. The well site compound will be surrounded by a 2.46 metre high ‘V’ mesh security fence 
around its western and northern boundaries and a 4 metre high ‘V’ mesh security fence 
around its eastern and southern boundaries. Inside the security fence along the northern 
boundary, a 4 metre high ‘V’ mesh screening fence is proposed. To help screen views into 
the site, the security fence along the eastern and southern boundaries and the screening 
fence inside the northern boundary will all incorporate debris / camouflage netting to 
reduce inward visibility into the site. Inside the security fence along the southern boundary 
of the site, a 4 metre high topsoil storage bund will also be developed comprising material 
derived from the cut and fill works. Vehicular access gates 2.5 metres in height will be 
installed approximately halfway along the security fence on the western boundary of the 
well site compound.

293. If the clear-fell licence is implemented and the nearby woodland blocks are removed, a 
combination of boundary and bespoke acoustic screening are proposed during Phase 2 
(Testing and Appraisal). This would require the installation of a 4 metre high acoustic 

Page 63

7



boundary screen along sections of the northern and eastern boundaries of the well site 
compound as well as 5 metre high bespoke acoustic screening around three sides (north, 
east and south) of the flare(s) which would be situated in the south-east corner of the well 
site compound. As a crane is quieter to operate than a workover rig, in the event that a 
crane is deployed as opposed to a rig, acoustic boundary screening could be reduced and 
possibly removed during extended well testing. This would be subject to the provision of 
bespoke screening for individual plant and equipment components.

294. Within the well site compound itself, all container units will be up to 2.6 metres in height 
with some of the larger fluid tanks and staff accommodation cabins being up to 3 metres 
tall. The highest structures would comprise a crane which could be up to 42 metres in 
height when fully extended, a rig up to 38 metres in height, a coil tubing unit up to 25 
metres high, up to two shrouded flares 12 metres in height and up to five lighting columns 
9 metres high. 

295. The most likely scenario is that a 37 metre rig would be deployed on site during initial flow 
testing. Only one rig would be used on site at any one time. As well maintenance and 
testing can be performed more efficiently using a crane, a crane is more likely to be used 
than a workover rig during extended well testing. Only one crane or one rig would be 
deployed on site at any one time and they would only be required for a limited period. This 
is estimated to be 28 to 30 weeks during Phase 2 (Drilling, Testing and Appraisal). A rig 
would also need to be deployed during Phase 3 (Well Plugging, Abandonment and 
Decommissioning) although this phase is only estimated to last for 5 weeks. Further, the 
time when a crane is fully extended would be limited and the works would be designed to 
enable the crane to leave the site on a daily basis preventing the need for overnight 
storage or deployment.

296. The coil tubing unit may be required during testing and would only need to be deployed for 
a temporary period. Likewise, the deployment of up to two shrouded flares will only be 
required when the site is in testing mode which is estimated to last for 26 weeks. During 
this period, two shrouded flares will be required for initial testing involving their intermittent 
use for a period of 7 days. One flare will then be required for extended well testing for a 
period of 90 days.

297. As part of the proposal, an area of the well site host field equivalent to the area of the well 
site will be set-a-side for the duration of the development. This currently contains a wild 
bird seed mix plantation which will be retained and enhanced for the duration of the 
development. The wild bird seed mix would grow to a height of 2 metres to the south and 
east of the proposed well site compound including along the top of the ridge. The plant is 
very durable throughout the winter and is topped up during the spring through manual re-
seeding to encourage new growth and flowering which stimulates natural re-seeding to 
bulk- out the crop. This mix of manual / natural re-seeding maintains the crop yield and its 
screening potential across the year.           

298. A crushed and compacted stone access track is proposed to connect the well site to a new 
temporary junction with the public highway on High Loxley Road. This will require the 
removal of up to 10 metres of internal field boundary hedgerow which the applicant 
proposes to reinstate in the first available planting season post construction. The junction 
will comprise a 30 metre wide bell-mouth leading into the site and a vehicular passing 
place within the highway verge to allow for the two-way free flow of traffic within High 
Loxley Road. The installation of the junction and the provision of clear lines of vehicular 
visibility will require targeted excavation and the removal of up to 55 metres of hedgerow 
along with the loss of two trees (assessed by the applicant to be of low value and quality) 
from the eastern side of High Loxley Road. 

299. Removal will be kept to a minimum and subject to a detailed Tree and Hedgerow 
Management Plan to compensate for any loss of vegetation with reinstatement proposed  
in the first available planting season post construction. In accordance with the submitted 

Page 64

7



Outline Landscape, Environment and Biodiversity Restoration and Enhancement Plan 
(LEBREP), this would provide for the reinstatement of the lost hedgerow and the planting 
of 6 new trees with the intention of replacing each tree lost with 3 new trees. The full 
restoration of lost hedgerows including additional planting to compensate for the 
temporary loss would be undertaken upon completion of the development.  

300. The new site junction within High Loxley Road will be secured by 2.5m high entrance 
gates incorporating close mesh panelling and close boarded timber to the front elevation. 
‘V’ mesh security fencing 2.46 metres in height will enclose a two-way vehicular access. A 
modular gatehouse will be placed internal to the site behind the entrance gates to manage 
vehicular access. This will be 3 metres in height, 5.98 metres in length and 3.03 metres 
wide. Minor highway improvements are proposed at Pratts Corner on the boundary of the 
AONB. This includes selective highway widening on both sides of High Loxley Road and 
Dunsfold Road of up to 0.91 metres within the extent of the adopted public highway. New 
temporary portable traffic signals will be installed in association with the new junction on 
High Loxley Road and the highway improvement works at Pratts Corner.

301. The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) in 
support of the proposal which has assessed the impact of the proposal on visual amenity, 
the landscape resource, the AONB and the AGLV and found this to be acceptable. The 
outline LEBREP proposes to mitigate the loss of vegetation and provide compensation in 
the form of biodiversity ‘net-gain’ which will enhance the landscape in the longer term. This 
is intended to comply with government guidance contained in the Natural Environment 
chapter of the nPPG and covers High Loxley Road, the internal field boundary between 
High Loxley Road and the south-west corner of the Burchetts, the northern, eastern and 
southern boundaries of the well site host field and the well site host field itself. 

302. The outline LEBREP includes: an initial replacement programme in year 1 to avoid a net 
loss of habitat, hedgerow and trees as a result of the construction process; targeted 
strategic new tree and hedgerow planting in year 1 to improve the filtration of views to and 
from the application site from all vantage points within the surrounding landscape; and 
additional planting in year 3 as part of a site reinstatement plan. The applicant proposes to 
submit an initial LEBREP for written approval prior to the start of the development. This 
would include the replacement of trees and hedgerows removed during construction 
works, a programme to retain and protect existing trees and hedgerows and a timed 
programme for the planting of new trees and hedgerows. A final LEBREP would be 
submitted within 1 year of the start of development or prior to decommissioning, whichever 
is the sooner. This would deliver wider environmental net-gain making use of native 
species and reflecting the historic use of the site as worked agriculture land and forestry. 

303. An established narrow single line of trees and hedgerow along the northern edge of the 
well site compound host field remain within the control of the applicant. These trees are 
estimated to be 16 metres in height. This boundary, containing a mix of common oak, ash, 
hazel and hawthorn, would be largely retained and enhanced with new planting. It is likely 
that 5 ash trees will need to be replaced with other native species during the lifetime of the 
development including 1 ash tree on the eastern part of the northern boundary and 4 ash 
trees on the western section. Approximately 55 trees (i.e. 95% of the baseline) would be 
retained along the central section of the northern boundary which would help to screen the 
central section of well site compound comprising the main focus for operational activity. 

304. If the Burchetts were clear-felled, the largely retained boundary vegetation would only 
provide a partial screen from views into the site from the north due to gaps between the 
trees and hedgerow situated along this field boundary. A broader and more continuous 
area of trees, around 18 metres in height, and hedgerow along the eastern boundary of 
the well site compound host field also remain within the applicant’s control. These would 
be retained in full and enhanced and provide a more effective screen if woodland further to 
the east was cleared as part of the clear-fell licence. 

Page 65

7



305. The Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser objects to the development unless enforceable 
measures are introduced to ensure that neighbouring country lanes through the AONB are 
not used by HGVs. The AONB Planning Adviser acknowledges that the thin line of trees to 
be largely retained and enhanced along the northern site boundary has gaps between 
them, will lose their leaves in winter and that the proposed new planting would be unlikely 
to be sufficiently large to provide an effective screen during the lifetime of the 
development. Despite this, the AONB Planning Adviser states that they would have a 
visually softening benefit when viewed in the distance from the AONB to the north. 
Consequently, the AONB Planning Adviser considers that it would be difficult to justify 
refusal of the application because of a significant visual impact of the well site when 
viewed from the AONB to the north. In terms of the AGLV, the AONB Planning Adviser 
considers that the proposal would be a seriously incongruous feature in the AGLV and 
compensation should be provided if mitigation is insufficient. 

306. The County Landscape Consultant (CLC) has advised that the implementation of the 
clear-felling license would open up views around the proposed well site - particularly views 
from the north-west, north and to the south-east which would potentially make the 
proposed development more visible from the surrounding area. The impact of the new 
fencing will introduce a new feature into this rural landscape.

307. The thin strips of what appear to be mainly deciduous trees on the southern edge of the 
Burchetts and the western edge of High Loxley Furze, which are proposed to be largely 
retained and enhanced, will provide a degree of screening and filtering of views 
particularly from visual receptors to the north including elevated positions within the 
AONB. The CLC concurs with the advice provided by the Surrey Hills AONB Planning 
Adviser regarding the visual impacts from the north and the AONB, specifically Hascombe 
Hill which reaches a height of 205 metres.

308. In response to concerns raised by the CLC and others bodies about the LVIA being 
informed by views taken in spring when trees were at full leaf, the applicant commented 
that allowance had been made in the assessment for the fact that the viewpoint photos 
were taken in summer conditions. However to clarify the findings of the LVIA, the applicant 
submitted additional wireframe photomontages to clarify the LVIA findings. The CLC has 
advised that the wireframe photomontages are welcomed and help to understand the 
potential visual impacts of the proposed development as a worst case.

309. The CLC has advised that visual receptors most affected by clear felling of the woodland  
blocks would be Thatched House Farm, Park Hatch and road receptors including Dunsfold 
Road, whilst accepting that the latter are less sensitive than residential receptors and that 
any impacts would be temporary. The CLC points out that the LVIA acknowledges the 
major / moderate visual impact on High Billinghurst Farm. Regarding the proposed 
highway improvements at Pratts Corner on the edge of the AONB, the CLC has advised 
that the visual impact is not likely to be significant. In terms of the rig and crane, these are 
likely to be visible above the remaining thin line of existing boundary trees although the 
CLC advises that the magnitude of change is unlikely to be sufficiently high to result in a 
significant adverse effect, especially as the change is for a relatively short time period.

310. Natural England has raised no objection to the application subject to a final LEBREP being 
agreed with SCC, all traffic being routed to avoid sensitive roads through the AONB and 
lighting controls being put in place as recommended in the revised Lighting Assessment.

311. The Hascombe Estate has commented that most of the Burchetts is comprised of conifers 
(a timber crop), with a few deciduous trees (mainly ash) interspersed. The Burchetts 
conifers have now reached maturity. Having been granted a clear-fell licence valid until 
2024, the conifers will be felled with the area replanted with native deciduous trees which 
will take at least 30 years to reach maturity. Consequently the Burchetts woodland will not 
provide screening from the north and the development will be fully exposed within AGLV 
and from the AONB. They state that the removal of timber would be via the drive to 

Page 66

7



Thatched Farm Barns. Officers understand that this relates to the private access to 
Thatched House Farm from Dunsfold Road. The Hascombe Estate add that the belt of 
ancient woodland within the Burchetts, to the north of the proposed well site compound, 
will remain standing but will not provide screening of the oil well site within the AGLV or 
from the AONB. In a further response, they indicate that they will walk the woods in detail 
and see any areas suggested as ancient woodland before deciding which trees to fell.  

312. The Forestry Commission has confirmed that the clear fell licence has been granted for 
clear felling all three compartments and restocking the area within 2 years after felling with 
2,500 stems per hectare (80% Douglas fir and 20% broadleaves). Further, the clear felling 
of all three compartments within one felling operation is prohibited, as the restocking at 
neighbouring compartments needs to have a height of 2 metres before any adjacent areas 
can be felled. They also confirmed that the ancient woodland forms part of the clear fell 
licence because it is the seeds that are protected as opposed to the actual woodland itself.

313. The AONB is located approximately 530 metres to the north of the well site compound on 
the opposite side of Dunsfold Road. Dunsfold Road is enclosed by vegetation including 
trees and hedgerows on either side of the carriageway restricting views towards the south 
from the lowest sections of the AONB.

314. The AONB climbs northwards towards Hascombe Hill. Any views of the application site 
from elevated sections of the AONB, including from public footpaths 279 (at a height of 
130 metres) and 533 (at a height of 200 metres), will be from a considerable distance. At 
this distance, the site would be difficult to make out given the extent of the panoramic view 
available from these more elevated parts of the AONB, filtering provided by the line of 
single trees and hedgerows to be largely retained and enhanced along the northern 
boundary of the well site compound host field, the presence of the proposed 4 metre 
screening fence incorporating camouflage netting along the northern edge of the well site 
compound and the backdrop of the solar farm and Dunsfold Park beyond.  

315. Further, any parts of the development that are visible such as the crane, workover rig or 
coil tubing unit would only be visible for a temporary period and any HGVs visible whilst 
traveling across the access track would be relatively few in number. The CLC, Natural 
England and the Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser have not objected to the proposal 
due to the impact on the AONB. However, in relation to the advice provided by both 
Natural England and the Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser, this is conditional on the 
introduction of a planning condition / enforceable measures to ensure that neighbouring 
country lanes through the AONB are not used by HGVs and this matter is addressed 
below. As a consequence, Officers concur with this advice and are satisfied that the 
proposal would not have a significant adverse impact on the AONB or its setting.

316. The impact of the development on the AGLV would be greater given that the proposal is 
located within this local landscape designation. The wild bird seed mix plantation will 
enhance the screening of the development from the south softening its impact on the 
AGLV designation. The proposed security, screening and acoustic fences will have some 
adverse impact by their own existence. However, this would be outweighed by their visual 
screening benefits in terms of restricting views of cabins, plant, machinery and equipment 
within the well site compound with the exception of the tallest components. This would 
help to reduce the industrialised feel that the development would have on its locality.  

317. Officers agree with the applicant’s assessment of the impact on users of Dunsfold Road.  
Any adverse impact of the proposal on Dunsfold Road is not considered to be significant. 
This is considering the presence of existing vegetation screening, the 500 metre 
separation distance between the road and the proposed well site, the lack of provision for 
pedestrian movement on Dunsfold Road and passing vehicles will be travelling at up to 
60mph. Where views are possible, a distinct turn of the head would be required to see the 
well site as it would not be in the peripheral vision of road users. Further, views from Pratts 

Page 67

7



Corner to the north-west would be around 700 metres distant and largely filtered by a 
combination of vegetation and topography.   

318. The proposal would have an adverse impact on users of High Loxley Road with access 
gates, security fences, a modular gatehouse, traffic signals, selective road widening, 
vegetation removal and the introduction of HGVs bringing a more industrialised feel to the 
northern section of this road. However in view of: the temporary nature of the 
development; this being a no through road serving only two residential properties and a 
solar farm; the small amount of traffic carried by this road for the vast majority of the time 
(with the exception being when events are taking place at High Billinghurst Farm on up to 
50 occasions a year); the applicant’s commitments to replace lost vegetation during the 
first available planting season following construction and provide enhancements to 
vegetation planting in the medium to longer term which can be secured by condition; and 
the need for the development which is considered to be in the national and wider public 
interest, Officers consider that, on balance, the adverse impacts would be moderate rather 
than significant, and outweighed by other wider public benefits of the proposal and 
therefore acceptable in planning terms.

319. The applicant proposes to reinstate 55 metres of lost hedgerow on High Loxley Road 
within the first available planting season post construction and replace two lost trees with 6 
new ones. In year 3, a further 55 metres of new hedgerow would be planted together with 
an additional 6 trees resulting in an enhancement to the existing vegetation on this road in 
the medium to longer term. In view of these factors, Officers consider that the adverse 
impact on the AGLV would be temporary and less than significant and that the proposal 
would provide local environmental enhancements following restoration resulting from the 
implementation of the LEBREP which can be secured by condition. 

320. Further, if the same principles for protecting the AONB are applied to the AGLV as 
required under LLP1 Policy RE3, Officers consider that the proposal meets the tests set 
out in SMP CS DPD Policy MC2. In this respect, the proposal has been demonstrated to 
be in the wider public interest and the final LEBREP will ensure that restoration is carried 
out to the highest standards resulting in the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside being safeguarded in the medium to longer term. 

321. Public bridleway 280 is located approximately 100 metres to the south of the well site 
compound. It connects High Loxley Road to the west with Stovolds Hill to the east and is 
routed along the southern edge of the well site compound host field. During two previous 
site visits undertaken in September and October 2019, Officers noted that no persons 
were seen using the route. However, representations received have stated that it is heavily 
used. The southern boundary of the well site compound would be screened by a 4 metres 
earth bund and a 4 metres security fence with camouflage netting.  Paragraph 6.15 of 
SMP CS DPD acknowledges that whilst temporary landscape works such as bunds or 
earth mounds can affect the appearance of an area, they may be positive in terms of 
reducing local visual impacts. 

322. Views of the well site from the bridleway would be mostly screened by the ridge between 
the well site and the bridleway, and the wild bird seed mix planting growing on the 
southern and eastern parts of the well site host field, including along the crest of the ridge. 
Only the tallest components of the plant and equipment would be visible from the 
bridleway. Officers consider that any adverse impacts on users of the bridleway would not 
be significant taking into account the proposed mitigation measures, the temporary nature 
of the development and that users of the bridleway would be transient.

323. Public footpath 281 and public bridleway 282 connect High Loxley Road to Dunsfold 
Common Road to the west. The former is approximately 540 metres to the west of the 
proposed well site compound at its nearest point and the latter around 735 metres to the 
south-south-west. At these separation distances, any adverse impacts are not considered 

Page 68

7



significant given the existing vegetation screening on High Loxley Road, the temporary 
nature of the development and the transient nature of rights of way users.

324. To help mitigate the impact of the clear felling of the woodland to the north, the applicant 
has proposed to erect a 4 metre high screening fence along the northern boundary of the 
well site and a 4 metre high security fence along the eastern boundary, both with 
camouflage netting. On the advice of the CLC, the applicant reassessed the impact of 
clear-felling the woodland blocks on the residences of Thatched House Farm to the north 
and Park Hatch north of Dunsfold Road. Officers concur with the main aspects of this 
assessment. Thatched House Farm is the nearest sensitive receptor to the proposed well 
site compound. The house itself and its curtilage is around 330 metres to the north of the 
centre of the well site compound and its ground level is 4 metres below that of the well site 
compound. 

325. Views of the well site compound would be partly filtered by the single line of trees (95% of 
which would be retained) and hedgerows which are to be enhanced, albeit with gaps in-
between, along the northern boundary of the well site compound host field. Screening of 
the central section of the well site compound, this being the main focus for operational 
activity, would be more effective.

326. Consequently, where views are possible, they would largely be peripheral and centred on 
the 4 metre high screening fence with dark green camouflage netting. This would screen 
views of the majority of the cabins, plant, machinery and equipment with the exception of 
the tallest components. These would comprise the rig or crane, coil tubing unit if deployed, 
flare stack(s) and lighting columns. Views would be limited to the upper sections of these 
structures and would be temporary with some structures partly filtered by the largely 
retained tree-line. The only uninterrupted views would be of the top section of the rig or 
crane. However these views would be limited to those sections above the tree line. Further 
the rig or crane would occupy a small and oblique portion of the view. The impact on the 
Romani Gypsy site west of Lydia Park would be lower than the impact on Thatched House 
Farm as it is further away being some 420 metres to the north-east of the centre of the 
proposed well site compound.    

327. In terms of the impact on Park Hatch House and Park Hatch Farm to the north of Dunsfold 
Road, Officers agree with the applicant’s assessment. Although any views of the well site 
would be from a vantage point 10 metres higher, these would be temporary and from a 
separation distance of around 1km. Any views of the well site possible through the largely 
retained single tree line along the northern boundary of the well site compound host field, 
albeit with some gaps in-between, would be limited and hard to discern at this distance.

328. Officers also requested the applicant to provide a more detailed assessment of the impact 
on High Billinghurst Farm. The farm house is located approximately 390 metres to the 
south of the centre of the proposed well site compound and sits 2 metres higher at 70 
metres AOD. The well site compound lies at 68 metres AOD. The crest of the ridge across 
the centre of the well site host field to the south of the well site compound is at 72 metres 
AOD. The wild bird seed mix planting on top of the ridge would be retained and enhanced. 
This would grow to a height of 2 metres on top of the ridge creating a visual screen of 74 
metres AOD, 6 metres above the floor of the well site. 

329. The 4 metre security fence with camouflage netting along the southern boundary of the 
well site compound would be installed to the south of the earth bund at 70 metres AOD. 
This would create a visual screen of 74 metres AOD, similar to that of the wild bird seed 
mix planted on top of the ridge. Further, the southern boundary of the well site host field 
contains a line of trees which will be retained and subject to new planting although any 
new planting is unlikely to provide any significant screening benefit within the lifetime of 
the development. The existing trees are predominantly mature oak and 12 to 16 metres in 
height. They would not provide a complete screen given the gaps in-between but would 
help to filter views of the tallest components within the well site. The visual impacts would 

Page 69

7



therefore be similar to those experienced from the main house at Thatched House Farm, 
albeit from a larger separation distance. The impact on the consented property at Unit 2, 
High Stovolds Farm would be lower than the impact on High Billinghurst Farm as it is 
further away being some 615 metres to the south-east of the centre of the proposed well 
site compound.    

330. The impact on High Loxley approximately 560 metres to the west of the centre of the well 
site compound would be limited by the extent of the separation distance and existing 
vegetation boundaries. Any visual impacts on GRT sites west of Stovolds Hill will be very 
limited or non-existent. This is due to the extent of the separation distance and the 
existence of woodland screening which does not form part of the clear-felling licence 
granted to the Hascombe Estate. In view of the mitigation measures proposed by the 
applicant, Officers conclude that any adverse impacts on nearby residential sensitive 
receptors will be temporary and not significant in planning terms. 

331. Natural England and the Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser have requested the 
imposition of a planning condition and enforceable measures to control the routeing of 
vehicles to ensure that rural roads through the AONB are avoided. However as HGVs 
using the site are not within the applicant’s control, such a condition would not be 
enforceable. The application states that vehicles would be routed via Dunsfold Road and 
the A281. Appendix 1 of the submitted Transport Statement includes two plans showing 
wider vehicle access routes. These would be to and from the M25 to the north via the A24 
(Leatherhead), the A281 (Broadbridge Heath, Horsham), and the B2130 Dunsfold Road. 
To the south, vehicles would be routed via the M27 / A27 (near Havant) the A3(M) and A3 
(Petersfield), the A272 (Billingshurst), the A29, A281 and B2130 Dunsfold Road. Further 
the CHA has recommended the imposition of a planning condition requiring the 
submission of a TMP to include details of HGV routeing and an informative has been 
included explaining that all HGVs should access the site to and from the east via the 
B2130 signalised junction with the A281 in accordance with the terms of the application 
submitted. 

332. The Borough Council has raised objection requesting more information on landscape and 
visual impacts. This includes the visual impacts of lighting, an assessment of winter views 
from key viewpoints and the impact of HGVs on landscape character, the provision of a 
compensatory planting scheme during the site preparation phase, and screening of the 
southern site boundary. They also object to the unacceptable impact on thriving 
businesses adjoining the site and the lack of safeguards to protect the amenity of adjoining 
properties. The Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has 
requested that the application be refused due to the inadequate assessment of the 
impacts on landscape and the AONB and the harm caused to local businesses potentially 
resulting in job losses.

333. Dunsfold, Alfold and Cranleigh Parish Councils have all raised objection due to concerns 
about the impact on the AONB, the AGLV, the countryside and landscape. The CPRE 
oppose the sprawling industrialisation of the countryside and stress the need to minimise 
adverse environmental impacts. The Hascombe Estate have objected due to the impact 
on local businesses. Waverley Friends of the Earth have objected due to the impact on the 
AONB and local businesses.

334. Representation have been received expressing concerns over: the harm to local 
businesses contrary to the NPPF; the buffer between the site and local residences being 
overstated; the need for a 850 metre buffer; the LVIA being based on a 37 metre rather 
than a 38 metre rig; the visual impact would be increased by the clear-felling; proximity to 
the AONB and the location within the AGLV; the visual impact from Hascombe Hill; the 
inadequacy of the 4 metre fence to screen views to the south; security fence along access 
track being inappropriate in the AGLV; images of trees in full leaf does not paint a worst 
case scenario for the basis of assessment in the LVIA; and the impact on High Loxley 
Road. A representation in support of the development claims that the operator has 

Page 70

7



demonstrated at Horse Hill, Horley how to build a hydrocarbon well site with a low visual 
presence on the landscape.

335. Most of the concerns raised have been addressed above. However, there has been 
widespread concern about the impact of the proposal on local businesses including the 
events venue at High Billinghurst Farm, the Trew Field Cancer Festival and Craft Brewery 
Company at Thatched House Farm and Horse Riding Surrey at Painshill Farm.

336. NPPF paragraph 182 states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses. Existing businesses 
and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established.

337. One of the barns at High Billinghurst Farm, which is set in 65 acres of countryside, has 
been converted and extended into an events venue to initially hold up to 30 weddings, 
funerals and corporate hospitality functions a year. In March 2020, the Borough Council 
permitted a planning application to increase the number of annual events from 30 to 50. Its 
quiet rural location is claimed to be a unique selling point with views across the 
surrounding countryside towards the Surrey Hills to the north. The curtilage provides 
numerous outdoor spaces which are used by the public for wedding purposes. Concern 
has been raised that the use of the building and its surroundings by the general public, 
which depends on its tranquil and rural nature with far reaching views towards the Surrey 
Hills to the north, would be destroyed by the proposed development and the business 
could potentially collapse. Imagery has been submitted showing the outdoor space lined 
with rows of seats angled to be facing north-west towards Hascombe Hill. 

338. The nearest outdoor seating to the centre of the well site compound would be around 320 
metres distant. However, the majority of the view towards the well site would be screened 
out by mature trees along the southern boundary of the well site host field. The rig or 
crane would be visible towards the right hand side of the main field of view. Other taller 
components of plant and equipment such as the flare stacks and lighting columns would 
be less obvious as they would be significantly lower in height compared to the crane or rig. 

339. It is acknowledged that there would be some adverse visual impact on guests looking out 
towards Hascombe Hill. However, Officers consider that the impact would be reduced by a 
number of factors. These include: the temporary nature of the development; the majority of 
events take place on Saturday afternoons and evenings outside of the main hours of 
operation of the well site when there would be no HGV traffic movements except in the 
case of an emergency; the extent of remaining unspoilt northerly and north-westerly views 
available from High Billinghurst Farm; the screening benefits provided by the 4 metre high 
security fence with camouflage netting, the crest of the ridge covered in wild bird seed mix 
planting; and, the filtering effect of the tree belt along the southern boundary of the well 
site compound host field. 

340. A representation has been received raising concern about the impact of the proposal on 
the Trew Fields Cancer Festival at Thatched House Farm. This comprises an annual 
cancer awareness festival which attracts domestic and international practitioners of all 
disciplines, who deliver lectures to over 900 participants, many of whom are cancer 
sufferers, their carers, families and medical practitioners. The response states that follow-
up camping retreats are also organised and hosted throughout the year, offering cancer 
sufferers natural respite in the fresh air. Images submitted in a representation to the CPA 
show tents erected on the southern boundary of Thatched House Farm along the northern 
edge of The Burchetts. 

341. The closest part of the field hosting the Trew Fields Cancer Festival to the centre of the 
proposed well site is approximately 175 metres. The representation states that the two 
sites are only 93 metres apart at their nearest point although Officers consider that the 
distance is greater at approximately 130 metres. It also states that it is unlikely that the 

Page 71

7



Festival will be able to continue in such close proximity to an oil well, depriving Thatched 
House Farm of vital income and threatening the livelihood of several local people. 

342. The Trew Fields Festival has a fairly comprehensive website. This states that this is a 
weekend event and Season 4 was scheduled to take place from 3 to 5 July 2020 with 
gates opening at 6pm on Friday 3 July and the Festival closing at 7pm on Sunday 5 July. 
However due to the COVID 19 pandemic, the website now states that the festival has 
been postponed although the organisers are keeping open the possibility of moving 
the festival to the weekend of 19th/20th of September. The website explains that there is 
plenty of space to pitch a tent on the farm and that local air B & B’s are an option for those 
not wishing to camp. The timing of the festival appears to be mostly outside the main 
operational hours of the well site with the exception of between 0900 and 1300 hours on 
Saturday.

343. If the woodland separating the Festival from the well site is felled, views of the well site 
would be partly filtered by the single line of trees / hedgerows to be largely retained and 
enhanced along the northern boundary of the well site compound host field, albeit with 
some gaps in-between. Most of the cabins, plant, equipment and machinery would be 
screened from view by the 4 metre screening fence with camouflage netting and only the 
upper sections of the tallest structures would be visible. Enhancements to screening along 
this boundary would increase vegetation coverage over time although not significantly 
during the lifetime of the proposed development. Whilst the proposal would have some 
adverse visual impact on the setting of the Festival, the visual and landscape impact is not 
considered to be significant in planning terms taking account of the mitigation measures 
proposed by the applicant. Further, the Festival website explains that the event takes 
place on one weekend per year.

344. The Craft Brewery at Thatched House Farm is located between the main residence at 
Thatched House Farm and Dunsfold Road to the north. It is an estimated 450 metres to 
the north of the centre of the proposed well site compound. In view of the findings of the 
above assessment of the visual impact of the proposal on the main dwelling house which 
is closer to the application site, any visual impact on the Craft Brewery is not considered to 
be significant in planning terms as it is located around 120 metres further away with views 
likely to be partly screened by nearby trees growing in the vicinity of the brewery. Horse 
Riding Surrey is located at Painshill Farm on the north side of Dunsfold Road over 1km to 
the north of the application site. Any adverse visual impacts are not considered to be 
significant given the extent of the separation distance between the farm and the 
application site and the presence of vegetation screening on either side of Dunsfold Road.

345. Officers acknowledge that the proposal would have some adverse landscape and visual 
impacts on existing businesses within the vicinity of the site although these are not 
considered to be significant in planning terms. At the same time, Officers are mindful of the 
significant weight attributed to the need for the proposed development which is considered 
to be in the national and wider public interest. Officers have liaised with the applicant with 
regard to these concerns. In response, the applicant has confirmed that they would be 
willing to have particular regard for the residents and businesses that neighbour the site, 
particularly Thatched House Farm to the north and High Billinghurst Farm to the south. In 
this respect, the applicant accepts the need to liaise with neighbours to ensure the impacts 
of the development are minimised and maintained at acceptable levels. Officers therefore 
propose to include an informative to this effect.  

346. In terms of the other remaining points, as explained in the section on lighting below, the 
assessment of the impact on lighting is based on a worst case scenario of no woodland 
screening. This assessment also identifies a number of mitigation measures necessary to 
ensure that the residual effects of the proposed development on the nearest residential 
receptors can be made acceptable.

Page 72

7



347. The measurements set out in this report are approximate and based on the distance 
between the centre of the well site compound and the nearest sensitive receptors unless 
stated otherwise. Some of the nearest neighbours argue that the distance measured for 
the purposes of assessment should be the shortest distance between the application site 
boundary and the boundary of their land or property. Officers do not consider that this 
approach represents the most realistic basis for assessing the impact on residential 
amenity. The nearest properties are set within substantial grounds extending a 
considerable distance outwards from the main dwelling house. Further, the main 
operational activities will take place within the centre of the well site compound. From a 
planning perspective, it is more appropriate to assess the effects on residential amenity 
based on the impact on the main dwelling house and its curtilage, this representing the 
primary living space. Further, Officers do not consider that a minimum buffer of 850 metres 
is necessary in order to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

348. The LVIA has been based on a rig with a height of 37 metres as this represents the most 
likely scenario. Whilst it is accepted that this does not represent the worst case scenario, 
the fall-back position of using a 38 metre high rig with a height difference of 1 metre is 
considered unlikely to be discernible. In relation to security fencing, Officers can confirm 
that no fencing is proposed alongside the length of the proposed access track.

Conclusion

349. The application site is situated within a sensitive landscape in a rural area of countryside. 
It is designated as an AGLV with the well site compound situated approximately 530 
metres to the south of the AONB. The adverse impact of the proposal on landscape and 
visual amenity including on the AGLV and the setting of the AONB would be exacerbated 
by the clear-felling of woodland to the north and east. However, the impacts overall would 
be mitigated by a combination of factors including existing vegetation screening, screening 
around the well site compound, the wild bird seed mix plantation, topography, the 
temporary nature of the development, the restoration of the site to a high standard and to 
a lesser extent, given the time it would take to establish, new tree and hedgerow planting 
along High Loxley Road and internal and existing field boundaries which would provide 
visual and landscape enhancements in the medium to longer term. The replacement of 
lost vegetation, restoration and enhancement can be secured by condition requiring the 
submission of both an initial and a final LEBREP for written approval.
 

350. The proposal would have an adverse landscape and visual impact through the creation of 
a more industrialised feel on the northern section of High Loxley Road. However given the 
temporary nature of the development, this being a no through road serving only two 
residential properties, the road being very lightly used by traffic except when events are 
taking place at High Billinghurst Farm, the proposals to replace lost vegetation at an early 
in the development, the proposed enhancements to vegetation planting, and the wider 
benefits of the proposal in relation to need, on balance, the adverse impacts are 
considered to be acceptable in planning terms. Further, Officers consider that the proposal 
would not result in unreasonable restrictions being placed on local businesses given the 
mitigation measures proposed. In view of the above considerations, whilst some adverse 
visual and landscape impacts are acknowledged, Officers are satisfied that the 
development would not have a significant adverse impact on landscape and visual 
amenity and therefore complies with development plan requirements in this respect.

Air Quality

351. The primary driver for air quality management is the protection of human health but it can 
also have implications for the natural environment in relation to wildlife habitats and 
vegetation. Dust and air quality are material considerations and should be taken into 
account when considering planning applications.

Page 73

7



352. The NPPF at paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing 
development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from air pollution. 
Paragraph 180 adds that decisions should ensure new development is appropriate for its 
location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on 
health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of 
the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development.

353. NPPF paragraph 183 states that the focus of planning policies and decisions should be on 
whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of 
processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). 
Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.

354. The nPPG provides guidance on how planning can take account of the impacts of new 
development on air quality. Paragraph 005 of the nPPG Air Quality chapter states that 
whether or not air quality is relevant to a planning decision will depend on the proposed 
development and its location. Concerns could arise if the development is likely to generate 
an air quality impact in an area where air quality is known to be poor. They could also 
arise where the development is likely to adversely impact upon the implementation of air 
quality strategies and action plans or breach EU legislation. 

355. The UK’s objectives for air quality are set out in The Air Quality Strategy (Defra, 2007). 
This provides air quality standards and objectives for key air pollutants which are designed 
to protect human health and the environment. The Air Quality Strategy establishes limit 
values for concentrations in outdoor air of major pollutants harmful to public health and the 
environment including particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). The 
UK’s established limit values are numerically identical to the EU Air Quality Directive. For 
the protection of habitats and species the EU’s Habitats Directive is transposed into 
English Law in the ‘The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010’ (as 
amended) and ‘Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981’ (as amended) and ‘Rights of Way Act 
2000.’

356. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of fumes and dust including that related to traffic 
generated by the development. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not 
be permitted where it would result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of 
potential pollution of air, land or water. WBLP ‘saved’ Policy D2 seeks to ensure that 
proposed and existing land uses are compatible and that development which may have a 
materially detrimental impact on sensitive uses with regard to environmental disturbance 
or pollution will not be permitted.

357. The Environmental Protection UK / Institute of Air Quality Management’s (EPUK/IAQM) 
“Land Use Planning and Development Control: Planning for Air Quality” (2017) recognises 
that all new development will have associated emissions and therefore has the potential to 
have associated adverse impacts. It is these impacts that require quantification and 
evaluation in the form of an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) alongside the ability to assess 
the significance of those impacts. Paragraph 6.2 of this document advises that where a 
development requires an AQA, this should be undertaken using an approach that is robust 
and appropriate to the scale of the likely impacts.

358. The application site is not located within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) with the 
nearest AQMA being located 8.1 km to the north-west in Godalming. This was designated 
for exceedances of air quality standards for nitrogen dioxide. This reduces the likelihood of 
the proposal having an adverse cumulative impact on health, living conditions and the 
natural environment. Further, the prevailing south-westerly wind direction will carry 
emissions just beyond the well site boundary towards the north-east and away from 
Dunsfold Park, which is located around half-a-mile to the south at its nearest point.

Page 74

7



359. The applicant has submitted an AQA in support of the proposal. This assesses the 
dispersion of releases to atmosphere associated with the proposed operations to 
determine their impact on ambient concentrations of important pollutants around the local 
area. The AQA recognises the particular need to assess the impact of permanent human 
habitation and sensitive nature conservation sites in the context of attainment of applicable 
environmental standards.   

360. According to the AQA, the main sources of pollutant releases during site operations will be 
from the use of diesel fuel in on-site stationary engines and construction and transport 
vehicles and from the disposal by flaring of produced natural gas. The assessment has 
considered releases of nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, volatile organic compounds, 
sulphur dioxide and particulate matter using the UK ADMS 5.2 modelling system.

361. The AQA advises that the drilling and appraisal phases are the most energy intensive and 
result in the greatest pollutant releases. Depending on commencement date, the project 
will span up to three years with air quality standards based on assessment over a calendar 
year. In order to capture worst case combinations of releases and meteorological 
conditions, long term air quality impact was assessed with a project schedule which 
accommodated the drilling and testing phases in one calendar year. Short term air quality 
impacts were based on year-round operation of the project phases which provided the 
greatest release rate for each pollutant. 

362. In practice it is expected that this worst case will be significantly mitigated by scheduling 
and breaks between project phases which will result in the execution of the drilling and 
testing over more than one calendar year. As a consequence, the AQA considers that the 
necessary assumptions made to undertake the modelling has the effect of substantially 
overestimating the process contribution to ambient concentrations. The predicted process 
impacts are therefore considered to be a conservative assessment with the conclusions 
reached incorporating a reasonable margin of comfort.

363. Maximum pollutant process contributions from the site operations are localised and occur 
just beyond the well site boundary to the north east on open farmland. Beyond this 
location, process contributions reduce significantly with distance. The AQA does not 
consider that statutory air quality standards with respect to human health would be 
applicable around the area of maximum impact due to the infrequency of human exposure.

364. The AQA identifies a number of receptors within the vicinity of the site for the purposes of 
the assessment. These include existing residential locations extending as far as properties 
to the north of Dunsfold Road and east of Stovalds Hill, future permitted residential 
development including traveller accommodation on land to the north-west of Lydia Park, 
the public bridleway along the southern boundary of the well site host field and nature 
conservation sites. 

365. At neighbouring locations of existing and planned future residential occupation, where long 
term human exposure might be expected, the AQA considers it unlikely that pollutant 
process contributions over the duration of the project would pose any significant threat to 
continued attainment of environmental standards in relation to human health. The AQA 
finds that in process pollutant contributions would be unlikely to compromise attainment of 
the applicable short-term environmental standards along the neighbouring footpath where 
short term environmental standards might be expected to apply. At local conservation sites 
sensitive to nitrogen and acid deposition, the AQA considers that the maximum process 
contributions are unlikely to pose any threat to or have any substantial influence on the 
attainment of critical levels and critical loads in practice.

366. In relation to the impact of dust from construction activities, the AQA finds that whilst 
construction activities will give rise to dust emissions, albeit temporary in nature and 
largely restricted to the areas close to the construction site. Based on the IAQM 
methodology, the AQA finds that the risk of dust impact from all project operations will be 

Page 75

7



‘negligible’ with adequate mitigation measures in place. Mitigation measures adhering to 
industry best practice, specific to the control of dust during construction have been 
incorporated into the design of the development. These comprise:

 a construction environmental management plan (CEMP), incorporating best practices, 
will be employed during the construction phase;

 material deliveries and stock piles on site will be sheeted to prevent windblown dust 
releases;

 loads entering and leaving the site will be sheeted, where appropriate, to prevent 
windblown dust releases;

 in dry periods a bowser will be available to dampen any dry and dusty road surfaces 
to minimise entrainment of dust; and

 vehicle wheel washing facilities will be available to minimise the transfer of site dust 
on to the road network. 

367. The AQA states that it is expected that with these mitigation measures in place and 
bearing in mind the conservative approach to the assessment before mitigation, the risk of 
dust impact from all operations will reduce to ‘negligible’ for all activities and for all 
impacts.

 
368. The County Air Quality Consultant (AQC) has advised that the applicant’s Construction 

Dust Risk Assessment undertaken using IAQM (2014) Guidance on the Assessment of 
Dust from Demolition and Construction determines that the risks at properties and human-
heath receptors before mitigation is low. An assessment of impacts on ecological 
receptors was screened out based on the distance from the site boundary and 
construction vehicle routes to any ecological receptors. The County AQC considers that 
the applicant has used the correct assessment method, agrees with the findings and 
advises that the effect is not likely to be significant and the implementation of some 
mitigation measures to control dust is not critical.

369. In terms of road traffic impacts, the impact from increases in road traffic have been 
assessed to have a neutral impact on air quality based on the Institute of Air Quality 
Management (IAQM) / Highways Agency (now Highways England) Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges (DMRB) guidance. The County AQC agrees that there is no necessity 
to undertake an assessment of vehicle-related emissions as the threshold criteria provided 
by the DMRB guidance for the number of vehicles trips generated by the different 
construction and operational phases of the development are not exceeded.

370. Whilst operations on site will give rise to releases of greenhouse gases, an assessment of 
the worst case operation finds greenhouse gas releases to be largely insignificant in 
relation to the UK’s current inventory and future budgets. 

371. The County AQC has advised that they are satisfied with the baseline NO2 concentration 
used in the assessment of emissions from engines, generators, HGVs and flares. They 
agree that pollutant releases will in practice pose no substantial threat to the continued 
attainment of ambient air quality directive limits at the nearest locations of human 
exposure, and taking into account the highly conservative assessment approach, agree 
that the results of the modelling indicate that the air quality impacts at ecological sites are 
not likely to have significant effects. The County AQC therefore concludes overall that the 
air quality impacts have been assessed using an appropriate methodology and that the 
effects are not considered significant.

372. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection due to the need for: the further 
assessment of the impacts from hydrogen sulphide; the provision of more information on 
mitigation or monitoring for air quality and odour including a Construction Environment 
Management Plan (CEMP); the modelling to be re-run with more realistic operational 
parameters and better data to provide more certainty on the impacts; and further 
assessment of the potential effects of the proposed Dunsfold Aerodrome development on 

Page 76

7



baseline air quality. Further, the Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Sustainability has requested that the application be refused due to concerns over the 
impact of air pollution on nearby residents including those moving into the new garden 
village at Dunsfold Park.  

373. The Borough Council’s Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has advised that: a cumulative 
impact on planned housing at Dunsfold Park has not been undertaken; the conclusions 
reached in the AQA are questionable; consideration should be given to whether the 
predicted impact is acceptable as the proposal will have a noticeable moderate impact on 
air quality; impacts on the Chiddingfold Forrest Special Site of Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
and two Sites of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCI), Sayers Land, Jewings Hurst 
and Benbow Rew SNCI and Benbow Rew SNCI), should be referred to the Wildlife Trust 
for their comments as process contributions of nitrogen oxides will be significant on the 
SSSI and exceed the critical level on the SNCIs; the proposed dust mitigation measures 
should be required by condition; consideration should be given to the imposition of 
conditions requiring an air quality monitoring plan, a dust management plan and an odour 
assessment given concerns raise about hydrogen sulphide.

374. Natural England has advised that: the AQA does not trigger the threshold for having 
impacts alone on any nearby European designated sites; the potential for contributing to 
in-combination effects on such sites from air pollution also needs to be considered; the 
CPA needs to be satisfied that they agree with the submitted assessment where it implies 
that any planned and current developments within 10km have been screened for 
contributions. 
 

375. Public Health England (PHE) has raised no objection to the application on the 
understanding that the applicant will ensure that the assessment methodologies are 
correctly applied throughout, and that calculation methods and modelling are properly 
validated. They have advised that the development is subject to regulation under the 
Environmental Permitting regime, which will further assess potential emissions to air, 
water and the management of waste as well as consideration of accident management 
plans. The EA where necessary will consult PHE as part of the environmental permitting 
process.

376. Dunsfold Parish Council has raised objection and expressed concern about the release of 
‘sour gas’ and has requested a condition to ensure that air quality is monitored if planning 
permission is granted. Bramley Parish Council has objected to the application raising 
concerns about the presence of hydrogen sulphide given its corrosive and toxic properties 
and that the AQA does not mention elevated levels of hydrogen sulphide.

377. A large number of representations have been received objecting to the proposal on air 
quality grounds. The main reasons relate to: the contribution to greenhouse gas 
emissions, the negative health impact from HGV emissions; the possible presence of 
hydrogen sulphide given that this was previously found at a local well drilled to appraise a 
1983 gas discovery made at Godley Bridge; the need to deploy air quality assessment 
diffusion tubes on site; the need for an evacuation protocol for local residents; the 
presence of Nitrogen Dioxide, and/or other gases and potential corrosion of pipework and 
plant; nose bleeds  experienced at Horse Hill; and the adverse impact on local businesses.

378. The possible presence of hydrogen sulphide is a matter addressed by other regulators 
including the EA and the HSE. Harmful gas is not present in all wells but in some 
circumstances pockets of gas can be present. Flares have the ability to destroy hydrogen 
sulphide and non-methane organic chemicals in an efficient manner in order to ensure that 
toxic gas emissions odour is not released. The EA has been made aware of local 
concerns over the possible presence of hydrogen sulphide at the application site. They 
have confirmed that this matter will be addressed as part of the determination of the 
Environmental Permit application and that they are likely issue a request for information 
from the applicant in order to address this. The applicant submitted their Environmental 

Page 77

7



Permit application to the EA in December 2019. This has been the subject of consultation 
and is currently in the process of being determined. 

379. As explained above, the unexpected detection of hydrogen sulphide is one of a number of 
specific occurrences that must be reported to the HSE under the Reporting of Injuries, 
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013. Further, the Borehole Site and 
Operation Regulations (BSOR) 1995 require notifications to be sent to HSE about the 
design, construction and operation of wells, and the development of a health and safety 
plan which sets out how risks are managed on site. In particular the BSOR require that no 
borehole operation shall be commenced at a borehole site unless the operator has 
ensured that a health and safety document has been prepared, which includes where 
appropriate, “in the case of a borehole site where hydrogen sulphide or other harmful 
gases are or may be present, a plan for the detection and control of such gases and for 
the protection of employees from them” (paragraph 7, section 2, subsection d).

380. Public Health England has been consulted on the proposal and raised no objection. 
Matters of health and safety and fire risk are enforced by the HSE and would have to meet 
the strict safety code of the Borehole Site and Operation Regulations (BSOR) 1995 and 
other regulatory regimes of the EA and the OGA. 

381. Additionally, as outlined above, there are general duties under the Health and Safety at 
Work etc. Act 1974 (HSWA). Those who create health and safety risks to workers or the 
public as part of their undertaking have a duty to manage and control the risks so far as is 
reasonably practicable. This is supplemented with more specific regulations particular to 
the extraction of gas and oil through wells.

382. The applicant states that no material odour impacts as a result of release of volatile 
organic compounds from site operations are anticipated. The nearest residential dwelling 
is around 330 metres from the centre of the well site compound and would not be 
expected to experience any substantial odour impact from low level releases during site 
operations. The applicant has advised that this finding is consistent with permissions 
issued for other hydrocarbon sites within the country and suggests that the absence of any 
material odour effects post-commencement of development corroborates this finding. 
Officers are aware that odour is covered under the Environmental Permitting process. 
Where considered necessary, a standard odour condition is imposed by the EA usually 
requiring the operator to submit an Odour Management Plan to the EA for approval in the 
event that the operator is notified by the EA that the activities are giving rise to pollution 
outside the site.

383. The County AQC has not recommended the need for the submission of an air quality 
monitoring plan, further mitigation measures or for the modelling to be re-run, having 
advised that the AQA uses an appropriate methodology and that the effects are not 
considered significant. Officers note that the prevailing wind direction will carry emissions 
towards the north-east and away from Dunsfold Park, which is located around half-a-mile 
to the south, and the County AQC is satisfied that there will be no substantial threat to the 
attainment of ambient air directive limits at the nearest locations of human exposure.

384. The applicant has stated that a cumulative assessment of the Dunsfold Park development, 
inclusive of the proposed energy centre, has not been included within the AQA because a 
review of the Dunsfold Park Environmental Statement (ES) indicated that the expected 
combined impact of road traffic and the energy centre resulting from the development on 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations in the vicinity of Loxley well site is insignificant. The 
applicant therefore considers that the increase in background concentrations of nitrogen 
dioxide arising from the development has no material impact on the findings of the Loxley 
well site AQA. As a consequence, the applicant does not consider it necessary to amend 
the AQA to include a cumulative assessment of the proposal with Dunsfold Park.

Page 78

7



385. The County Ecologist has advised that no further information is required in relation to the 
impact on the closest SSSI. This is because Chiddingfold Forest SSSI is in a favourable 
condition and being located to the south of the application site, is not affected by the 
prevailing wind direction. Further, woodland is much less susceptible to nitrogen 
deposition than heathland or grassland for example. In relation to the two closest SNCIs at 
Sayers Land, Jewings Hurst and Benbow Rew SNCI and Benbow Rew SNCI, the County 
Ecologist has acknowledged that although these are non-statutory sites, they are of 
considerable importance for biodiversity. As large parts of Sayers Land, Jewings Hurst 
and Benbow Rew SNCI and a part of Benbow Rew SNCI are ancient semi-natural 
woodland, the County Ecologist would expect the habitat to be very similar to parts of the 
Chiddingfold Forest SSSI and have the same level of susceptibility to nitrogen deposition. 

386. Therefore, if an adverse impact on Chiddingfold Forest SSSI is discounted, the County 
Ecologist considers that it is highly likely that the same would apply to the two SNCIs, 
whilst acknowledging that the SNCIs are not subject to the same level of survey and 
monitoring as SSSIs and it is therefore necessary to make some broad assumptions. In 
this case, the County Ecologist considers that there is sufficient information to discount an 
adverse impact on both SNCIs. Further, both SNCIs are to the south of the site and even 
less likely to be impacted by air pollution as winds are generally in a south-westerly 
direction.

387. The applicant has stated that mitigation measures, adhering to industry best practice, 
specific to the control of dust during construction have been incorporated into the design of 
the development. The following measures will further reduce the dust impact risk 
determined in this assessment:

   A Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP), incorporating best practices, 
will be employed during the construction phase;

   Material deliveries and stock piles on site will be sheeted to prevent windblown dust 
releases;

   Loads entering and leaving the site will be sheeted, where appropriate, to prevent 
windblown dust releases; 

  In dry periods a bowser will be available to dampen any dry and dusty road surfaces to 
minimise entrainment of dust;

  Vehicle wheel washing facilities will be available to minimise the transfer of site dust on 
to the road network. 

388. The applicant expects that with these mitigation measures in place and bearing in mind 
the conservative approach to the assessment before mitigation, the risk of dust impacts 
from all operations will reduce to ‘negligible’ for all activities and for all impacts. As the 
County AQC has commented that the provision of such mitigation measures is not critical, 
Officers do not consider it necessary to impose a condition to secure the dust mitigation 
measures proposed by the applicant. 

389. The AQA has modelled the predicted impact of the proposal on a number of sensitive 
environmental receptors, including three European sites: (i) the Ebernoe Common Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC) in West Sussex (9.3 km to the south-west of the application 
site); (ii) the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) Special 
Protection Area (SPA) in Waverley (8.2 km to the north-west of the application site); and, 
(iii) the part of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC (the Thursley, Hankley & 
Frensham Commons SSSI component) that is located in Waverley (8.2 km to the north-
west of the application site).

390. The habitats covered by both the SAC designations and the habitats of the bird species for 
which the SPA designation was made are sensitive to the deposition of nutrient nitrogen, 
which can give rise to changes in the composition and structure of the habitats. For both 
SACs and the SPA, the worst case air quality modelling reported in the AQA (Table 4.7, 
p.48) indicates that the proposed temporary well site could result in the deposition of 

Page 79

7



nutrient nitrogen equivalent to 0.1% of the site relevant critical load for the habitats of the 
Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC, and equivalent to 0.2% of the site relevant 
critical load for the habitats of the Ebernoe Common SAC and the Thursley, Hankley & 
Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA. 

391. Natural England’s guidance on the assessment of the likely significant effects of road 
traffic on habitats as a consequence of nitrogen emissions indicates that a process 
contribution of less than 1% of the relevant critical load would have an imperceptible 
impact on the condition of a designated habitat or its dependent species. In isolation it can 
therefore be concluded that the proposed scheme would not give rise to likely significant 
effects on either of the SACs or on the SPA.

392. The submitted AQA addresses the question of cumulative or in-combination impacts in 
section 4.10. It reports that a review of relevant planning authority on-line registers and the 
EA’s register of permits issued and applications made returned no results for other 
development for which applications have been submitted or approved within the last two 
years that could act in-combination with the proposed temporary well site. Natural England 
however have queried the extent to which that information adequately captures and 
reflects the potential for in-combination effects.

393. Officers have reviewed the CPAs records and can confirm that it is not currently in receipt 
of any applications for developments that would be potentially significant sources of 
emissions (e.g. energy from waste facilities, etc.) and that would be located within 10 km 
of the Ebernoe Common SAC, the relevant component of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & 
Chobham SAC or the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 
1) SPA. A single application for development involving the use of incineration technology 
to dispose of waste materials (animal carcasses) is currently lodged with the CPA, but 
relates to an established pet crematorium on a site in Chobham, which is more than 10 
kilometres from either of the SACs or the SPA covered by the AQA. 

394. The closest major minerals development to the Ebernoe Common SAC, for which an 
application is currently lodged with the CPA, would be the proposed continued extraction 
of brick clay and associated continued manufacture of bricks and tiles at Ewhurst 
Brickworks near Walliswood, some 16 km to the north-east of that SAC and more than 20 
km from the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC or the Thursley, Hankley & 
Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths Phase 1) SPA.

395. In terms of non-minerals and waste development, the potential for other forms of 
residential and industrial / commercial development to contribute to nutrient nitrogen 
deposition would be limited to emissions from vehicles travelling along roads that pass 
through or within 200 metres of the SACs or the SPA. The single largest development that 
Officers are currently aware of that could be expected to come forward during the lifetime 
of the proposed temporary well site in the area covered by the submitted AQA would be 
the construction of the proposed Dunsfold Park scheme, which was granted outline 
permission on Appeal in March 2018. 

396. Chapter 13 (Air Quality) of the Environmental Statement submitted in support of the 
Dunsfold Park application (ref: APP/R3650/V/17/3171287 dated 29 March 2018) included 
an assessment of the impact of traffic emissions from the development on the 
Chiddingfold Forest SSSI (0.6 km to the south of Dunsfold Park) and the Wey Valley 
Meadows SSSI (8.9 km to the north of Dunsfold Park but connected to the development 
by the A281 main road), but did not cover the more distant European Sites discussed 
above which are dissected by highways links not readily accessible from the Dunsfold 
Park site. 

397. The scope of that assessment was agreed in consultation with Natural England and the 
question of impacts on European sites was not raised in their consultation response to that 
application prior to its determination and the grant of outline permission. A number of 

Page 80

7



associated further permissions have been granted relating to land at Dunsfold Park 
subsequent to the original grant of consent (planning permission ref: WA/2018/2032 for 
the Gordon Murray Design Headquarters building on land within the Dunsfold Park site, 
and planning permission ref: WA/2019/1278 for the new access road linking Dunsfold Park 
to the A281). As for the main Dunsfold Park consent, the question of impacts on European 
sites as a consequence of traffic emissions was not raised during consultation prior to the 
grants of permission.

398. On balance, and taking account of the short term and temporary nature of the proposed 
well site and the intermittent nature of the emissions that would arise during its lifetime, the 
distance that separates the application site from the closest European sites, the fact that 
the highway links that pass through or within 200 metres of the European sites are not on 
the route by which the application site would be accessed, and the limited contributions 
that the predicted wellsite emissions would make to the critical loads of the identified 
European sites, Officers conclude that the proposed development would not give rise to 
likely significant effects alone or in-combination with other development.

399. Risk management procedures are incorporated into The Health and Safety Plan required 
by the HSE under The BSOR 1995. Where appropriate, this requires: an escape plan with 
a view to providing employees with adequate opportunities for leaving work places 
promptly and safely in the event of danger and an associated rescue plan with a view to 
providing assistance where necessary; and a plan for the prevention of fire and explosions 
including in particular provisions for preventing blowouts and any uncontrolled escape of 
flammable gases and for detecting the presence of flammable atmospheres (paragraph 7, 
section 2, sub-sections a and b). Hence, evacuation procedures are covered by the HSE 
and do not fall within the remit of the CPA.

400. Further, the AQA explains that fugitive releases of natural gas, principally methane, are 
considered unlikely to be significant. Leakages from associated transport pipework on the 
site are likely to be minimal as the necessary surface pipework during the flow testing 
phase will be a temporary construction which will be pressure tested prior to use. 
Deterioration of the integrity of the pipework over the relatively short period of operation 
(maximum 26 weeks) is considered unlikely to be significant and as such fugitive releases 
have not been considered within the assessment. 

401. The nearest business to the application site is the annual Trew Fields Cancer Festival 
which takes place on one weekend in July each year. However the 2020 Festival that was 
scheduled to take place on 3-5 July has been postponed, potentially until 19th/20th 
September. Officers consider that there may be potential for any adverse impacts to be 
managed by providing the operator with advance notice of when the Festival is scheduled 
to take place so as to enable them to limit activity levels during this time. Officers have 
liaised with the applicant who has confirmed that they would be willing to have particular 
regard for the residents and businesses that neighbour the site including Thatched House 
Farm to the north. In this respect, the applicant accepts the need to liaise with neighbours 
to ensure the impacts of the development are minimised and maintained at acceptable 
levels. Officers therefore propose to include an informative to this effect.  

Conclusion

402. In view of the above considerations, with regard to dust emissions from the construction 
and operational phase, and air quality emissions from HGVs accessing / egressing the site 
and air quality emissions from the processes on site on both human and ecological 
receptors, Officers are satisfied that the proposed development is acceptable and would 
not give rise to an unacceptable level of pollution on health, living conditions or the natural 
environment, either in isolation or cumulatively. Consequently, the application would not 
have a significant adverse impact on air quality and is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan in this respect.         

Page 81

7



Noise and Vibration

403. Unwanted sound may have an adverse effect on the environment and on the quality of life 
enjoyed by individuals and communities. NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning 
decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable 
risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of noise pollution.
 

404. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF adds that planning decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as 
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from 
the development. In doing so they should: mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential 
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development and avoid noise giving rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; and identify and protect 
tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their 
recreational and amenity value for this reason.

405. NPPF paragraph 182 requires planning decisions to ensure that new development can be 
integrated effectively with existing businesses. Existing businesses and facilities should 
not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted 
after they were established.

406. Paragraph 019 of the nPPG Minerals chapter states that those making mineral 
development proposals should carry out a noise impact assessment which should identify 
all sources of noise and, for each source, take account of the noise emission, its 
characteristics, the proposed operating locations, procedures, schedules and duration of 
work for the life of the operation and its likely impact on the surrounding neighbourhood.

407. Paragraph 021 sets out the appropriate noise standard for normal mineral operations at a 
noise sensitive property. This comprises a noise limit that does not exceed the background 
noise level (LA90, 1h) by more than 10dB(A) during normal working hours (0700-1900). 
Where it will be difficult not to exceed the background level by more than 10dB(A) without 
imposing unreasonable burdens on the mineral operator, the limit should be set as near to 
that level as practicable. In any event the total noise from the operations should not 
exceed 55 dB(A) LAeq, 1h (free field). For operations during the evening (1900-2200 
hours) the noise limits should not exceed the background noise level (LA90,1h) by more 
than 10dB(A) and should not exceed 55dB(A) LAeq, 1h (free field). For night time noise 
(2200-0700 hours), these limits should be set so as to reduce to a minimum any adverse 
impacts, without imposing unreasonable burdens on the mineral operator, and should not 
exceed 42dB (A) LAeq, 1h (free field) at a noise sensitive property.

408. At Paragraph 022, the nPPG Minerals chapter recognises that there may be particularly 
noisy short term activities during site preparation and restoration work such as soil 
stripping, the construction and removal of soil storage mounds and aspects of site road 
construction and maintenance. In these cases, a temporary daytime noise limit of 70dB(A) 
LAeq 1h (free field) should be considered for periods of up to 8 weeks in a year at 
specified noise-sensitive properties to facilitate essential site preparation and restoration 
work.

409. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that mineral development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of noise. Paragraph 6.10 of the supporting text 
recognises that factors such as proximity of the proposed development to housing, 
schools or other sensitive land uses and the topography of the site and surrounding area 
alongside the location of plant on site, should be taken into account. Paragraph 6.15 
acknowledges that whilst temporary landscape works such as bunds or earth mounds can 
affect the appearance of an area, they may be positive in terms of reducing local noise 
impacts.

Page 82

7



410. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be permitted where it would 
result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of loss of general amenity, 
including disturbance resulting from the emission of noise or vibration. WBLP ‘saved’ 
Policy D2 seeks to ensure that proposed and existing land uses are compatible and that 
development which may have a materially detrimental impact on sensitive uses with 
regard to environmental disturbance or pollution will not be permitted.

411. Surrey has produced its own ‘Guidelines for Noise and Vibration Assessment and Control 
(the Surrey Noise Guidelines 2020). These Guidelines echo the approach set out in the 
NPPF and nPPG. The Guidelines include specific sections on oil and gas related 
development and recognises the three stages of onshore hydrocarbon development, 
exploration, appraisal and production. In relation to exploration and appraisal, (including 
site investigation, preparation, construction, drilling, extraction, processing, flaring, 
maintenance, de-commissioning and restoration), the Guidelines state at paragraph 3.27 
that the criteria provided in Tables A.1 and A.2 of Appendix A would apply.        

412. Table A.1 (Daytime Working Hours and Noise Limits for Temporary Minerals Operations) 
recognises the noise limit of 70dB(A) LAeq 1h (free field) for temporary daytime operations 
contained in the nPPG. However, it advises that: (i) increased temporary daytime noise 
limits for periods of up to eight weeks in a year at specified noise sensitive properties 
should be considered to facilitate essential site preparation, restoration works and 
construction of baffle mounds where it is clear it will bring longer term environmental 
benefits; (ii) where work is likely to take longer than eight weeks, lower limits over a longer 
period should be considered; and (iii) in some wholly exceptional cases, where there is no 
viable alternative, a higher limit for a very limited period may be appropriate in order to 
attain the environmental benefits. Table A.2 summarises the noise limits during the day 
and night set out in the nPPG for normal minerals site operations at noise sensitive 
properties.

413. The nearest residential dwellings comprise Thatched House Farm 330 metres to the north 
of the centre of the well site compound, High Billinghurst Farm 390 metres to the south, 
High Loxley 560 metres to the west and the consented residential dwelling at Unit 2, High 
Stovolds Farm 615 metres to the south-east. Thatched House Farm also incorporates a 
number of businesses including sheep farming, organic pig farming, a craft brewery and 
an annual cancer awareness festival held in one weekend in July. However the 2020 
festival has been postponed, potentially until 19th/20th September. Thatched House Farm 
is separated from the proposed well site by ‘The Burchetts’, a woodland block which is the 
subject of a clear-felling licence granted to the landowner. High Billinghurst Farm contains 
an events venue which is permitted to hold up to 50 weddings, funerals and corporate 
hospitality functions per year. 
    

414. The nearest residential communities are Lydia Park and New Acres which comprise a 
traveller site and mobile home park off Stovolds Hill. These are situated around 485 
metres to the east of the centre of the well site compound beyond a mature area of 
woodland, part of which is included within the clear-fell licence. A further 4 applications 
have been permitted for gypsy and traveller accommodation on land to the north and west 
of Lydia Park, the closest being 420 metres to the north-east. The nearest major 
commercial land is situated at Dunsfold Park, approximately 850 metres to the south 
where planning permission exists for the development of a new settlement including 1,800 
new homes including business, educational and community uses.

415. The applicant has submitted a Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) which takes into account 
the potential loss of acoustic attenuation provided by the area of woodland subject to a 
clear-fell licence. Baseline noise sample measurements, covering both critical daytime, 
evening and night time periods, were undertaken over a period of 3 days in April 2018 at 
four locations representative of the nearest noise sensitive receptors (NSRs) to the 
proposed well site. These comprise noise monitoring location (NML) 1: Bridleway north of 

Page 83

7



High Billinghurst Farm; NML 2: near High Loxley; NML 3: land west of Thatched House 
Farm on boundary of adjacent farmland and NML 4: Bridleway south of New Acres 
Caravan Park. The survey was carried out to establish both the background (LA90) sound 
levels, where the values represent those that would be observed over a typical long term 
period, and residual (LAeq) sound levels which are considered to represent a realistic long 
term average. 

416. During the day time (0700-1900 hrs), the highest mean background sound level was found 
at NML 3 where a sound level of 41 LA90(dB) was recorded. The lowest day time sound 
level of 36 LA90(dB) were recorded at both NMLs 1 and 2. During the evening (1900-2200 
hrs), the highest mean background sound level was found at NML 1 where a sound level 
of 32 LA90(dB) was recorded. The lowest evening sound level of 29 LA90(dB) was 
recorded at both NMLs 3 and 4. During the night time, the highest mean background 
sound level was found at NML 4 where a sound level of 25 LA90(dB) was recorded. The 
lowest night time sound level of 22 LA90(dB) was recorded at both NMLs 2 and 3.  

417. The highest log average residual sound level during the day time was found at NMLs 3 
and 4 where a sound level of 47 LAeq(dB) was recorded. The lowest day time average 
residual sound level of 43 LAeq(dB) was recorded at NML 1. During the evening, the 
highest average residual sound level was found at NML 4 where a sound level of 44 
LAeq(dB) was recorded. The lowest evening average residual sound level of 42 LAeq(dB) 
was recorded at both NMLs 1 and 2. During the night time, the highest average residual 
sound level was found at NML 3 where a sound level of 33 LAeq(dB) was recorded. The 
lowest night time average residual sound level of 30 LAeq(dB) was recorded at NML 2. 

418. In terms of background noise, the NIA finds that noise levels across the site are typically 
controlled by distant road traffic and commercial aircraft, particularly those related to 
Gatwick Airport to the east. Activity from race cars at the Top Gear track at Dunsfold Park 
to the south of the site are audible during the daytime period. During the night there are 
reduced road traffic and commercial aircraft activities, although these are still generally 
present. Bird calls and barking dogs become more significant during this period.

419. The NIA is based on a worst case scenario and takes into account: (i) construction noise 
with related activities taking place during the daytime only; (ii) noise from drilling, 
workover, testing and appraisal with related activities taking place over a 24 hour period 
with the night time period therefore being critical to the assessment of noise from these 
activities; and, (iii) the increase in road traffic noise during the daytime period. The nearest 
sensitive receptors assessed in the NIA comprise Thatched House Farm, Lydia Park, High 
Billinghurst Farm, High Loxley, the consented Romani Gypsy site on land west of Lydia 
Park and the consented residential dwelling at Unit 2, High Stovolds Farm.

420. During the access and well site construction (Phase 1), the nearest noise sensitive 
receptor (NSR) to the site entrance would be the two houses on the north side of Dunsfold 
Road, which would typically be as close as 220 metres from the acoustic centre of 
construction activity during this phase. The results, based on a worst case scenario, 
indicate that construction noise levels would be up to LAeq,T 49dB during the daytime 
period. This is comfortably within the daytime noise limit for temporary operations of 70 dB 
as well as the daytime and evening noise limit of 55 dB set out in the nPPG and the Surrey 
Noise Guidelines and can be controlled by condition. As no construction activities are 
proposed during night time hours, there would be no construction related noise during the 
night time period. 

421. The noise level results during Drilling, Testing and Appraisal (Phase 2) have been 
assessed against the night time assessment criteria. As drilling is a 24 hour activity, where 
predicted noise levels are acceptable during the night time period, when assessment 
thresholds are lower (more onerous), they will be acceptable during the day. The NIA 
states that the predicted noise levels at night time from drilling would be 42 dB at Thatched 
House Farm, 39 dB at both High Billinghurst Farm and the consented Romani Gypsy site 

Page 84

7



on land west of Lydia Park, 37 dB at Lydia Park itself, 36 dB at High Loxley and 33 dB at 
the consented residential dwelling at Unit 2, High Stovolds Farm. These noise levels are 
based on a worst case scenario and are in accordance with the night time noise limit set 
out within the nPPG and the Surrey Noise Guidelines and can be controlled by condition.

422. During Testing and Appraisal, the modelling includes additional mitigation in the form of 
temporary acoustic screening within the well site compound and around its boundary. This 
would comprise either an EchoBarrier screen or a Soundex curtain to balance the loss of 
acoustic attenuation that would be lost from the clear-felling of the woodland. The 
screening would include boundary screening in the form of a 4 metre high acoustic screen 
installed on sections of the northern and eastern boundary and bespoke screening in the 
form of a 5 metre high acoustic screen installed around 3 sides of the flare(s).

423. Testing will require the use of either a workover rig, coil tubing unit, or a crane. The 
boundary screening would primarily attenuate the noise emissions of the workover rig, the 
use of which is likely to be restricted to initial flow testing. Extended well testing is likely to 
be performed using a crane with reduced noise emissions compared to a workover rig or a 
coil tubing unit. Accordingly, it is likely that the need for boundary screening would be 
reduced and possibly removed during extended well testing. This would be subject to the 
need to provide bespoke screening for individual plant and equipment components. 

424. Further, the NIA considers that the workover rig would only be operating under full power 
whilst raising and lowering equipment into the well, which would typically occur for up to 15 
minutes in every hour at night time. It also assumes the installation of noise control 
mitigation to the workover rig or coil tubing unit and diesel driven generators. Further, a 
noise mitigation strategy will be adopted to reduce noise from the flare. These measures 
can be secured by condition.        

425. The NIA states that the predicted noise levels at night time from Testing and Appraisal 
would be 42 dB at Thatched House Farm, 41 dB at High Billinghurst Farm and High 
Loxley, 39 dB at Lydia Park and the consented Romani Gypsy site on land west of Lydia 
Park, and 37 dB at the consented residential dwelling at Unit 2, High Stovolds Farm. 
Again, these noise levels are based on a worst case scenario and meets the night time 
noise limits set out within the nPPG and the Surrey Noise Guidelines and can be 
controlled by condition.

426. The highest number of road traffic movements, including the highest number of HGVs, 
would be generated during Phase 2 (Drilling, Testing and Appraisal). This would comprise 
a total of 72 vehicle movements per day comprising 20 HGVs and 52 workers vehicles and 
light commercial vehicle movements. Comparing the baseline and future predicted total 
road traffic flows, the NIA finds that there would be a negligible change in road traffic noise 
levels on Dunsfold Road as a result of the development.

427. The County Noise Consultant was unable to provide technical advice due to a potential 
conflict of interest in relation to their involvement with another site in the vicinity. The 
Borough Council have objected to the application in relation to noise stating that 
construction and operational noise impacts will arise and suitable mitigation has not been 
provided. They also object to the lack of technical information provided on noise 
suggesting that an additional noise survey is required for properties on High Loxley Road 
or Dunsfold Road that are likely to be affected by the proposed junction works. The 
Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has requested that 
the application be refused due to concerns over the impact of noise on nearby residents 
and those expected to move into 1,800 new homes in Dunsfold Park.

428. The Borough Council’s EHO has raised concerns that proposed noise levels are well 
above background sound levels, particularly at night and would impact on local residents. 
The EHO has recommended the imposition of a condition setting noise limits during Phase 
1 (Access and Well Site Construction) of 65 dB LAeq 30 minutes during the daytime and 

Page 85

7



55 dB during the evening. During Phase 2 (Drilling, Testing and Appraisal), the EHO has 
recommended a condition limiting noise levels to those set out in Table A.2 of the Surrey 
Noise Guidelines, which reflect those contained in the nPPG. These comprise a noise limit 
of 55 dB during the daytime and evening and 42 dB at night time. 

429. The EHO advises that operations should be limited to a specified number of weeks (or 
days) during the 3 year period to limit the impact on residents, such as the period specified 
in the application documents. Further, the EHO has also recommended the imposition of 
conditions requiring the submission of a Noise Mitigation Strategy, a Noise Monitoring 
Plan and a Complaints Handling and Liaison Scheme for written approval prior to the 
commencement of the development.

430. The Surrey Gypsy and Travellers Community Forum has advised that they would not 
expect noise to be a major issue on the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller (GRT) population 
living nearby at New Acres and Lydia Park. The Hascombe Estate has raised objection on 
numerous grounds including noise. Dunsfold Parish Council and Waverley Friends of the 
Earth have objected to the application raising concerns in relation to noise with the former 
requesting a noise monitoring condition if the CPA is minded to grant planning permission.

431. A representation received in support of the application has pointed out that the Dunsfold 
(Top Gear) test track neighbours the application site and contributes to local noise 
pollution. This point is acknowledged in the submitted NIA. Representations opposed to 
the application have generally expressed concerns in relation to: the insufficient buffer 
between the site and the nearest dwellings; the proximity to local GRT sites and the 
impact on sensitive uses at Dunsfold Park including the permitted new settlement; taller 
structures including portacabins needing to be placed along the northern perimeter to 
reduce noise on Thatched House Farm following the felling of the woodland which cannot 
be relied upon to provide acoustic attenuation; the need for the NIA to consider British 
Standard BS: 4142 (Method for Rating and Assessing Industrial and Commercial Sound); 
the impact of vibration, including on local heritage properties with weaker structural 
foundations, not being assessed; and, that noise will have a greater impact on the GRT 
community as static caravans have lower noise insulation. 

432. The applicant has stated that the noise modelling assumes a worst case scenario of a 
drilling duration of 12 weeks for each well with 24 hour operations and a testing duration of 
26 weeks and 24 hour operations inclusive of continuous flaring. This represents a very 
cautious approach and experience from Horse Hill and other well sites has established 
that operations are not continuous in time or duration. In addition, activity is intermittent 
and machinery is not always deployed at full capacity / load and flaring is infrequent. 
Further the likely rig to be used will be the BDF 28 (as used at Horse Hill) with the fall back 
being the BDF Rig 51. Only BDF Rig 51 has the option of a ‘top-drive’ which would 
represent the noisiest component on site. However, as a worst case, the modelling 
assumes continuous use of a top drive when in reality, this is unlikely. 

433. Officers accept that the results of the NIA are based on a worst case scenario and are still 
able to demonstrate that with the proposed mitigation measures in place, noise levels will 
remain within acceptable limits as recommended by the Surrey Noise Guidelines. To 
provide greater confidence that the noise limits can be met, the applicant is willing to 
accept conditions requiring a Scheme of Noise Mitigation and a Noise Monitoring Plan to 
be submitted and approved in writing prior to the commencement of the development.

434. As outlined above, the submitted NIA addresses the noise impact of the highway 
improvement works on the nearest noise sensitive receptors and has found these to be 
within acceptable limits. The applicant has stated that the highway improvements works 
necessary at Pratts Corner would be undertaken under a Highway Act Section 278 
Agreement and implemented by a highway contractor approved by Surrey County Council. 
They amount to the temporary widening of the road surface by up to 0.9 metres. They are 
considered to be minor by the applicant who has advised that the works would take less 

Page 86

7



than two days to complete. Consequently, the amenity impact of the works on Gate House 
Cottage which lies on the north side of this junction, would not be significant and are 
considered negligible by the applicant. This impact is considered to be acceptable by 
Officers given the short duration of the works. 

435. Paragraph 021 of the nPPG Minerals chapter recognises that it will not always be possible 
for noise from mineral operations to not exceed the background noise level by more than 
10 dB(A) during normal working hours (0700-1900) without imposing unreasonable 
burdens on the mineral operator. The Surrey Noise Guidelines advise that at night time, 
noise limits should be set to reduce to a minimum any adverse impacts, without imposing 
unreasonable burdens on the mineral operator.

436. The EHO’s recommendations to impose a condition limiting noise during temporary 
operations (0700 hours - 1900 hours) during access and well site construction (Phase 1) 
to 65 dB LAeq 30 minutes and noise during the night time to 42 dB meet the guidelines 
contained in the nPPG and are accepted by Officers. The EHO’s recommended noise limit 
for Phase 1 during the evening (1900 hours - 2200 hours) of 55 dB LAeq 30 minutes is 
considered unnecessary because the applicant is not proposing to carry out such works 
during the evening period. In relation to operations other than temporary, including drilling, 
testing and appraisal (Phase 2), in view of the predicted noise levels set out within the 
submitted NIA, Officers consider that a lower daytime and evening noise limit of 48 dB 
LAeq, 30 minutes would be more appropriate compared to that suggested by the EHO, 
and are confident that such a lower limit could be imposed without placing an 
unreasonable burden on the mineral operator. The applicant has confirmed that these 
proposed noise limits are acceptable.

437. Officers consider that it is unnecessary to impose a noise condition limiting the duration of 
noise from Drilling, Testing and Appraisal. This is because as the estimated duration of 
activities contained in the application represents a worst case scenario, such a condition 
would be unlikely to serve any beneficial purpose. For example, although the application 
proposes a combined period of 24 weeks for the drilling of both the well and the side-track 
well, the applicant has subsequently advised Officers that this very much represents a 
worst case and would be unlikely to occur. To demonstrate this, the applicant has referred 
Officers to a similar scenario at Horse Hill, Horley where it only took a total of 9 weeks to 
drill two wells. However, the actual duration of drilling activities at the application site will 
depend upon the characteristics of the underlying geology. Officers accept that it would be 
sensible to impose conditions requiring the submission of a Noise Mitigation Strategy and 
a Noise Monitoring Plan prior to the commencement of the development. This is given that 
the NIA advises that the noise impact from flaring can be quite variable. However, Officers 
believe that complaints handling can be addressed more appropriately through the 
inclusion of an informative.

438. As the impact on the nearest sensitive receptors has been assessed as being acceptable 
in terms of noise and based on a worst case scenario, any impacts on other GRT sites 
and sensitive uses at Dunsfold Park which are located further away from the well site 
compound would be lower and therefore satisfactory in planning terms. The applicant has 
advised that in the event that the woodland is clear-felled, they would place benign and 
static site cabins, storage and service facilities (i.e. non-operational plant) along the north-
west and north-east boundary to act as an additional acoustic and visual barrier to ensure 
that the effects on Thatched House Farm are made acceptable. In relation to British 
Standard 4142:2014: Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound, 
paragraph 3.11 of the Surrey Noise Guidelines 2020 advises that the criteria is only 
appropriate to assess the noise impacts for sites that do not include mineral extraction. 
However, the proposed development would need to extract gas and/or oil to enable testing 
to take place.

439. Part 4.3 of the applicant’s submitted Screening Request records that activities with the 
potential to cause significant noise and vibration effects are limited to construction (phase 

Page 87

7



1) and drilling, testing and appraisal works (phase 2). Vibration will be contained within the 
well site surface layers during construction enabling rapid dissipation. During drilling, 
vibration arising from a drill bit as it travels through the near-surface geology can 
occasionally be detected on the drill floor (transmission up the drill string) but none of this 
will pass through the ground beyond the confines of the well site. Accordingly, the effects 
of vibration are not expected to give rise to significant adverse impacts.

440. The submitted Planning Statement states at Appendix 4 that it is considered that no 
adverse effects as a result of vibration would result from the above activities and, 
therefore, this element has not been assessed further. Consequently the applicant has 
found no evidence to indicate any adverse environmental effects derived from vibration.

441. Paragraph 3.27 of the Surrey Noise Guidelines 2020 advise that off-site vibration effects 
associated with onshore oil and gas developments are expected to be minimal and further 
consideration should only be necessary if particular sources with high vibration levels may 
be required as for some seismic equipment. Officers have consulted the County Historic 
Buildings Officer (CHBO) who notes that vibration will be limited to the drill floor. The 
CHBO has advised that there is no guidance to support the argument that vibration can 
cause damage to historic buildings in terms of their foundations although masonry arches 
could be affected. The CHBO therefore considers that the potential for damage to listed 
buildings from the airborne sound (and ground vibration) can be discounted. As a 
consequence, Officers do not consider that the imposition of a condition requiring vibration 
impacts to be monitored would be justifiable in this case.                                             

442. It is not accepted that the GRT community would be disproportionately affected in terms of 
noise due to their accommodation being less well insulated. This is because the NIA is 
based on properties having their windows open at night in accordance with World Health 
Organisation (WHO) guidelines. The assumed sound insulation performance of a standard 
house would therefore be comparable to that of a mobile home / static caravan regardless 
of any perceived difference in the specification of sound insulation. Further, the NIA has 
appropriately attributed equal sensitivity to all residential dwellings regardless of their type.

443. The Craft Brewery at Thatched House Farm is situated to the north of the main house. It is 
therefore further away from the well site compound than the main house and closer to 
Dunsfold Road where background noise levels would be expected to be greater. As the 
noise impact on the main house has been found to be acceptable subject to mitigation 
measures, the same is therefore considered to hold true for the Craft Brewery.    

444. The annual Trew Fields Cancer Festival would take place on one weekend a year and was 
scheduled to take place between 6pm on Friday 3 July and 7pm on Sunday 5 July 2020 
until being postponed, potentially until 19th/20th September, due to the COVID 19 
pandemic. It involves some guests camping out over-night in the southern part of the 
grounds close to the northern boundary of The Burchetts woodland. The Festival’s website 
refers to the availability of local air ‘B&Bs for those not wishing to camp although it is 
considered unlikely that sufficient accommodation would be available locally to 
accommodate all of the visitors. The timing of the Festival is mostly outside the main 
operational hours of the well site with the exception of between 0900 to 1300 hours on 
Saturdays. However, it could potentially coincide with the drilling, testing and appraisal 
phase, most of which comprises a 24 hour operation including Sunday and Bank Holidays. 
The operator may have scope to limit disturbance during this period if sufficient prior notice 
is provided.

445. The original planning application for the events venue at High Billinghurst Farm was 
supported by an acoustic assessment to ensure that music playing within the converted 
barn would not have an unacceptable noise impact on the amenity of the nearest sensitive 
receptors. It is therefore considered that the venue is likely to provide a high degree of 
noise insulation which would limit potential disturbance from outside external noise 
sources. The events venue is also situated close to the main house where, based on a 

Page 88

7



worst case scenario, the noise impact has been demonstrated to be acceptable subject to 
mitigation.

446. Officers acknowledge that the proposal would have some adverse noise impacts on 
existing businesses within the vicinity of the site. At the same time, Officers are mindful of 
the significant weight attributed to the need for the proposed development which is 
considered to be in the national and wider public interest. Officers have liaised with the 
applicant with regard to these concerns. In response, the applicant has confirmed that they 
would be willing to have particular regard for the residents and businesses that neighbour 
the site, particularly Thatched House Farm to the north and High Billinghurst Farm to the 
south. In this respect, the applicant accepts the need to liaise with neighbours to ensure 
the impacts of the development are minimised and maintained at acceptable levels. 
Officers therefore propose to include an informative to this effect.  

Conclusion

447. The submitted NIA demonstrates that assuming a worst case scenario, and subject to the 
provision of mitigation measures, noise levels at the nearest sensitive receptors can be 
kept within recommended limits as set out in the nPPG and the Surrey Noise Guidelines 
2020 during the day time, evening and night time. This is based on an assessment of 
noise levels at the six nearest sensitive receptors resulting from road traffic, access and 
well site construction (Phase 1) and drilling, testing and appraisal (Phase 2). Appropriate 
noise limits can be secured by condition. The applicant has made a commitment to submit 
a Noise Mitigation Strategy and a Noise Monitoring Plan for written approval prior to the 
commencement of the development to provide confidence that the noise limits will be met. 
Officers acknowledge that the proposal will result in some adverse noise impacts, 
including on local businesses, given the relatively low levels of background noise in the 
locality. However subject to the proposed mitigation measures and the imposition of 
conditions, Officers are satisfied that the development will be able to operate within the 
recommended noise limits and would not give rise to a significant adverse noise impact. 
For these reasons, Officers consider that the development complies with the relevant 
development plan requirements.

Lighting

448. NPPF paragraph 180 states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects of pollution 
on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity 
of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so 
they should limit the impact of pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically 
dark landscapes and nature conservation.

449. The Light Pollution chapter of the nPPG states at paragraph 002 that where necessary, 
development proposed in the vicinity of existing activities may need to put suitable 
mitigation measures in place to avoid those activities having a significant adverse effect on 
residents or users of the proposed scheme. Paragraph 003 explains that light intrusion 
occurs when the light ‘spills’ beyond the boundary of the area being lit. For example, light 
spill can result in safety impacts related to the impairment or distraction of people (e.g. 
when driving vehicles), health impacts arising from impaired sleep, cause annoyance to 
people, compromise an existing dark landscape and/or adversely affect natural systems 
including plants, animals, insects and aquatic life. However, these adverse effects can 
usually be avoided with careful lamp and luminaire selection and positioning.

450. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of illumination. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that 
development will not be permitted where it would result in material detriment to the 
environment by virtue of loss of general amenity, including disturbance resulting from the 
emission of light and potential pollution of air land and water including that arising from 

Page 89

7



light pollution. WBLP ‘saved’ Policy D2 seeks to ensure that proposed and existing land 
uses are compatible and that development which may have a materially detrimental 
impact on sensitive uses with regard to environmental disturbance or pollution will not be 
permitted.

451. The applicant has submitted a Lighting Assessment in support of the application. This is 
based on the drilling phase of the development in order to represent the worst case 
scenario. It is during this phase that the effects from lighting would be at their greatest due 
to: a) the 24 hour nature of operations during this phase; b) this phase would involve 
lighting of the tallest structure that would be present during the development; and c) the 
number of luminaires will be at their maximum.

452. The assessment has been informed by the carrying out of detailed pre- and post-mitigation 
3D modelling of the proposed lighting scheme and calculations of pre- and post-mitigation 
light trespass and glare at 7 residential receptors, ‘sky-glow’ for the lighting installation and 
light spill at ecological receptors. Further, both the pre- and post-mitigation light levels at 
residential receptors and light spill levels at ecological receptors have been compared with 
national guideline levels and the adopted criteria respectively.

453. The assessment states that it has been demonstrated that the proposed development will 
be compliant with the Institute of Lighting Professionals (ILP) 2011 Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction of Obtrusive Light for Residential Receptors. Specifically, the levels of obtrusive 
light are compliant with the criteria as set out for ILP Environmental Zone E2 for residential 
receptors outside the AONB and for ILP Environmental Zone E1 for residential receptors 
within the AONB. It also states that it has been demonstrated that the proposed 
development will be compliant with the proposed ecological lighting criteria within the 
formed ‘dark corridor’. Specifically, the levels of light spill to the ‘dark corridor’ are 
compliant with the proposed 1 lux (average) and 3 lux (maximum) criteria.

454. In order to achieve both the ILP obtrusive light criteria and the ecological light spill criteria, 
the assessment states that it will be necessary to implement the following mitigation 
measures:

  rotate all derrick luminaires orientated in the vertical plane, such that they become 
orientated in the horizontal plane;

  aim all derrick luminaires downwards and not ‘inwards/outwards’;
  change the uplift angle of lighting tower luminaires to 0° generally and -2.5° for 

specific luminaires affecting residential receptor RES-07 (Grubbins Farm);
  change the aim angle of specific lighting tower luminaires affecting RES-07;
   replace the dome luminaires with LED low bay luminaires;
  reduce the uplift angle of cabin-mounted floodlights to 30° generally and 0° for specific 

luminaires affecting RES-07;
  replace the 2 x 36 W fluorescent linear luminaires with LED equivalents with a suitable 

downwards light distribution;
     install 1000 x 1350 mm galvanised sheet steel hoods over all linear luminaires. Where 

the linear luminaire is fixed up against a vertical surface then the dimensions of the 
hood may be reduced down to 500 x 1350 mm; and

  aim the luminaires associated with the floodlight tower to the north-east corner of the 
well site compound away from the woodland boundary i.e. rotated away from the 
north.

455. The Lighting Assessment has found that provided the mitigation measures as set out in 
this report are adopted across all work phases where applicable, then compliance with 
national guidelines for the control of obtrusive light will be achieved. The assessment also 
includes both pre- and post-mitigation lighting layout plans which includes a schedule of 
the luminaires used and a plan showing their location, the type of luminaire used, their 
height and uplift angle.

Page 90

7



456. The County Lighting Consultant has advised that: a comprehensive report and lighting 
scheme have been submitted with calculations and rendered images; the lux contour lines 
demonstrate minimum light spillage from the designed lighting scheme; the calculations 
demonstrate light trespass and perceived glare to be within acceptable limits to the 
neighbouring Thatched House Farm; and that as the lighting calculation package cannot 
model the obstructive nature of the woodland, the calculations represent a worst case 
scenario of no screening.

457. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection due to a requirement for a more detailed 
assessment of the potential visual impacts of lighting to be provided including further 
information from a lighting engineer on the effects of different types of lighting in mitigating 
any effects. Further the Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Sustainability has requested that the application be refused due to concerns over the 
impact of light on nearby residents and those expected to move into 1,800 new homes in 
Dunsfold Park. The Borough Council EHO has recommended a planning condition to 
control lighting and both the EHO and Natural England have advised that that the 
proposed mitigation measures be secured by condition.   

458. Dunsfold Parish Council has objected to the development expressing concern that the 
impact of light on the traveller site in Stovolds Hill does not appear to have been 
considered. Alfold Parish Council has raised objection to the proposal stating that light 
pollution contravenes NPPF paragraph 180(c) in respect of visibility and intrusion into a 
protected landscape in an area that residents value for its dark skies. Cranleigh Parish 
Council strongly object due to the impact of light pollution amongst other issues.

459. Representations objecting to the proposal have raised concerns over: the significant 
impact of light pollution on wildlife such as bats; 24 hour working with artificial lighting and 
flaring of gas being contrary to the ILP sky-guide criteria for the AONB; NPPF paragraph 
180 requiring the impact of light pollution from artificial light to be limited; the area 
benefiting from dark skies at night; and the need for taller structures such as portacabins 
to be placed along the northern perimeter to reduce lighting impacts on Thatched House 
Farm following the felling of the woodland.

460. Officers note that the County Lighting Consultant has found the submitted Lighting 
Assessment to be acceptable, including the impact on Thatched House Farm. This 
demonstrates that subject to mitigation, the impact of glare on sensitive receptors 
including gypsy and traveller sites can be suitably controlled. In addition, the gas flares will 
be shrouded preventing any impacts from light pollution. The Lighting Assessment 
acknowledges the requirements of Government Policy set out in NPPF paragraph 180 in 
relation to local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation. Subject to 
proposed mitigation, the assessment finds the impact on residential receptors, both within 
and outside the AONB, and ‘sky-glow’ to be compliant with the relevant criteria contained 
in the ILP Guidance Notes. In terms of the impact of light spill on ecological receptors, the 
Lighting Assessment has found this to be compliant with the adopted criteria with the 
proposed mitigation measures in place. 

461. Under the circumstances, Officers consider that it would be prudent to ensure that the 
proposed mitigation measures are secured by condition. Further in order to control the 
impact of lighting, Officers consider that an additional condition should be imposed 
requiring operational lighting to be installed in accordance with the submitted Post-
Mitigation Scheme of Lighting Layout Plan, all lighting required for operations and 
maintenance to be locally switched and manually operated on an ‘as required’ basis, and, 
luminaires over the cabin/stores doors to be controlled by ‘presence detection’.

Conclusion

462. The applicant has submitted a detailed Lighting Assessment which has been found to be 
acceptable by the County Lighting Consultant. Subject to the imposition of conditions to 

Page 91

7



secure the implementation of the proposed mitigation measures listed in the assessment, 
and to control the installation and use of operational lighting, Officer are satisfied that the 
proposal would not have a significant adverse impact in terms of light trespass or glare on 
residential receptors, the level of ‘sky-glow’ or light spill on ecological receptors. As a 
consequence, the proposed lighting scheme would not have a significant adverse impact 
and complies with the relevant development plan policies relating to illumination.      

Water Environment

463. With regard to surface water management, the main principle with regard to policies on 
flood protection is that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be 
avoided by directing development away from areas at high risk. At paragraph 163 the 
NPPF states that when determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure that flood-risk is not increased elsewhere. All sites in Flood Zone 1 over one 
hectare should be supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). Development should 
only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this assessment (applying 
the sequential and exceptions tests as applicable), it can be demonstrated that: within the 
site the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk: the 
development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient; it incorporates sustainable 
drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence this would be inappropriate; any residual 
risk can be safely managed; and, safe access and escape routes are included where 
appropriate.

464. In terms of groundwater NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing new and 
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 
adversely affected by unacceptable levels of water pollution. Wherever possible, 
development should help to improve local environmental conditions such as water quality 
taking into account relevant information such as river basin management plans.

465. NPPF paragraph 183 states that the focus of planning policies and decisions should be on 
whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of 
processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). 
Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.

466. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of flood risk, water quality and land drainage. In 
relation to mitigating and adapting to the impacts of climate change, LPP1 Policy CC1 
supports development that includes measures to provide appropriate flood storage 
capacity, address issues of flood risk and use sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) to 
help reduce surface water run-off. Policy CC4 of the LPP1 aims to reduce the overall and 
local risk of flooding by ensuring development is located, designed and laid out to ensure 
that it is safe; that the risk from flooding is minimised whilst not increasing the risk of 
flooding elsewhere; and that residual risks are safely managed. The policy requires SuDS 
for major developments and encourages them for smaller schemes. It also requires no 
increase in the volume or rate of surface water run-off leaving the site and no property or 
highway flooding, off-site, for up to the 1 in 100 year storm return period, including an 
allowance for climate change.

467. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be permitted where it would 
result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of loss or damage to important 
environmental assets such as local watercourses and potential pollution of water. To limit 
environmental impacts, the Policy explains that the Council may include the submission of 
a flood-risk / run-off assessment to determine the potential flood risk to the development, 
the likely effects of the development on flood risk to others, whether mitigation is 
necessary, and if so, whether it is likely to be effective and acceptable.

Surface Water Management

Page 92

7



468. The well site is located in Flood Zone 1 (very low probability of flooding). As the site is 
greater than 1 hectare, the submission of an FRA is required. The well site will comprise 
two areas: a contained well pad area where the drilling and testing of the exploratory well 
will take place and an area for car parking and cabins/offices.
 

469. The well pad area will incorporate a surface water containment and drainage system with 
a very low permeability high density polyethylene (HDPE) liner, granular working platform 
and surface water drainage system. The HDPE liner forms a tertiary containment system 
to ensure surface water at the site can be appropriately managed and that groundwater is 
protected. The surface water drainage system will be designed to manage and contain 
surface water run-off generated on the well pad. Surface water containment at the well 
pad area has been designed to accommodate a 1 in 100 year storm event plus 40% for 
climate change. The drainage system will be subject to a maintenance plan including daily 
and weekly inspections of all drainage elements.

470. The well pad area will act as a closed ‘hydrologically contained area’ whereby rainfall will 
drain through the compacted stone surface of the granular working platform and run along 
the HDPE liner into the covered containment drain. As part of the well site design, there 
will be no drainage outfall from the well pad drainage system to the surrounding 
environment; all surface water run-off from the well pad will be collected in the 
containment drain and removed off-site by road tankers to an approved waste 
disposal/treatment facility. The operational procedure at the sealed well pad will be to keep 
the containment drain and platform area empty (dry). All run-off will be contained within the 
well pad by a 160 mm high containment kerb located around the edge of the platform and 
the HDPE liner system will be tied into the rear of this kerb. The surface area of the 
platform to the crest of the containment kerb provides a storage capacity of approximately 
944 m3.

471. Within the hardstanding or ‘unsealed’ area of the well site (low risk of contamination), 
surface water will run-off to the ground adjacent to the well site given that the unsealed 
area is small and run-off will be low. The access track will have a crossfall in one direction 
so that surface run-off is directed to the adjacent ground. Surface run-off draining to the 
edges of the track from the surrounding farmland up-gradient will be captured by a filter 
trench/drain which will run along the ‘high side’ of the track. Run-off collected within the 
filter drain will be discharged via 300 mm diameter pipes to the ‘low side’ of the track to 
allow run-off to pass downstream. From these points, run-off will drain following the 
existing pathways; eventually reaching local watercourses.

472. The applicant has submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) in support of the application 
which takes account of Government policy and guidance set out in the NPPF and nPPG. 
The well site is situated wholly within Flood Zone 1 (less than a 1 in 1,000 year [0.1%] 
annual chance of flooding from rivers and the sea). The proposal is classified as ‘less 
vulnerable’ development, in accordance with paragraph 066 (Table 2: Flood risk 
vulnerability classification) of the nPPG Flood Risk and Coastal Change Chapter, with its 
activities focused on the exploration and appraisal of gas and oil with associated 
infrastructure and facilities. The nPPG explains that ‘less vulnerable’ development is 
appropriate within Flood Zone 1.

473. Waverley Borough Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) indicates that the 
site has not been impacted by flooding in the past. The application site is located on 
relatively high ground and does not lie in a zone of flood risk or where previous flooding 
has occurred from the River Wey and its tributaries. Further, the FRA explains that the EA 
Flood Map for Surface Water shows the site to be generally at very low risk from surface 
water flooding. Although there are two small depressions in the north-eastern half of the 
site which have a high risk of surface water flooding, the proposal will create a level 
working platform that will prevent surface water ponding from occurring. Consequently, the 
FRA finds that the risk of flooding from surface water is low and surface water run-off will 

Page 93

7



be managed in accordance with the proposed drainage scheme. Water collected in the 
lined well pad area will be removed from the site by tanker to an approved disposal facility. 

474. The FRA also finds that there is no risk of tidal flooding, the overall risk from pluvial 
flooding to and from the site as well as flooding from public sewers and roads is low, the 
existing risk of groundwater flooding is very low, there is no risk of flooding from artificial 
water bodies, the risk of flooding from well site activity is mitigated by the storage available 
in the containment drain on the well site and the risk of flooding post-restoration is the 
same as that pre-development.

Groundwater

475. The applicant has submitted a Hydrogeological Risk Assessment (HRA) in support of the 
application. This identifies a number of hazards including: flushing of contaminated soils 
during construction and restoration works; spillage of fuels and lubricants used by plant 
and equipment; creation of vertical pathways during construction of well cellars, ratholes2 
and mouseholes3, groundwater monitoring boreholes and underground storage tanks; loss 
of drilling muds, additives, cement grout and well treatment fluids during drilling and 
workover operations, spillage / leakage of recovered hydrocarbons, produced water 
containing Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM), chemicals stored at or 
transported to/from the site; migration of natural gases, hydrocarbons and produced water 
containing NORM from deep formations; well casing failure and leakage of well treatment 
fluids, natural gases and hydrocarbons produced containing NORM water from the 
wellbore; and spillage / leakage of foul water and sewage from staff facilities.

476. The assessment identifies a number of receptors that have the potential to be impacted on 
from these hazards including drainage channels to the north of the site, streams to the 
east of the site, secondary aquifers, potential local unregistered private water supplies and 
Jurassic strata containing formation water with no resource value. Source Pathway 
Receptor (SPR) linkages have been assessed with potential pollutant linkages being 
shown to exist with all of these receptors. Where pathways are not considered to exist, 
these have been justified in the HRA.

477. The HRA includes a risk assessment based on each of the identified hazards. This 
considers the significance of a hazard occurring, based on receptor sensitivity and 
magnitude of impact. The likelihood of a hazard occurring has been assigned taking 
account of the embedded mitigation within the proposal. Each phase of the development 
incorporates specific mitigation features designed to either break the pathway between 
potential sources of pollution and receptors and/or reduce the likelihood of occurrence of 
hazards occurring. Mitigation measures will be prescribed through the environmental 
permitting process and the effectiveness of the mitigation will be demonstrated through a 
scheme of groundwater and surface water monitoring that will be agreed with the EA as 
part of that process.

478. The results of the risk assessment are summarised in Table 8 of the HRA. The results find 
that all the risks reduce to low, very low or none and that risks can be further reduced to 
very low or none through the application of 26 additional mitigation measures set out in 
Table 7 of the HRA. Further, all of the water bearing formations beneath the site are 
considered to be at low risk. These findings reflect the high level of embedded mitigation 
that is incorporated into the design of the well site and the construction and management 
of the wells.

479. The applicant has also submitted a Groundwater Risk Assessment for Thatched House 
Farm. This assesses the risk posed to a water well situated around 325 metres to the 

2 A hole in the rig floor.
3 A mousehole is a hole 7-10cm in diameter located near the rotary table on the V door side of the drill 
floor. It stored a vertical joint of drill pipe until needed.

Page 94

7



north of the centre of the well site compound. The water well is currently used for the 
irrigation of garden produce and livestock watering at the farm. A qualitative risk analysis 
undertaken by the applicant shows that all risks to the private water supply at Thatched 
House Farm from the proposed development are very low or none when the embedded 
mitigation in the site design and operation is considered. Further the applicant states that 
additional mitigation measures presented in Table 2 of the report will be considered to 
reduce the risks to the lowest possible level.

480. The EA have reviewed the application with respect to the risk to controlled waters (surface 
and groundwater) and have raised no objection subject to the imposition of a condition 
requiring a scheme to dispose of surface water and trade effluent to be submitted for 
approval prior to the commencement of the development. The EA have advised that the 
site is located on weald clay formation which is primarily designated as unproductive 
strata. This formation contains bands of more permeable sandstone which are classed as 
secondary A aquifer. Though not of strategic significance, they may support base flow in 
local watercourses or be utilised for small scale abstraction. 

481. The EA agree with the identification of the head waters which eventually flow into the River 
Wey as being at potentially the highest risk with respect to shallow controlled waters. They 
advise that these would need sufficient protection with respect to surface water 
management. Nevertheless the EA accept that no principal aquifers, widespread 
secondary aquifers or source protection zones are present. They add that environmental 
permits will be required involving additional assessments of the risks to controlled waters 
(including deep underground waterbodies) and the detailed design of issues.

482. In relation to the submitted HRA, the EA have made a number of observations which will 
require resolution at the environmental permitting stage. This will require the provision of 
further evidence, assessment work, design details and clarification in order to address the 
detailed points outlined in their response.

483. In terms of the submitted Groundwater Risk Assessment for Thatched House Farm, the 
EA has advised that they are satisfied that sufficient information has been provided to 
confirm that there are no inherently unacceptable risks. They also state that any residual 
risks to local abstractions will be controlled through the Environmental Permit.

484. The County Geotechnical Consultant (CGC) has provided detailed advice in respect of: (i) 
environmental protection and pollution control with regard to liner inspection; (ii) 
groundwater protection in relation to additives used during the workover operations, 
private water supplies, shallow aquifers and groundwater monitoring wells; and, (iii) flood 
risk and drainage in terms of the access track, the non-sealed hardstanding area (for 
parking etc.) and the sealed drilling platform. The advice includes the imposition of a 
number of suggested planning conditions. The advice provided by the CGC has been 
shared with both the EA and the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). The EA has 
confirmed that most of the issues raised by the CGC will be addressed as part of the 
environmental permitting process. These include the issues raised by the CGC in respect 
of liner inspection and all matters raised in relation to groundwater protection.

485. As a consequence, the CGC considers that the HFRA provides an objective and balanced 
assessment of the risk to groundwater / hydrogeology, and if the mitigation measures are 
adopted as described, then any residual risk should be negligible, or at an acceptably low 
level. Therefore, in line with government policy contained in the NPPF, Officers are 
satisfied that there is no need to duplicate those matters covered by other regulators, such 
as the EA in this case, as part of the planning process. 

486. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has reviewed the surface water drainage strategy 
and assessed it against the requirements of the NPPF, its accompanying nPPG and the 
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). They are 
satisfied that the proposed drainage scheme meets the requirements set out within these 

Page 95

7



documents and are content with the development proposed subject to the imposition of 
two planning conditions to ensure that the SuDS Scheme is properly implemented and 
maintained throughout the lifetime of the development.

487. These two conditions would require the submission of details of the design of a surface 
water drainage scheme prior to the commencement of the development and the 
submission of a verification report prior to the commencement of drilling, testing and 
appraisal to ensure that the drainage system has been constructed as per the agreed 
scheme. Officers are satisfied that these measures can be secured by condition and note 
that these requirements would adequately address the condition recommended by the EA 
requiring the submission of a scheme to dispose of surface water and trade effluent. In 
terms of the CGC’s advice on flood risk and drainage, the LLFA has subsequently 
confirmed that they would agree with the advice provided and have stated that their 
recommended planning conditions will pick up on the points raised. The CGC has seen 
the LLFA’s recommended planning conditions and advised that these are suitable to cover 
the aspects they have advised on.    
     

488. No views have been received from Thames Water. Waverley Borough Council has raised 
objection to the application due to the lack of sufficient technical information on major 
accidents including spillage and contamination, and hydrogeology. They have stated that 
consideration should be given to upgrading the drainage system outside the main 
compound area to an impermeable surface and that there should be more consideration of 
the potential impacts on shallow groundwater present and the connectivity to an identified 
spring 1 km from the site. They also object due to the need to consider site drainage and 
impacts of operations on ground water and provision for mitigation. The Borough Council’s 
Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has requested that the application be 
refused due to the inadequate assessment of the impacts on hydrology including the 
disposal of waste water and potential run-off.

489. Witley Parish Council has objected to the proposal due to concerns about the effect on 
local water courses. The Hascombe Estate has raised objection to the proposal stating 
that the design for safe surface water drainage is inadequate and recommend a planning 
condition to provide adequate water protocols in the event that planning permission is 
granted.

490. A large number of representations have been received objecting to the development due 
to concerns over the impact on the water environment. These relate to: the need to 
address the risk to surrounding aquifers and private water supplies at Thatched House 
Farm; the impact on the well at Thatched House Farm used for animal drinking water, 
irrigation of vegetables, and suitable for human consumption if filtered; the impact on a 
borehole in the process of being sunk to provide water for the craft brewery business at 
Thatched House Farm; challenges to the assertions made in the Groundwater Risk 
Assessment for Thatched House Farm; the pollution caused to the water table and 
aquifers; the impact of boreholes on the environment; the proposal being contrary to EA 
guidance on the protection of groundwater; contamination caused by rupturing of borehole 
casing and grout seals; run-off will not be contained during extreme weather; toxic run-off 
into local water table; the contamination of a source protect zone; the need for a condition 
for adequate water management; deficiencies in the Hydrogeological and Flood Risk 
Assessment; concern over the ability of the mains water supply to cope and the disposal 
of contaminated water; need for more information on volume of water required, how it will 
be sourced and where contaminated water will be managed; and the proposed design not 
being able to cater for this being a zero-discharge site as outflow is too low.

491. The applicant has submitted a detailed Hydrogeological and Flood Risk Assessment in 
support of the proposal. The FRA reflects national planning policy and guidance contained 
in the NPPF and nPPG and finds that the risks from the various types of flooding are either 
low, very low, none, will be mitigated or are capable of being managed. The HRA identifies 
a number of potential hazards and receptors that have the potential to be impacted by 

Page 96

7



pollution and contamination. Each potential hazard has been separately risk assessed 
taking embedded mitigation into account and the risks have been found to be low, very low 
or none. The FRA and HRA have been independently assessed by the EA, the LLFA and 
the CGC and found to be acceptable subject to the imposition of conditions. In addition, 
further mitigation measures will be prescribed through the environmental permitting 
process and the effectiveness of the mitigation will be demonstrated through a scheme of 
groundwater and surface water monitoring to be agreed with the EA.

492. A representation has been received supported by a Hydrogeological Report prepared by 
Graham Warren which contests the acceptability of the application in respect of the impact 
on the water environment. The report, and fault line diagram contained within it, casts 
doubt on the environmental impact of the proposed drilling operation which is a cause of 
considerable concern to residents of surrounding properties given the ‘potentially 
disastrous and irreversible implications’. The report has been shared with the EA. They 
have advised that the report relates to shale gas exploration by fracturing under high 
pressure rather than conventional exploration as is being proposed by the applicant. The 
report is also focused on the risk to principal aquifers such as the chalk, and greensand 
that in many cases will overly the Weald Clay. However, the EA confirms that these 
aquifers are not present at Loxley, or anywhere in the vicinity. As such, the EA concludes 
that the report does not really have any bearing on this application.

493. The same representation raises concern over the impact on groundwater and water 
returning to the surface possibly including excessive levels of naturally occurring 
radioactive material (NORM). The EA has advised that Section 4.1.4 of the applicant’s 
submitted Waste Management Plan refers to an exclusion that can be applied for the use 
of a dilute acid wash at depth within a borehole to remove small quantities of debris. The 
EA has stated that this is quite a common practice after a borehole has been drilled and 
that the operator may seek to do this at depth in the borehole. As a result, nothing will be 
discharged to the environment at the surface. Further, Section 4.1.5 refers to water 
returned to the surface from the deep aquifers, which may contain elevated chemicals and 
NORMS. The EA has explained that this water, as with other water returned to the 
surface, will be tankered away and will not be discharged to the local environment. As a 
consequence the EA has confirmed that this does not affect their response to the 
application.

494. The representation also raises concern that the HRA demonstrates that the land slopes 
towards the north, draining into the Burchett’s woodland and towards Thatched House 
Farm, thus subjecting the existing and future wells, existing ponds and future borehole to 
the threat of contamination. The EA has responded saying that they recognise that surface 
water will drain toward the north and that water from site operations will be tankered away 
rather than disposed to the local environment. The EA has stated that they are seeking 
robust reassurances from the applicant regarding any pollution controls, and safeguards to 
demonstrate adherence to these controls and have again clarified that this does not affect 
their overall response.

495. The EA has also advised that monitoring of shallow groundwater is likely to be required as 
part of the environmental permit to verify that there will be no impact to any nearby surface 
sandstone bands present beneath the site. The details and design of the monitoring will be 
set out and agreed through the environmental permit. Monitoring points would need to be 
located and designed to capture any potential plausible groundwater receptors. If any 
impact to groundwater was noted, appropriate action would be required through controls 
on the environmental permit to ensure that any potential receptors were protected. Any 
additional details of site design, operations, controls and safeguards will also be required 
in association with the environmental permit application.

496. In relation to a further representation received supported by a ‘second’ Hydrogeological 
Report to challenge the findings of the applicant’s submitted Groundwater Risk 
Assessment for Thatched House Farm, the EA has reviewed the information provided and 

Page 97

7



confirmed that this does not alter their position on the planning application. They add that it 
is important to note that the presence of a groundwater body, which has associated 
utilisation, will not automatically preclude an oil and gas development. However, they 
would need to be satisfied that sufficient safeguards were in place to manage any risks 
and this will be addressed through the environmental permitting process.

Conclusion

497. The submitted FRA and HRA has found the application to be acceptable concluding that 
the impacts on surface water management and groundwater are low, very low or none, will 
be mitigated or are capable of being managed. The EA, LLFA and CGC have assessed 
the reports and found the impacts to be acceptable in planning terms subject to the 
imposition of conditions for the protection of groundwater and surface water. The EA has 
also confirmed that additional measures to safeguard the water environment will be 
included as part of the environmental permitting process. Officers consider that subject to 
the imposition of conditions, the impacts on the water environment are satisfactory and will 
not result in a significant adverse impact and accord with the relevant development plan 
policies in this respect.      

Geotechnical Issues

498. NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing soils and preventing new and 
existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being 
adversely affected by unacceptable levels of soil pollution or land instability. Paragraph 
178 requires planning policies and decisions to ensure that: (a) a site is suitable for its 
proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination. This includes risks arising from natural hazards or former 
activities such as mining, and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation (as 
well as potential impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation); (b) 
after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as 
contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and, (c) 
adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person is available to 
inform these assessments. NPPF paragraph 179 states that where a site is affected by 
contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests 
with the developer and/or landowner.

499. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of the use, quality and integrity of land and soil 
resources and land stability. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be 
permitted where it would result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of 
potential pollution of air, land or water, including that arising from the storage and use of 
hazardous substances. ‘Saved’ Policy RD9 of the WBLP states that development will not 
be permitted on all grades of agricultural land which would result in the fragmentation of 
agricultural or horticultural holdings so as to seriously undermine the economic viability of 
the remaining holding.

500. The applicant has submitted a Civil Engineering Design Statement in support of the 
development. This includes a Geotechnical Site Investigation Report which has assessed 
ground conditions (topsoil), groundwater, the chemical testing of soils and the 
geochemical testing of soils. In relation to civil engineering, the design philosophy adopted 
seeks to avoid adverse impacts where practicable, maximise economic benefits and 
minimise residual harm. 

501. The design and construction make-up of the well site platform takes into account the 
anticipated traffic / vehicle loads and well site equipment loads proposed by the applicant. 
The platform design includes both the platform and hardstanding areas where the drilling 
rig / equipment and cabin equipment / car parking / site access is located as well as the 

Page 98

7



access track to the wellsite. The well site area itself includes a ‘sealed’ area where the 
drilling rig and equipment is located and an ‘unsealed’ hardstanding area where the cabin 
equipment, car parking and site access is located.

502. The width of the access track is 4.1 metres wide with widened corners and 3 passing 
bays. The first is near the north-western end with the other 2 near the bends along the 
length of the track. For all of the proposed access track and platform construction, if any 
archaeological works are undertaken, all backfilling to trenching works will be suitably 
compacted. Ongoing vehicle loads on either the access track or platform shall be 
distributed over a larger area thus reducing any impacts on potential archaeological 
findings.

503. The liner system shall be installed fully in accordance with the guidelines contained in the 
EA document LFE4 - Earthworks in Landfill Engineering and specifically Chapter 6 - 
Construction Quality Assurance (CQA). The largest differences from general civil 
engineering practice in this document is that a more rigorous independent verification 
scheme known as Construction Quality Assurance (CQA) has to be used. This is required 
for aspects of construction for which failure could cause a significant increase in 
environmental risk. The lining system must be robust and will be constructed to the highest 
engineering standards to provide short, medium and long term environmental protection.

504. The County Geotechnical Consultant (CGC) has provided detailed advice in respect of: (i) 
environmental protection and pollution control with regard to the containment membrane, 
pre- and post-development geochemical testing and liner inspection; (ii) groundwater 
protection; (iii) flood risk and drainage; (iv) land stability in relation to the earthwork slopes 
and foundation and platform stability; (v) soil resources; (vi) waste management; and, (vii) 
construction quality assurance (CQA). The advice recommends the imposition of a 
number of planning conditions. Issues concerning the advice relating to liner inspection, 
groundwater protection and flood risk and drainage are addressed in the above section on 
the Water Environment.

505. In terms of the containment membrane, the CGC has advised that about 1/6th of the area of 
the drilling compound is not lined with the impermeable containment system and that this 
is satisfactory provided the unlined area is only use for car parking and cabins as shown 
on submitted drawing ref: ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-08 Rev 1 dated December 2019. The CGC 
has recommended the imposition of a planning condition to ensure that there is no HGV 
parking, storage of consumables, fuel, process chemicals and no mechanical or electrical 
plant is located within this area. The EA has advised that they agree and support this 
position. Officers are satisfied that this can be addressed through the imposition of a 
suitably worded planning condition.

506. The CGC has advised that the submitted Civil Engineering Design Statement (Appendix 1) 
contains the results of ground investigation and geochemical soil testing with the aim of 
establishing the pre-development geochemical baseline against which any post- 
development pollution may be assessed and dealt with before restoration of the site. The 
CGC has identified a number of limitations with the work undertaken to establish the 
baseline and has advised that this should be addressed by a suitably worded planning 
condition similar to those imposed on other similar permissions for hydrocarbon well sites 
elsewhere in the county. The EA has advised that this recommendation is reasonable. 
Officers are satisfied that this can be addressed through the imposition of conditions 
requiring the submission to the CPA for written approval of a Pre-development Baseline 
Geochemical Testing Report prior to the commencement of the development, and a Post-
development Geochemical Inspection and Testing Report, prior to the commencement of 
restoration works. Should any soil contamination be identified at the decommissioning 
stage, the Post-development Geochemical Inspection and Testing Report would require a 
plan to be submitted setting out how this would be remediated.

Page 99

7



507. In relation to land stability and the new cut and fill earthwork slopes to be created to 
provide a level working platform, the CGC has advised that there has been no 
consideration of the stability of such slopes. Instability could affect the integrity of the 
impermeable membrane liner and give rise to a health and safety hazard. The CGC has 
therefore recommended the imposition of a condition requiring the submission of a 
Stability Assessment Report (SAR), prior to the application being determined, which 
should also address the stability of the restored landform after restoration. For the earth fill 
slopes, the CGC has advised that the applicant will need to consider the compaction 
properties and earthworks specification for the new fill to enable the characteristic values 
of geotechnical parameters to be derived and to enable slope design and assessment to 
be undertaken. Consideration will also need to be given to the characteristic value of 
groundwater level used in the analysis. 

508. With regard to foundation and platform stability, the CGC has advised that the applicant 
has not considered the occasional fully saturated condition of the granular sub-base of the 
working platform, settlement, or that the compound will be constructed partly on natural 
undisturbed ground and partly on fill. In relation to the saturation of the sub-base and the 
effect on stability, whilst the applicant has stated that the integrity of the Type 1 granular 
sub-base material used to create load bearing surfaces is not compromised during periods 
of saturation, the CGC has stated that no justification or analysis has been provided to 
support this. The CGC therefore considers that a further geotechnical submission on 
Platform and Foundation Stability is required, including the effect of saturation of the sub-
base, settlement, and the platform being part constructed on undisturbed ground and part 
constructed on new fill, and that this could be addressed through a suitably worded pre-
commencement condition.

509. Officers have reviewed the advice provided by the CGC and consider that the 
requirements for both a SAR and additional technical information on foundation and 
platform stability should form part of a Construction Environment Management Plan 
(CEMP). Officers are satisfied that this can be secured by the imposition of a condition 
requiring the submission of a CEMP to the CPA for written approval prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

510. In relation to soil resources, the CGC has advised that their management and protection is 
necessary to ensure that the soils that will be stripped and ultimately replaced are not 
harmed by inappropriate methods of excavation, transportation, temporary storage, or 
replacement during restoration. The basic soil structure, organic content and drainage 
properties etc. of the various topsoil and subsoil types present should be conserved 
without detriment or mixing. The CGC has pointed out that the assessment of topsoils and 
subsoils during the ground investigations was not undertaken by a soil scientist or 
agronomist qualified and capable of providing an appropriate assessment. To address 
this, the CGC has recommended the imposition of a pre-commencement condition 
requiring a Soil Conservation and Management Plan (SCMP) to be submitted to the CPA 
for written approval to ensure that an appropriate level of investigation and assessment of 
the site soil is undertaken and that the objectives of safeguarding the soil resources are 
met. Officers consider that the requirement for a SCMP should form part of the CEMP to 
be secured by a pre-commencement condition. 

511. The CGC has advised that environmental protection and land stability for the duration of 
operations rely on construction of the engineered components of the works such as the 
bunding, the containment membrane, the drainage system, the groundwater monitoring 
wells, and the cut and fill earthworks etc. Whilst design can be reviewed and checked in 
advance, the CGC states that it is essential that an appropriate level of diligence and 
workmanship is adopted during construction so it can be demonstrated that the works 
have been built as designed. The CGC has therefore recommended a planning condition 
requiring the submission of a detailed CQA Plan to the CPA for written approval prior to 
the commencement of the development. This should make provision for the inspection and 
verification of the works in accordance with the approved CQA Plan during construction 

Page 100

7



and require the submission of a CQA Verification Report on completion for written 
approval by the CPA. 

512. Officers consider that this can be addressed by including a requirement for both a CQA 
Plan and a Construction Quality Monitoring Plan to be submitted as part of the CEMP to 
be secured by planning condition and the imposition of a condition requiring the 
submission of a CEMP Verification Report for written approval prior to the commencement 
of drilling, testing and appraisal. This should include a requirement for the applicant to 
provide details that demonstrate compliance with the CEMP and justification for any 
changes. 

513. The applicant has submitted a Waste Management Assessment. This sets out that the 
applicant will aim to prevent waste streams where possible by ensuring that products are 
calculated and not over ordered, re-used and recycled where practical. It outlines how 
each waste stream, including all forms of waste water and natural gas, will be managed for 
the proposed development in line with the Waste Hierarchy as described in the Waste 
Framework Directive. The assessment states that the well site and the proposed 
development have been designed so as to ensure that in the event of a spillage, it would 
be contained and prevent the contamination of the neighbouring environmental receptors. 
Further, the management techniques adopted by the applicant during the proposed 
operations will ensure that the likelihood of a spillage or incident is ‘low’ and that any 
incident which did occur would be minimal due to the mitigation measures which will be 
engaged during the lifetime of the development.

514. The Assessment also sets out that in the event that a spillage on-site occurs, it would be 
contained within the well site and remediated as soon as practicable. During the well site 
restoration, it is reasonable to assume that small amounts of waste, such as stone 
aggregate, cement and the HDPE liner will become contaminated. In the event this is the 
case, contaminated waste will be segregated from uncontaminated waste and will be 
subject to separate transportation and treatment at a permitted waste facility. In some 
instances, it may not be possible to treat or recycle contaminated waste and therefore it 
would be disposed of at a hazardous landfill site, however the quantities involved would be 
negligible.

515. The CGC has reviewed the submitted Waste Management Assessment and advised that 
the application to the EA for an environmental permit will include a Waste Management 
Plan. The CGC states that this plan should prevent pollution of the ground and the natural 
environment from any of the wastes generated by the proposed development.

516. The County Restoration and Enhancement Team has advised that they are satisfied that 
the protection of the soil resource and the identification of the soils available for restoration 
can be covered by a SCMP as recommended by the CGC and to be secured by condition. 
They also concur with the CGC’s advice on the issue of geochemical soil testing. In 
relation to land contamination, the Borough Council’s EHO has advised that the 
environmental permit from the EA should adequately control any potential emissions to 
land and appropriate remediation if needed.   

517. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection due to the need for further details to be 
provided on how contamination and spillage on site will be dealt with. The Borough 
Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has requested that the 
application be refused due to the inadequate assessment of the impacts on the disposal of 
waste water. The Hascombe Estate has raised objection due to the risks of pollution and 
the escape of gas and has requested a condition for adequate waste and chemical 
protocols if planning permission is granted. 

518. A large number of representations have been received raising objection due to concerns in 
relation to pollution and contamination. These comprise: the need for more information on 
where contaminated water will be managed and the impact of its disposal; the direct 

Page 101

7



impact on the local environment; contamination caused by the rupturing of borehole casing 
and grout seals; the unknown impact of strong chemicals from ‘acid fracturing’; concern 
over deficiencies in the Waste Management Assessment; and that the use of new 
completion fluids suggest that a substance stronger than vinegar will be used.

519. In terms of the risks of contamination and pollution, as set out in the above section on the 
Water Environment, the submitted FRA and HRA have been assessed by the EA, LLFA 
and CGC and found to be acceptable in planning terms subject to the imposition of 
conditions. In particular, the HRA has assessed the impacts from: the spilling / leakage of 
fuels, lubricants, well treatment fluids, recovered hydrocarbons, foul water and sewage; 
the use of additives, cement grout and well treatment fluids; chemicals stored at or 
transported to / from the site; the migration of natural gases; and well casing failure.

520. The submitted Waste Management Assessment produced in April 2019 confirms that the 
applicant is currently preparing an environmental permit application to the EA for the 
management of extractive waste at the Loxley Well Site. Officers understand that this 
application was submitted in December 2019. The Waste Management Assessment states 
that the EA will assess the permit application put forward by the applicant, which will 
include a revised Waste Management Plan, to ensure that the techniques for the 
management of extractive waste are suitable.

521. The Waste Management Assessment addresses the management of natural gas and the 
disposal of waste water. It explains that as the characteristics of the gas are relatively 
unknown, the utilisation of the gas cannot be considered at this stage. As a consequence, 
in the event that natural gas is flowed from the well, it will be diverted via pipework to a 
flare where it will be combusted in accordance with the requirements of the applicant’s 
environmental permit. 

522. The assessment also sets out that surface run-off and foul effluent, which is to be stored in 
a sealed waste water tank, will be tankered off-site for subsequent treatment and / or 
disposal at an EA permitted waste water treatment works and the discharge of water will 
be regulated by the EA under the EPR 2016. Further, the EA has confirmed that water 
returned to the surface from the deep aquifers, which may contain elevated chemicals and 
NORMS, as with other waters returned to the surface, will be tankered away and will not 
be discharged to the local environment. As explained above, the CGC has reviewed the 
assessment, and is satisfied that is adequate to prevent pollution from any generated 
waste. 

523. The oil and gas industry is heavily regulated in order to maintain health and safety and 
minimise any risk of environmental pollution. Paragraph 112 of the Minerals Chapter of the 
nPPG states that a number of issues exist which are covered by other regulatory regimes 
and MPAs should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. In particular, this 
explains that:

 the HSE are responsible for enforcement of legislation concerning well design and 
construction. Before design and construction, operators must assess and take 
account of the geological strata, and fluids within them, as well as any hazards that 
the strata may contain;

  under health and safety legislation the integrity of the well is subject to examination by 
independent qualified experts throughout its operation, from design through 
construction and until final plugging at the end of operation;

  the actual operation of the site’s surface equipment on the well pad should not be of 
concern to MPAs as these are controlled by the EA and the HSE;

  the EA is responsible for ensuring that extractive wastes do not harm human health 
and the environment. An environmental permit is required for phases of hydrocarbon 
extraction and this will require the operator to produce and implement a waste 
management plan;

Page 102

7



  the flaring or venting of any gas produced as part of the exploratory phase will be 
subject to Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) controls and will be 
regulated by the EA. (NB: In July 2016, DECC became part of the Government 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS); and,

  following exploration, the well is likely to be suspended and decommissioned / 
abandoned for a period of time. Health and Safety legislation requires its design and 
construction to ensure that, so far as reasonably practicable, there is no unplanned 
escape of fluids from it.

524. nPPG paragraph 112 also provides guidance on the role of other regulators in relation to 
the use of chemicals on site and the management of water that comes back to the surface, 
albeit this advice is in respect of hydraulic fracturing. However, Officers understand that 
the guidance equally applies to conventional on-shore oil and gas exploration and 
appraisal in respect of the need to inform the EA of all chemicals that may be used (based 
on information set out in an ‘Acidisation’ Factsheet published by the EA in January 2018), 
and the EA responsibility to ensure the final treatment / disposal of water returning to the 
surface at suitable treatment facilities (based on the requirements of the EPR 2016). 

Conclusion

525. In view of the above considerations, Officers are satisfied that subject to the imposition of 
a number of planning conditions, the applicant has demonstrated that the proposal would 
not give rise to a significant adverse impact in terms of the use, quality and integrity of land 
and soil resources and land stability. The application is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan in this respect. 

Ecology and Biodiversity

526. NPPF paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by: protecting and enhancing sites of biodiversity value in a 
manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in the development 
plan; recognising the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services - 
including trees and woodland; and, minimising impacts on and providing net gains for 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient 
to current and future pressures.

527. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF states that when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should apply the following principles:

a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided 
(through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be 
refused;

b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), and 
which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination with 
other developments), should not normally be permitted;

c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as 
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there are 
wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists; and

d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should 
be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and 
around developments should be encouraged, especially where this can secure 
measurable net gains for biodiversity. 

Page 103

7



528. Paragraph 176 of the NPPF sets out that the following should be given the same 
protection as habitats sites:

a) potential Special Protection Areas and possible Special Areas of Conservation;

b) listed or proposed Ramsar sites; and

c) sites identified, or required, as compensatory measures for adverse effects on habitats 
sites, potential Special Protection Areas, possible Special Areas of Conservation, and 
listed or proposed Ramsar sites.

529. Paragraph 176 adds that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
apply where the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either 
alone or in combination with other plans or projects), unless an appropriate assessment 
has concluded that the plan or project will not adversely affect the integrity of the habitats 
site.

530. Species conservation protection is provided for in legislation both at the European and 
national level and there are various levels of protection afforded to a range of species. The 
presence of a protected species is a material consideration in determining planning 
applications. The Habitats Directive is transposed into national law in England by means of 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) and the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) that implements the Birds Directive (1979) and 
the Bern Convention (1979). Under the Act, the law protects all wild birds, their nests and 
eggs, with some rare species afforded special protection. Although originally protection 
was developed to prevent egg stealing and cruelty to wild birds, its modern interpretation 
also relates to the activities of land managers and developers.

531. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of biodiversity interests. In relation to mitigating 
and adapting to the impacts of climate change, LPP1 Policy CC1 supports development 
that includes measures that use green infrastructure to support habitat networks. Policy 
NE1 of the LPP1 seeks to conserve and enhance biodiversity by permitting development 
that retains, protects and enhances features of biodiversity interest and ensures any 
adverse impacts are avoided, or if unavoidable, are appropriately mitigated. LPP1 Policy 
NE2 states that new development should make a positive contribution to biodiversity by 
creating or reinforcing habitat linkages between designated sites to achieve a connected 
ecological network of wildlife corridors and green infrastructure. The policy also aims to 
maintain and enhance existing trees, woodland and hedgerows where appropriate. 
‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be permitted where it would 
result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of loss or damage to important 
environmental assets, such as areas of ecological value.

532. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D7 aims to ensure that: development proposals on sites which 
contain, or are close to, important trees, groups of trees or hedgerows provide for their 
long-term retention; proposals resulting in a loss of such assets are not permitted; trees or 
hedgerows to be retained are adequately protected during construction; adequate 
separation between important trees or hedgerows and the proposed development is 
provided; and new trees and other vegetation are planted where appropriate. WBLP 
‘saved’ Policy C7 seeks to ensure that the extent of tree cover in the Borough is 
maintained and in particular resist the loss or seek to replace trees woodlands and 
hedgerows in areas which contain features that are characteristic or make a significant 
contribution to the appearance of the landscape. Where there are hedgerows on a 
development site, the Policy states that opportunities for improving the hedgerows through 
landscape management will be sought.

533. The application is supported by a number of ecological reports submitted by the applicant. 
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) identified protected species that may be 

Page 104

7



present in the locality including great crested newt, reptiles, breeding birds, bats, hazel 
dormouse, water vole and badger. The PEA recommended that with the exception of 
breeding birds and their habitats, on which the impacts of the development were likely to 
be limited, these species should be subject to further survey. Survey reports covering each 
of these species have been submitted separately in support of the application and used to 
inform an Ecological Impact Assessment undertaken by the applicant.     

534. The Ecological Impact Assessment finds that the development would have no significant 
effects on two statutory designated sites within approximately 10 km of the proposal: 
Thursley, Hankley and Frensham Commons SPA and Thursley, Ash, Pirbright and 
Chobham SAC. The assessment also concludes that there would be no significant 
adverse effects on the nearby locally designated SNCIs.

535. The proposal will result in the loss of approximately 1.8 ha of arable farmland to construct 
the well site compound and two sections of hedgerow for the construction of an access 
track to the well site. Provision of the access track will require the removal of up to 10 
metres of internal field boundary hedgerow. The construction of the new junction and the 
provision of clear lines of vehicular visibility will require up to 55 metres of hedgerow to be 
removed along with the loss of two trees from the eastern side of High Loxley Road 
(assessed as low value and quality by the applicant). The assessment has found that this 
will not result in significant effects on fauna such as breeding birds and foraging bats.

536. The well site is located to the south of, and adjacent to, an area of broad-leaved plantation 
woodland referred to as The Burchetts. Part of the woodland is designated as ‘ancient 
semi-natural woodland’ on the Ancient Woodland Inventory. This comprises a Plantation 
on Ancient Woodland Site (PAWS) where the semi-natural woodland has been replaced 
with a plantation. 

537. The ancient woodland is included within the area of the clear-felling licence granted by the 
Forestry Commission to the Hascombe Estate who propose to fell the woodland block in 
the next few years. However, in terms of the ancient woodland component, it is the 
seedbed rather than the trees themselves that are protected. Further, the designated area 
of ancient woodland is set back around 14 metres from the southern boundary of The 
Burchetts and is around 24 metres north of the boundary of the proposed well site 
compound.

538. Embedded mitigation in the design of the well site has incorporated a 10 metre 
undeveloped buffer zone along the northern side of the well pad area, to protect the tree 
roots and to maintain the woodland edge habitat, which is used by foraging and 
commuting bats. The access track has been aligned to ensure that it would not 
compromise the root protection area of any trees and the design accounts for the tracking 
of the longest transport vehicle. Although artificial lighting is needed to satisfy security, 
health and safety requirements during periods of darkness, lighting will also be designed 
to direct light onto the well pad only, and away from the woodland edge, to minimise any 
potential for lighting disturbance.

539. In terms of habitats in the wider survey area, the assessment has found that these support 
great crested newt, grass snake and common lizard (and possibly dormouse), although 
the risk of these species being present on the application site has been assessed as very 
low. As a precaution, a Great Crested Newt (GCN) and reptile Precautionary Working 
Method Statement (PWMS) for the construction phase will be implemented to mitigate for 
the low risk of killing/ injury to these species during site clearance activities. This will adopt 
precautionary measures for the removal of hedgerows and grassland within the footprint of 
the proposed development. With this mitigation in place, the assessment finds that there 
will be a negligible residual effect on these species. 

540. To comply with the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981) as amended, and the requirements 
of the PWMS for GCN and reptiles, hedgerow sections and trees / scrub to be removed 

Page 105

7



will be cut to ground level outside the breeding bird season where possible prior to the 
commencement of works (March to August inclusive). This will prevent nests from 
becoming established within vegetation to be removed. Unless harvested prior to the 
commencement of works, the arable field sections within the footprint of the development 
will be topsoil stripped outside the breeding bird season. Where crops have been 
harvested prior to the commencement of works inside this period, no mitigation for 
breeding birds is required because the habitats would be unsuitable, and it is reasonable 
to conclude that breeding birds would not be present. 

541. If the well site is to be cleared between March and August inclusive, an ecologist will be 
required to confirm the absence of active bird nests immediately prior to works 
commencing to avoid a breach of legislation. If a nest is discovered, clearance or other 
construction works should be stopped immediately within a species specific exclusion 
zone, for most birds a general 5 metre exclusion zone around the nest will suffice. The 
exclusion zone will be demarcated appropriately. The nest will subsequently be monitored, 
typically on a weekly basis, by a suitably qualified ecologist. Once it is confirmed that all 
fledglings have flown and ceased to return to the nest, and that no other nests are in use 
within the exclusion zone, the vegetation can be removed.

542. Although considered likely to be absent from the habitats to be impacted by the proposal, 
the precautionary hedgerow clearance methods to be adopted for GCN and reptiles will 
address any low residual risk that this species is present but has not been detected by the 
surveys. This clearance method will avoid impacts on hibernating dormouse in the winter 
months (when they are most vulnerable to disturbance) should the species be present in 
the base of the hedgerows by leaving the stumps in situ until spring.

543. Where hedgerows are to be removed outside the winter period (i.e. overlapping with the 
bird nesting season), pre-clearance checks of the hedgerows by a suitably qualified 
ecologist would also identify any dormouse nests (or suspected dormouse nests). In this 
case, works would be suspended and advice sought in respect of the need for a dormouse 
licence. However, given the short sections of hedgerow affected, it is considered unlikely 
that the works would meet the threshold for licensing.

544. To mitigate for the loss of 65 metres of hedgerow and 2 trees, the applicant proposes to 
replant a total of 130 metres of hedgerow and six individual trees over a three year period. 
The application is supported by an outline Landscape, Environment and Biodiversity 
Restoration and Enhancement Plan (LEBREP). The plan seeks to provide mitigation and 
deliver landscape ‘net-gain’. This is intended to comply with government guidance 
contained in the Natural Environment chapter of the nPPG. It covers High Loxley Road, 
the internal field boundary between High Loxley Road and the south-west corner of the 
Burchetts, the northern, eastern and southern boundaries of the well site host field and the 
well site host field itself. The outline LEBREP includes:

  Year 1 - Initial Replacement Programme: restoring habitat, hedgerow and trees in the 
first planting season following the commencement of Phase 1 to avoid a net loss of 
natural assets in Year 1 as a result of the construction process; 

  Year 1 - Strategic Planting: new tree and hedgerow planting targeting areas identified 
as having low or weak hedgerow growth and scattered mature tree growth; a detailed 
Tree & Hedgerow Enhancement Plan will be designed to enhance growth at the 
existing canopy level, within new sub-canopy levels and at ground level to improve the 
filtration of views to and from the proposed development from all vantage points within 
the surrounding landscape;

  Year 3 - Reinstatement Plan: restoring the site to its previous agricultural appearance 
with additional planting and habitat creation as part of a Legacy Enhancement 
Programme designed to deliver an environmental and biodiversity “net-gain” 
consistent with government guidance;

  Year 3 - The installation of 5 bat boxes on mature trees between 3 and 5 metres 
above ground level in uncluttered locations over 50 metres from the well site;

Page 106

7



  Year 3 - The installation of 5 bird nest boxes on mature trees over 50 metres from the 
well site suitable for farmland birds to provide new opportunities for nesting birds;

  Year 3 - Felled material from any mature trees / large shrubs to be removed will be 
retained on site as log piles to create refuges for terrestrial invertebrates, and will be 
stacked in loose piles in the base of hedgerows and away from the cultivated field 
margin; and,

  Year 3 - The set-a-side of land together with a wild bird seed mix plantation 
management and maintenance strategy creating new natural habitat and restoring lost 
biodiversity.

545. An initial LEBREP would be submitted for approval prior to the commencement of the 
development. This would comprise a Year 1 Environmental Reinstatement and 
Enhancement Plan and a PWMS for GCN and reptiles. It would include the replacement of 
trees and hedgerows removed during construction works, a programme to retain and 
protect existing trees and hedgerows and a timed programme for the planting of new trees 
and hedgerows and the creation of new biodiversity habitat. A final LEBREP would be 
submitted within 1 year of the start of development or prior to decommissioning, whichever 
is the sooner. This would be designed to deliver biodiversity and wider environmental net 
gain making use of native species and reflecting the historic use of the site as worked 
agriculture land and forestry. These measures can be secured by condition. 

546. The three closest European sites to the proposal comprise: (i) the Ebernoe Common 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) in West Sussex (9.3 km to the south-west of the 
application site); (ii) the Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons (Wealden Heaths 
Phase 1) Special Protection Area (SPA) in Waverley (8.2 km to the north-west of the 
application site); and, (iii) the part of the Thursley, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC (the 
Thursley, Hankley & Frensham Commons SSSI component) that is located in Waverley 
(8.2 km to the north-west of the application site).

547. Chiddingfold Forest SSSI lies 1.99 km to the south of the proposed well site. The nearest 
Sites of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCI) to the well site compound comprise 
Sayers Land, Jewings Hurst and Benbow Rew SNCI approximately 385 metres to the 
south and south-west, Benbow Rew SNCI and Furtherfits, Dunsfold Aerodrome SNCI 
around 560 metres to the south and 690 metres to the south-east respectively, Mill Copse 
SNCI 1,100 metres to the east, Dunsfold Common and Green SNCI 1,200 metres to the 
west and Hascombe Hill SNCI 1,650 metres to the north-west.

548. The County Ecologist has advised that the application is supported by a Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment and an Ecological Impact Assessment which includes sufficient 
ecological information to assess the impact of the application on biodiversity. The County 
Ecologist has also reviewed the formal responses provided by the Surrey Wildlife Trust 
and the Woodland Trust outlined below. Having reviewed the application, the County 
Ecologist has no objection to the proposal and is satisfied that the applicant has made 
sufficient efforts to avoid adverse impacts on biodiversity. However, the County Ecologist 
recommends that in the survey season prior to decommissioning, the ecological surveys 
are repeated to inform the restoration and to ensure that there are no adverse impacts on 
habitats and species. As a consequence, a final restoration scheme can be covered by a 
condition requiring the scheme to take account of the prevailing ecological conditions of 
the time.

549. The ecological impact of the proposal on 2 SAC designations, 1 SPA designation, SSSIs 
and SNCIs has been assessed in detail in the Air Quality section above and found to be 
acceptable. In terms of the European designated sites, Officers conclude that on balance, 
the proposed development would not give rise to likely significant effects alone or in-
combination with other development.

550. In relation to the ecological impact on SSSIs, the County Ecologist has advised that no 
further information is required in relation to the impact on the closest SSSI, this being 

Page 107

7



Chiddingfold Forest SSSI which is considered to be in a favourable condition. Further, with 
regard to the two closest SNCIs at Sayers Land and Benbow Rew, the County Ecologist 
considers that there is sufficient information to discount an adverse impact on both SNCIs.

551. The County Ecologist raised initial concerns about the access track being in close 
proximity to the hedgerows and woodlands. While a 10 metre buffer is proposed, the 
County Ecologist advised that several trees may be adversely impacted by the trackway. 
Further, both the County Arboriculturalist and the Woodland Trust have advised that the 
route of the access track should be adjusted to enable the route protection area (RPA) 
around Tree 37 (‘Veteran’ lapsed coppice) to be extended. Since the application was 
originally submitted, the applicant has amended the alignment of the access track to 
ensure no overlay of the RPAs for Trees 36, 37 and 38. As a consequence, the access 
track has been routed outside the RPAs consistent with BS: 5837:2012 - Trees in Relation 
to Design, Demolition and Construction.

552. Natural England has raised no objection to the proposal subject to appropriate mitigation 
measures being secured by condition including a final LEBREP. They have advised that 
landscape enhancements should be implemented at the start of the works rather than just 
during restoration. They also advise that net gains need to be calculated via an 
appropriate metric in order for them to be recorded and reported properly and that 
applications also need to consider the potential for contributing to in-combination effects 
on sites from air pollution. The County Lighting Consultant is satisfied that the submitted 
Lighting Assessment is comprehensive and demonstrates that the impact of light spill on 
ecological receptors is acceptable with the proposed mitigation measures in place. 
Officers propose that these mitigation measures to control lighting be secured by 
condition. The Environmental Assessment Team has assessed the proposal and advised 
that the proposal would not give rise to likely significant effects alone or in-combination 
with other development.

553. The Borough Council has raised objection to the development due to a lack of technical 
information on ecology to enable proper consideration of the application. In particular they 
have stated that there should be: additional dormouse, GCN and bat surveys; an 
assessment of potential noise impacts on roosting bats; further mitigation measures to 
compensate for any loss of habitat; mitigation provided up front to address the loss of 
hedgerows and trees; a 15 metre buffer between the site and the replanted ancient 
woodland; and an updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment addressing deficiencies in 
the current assessment in respect of a tree removal plan and the implementation of tree 
protection measures. The Borough Council’s Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Sustainability has requested that the application be refused due to the inadequate 
assessment of the impacts on ecology including the loss of ancient woodland and the 
adverse impact on wildlife such as red listed bird species (lawpings and skylarks) and 
other protected species (bats, badgers and reptiles).

554. The Surrey Wildlife Trust object to the proposal due to the ecological impact of the 
proposal on the natural environment and that biodiversity enhancements do not go far 
enough. The Hascombe Estate has raised objection due to the threat to ancient woodland, 
replanted areas, wildlife and ecology. They have requested that a 30 metres buffer be 
provided between the site and the woodland boundary in the event that planning 
permission is granted. Waverley Friends of the Earth has raised objection due to the 
insufficient buffer between the well site compound and the ancient woodland having a 
detrimental impact on biodiversity.

555. Officers have consulted the Forestry Commission’s standing advice on ancient woodland 
and veteran trees and consider the proposal to be acceptable in this respect. This advice 
relates to the dependency of the development’s location; the impact on ecological diversity 
of the woodland; the connectivity of the woodland to other vegetation and enhancement 
opportunities; impact on the root protection areas; changes to air quality and ground water 

Page 108

7



from risks of pollution; the current and planned function of the woodland and the use of 
native species in landscaping.

556. A representation received in support of the proposal claims that the surrounding woodland 
is not in pristine condition with abandoned cars and bikes. A large number of 
representations have been received raising a number of ecological concerns. These 
include: the insufficient buffer between the site and the woodland which should be 
extended to protect woodland and habitat; NPPF paragraph 175 giving ancient woodland 
the highest protection; the lack of an environmental survey of The Burchetts; the 
landowner having fenced and trenched the well site host field which could damage several 
Burchetts trees; 3 years not being considered as temporary as wildlife migration and 
habitats are likely to permanently change; the Phase 1 habitat survey being undertaken at 
a sub-optimal time; the Ecological Impact Assessment excluding farmland and breeding 
bird surveys; the significant impact of noise and light pollution on wildlife; the impact on 
sheep, pigs and bees; the lack of provision for wildlife to access the environment around 
the proposed stock fencing; and the impact of the introduction of heavy machinery.

557. The County Ecologist has advised that the impact on sheep, pigs and bees is not 
considered to be significant in view of the temporary nature of the development, and the 
ability of pigs and sheep to adapt to changing circumstances. Cattle are often found living 
alongside busy main roads and motorways where they are exposed to higher 
concentrations of noise and air pollution and the County Ecologist has pointed out that 
bees seem to thrive in urban areas where pollution levels are generally higher. The County 
Ecologist has assessed the proposal and raised no objection subject to the imposition of a 
planning condition requiring a final restoration scheme to be submitted which takes into 
account prevailing ecological conditions at that time. Officers are satisfied that this 
measure can be secured by condition. 

558. Officers are satisfied that the requirement for an initial LEBREP can be secured by a pre-
commencement condition to bring forward the implementation of new replacement 
planting and that a final LEBREP can be secured by a standard condition. The initial 
LEBREP will compensate for any loss of vegetation in the first available growing season 
after the construction of the proposed development. The final LEBREP will incorporate 
measures for biodiversity net-gain. Officers are conscious that given the temporary nature 
of the proposal and the possibility that no commercially exploitable reserves of 
hydrocarbons will be found, any requirements for biodiversity net-gain need to be 
proportionate.

559. In terms of the suggested need to measure net-gain, the County Ecologist has advised 
against this. This is due to the danger of specifying something that may become outdated 
as the details of how this will work will be included in the Environment Bill and are subject 
to consultation and amendment. In-combination effects have been addressed above in the 
section on Air Quality where Officers conclude that the proposed development would not 
give rise to likely significant effects alone or in-combination with other development. The 
County Ecologist has not advised that there is a need for further surveys of protected 
species or further mitigation measures. Neither the County Ecologist nor the County 
Arboriculturalist have suggested a need for the submitted Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment to be updated. The proposal will not damage the RPAs of any trees within the 
designated area of ancient woodland as this is situated around 24 metres to the north of 
the boundary of the proposed well site compound. Further, the area of ancient woodland is 
included as part of the clear felling licence granted to the Hascombe Estate. As 
consequence, the proposal will not compromise the status of the ancient woodland.

Conclusion

560. In view of the above considerations, Officers are satisfied that subject to the imposition of 
planning conditions requiring the submission of both an initial and final LEBREP to replace 
any lost vegetation at the earliest opportunity and secure the provision of biodiversity ‘net-

Page 109

7



gain’, and to ensure that the final restoration scheme takes into account the prevailing 
ecological conditions at that time, the proposal would not have a significant adverse 
impact on ecology and biodiversity. The proposal is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the relevant development plan policies in this respect.

Archaeology and Heritage

561. NPPF paragraph 189 requires that where a site has the potential to include heritage 
assets with an archaeological interest, a desk based assessment should be submitted 
and, where necessary, a field evaluation. Paragraph 189 also states that local planning 
authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The NPPF recognises that such 
a description should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is 
sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance.
 

562. Paragraph 190 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify and assess the 
particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal including 
the potential to affect its setting, taking account of the available evidence and necessary 
expertise. This assessment should then be taken into account when considering the 
impact of a proposal on a heritage asset to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage 
asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.

563. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF goes on to state that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Paragraph 194 
goes on to state that harm or loss should require clear and convincing justification. In 
particular, substantial harm or loss of a grade II listed building, or grade II registered park 
or garden should be exceptional and substantial harm or loss of designated heritage 
assets of the highest significance should be wholly exceptional.

564. NPPF Paragraph explains that where a proposed development will lead to substantial 
harm to or total loss of significant of a designated heritage asset, planning permission 
should be refused. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF outlines that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. Paragraph 
197 of the NPPF deals with the significance of an application on non-designated heritage 
assets and states that these should be taken into account in determining the application. 
In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and 
the significance of the heritage asset.

565. The Historic Environment chapter of the nPPG provides guidance on the assessment of 
heritage assets when considering planning applications. Para 007 states that heritage 
assets may be affected by direct physical change or by change in their setting. Being able 
to properly assess the nature, extent and importance of the significant of a heritage asset, 
and the contribution of its setting, is very important to understanding the potential impact 
and acceptability of development proposals. Para 018 states that what matters in 
assessing if a proposal causes substantial harm is the impact on the significance of the 
heritage asset which derives not just from its physical presence but also its setting. The 
paragraph goes on to state that it is the degree of harm to the asset’s significance rather 
than the scale of the development that is to be assessed.

566. Sections 66(2) and 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 require Local Planning Authorities, in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 

Page 110

7



architectural or historic interest which it possesses. With regards to conservation areas, 
Section 72 of the 1990 Act requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area.

567. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of the historic landscape, sites or structures of 
archaeological and historic interest and their settings and sites of existing or potential 
archaeological interest or their settings. LPP1 Policy HA1 seeks to ensure that the 
significance of Waverley’s heritage assets are conserved or enhanced to ensure the 
continued protection and enjoyment of the historic environment by safeguarding and 
managing heritage assets and their setting and understanding and respecting the 
significance of the assets. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy D1 states that development will not be 
permitted where it would result in material detriment to the environment by virtue of loss or 
damage to important environmental assets, such as buildings of historical or architectural 
interest, important archaeological sites and monuments and areas of conservation.

568. ‘Saved’ Policy HE3 of the WBLP seeks to provide high design standards where proposed 
development affects a listed or a locally listed building or its setting. This is to ensure that 
new development is appropriate and compatible in terms of siting, style, scale, density, 
height, massing, colour, materials, archaeological features and detailing. Proposals will not 
be permitted if they would harm the building or its setting. WBLP ‘saved’ Policy HE13 
states that there will be a presumption in favour of preserving county sites of 
archaeological importance or their setting. Development which adversely affects the 
archaeological value and interest of these sites will not be permitted. ‘Saved’ Policy HE14 
of the WBLP requires, where appropriate, an initial assessment of the archaeological 
value of the site be submitted as part of any planning application and field evaluation to be 
carried out prior to determination where archaeological remains are considered to exist. 
WBLP ‘saved’ Policy HE15 states that where proposals are made for large scale 
developments (over 0.4 hectares) not in an area already defined as of High Archaeological 
Potential, the Council will require that an archaeological assessment is provided as part of 
the application.

569. Historic England has published a series of good practice advice notes to assist in the 
determination of planning applications that could have an impact on heritage assets. 
These are Good Practice Advice in Planning: 2 Managing Significance in Decision-Taking 
in the Historic Environment and Good Practice Advice in Planning: 3 The Setting of 
Heritage Assets. 

570. Advice note 2 outlines that the first step is to understand the significance of any affected 
heritage asset and, if relevant, the contribution of its setting to its significance. The 
significance of a heritage asset is the sum of its archaeological, architectural, historic and 
artistic interest. Advice note 3 recognises the extent of a setting cannot have a fixed 
boundary and may alter over time due to changes in circumstance. It also recognises that 
views can contribute to setting of heritage assets e.g. viewing points or where a view is a 
fundamental aspect of the design of the asset or where assets were meant to be seen by 
one another for aesthetic, functional, ceremonial or religious reasons.

571. There are two Areas of High Archaeological Potential situated within the vicinity of the 
application site. These are located south of Dunsfold Road between High Loxley Road and 
Thatched House Farm and around 470 metres to the south of the well site compound 
beyond High Billinghurst Farm. The Dunsfold Conservation Area is situated around a 1.4 
km to the south-west of the well site compound.

572. Hascombe Camp (small multivallate hillfort north-west of Lodge Farm) is a Scheduled 
Monument situated around 1,890 metres to the north-west of the application site on 
Hascombe Hill. This is also a County Site of Archaeological Importance. Small multivallate 
hillforts date to the Iron Age and are defined as fortified enclosures of varying shape, 
generally between 1 and 5 hectares in size and located on hilltops. In view of the rarity of 

Page 111

7



small multivallate hillforts and their importance in understanding the nature of settlement 
and social organisation within the Iron Age period, all examples with surviving 
archaeological remains are believed to be of national importance. 

573. Hascombe Camp itself includes a small multivallate hillfort of Iron Age date, situated on 
the south west tip of a ridge of sandstone. It is roughly rectangular in shape and aligned 
south west to north east. The hillfort has earthen rampart defences which enclose an area 
of approximately 2.5 hectares. To the south-east, south-west and north-west, a bank and 
outer ditch follow the crest of the natural slope. The north-eastern ramparts have been 
found to be stone-revetted, including the out-turned banks of the entrance. Excluded from 
the scheduling are all fences, gates and posts but the ground beneath all these features is 
included. The site of the monument includes a 2 metre boundary around the 
archaeological features, considered to be essential for the monument's support and 
preservation.

574. The nearest listed buildings to the centre of the well site compound are all Grade II listed 
and comprise: Thatched House Farm House, the Barn at Right Angles to the North of 
Thatched Farm House and the former Granary at Thatched House Farm around 330 
metres to the north of the centre of the well site compound; High Billinghurst Farm House 
around 390 metres to the south; and High Loxley, the Barn to the North East of High 
Loxley House, and the Barn to the Front of High Loxley House approximately 560 metres 
to the west. Further to the east, there are two Grade II listed building on either side of 
Stovolds Hill. Hawkins Farm House and the Barn at Hawkins Farm House to South East of 
House are located on the eastern side of the road and Stovolds Hill and the Barn to the 
North East of Stovolds Hill are located on the western side. 

575. The Historic England website confirms that all of these listed buildings have been listed 
under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) for 
their special architectural or historic interest. The website provides information on each of 
these buildings which has been reviewed. For example, it describes the nearest listed 
building to the well site compound, Thatched House Farm House, as follows: “House. Late 
C16. Timber framed, exposed to rear, with red brick plinth, red and blue brick cladding to 
front; plain tiled roof, hipped with gablet to right. Two storeys, with basement to front, 
where ground drops away. End stack to rear. Four C2O casements on first floor, three 
cambered head windows to ground floor, now blocked. Door to rear right of centre. 
Galleted sandstone pentice roof extension to left end with fishscale tile hanging. 
Unoccupied at time of re-survey.”

576. The development would not result in any direct physical change to Hascombe Camp being 
located around 1,890 metres away. Its setting extends beyond the immediate area in 
which it is located given its elevated position for defensive purposes resulting in far 
reaching views into the distance. Given its elevated location, views are considered to 
contribute towards its setting. 

577. It is considered that the impact of the development would cause no harm to Hascombe 
Camp or its setting. This is given the lack of any direct physical change, and the 
separation distance which would ensure that any views of the application site will be from 
a considerable distance. As a result, the proposed development would be difficult to make 
out given the extent of the panoramic view available from this elevated position, filtering 
provided by the line of single trees and hedgerows to be largely retained and enhanced 
along the northern boundary of the well site compound host field, the presence of the 
proposed 4 metre screening fence incorporating dark green camouflage netting along the 
northern edge of the well site compound, the relatively small number of HGVs that may be 
visible in the distance whilst travelling along the access track, any distant views of taller 
structures deployed on site being temporary and the backdrop of the solar farm and 
Dunsfold Park beyond. 

Page 112

7



578. There is a considerable separation distance between the application site and the Dunsfold 
Conservation Area which is situated around 1,400 metres to the south-west with any views 
filtered by a number of field boundaries containing a mix of trees and hedgerows. The 
Dunsfold Conservation Area is also situated at a lower level than the well site compound 
which helps to restrict the potential for any distant views of the well site. Further the HGV 
access route to and from the site is via Dunsfold Road and the A281 to the east and does 
not take development related traffic through the village. Consequently, the impact of the 
development is not considered to result in any harm to the conservation area.

579. The development would not result in any direct physical change to any listed buildings 
which might harm their special architectural or historic interest, with the nearest listed 
building being situated around 330 metres to the north of the centre of the well site 
compound, or approximately 265 metres to the north of the well site’s northern boundary. 
The County Historic Buildings Officer (CHBO) has advised that the setting of listed 
buildings in Surrey tend to be relatively tight given the heavily wooded nature of the 
County. 

580. It is acknowledged that some of the surrounding listed buildings are set within extensive 
grounds which form part of their setting and this contributes towards their significance. 
This brings their setting noticeably closer to the application site, particularly in the case of 
Thatched House Farm to the north and High Billinghurst Farm to the south. The setting of 
the seven closest listed buildings to the application site are therefore partly defined by the 
boundaries that surround the large estates in which they are situated. These boundaries 
largely comprise a mix of woodland and hedgerow planting. However distant views 
towards Hascombe Hill to the north-west are widely available and these views extend the 
setting of these listed buildings well beyond the boundary of the estates in which they lie.

581. The upper sections of the tallest structures would appear within the edge of the view from 
parts of High Billinghurst Farm House and its setting looking out towards Hascombe Hill. 
However they would not appear centrally within the main line of sight, would make up a 
small fraction of the overall view and views would be screened or filtered by trees from 
some locations. Views of the well site from the three listed buildings within High Loxley 
including their setting would be more distant and towards the east and filtered by tree and 
hedgerow planting around the boundary of the estate and along High Loxley Road. 

582. The clear-felling of The Burchetts woodland would extend the setting of the three listed 
buildings at Thatched House Farm southwards and much closer to the application site. 
This would extend their setting as far as the access track and single lines of trees and 
hedgerows, to be largely retained and enhanced, along the northern boundary of the well 
site compound host field. It would open up limited views of the application site where there 
are gaps in the vegetation coverage along this boundary although views would be limited 
and confined to the security fence, screening fence with dark green camouflage netting 
and the upper sections of the tallest structures. Although screening and security fences 
will cause some harm by their presence, they will help to screen out views of ground 
based cabins, plant, machinery and equipment which would otherwise result in a more 
significant impact and greater harm. 

583. It is likely that 5 ash trees will need to be replaced along the northern boundary of the well 
site compound host field with other native species during the lifetime of the development, 
including 1 ash tree on the eastern part of the northern boundary and 4 ash trees on the 
western section. However, approximately 55 trees (i.e. 95% of the baseline) would be 
retained along the central section of the northern boundary which would help to screen the 
central section of well site compound comprising the main focus for operational activity.

584. The proposed access arrangements would create a more industrial feel to the 
northernmost section of High Loxley Road and introduce additional traffic including HGV 
traffic to the northern section of this road. Being a no-through road, this forms the 
approach road to three listed buildings at High Loxley and one at High Billinghurst Farm. 

Page 113

7



The quiet rural nature of this narrow, winding, undulating and lightly trafficked road 
contributes to the wider setting of these four listed buildings. The proposal would therefore 
result in harm to the wider setting of these 4 listed buildings, albeit for a temporary period 
of 3 years. However the harm caused to the significance of these heritage assets is 
reduced by the extent of the separation distance and lack of any direct views between the 
proposed site entrance and any of these listed buildings. This limits the conflict between 
the conservation of the heritage assets and the proposed development.

585. Lighting may be apparent in the distance from some locations at night time, although the 
impact on the setting of the seven nearest listed buildings would be reduced through a 
number of factors. These include distance, albeit to a varying degree, the presence of 
partial vegetation screening, the lights being shrouded to prevent light spillage and the 
imposition of planning conditions intended to control lighting and ensure lights are directed 
inwards towards the well site compound. Noise, including from drilling, testing and 
appraisal, would be audible for extended periods of time although noise levels would be 
controlled to acceptable levels by conditions. 

586. The proposal is not considered to have any impact on the significance of the listed 
buildings or their setting on either side of Stovolds Hill given the extent of the separation 
distance and the lack of direct views of the application site. The wooded area along the 
eastern boundary of the well site compound host field would help to screen any views of 
the tallest structures in the event that both The Moor and High Loxley Furze woodland 
blocks were clear-felled. The only potential views would be during winter when the trees 
have lost their leaves although any such views would be largely filtered and from a 
considerable distance. Any harm caused by lighting and noise would be greatly limited at 
this distance. 

587. The proposed development would therefore have some impact on the significance of the 
listed buildings within the vicinity of the application site in terms of its presence but this 
impact is considered to be less than substantial largely due to the separation distance 
between the listed buildings and the application site and the extent of partial vegetation 
screening, as well as the additional screening proposed by the applicant. The harm 
caused to the setting of these listed buildings is considered to be greater given the 
reduced separation distance, increased visual impact, and impacts in terms of noise and 
to lesser extent lighting. However, the resulting harm is considered to be less than 
substantial given the extent of partial vegetation screening and the mitigation measures 
proposed. This assumes that the clear-felling license is implemented in full and takes into 
account a number of factors.

588. This conclusion takes into account: the extent of the separation distance between the 
application site and the listed buildings; screening provided by existing field boundaries 
and woodland cover to the east of the well site compound host field; the filtering of views 
from the partial field boundaries along the northern and southern boundaries of the well 
site compound host field and around the boundary of High Loxley and High Loxley Road; 
the screening benefits provided by both the natural contours of the land and the wild bird 
seed mix plantation restricting views from the south; proposed mitigation in the form of 4 
metre high security or screening fencing incorporating camouflage debris netting around 
the northern, eastern and southern boundaries of the well site compound, which would 
result in some harm by their presence but reduce the visual harm that would otherwise be 
caused by views into the interior of the well site compound; the low number of HGV 
movements; the proposed mitigation measures and planning conditions to control the 
impact of noise and lighting to an acceptable level; and the imposition of other planning 
conditions intended to control the impacts of the development to a satisfactory degree.

589. In relation to the proposed highway works, the CHBO has advised that one of the beauties 
of the Waverley country lanes is the fact there are no kerbstones. To prevent roads getting 
incrementally wider, the CHBO would support the inclusion of an informative advising the 
developer that any highway works should use flush set concrete retainers with a ribbed 

Page 114

7



surface, as upstanding kerbs would be very damaging to the wider character of the area. 
This suggestion is accepted by Officers.

590. Taking into account the finding outlined in the section on Need for the Development 
above, which considers the development to be in the national and wider public interest, 
Officers consider that, on balance, the temporary less than substantial harm caused to the 
significance of heritage assets and their settings is outweighed by the public benefits of 
the proposal.

591. The applicant has submitted an Archaeological and Cultural Heritage Assessment in 
support of the application. This was informed by data gathered from a range of primary 
and secondary sources including a search of the Surrey County Council Historic 
Environment Record, the Surrey History Centre, appropriate online sources and a site 
visit. This states that medieval activity has been identified within the study area, including 
within the site itself, in the form of ridge and furrow earthworks, indicating that the site lies 
in an agricultural hinterland, with settlement focussed around Dunsfold to the southwest. 
The potential for encountering medieval activity within the site is considered to be high, but 
it will likely be agricultural features of low local significance.

592. In relation to evidence of post-medieval activity within the search area, the assessment 
states that this is dominated by several isolated farmsteads, clustered around Thatched 
House Farm, High Loxley and Park Hatch. High Loxley farmstead lies to the south-west of 
the site. Historic mapping has demonstrated that there has been little change in either the 
site or the wider area since the post-medieval period with the exception of the removal of 
some of the field boundaries in the northern part of the site to create the large field which 
is still extant today. Therefore, the potential for encountering post medieval activity within 
the site is low and is limited to the remains of these former field boundaries.

593. The assessment finds that the proximity of the site to known areas of archaeological 
potential indicates that any activity could extend into the areas of construction, including 
the access track for the Loxley Well Site. Consequently, the assessment advises that 
archaeological mitigation, in the form of a geophysical survey and trial trenching, is 
undertaken prior to the construction phase and that field walking across the wider fields 
could also be an option.

594. The County Archaeological Officer has advised that the application site is over the 0.4 
hectares which is recommended for archaeological assessment and possibly evaluation 
under ‘saved’ Policy HE15 of the WBLP, and is close to an area identified as being of High 
Archaeological Potential. The application is therefore supported by a desk based 
archaeological assessment. The response confirms that the assessment has consulted all 
currently available sources including the Surrey Historic Environment Record in order to 
characterise the archaeological potential of the site and concludes that the site has a 
moderate archaeological potential for the Mesolithic Neolithic, medieval and post medieval 
periods, with a lower potential for other periods.

595. As there is potential for archaeology to be present within the site, the report suggests that 
further archaeological works are required in order to properly assess the nature and extent 
of any archaeology that may be present. The County Archaeological Officer agrees with 
this conclusion and advises that in the first instance, this should comprise of a programme 
of test pitting along the access road, which is close to an area where Mesolithic material 
has been previously recorded, with trial trench evaluation carried out within the area of the 
proposed compound. The results of the work will enable suitable mitigation measures to 
be developed.

596. Given that the assessment does not suggest that remains of national importance will be 
present, the County Archaeological Officer does not consider that it is necessary for the 
archaeological work to be undertaken in advance of any planning permission; but securing 
the archaeological work as a condition of any planning permission is an acceptable and 

Page 115

7



proportionate response. To ensure the required archaeological work is secured 
satisfactorily, the County Archaeological Officer has recommended a planning condition 
requiring the applicant to implement a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a Written Scheme of Investigation prior to the development taking place.

597. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection to the proposal due to the need for a 
further assessment of the impacts on archaeology and adjoining listed buildings and their 
setting. Cranleigh Parish Council strongly object to the application due to the 
archaeological potential of the site given its proximity to an Area of High Archaeological 
Potential. The Hascombe Estate has raised objection because following clear-felling, the 
application site and access roads will be highly visible from Hascombe Hill and its heritage 
properties. Representations have been submitted objecting to the proposed development 
due to concerns that the proposal would take place on an archaeological site, the need for 
further information to address the poor quality of the submitted assessment has not been 
provided and the impact on the seven Grade II listed buildings nearby. A representation 
has also raised concern about the impacts of vibration on nearby heritage properties given 
that their foundations are not as robust as they are on modern buildings.

598. The County Archaeological Officer has raised no objection to the application subject to the 
imposition of a planning condition. The impact of the proposal on heritage properties and 
their setting has been assessed. Whilst some harm is acknowledged, this is considered to 
be temporary and less than substantial and on balance, outweighed by other public 
benefits in relation to the need for the development which is considered to be in the 
national and wider public interest. The issue of vibration has been addressed in the above 
section on Noise and Vibration. This refers to the advice provided by the CHBO who 
considers that the potential for damage to listed buildings from the airborne sound (and 
ground vibration) can be discounted.

Conclusion

599. The application is supported by an Archaeological and Cultural Heritage Assessment 
which has been reviewed by Officers. The County Archaeological Officer has advised that 
the application is acceptable subject to a condition requiring a programme of architectural 
works to be implemented in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the CPA prior to the commencement of the 
development. The CHBO supports the inclusion of an informative requesting that any 
highway works use flush set concrete retainers with a ribbed surface as opposed to 
upstanding kerbs. The impact of the development on Hascombe Camp and its setting and 
the Dunsfold Conservation Area is not considered to result in any harm. The impact on the 
significance of listed buildings and their setting within the vicinity of the site has been 
assessed and the harm to both the significance of the listed buildings themselves and their 
settings has been found to be less than substantial. On balance, Officers consider that this 
temporary harm is outweighed by other public benefits including the need for the 
development, which is considered to be in the national and wider public interest. For these 
reasons, Officers are therefore satisfied that the proposal complies with the relevant 
development plan polices in respect of archaeology and heritage.

Rights of Way

600. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of the rights of way network. ‘Saved’ WBLP Policy 
LT11 seeks to ensure that designated rights of way are safeguarded, protected and 
enhanced to encourage their use by walkers, cyclists and horse riders. NPPF paragraph 
98 states that planning policies and decisions should protect and enhance public rights of 
way and access, including taking opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for 
example by adding links to existing rights of way networks including national trails.

Page 116

7



601. Public bridleway 280 is located approximately 100 metres to the south of the well site 
compound. It connects High Loxley Road to the west with Stovolds Hill to the east and is 
routed along the southern edge of the well site compound host field. The bridleway lies at 
a height of 70 metres above ordnance datum (AOD). This field contains a ridge at 72 
metres (AOD) which runs east to west across the centre. From the crest of this ridge, the 
field slopes downhill towards its northern and southern boundaries. The well site 
compound would be situated in the northern half of this field and would be developed on a 
level platform. In view of the slope, it would be constructed through cut and fill at a height 
of 68 metres AOD.

602. Views of the proposed development from the public bridleway would be largely screened 
by a combination of the ridge, a 4 metre high topsoil storage bund to the south of the well 
side compound and a 4 metre high ‘V’ mesh security fence around the southern and 
eastern boundaries of the compound incorporating debris / camouflage netting to reduce 
inward visibility into the site. Paragraph 6.15 of SMP CS DPD acknowledges that whilst 
temporary landscape works such as bunds or earth mounds can affect the appearance of 
an area, they may be positive in terms of reducing local visual impacts. 

603. Further, a wild bird seed mix plantation growing on the southern and eastern parts of the 
well site host field, including along the crest of the ridge will provide additional screening 
benefits. This planting is noted to be very durable through the winter and will be retained 
for the duration of the development. It will comprise an area equivalent to the size of the 
well site and the crop has a maximum height of around 2.1 metres. A mix of manual and 
natural seeding will maintain the crop yield and its screening potential throughout the year. 
As a consequence of the proposed screening, only the tallest components of the plant and 
equipment would be visible from the bridleway. 

604. The impacts of the proposal on noise and air quality have been found to be acceptable. In 
terms of air quality, the greatest impact on air quality was found to be on an area of land 
just beyond the north-east corner of the well site compound reflecting the prevailing wind 
direction. The County AQC has concluded overall that the air quality impacts have been 
assessed using an appropriate methodology and that the effects are not considered 
significant. In relation to noise, the impacts have been found to be acceptable subject to 
the imposition of a number of conditions to ensure that noise levels and kept within an 
acceptable level. Further, users of the public bridleway will be transient in nature and 
therefore affected less than those living or working in a permanent structure.

605. Public footpath 281 and public bridleway 282 connect High Loxley Road to Dunsfold 
Common Road to the west. The former is approximately 540 metres to the west of the 
proposed well site compound at its nearest point and the latter around 735 metres to the 
south-south-west. A 2.46 metre high ‘V’ mesh security fence will be erected along the 
western boundary of the well site compound. Security entrance gates measuring 2.5 
metres in height and 6 metres wide will be installed towards the centre of the western 
boundary. At distances of at least 540 metres, any adverse impacts on users of these 
public rights of way are not considered significant given existing vegetation screening on 
High Loxley Road, the temporary nature of the development, the significant separation 
distance between the well site and these rights of way and the transient nature of users of 
the footpath and bridleway.

606. The land to the north of Dunsfold Road climbs northwards towards Hascombe Hill which 
reaches a height of 205 metres. Public footpaths 279 (at a height of 130 metres) and 533 
(at a height of 200 metres) are located to the north of Dunsfold Road at a more 
considerable distance from the proposed well site. A 2.46 metre high ‘V’ mesh security 
fence will be erected along the northern boundary of the well site compound. Inside the 
security fence alongside the northern boundary of the well pad, a 4 metre high ‘V’ mesh 
screening fence is proposed incorporating debris / camouflage netting to reduce inward 
visibility into the site. A field boundary containing a single line of trees and hedgerows with 
some gaps in between runs along the northern boundary of the well site host field on land 

Page 117

7



within the applicant’s control. With the likely exception of 5 ash trees that would be 
replaced with native species, the field boundary will be retained and enhanced as part of 
the proposed development. However, it is acknowledged that the proposed additional 
planting will not mature sufficiently to provide any significant additional screening benefits 
within the lifetime of the proposed development.

607. Any views of the proposed development from public footpaths 279 and 533 will be from a 
considerable height and distance. As a result, the well site would be difficult to make out 
given the extent of the panoramic view available from these more elevated vantage points, 
the filtering provided by the tree line to be largely retained along the northern boundary of 
the well site compound host field, the screening fence with dark green camouflage netting 
proposed along the northern boundary of the well pad and the backdrop of the solar farm 
and Dunsfold Park beyond. Further, any parts of the development that are visible such as 
the crane, workover rig or coil tubing unit would only be visible for a temporary period and 
any HGVs visible whilst traveling across the access track would be relatively few in 
number.

608. The Countryside Access Team (Rights of Way) has advised that horses can react to 
noise, sudden movements and shadows. They note that the application site will be 
approximately 90 metre north of Public Bridleway 280. In relation to the rig, they have 
stated that its location to the north should mean that the shadow it casts should be 
minimal. Having reviewed the application including information regarding the activity and 
noise levels, they have raised no objection to this application. 

609. The Surrey Hills AONB Planning Adviser has raised concerns that the development would 
have a significant adverse visual impact on the public bridleway to the south. Cranleigh 
Parish Council has raised objection to the proposal claiming that the impact on public 
bridleway 280 will detract from the enjoyment of users and the noise will scare horses and 
endanger the life of equestrians.

610. Representations objecting to the proposal have raised concerns over: the ability of the 
security fence to screen views of tall structures from the public bridleway; the proposal 
restricting the width and partially blocking an existing public bridleway, the public bridleway 
being obstructed with barbed wire fencing and wooden bollards; the increased impact 
resulting from the clear felling of The Burchetts woodland block; and the adverse impact 
on users of footpaths and the adjacent bridleway being contrary to SMP CS DPD Policy 
MC14 and ‘saved’ WBLP Policy LT11.

611. The Countryside Access team has raised no objection to the proposal. The development 
would not result in any restriction in width or the blocking of any public right of way. The 
visual impact of the proposal has been assessed in detail and found to be acceptable with 
the proposed mitigation measures in place. It is acknowledged that a combination of the 
ridge, wild bird seed mix planting and security fence would screen the ground based plant, 
machinery and buildings from the public bridleway and part of the taller structures. 
However the upper sections of these structures would be visible albeit only for a temporary 
period. Further, the felling of The Burchetts woodland block has been assessed and would 
not result in a significant adverse impact on public footpaths to the north of Dunsfold Road.

Conclusion

612. In view of the above considerations, Officers are satisfied that the proposed development 
would not result in a significant adverse impact on the rights of way network and is in 
accordance with the development plan in this respect.

Cumulative Impacts
 

613. NPPF paragraph 180 states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 

Page 118

7



cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as 
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from 
the development. In doing so they should:

a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from 
new development - and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on 
health and the quality of life;

b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by 
noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason; and

c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark 
landscapes and nature conservation. 

614. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF requires that planning decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking 
into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the 
cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve air quality 
or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel management, 
and green infrastructure provision and enhancement.

615. NPPF paragraph 205 states that in considering proposals for mineral extraction, minerals 
planning authorities should ensure that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the 
natural and historic environment, human health or aviation safety, and take into account 
the cumulative effect of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or from a number of 
sites in a locality. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development 
does not give rise to a significant adverse impact in terms of cumulative impacts arising 
from the interactions between mineral developments, and between mineral and other 
forms of development.

616. There are no significant mineral sites within the vicinity of the proposal. The nearest major 
commercial land is situated at Dunsfold Park, approximately 850 metres to the south 
where planning permission exists for the development of a new settlement. This 
permission includes the development of 1,800 new homes, a new commercial centre, new 
business units, non-residential institutions, community centre, new primary school, the 
relocation of an existing school, amenity space and supporting infrastructure. Dunsfold 
Park also accommodates an existing anaerobic digestion facility located on Stovolds Hill. 
The Gordon Murray Design buildings, which amount to 14,000 sq m, are in the process of 
being developed and are expected to open in 2021. Further, there is an events venue at 
High Billinghurst Farm and an established solar farm operation situated on land to the 
south of High Billinghurst Farm which is accessed via High Loxley Road. 

617. The main potential for cumulative impacts to arise from the proposed development are in 
relation to traffic, air quality and ecology. These matters have already been assessed in 
the relevant sections above and found to be acceptable. In terms of traffic, concerns have 
been raised over the impact of the proposed new traffic signals on the events venue at 
High Billinghurst Farm given the potential delays to people attending the venue. This has 
been discussed in the section on Highways, Traffic and Access above where the CHA has 
assessed the proposal and found it to be acceptable subject to the imposition of 
conditions. As a consequence, the development is not considered likely to have any 
cumulative traffic impacts as the number of additional vehicle movements is not 
considered significant and will be spread out throughout the day. This should ensure that 
there is no significant adverse impact on the free flow of traffic. Additionally, the applicant 
proposes to utilise a combination of traffic signal technology to optimise the signal 
operation and the adoption of an on-site traffic management regime to schedule HGV 
activity outside of peak periods. Details of HGV deliveries and hours of operation will form 
part of the TMP to be secured as part of a pre-commencement condition.

618. In relation to any cumulative impact on air quality resulting from the development of 
Dunsfold Park, the applicant has stated that a cumulative assessment of the Dunsfold 

Page 119

7



Park development, inclusive of the proposed energy centre, was not included within the 
submitted Air Quality Assessment (AQA) because a review of the Dunsfold Park 
Environmental Statement (ES) indicated that the expected combined impact of road traffic 
and the energy centre resulting from the development on nitrogen dioxide concentrations 
in the vicinity of Loxley well site was insignificant. The applicant therefore considers that 
the increase in background concentrations arising from the development have no material 
impact on the findings of the Loxley well site AQA. Having reviewed the submitted AQA, 
the County Air Quality Consultant has found the impact of the proposal to be acceptable. 
Further Public Health England has raised no objection to the proposal.

619. With regard to ecology, the impact on the nearest SSSIs and SNCIs have been assessed 
and considered to be acceptable. The nearest European sites (8.2km to the north-west 
and 9.3km to the south-west) have also been identified and the impact assessed with 
Officers concluding that on balance, and taking account of the short term and temporary 
nature of the proposed well site and the intermittent nature of the emissions that would 
arise during its lifetime, the distance that separates the application site from the closest 
European sites, the fact that the highway links that pass through or within 200 metres of 
the European sites are not on the proposed route by which the application site would be 
accessed, and the limited contributions that the predicted well site emissions would make 
to the critical loads of the identified European sites, the proposed development would not 
give rise to likely significant effects alone or in-combination with other development.

620. The Borough Council EHO has stated that a cumulative assessment of the Dunsfold Park 
development has not been carried out by the applicant to inform background air quality 
concentrations. Cranleigh Parish Council has raised objection to the cumulative impact of 
the proposal in view of the combined impacts with the local plan strategic development 
sites which make provision for 3,097 dwellings. 

621. Representations opposed to the development have raised concerns over: the impact on 
the new settlement at Dunsfold Park, the potential need for numerous wells to be drilled 
across the countryside and a potential further proposal to drill for hydrocarbons near 
Loxhill; the existing planning permissions for an anaerobic digestion facility and large 
energy centre at Dunsfold Park; and, the adverse cumulative impact on the road network.

622. The proposed development is for a temporary period of three years. The cumulative 
impacts of the proposal in combination with other potential development on allocated sites 
cannot be assessed and taken into account as there is no certainty that planning 
applications will be submitted and granted planning permission in future. Further the 
impacts of any potential future developments are currently unknown. Officers consider that 
the impacts of the proposal on traffic, air quality and ecology are insignificant in 
comparison to those resulting from the new settlement at Dunsfold Park which is likely to 
take a significant period of time to complete. As a consequence, the cumulative impact of 
the proposal combined with the development at Dunsfold Park is not considered to be 
significant. In addition, the cumulative impacts of the proposal in relation to traffic, air 
quality and ecology have been assessed and considered to be acceptable.

Conclusion

623. Having considered the cumulative impacts of the proposal in relation to traffic, air quality 
and ecology, Officers consider that the proposal would not give rise to a significant 
adverse impact in terms of cumulative impacts arising from the interactions between the 
proposed well site and both mineral developments and other forms of development. For 
these reasons, the proposal is in accordance with the development plan in this respect.

Restoration

624. NPPF paragraph 204 states that planning policies should ensure that worked land is 
reclaimed at the earliest opportunity, taking account of aviation safety, and that high 

Page 120

7



quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites takes place. Paragraph 205 of the NPPF 
requires that in considering proposals for mineral extraction, minerals planning authorities 
should provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to be carried out to 
high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate conditions. Bonds or 
other financial guarantees to underpin planning conditions should only be sought in 
exceptional circumstances.

625. SMP CS DPD Policy MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise 
to a significant adverse impact in terms of the risk of birds striking aircraft. Policy MC17 of 
the SMP CS DPD states that mineral working will be permitted only where the MPA is 
satisfied that the site can be restored and managed to a high standard. Restored sites 
should be sympathetic to the character and setting of the wider area; and capable of 
sustaining an appropriate after-use. Restoration of mineral workings should be completed 
at the earliest opportunity and the applicant will be expected to agree a scheme with the 
MPA detailing how the land will be restored and managed before, during and after 
working. Policy MC18 of the SMP CS DPD states that the MPA will encourage and work 
with mineral operators and landowners to deliver benefits such as enhancement of 
biodiversity interests, improved public access and provision of climate change mitigation.

626. LPP1 Policy NE1 states that new development should make a positive contribution to 
biodiversity in the Borough. Policy NE2 sets out that new development should make a 
positive contribution to biodiversity by creating or reinforcing habitat linkages between 
designated sites, in order to achieve a connected local and regional ecological network of 
wildlife corridors and green infrastructure. The Council will seek, where appropriate, to 
maintain and enhance existing trees, woodland and hedgerows within the Borough.

627. Proposals for environmental enhancement in the form of biodiversity net-gain need to be 
proportionate, taking into account that the proposed development is for a temporary period 
of 3 years and may or may not result in commercially viable reserves of hydrocarbons, 
which are capable of being extracted, being found. The applicant proposes to restore the 
site back to agriculture within three years and has submitted an outline Landscape, 
Environment and Biodiversity Restoration and Enhancement Plan (LEBREP) in support of 
the proposal. This states that restoration would commence upon the completion of Phase 
3 decommissioning along with the implementation of a Legacy Enhancement Programme.

628. An initial LEBREP would be submitted for approval prior to the commencement of the 
development. This would comprise a Year 1 Environmental Reinstatement and 
Enhancement Plan and a Precautionary Working Method Statement (PWMS) for Great 
Crested Newts and reptiles. It would include the replacement of trees and hedgerows 
removed during construction works, a programme to retain and protect existing trees and 
hedgerows and a timed programme for the planting of new trees and hedgerows and the 
creation of new biodiversity habitat. A final LEBREP would be submitted within 1 year of 
the start of development or prior to decommissioning, whichever is the sooner. This would 
be designed to deliver biodiversity and wider environmental net-gain making use of native 
species and reflecting the historic use of the site as worked agriculture land and forestry. 
These measures can be secured by condition. 

629. The Outline LEBREP sets out that the proposed restoration and enhancement programme 
to be delivered in Year 3 will, amongst other things, provide for:

High Loxley Road

 The replacement of up to 55 metres of hedgerow lost as part of the junction 
construction in Year 1. When added to the 55 metres of hedgerow reinstated in 
Year 1, a combined total of 110 metres of new hedgerow will be planted on High 
Loxley Road; and

Page 121

7



 The introduction of 6 trees. When added to the 6 trees reinstated in Year 1, a 
combined total of 12 new trees will be planted on High Loxley Road.

Internal Field Boundary Hedge between High Loxley Road and the South-west Corner of 
the Burchetts Woodland Block

 The replacement of up to 10 metres of hedgerow removed to facilitate access 
track construction. When added to the 10 metres of hedgerow reinstated in Year 
1, a combined total of 20 metres of new hedgerow will be planted along this field 
boundary.

Well Site Compound Host Field Boundary (North-east and North-west) and Well Site 
Compound Host Field Boundary (South)
 
 New tree and hedgerow planting targeting areas identified as having low or weak 

hedgerow growth and scattered mature tree growth. 

Well Site Compound Host Field

 The set-a-side of land together with a wild bird seed mix plantation management 
and maintenance strategy creating new natural habitat, restoring lost biodiversity 
and enhancing the landscape character and appearance of the development site 
sufficient to achieve an overall environmental net-gain.

630. The County Restoration and Enhancement Team has raised no objection to the proposal 
subject to an aftercare scheme being submitted or required by condition. The County 
Ecologist has advised that a final restoration scheme should be covered by condition to 
take account of the prevailing ecological conditions at that time. The County Restoration 
and Enhancement Team, Gatwick Airport and the operator of Dunsfold Aerodrome have 
not raised any concerns in relation to the risk of birds striking aircraft. 

 
631. Natural England has raised no objection subject to conditions requiring: landscape 

enhancements, which should include native hedgerow planting along the route of the 
proposed access to screen views from the AONB, to be implemented at the start of the 
works rather than just during restoration; and a final LEBREP being agreed with the CPA 
and secured for delivery. Natural England also advise that the CPA has a duty to have 
regard to conserving biodiversity as part of decision making which can also include 
restoration or enhancement to a population or habitat.

632. The Surrey Wildlife Trust has raised objection as they consider that the proposals for site 
restoration and biodiversity enhancement represent a missed opportunity to realise a far 
more significant and measurable biodiversity net-gain, by way of an eventual priority 
habitat creation project (rather than restoration to agricultural use). They have also 
commented that should the exploratory drilling prove that full production is economically 
feasible, the eventual restoration of the site may well be delayed further than three years.

633. Waverley Borough Council, the Borough Council portfolio holder for Environment and 
Sustainability, Dunsfold, Witley and Cranleigh Parish Councils’, the Hascombe Estate and 
Waverley Friends of the Earth object to the proposal due to the need for a significant 
restoration bond. This emanates from concern that the operator may not have the 
necessary financial security to meet its restoration commitments.

634. Representations received against the proposal have expressed concerns due to: the need 
for a condition requiring a restoration bond and / or cash deposit to be lodged prior to 
commencement due to the operator recording consecutive annual losses, concerns that 
they do not have the financial reserves to restore the site and increased risk of technical 
failure resulting from the techniques being proposed; no plan being provided for a 
replanting scheme for tree removal; it being unclear who is responsible for taking out 

Page 122

7



environmental liability insurance; and the operator not having a good track record for 
managing the impact on the site and its surroundings.

635. Officers are satisfied that the restoration and aftercare of the application site including the 
proposed landscape enhancement and measures for the provision of biodiversity net-gain 
can be carried out to a high standard and secured by condition. This will include the 
submission of an initial LEBREP for approval by the CPA prior to the commencement of 
the development including a commitment for the replacement planting of lost vegetation to 
be provided in the first available planting season following construction, and the 
submission of a final LEBREP for approval within 12 months of the implementation of this 
permission, or prior to well site decommissioning (whichever is the sooner).

636. The need for hedgerow planting along the access track to screen views from the AONB to 
the north is not considered necessary. This is given the extent of the separation distance 
between the application site and elevated sections of the AONB and the number of vehicle 
movements not being considered to be significant. Officers consider that the return of the 
land to agricultural use with woodland planting would provide for a suitable after-use. It 
should be noted that as the application site is not within the ownership of the applicant, the 
proposed after-use must be acceptable to the landowner.

637. It is acknowledged that restoration would be delayed in the event that commercially viable 
hydrocarbon reserves are found to be present. However, any delay to restoration to 
enable the site to be retained for hydrocarbon production in the longer term would be 
subject to a further planning application that would have to be considered on its merits. 
Therefore, this is not a matter that can be considered in the determination of this 
application.

638. One of the objectives of the regulatory regime for oil and gas exploration and production 
established under The Petroleum Act 1998 is to protect the taxpayer from any residual 
liability. All companies on a licence share joint and several liability for obligations and 
liabilities that arise under it, with each licence taking the form of a deed, which binds the 
licensee to obey the licence conditions.

639. With regard to requests for a restoration bond / cash deposit to be lodged to meet the 
costs of restoration in the event that the application is permitted, the NPPF and nPPG 
provide planning policy and guidance respectively on this subject. As outlined above, 
paragraph 205 of the NPPF states that in considering proposals for mineral extraction, 
MPA’s should provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to be carried 
out to high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate conditions. 
Bonds or other financial guarantees to underpin planning conditions should only be sought 
in exceptional circumstances. 

640. Paragraph 036 of the Minerals chapter of the nPPG states that responsibility for the 
restoration and aftercare of mineral sites, including financial responsibility, lies with the 
minerals operator and, in the case of default, with the landowner. Further, paragraph 048 
explains that a financial guarantee to cover restoration and aftercare costs will normally 
only be justified in exceptional cases. Such cases, include:

  very long-term new projects where progressive reclamation is not practicable, such as 
an extremely large limestone quarry;

  where a novel approach or technique is to be used, but the minerals planning 
authority considers it is justifiable to give permission for the development; and

  where there is reliable evidence of the likelihood of either financial or technical failure, 
but these concerns are not such as to justify refusal of permission.’

641. Both the NPPF and nPPG are material considerations, which the CPA will have regard to 
in determining the above planning applications. However, Government guidance relating 
to restoration of mineral workings looks to planning authorities to put in place policies in 

Page 123

7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals#Aftercare-conditions


plans to ensure land where mineral working has taken place is restored at the earliest 
opportunity and to a high standard. SMP CS DPD Policy MC17 states that mineral working 
will only be permitted where the County Council is satisfied that the site can be restored 
and managed to a high standard and requires sites to be restored progressively where 
appropriate, and for restoration to be completed at the earliest opportunity. In addition, to 
facilitate the objective of achieving a high standard of restoration and bringing land back 
into use, the Minerals Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2011 
provides best practice advice.

642. As the application is for conventional hydrocarbon exploration and appraisal, Officers do 
not believe that a novel approach or technique is to be used which may increase the risk 
of technical failure. The Oil and Gas Authority carries out a financial assessment and will 
require applicants to provide evidence of sufficient funds to meet the drilling costs and the 
plugging and abandonment of the well. In addition the concerns raised regarding technical 
failures fall outside the remit of the MPA as outlined in paragraph 112 of the minerals 
chapter of the nPPG. 

643. This states that the HSE are responsible for enforcement of legislation concerning well 
design and construction. In particular, before design and construction, operators must 
assess and take account of the geological strata, and fluids within them, as well as any 
hazards that the strata may contain. Under health and safety legislation, the integrity of the 
well is subject to examination by independent qualified experts throughout its operation, 
from design through construction and until final plugging at the end of operation. In terms 
of the operation of surface equipment on the well site compound, this paragraph sets out 
that whilst planning conditions may be imposed to prevent run-off of any liquid from the 
pad, and to control any impact on local amenity (such as noise), the actual operation of the 
site’s equipment should not be of concern to mineral planning authorities as these are 
controlled by the EA and the HSE. In addition, in relation to mining waste, paragraph 112 
explains that the EA is responsible for ensuring that extractive wastes do not harm human 
health and the environment. An environmental permit is required for phases of 
hydrocarbon extraction and this will require the operator to produce and implement a 
waste management plan.

644. Further, NPPF paragraph 183 states that the focus of planning policies and decisions 
should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the 
control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control 
regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.

645. In the context of restoring mineral sites, it should be noted that hydrocarbon development 
occupies a much smaller footprint than more traditional and more extensive forms of 
mineral working, such as those associated with the extraction of sharp sand and gravel or 
soft sand, which occupy a much greater area. In view of these considerations, Officers do 
not consider that there are exceptional circumstances to warrant the need for a bond or 
security deposit. This approach is consistent with all other existing hydrocarbon 
developments in Surrey. For these reasons, in the event that planning permission is 
granted, Officers are satisfied that provision for the restoration of the site can be dealt with 
by condition requiring the submission of a detailed scheme for approval, and that there is 
no justification to require a financial bond in this case.

Conclusion

646. Officers are satisfied that the proposal to return the land to agricultural use with woodland 
planting represents a suitable after-use and that the restoration and aftercare of the site 
can be secured by condition. Further, Officers are conscious that the proposal is 
temporary for a period of 3 years and that proposals for enhancement in the form of 
biodiversity net-gain need to be proportionate. In this respect, Officers consider that the 
proposed enhancement measures are acceptable and would result in local environmental 
improvements in the medium and longer term. As a consequence, Officers are satisfied 

Page 124

7



that the site can be restored and managed to a high standard and at the earliest 
opportunity, in a manner that is sympathetic to the character and setting of the wider area 
and capable of sustaining an appropriate after-use. Further, the proposal would deliver 
benefits in terms of enhancements to biodiversity interests. For these reasons, the 
proposal is considered to meet the relevant development plan policy requirements.

Other Issues

Airport Safeguarding

647. NPPF paragraph 204 states that planning policies should ensure that worked land is 
reclaimed at the earliest opportunity, taking account of aviation safety. Paragraph 205 of 
the NPPF requires MPAs to ensure that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on 
aviation safety when considering proposals for minerals extraction. SMP CS DPD Policy 
MC14 seeks to ensure that minerals development does not give rise to a significant 
adverse impact in terms of illumination and the risk of birds striking aircraft.

648. The application site is located outside the airport safeguarding zone for Gatwick Airport 
and approximately 850 metres north of Dunsfold Park, which contains Dunsfold 
Aerodrome. The applicant has submitted a Major Accident and / or Disaster Risk 
Assessment in support of the application. This considers the vulnerability, exposure and 
resilience of the proposed development to the likelihood of a major accident and / or 
disaster from sources beyond the boundary of the site or outside the control of the 
applicant. The assessment identifies land-use hazards as those derived from the proximity 
of the site to potentially hazardous installations and operations which includes flight activity 
associated with Dunsfold Aerodrome, approximately 800 metres to the south-east.

649. This assessment finds that the risk of an air disaster is low in view of current mitigation 
and preparedness and that normal on-site operating procedures and control measures 
should significantly reduce the vulnerability of the development. It goes on to conclude that 
the site is sufficiently remote from land-use hazards to render any risks of disaster unlikely 
or not major. The site is distant from Dunsfold Aerodrome’s main flightpaths and the 
operation of the aerodrome and surrounding industrial processes are subject to a 
framework of health and safety regulations that ensure safe working practices and 
acceptable environmental impacts. With regard to natural hazards, the assessment 
considers that a combination of sensible site selection, design mitigation and appropriate 
on-site regulations is sufficient to manage any external hazard and make any residual risk 
unlikely, not major and acceptable in planning terms.

650. Gatwick Airport were notified of the proposed development and advised that they had no 
issues having assessed the proposed drilling rigs and estimated crane heights against 
their Instrument Flight Procedures and taken the shrouded flares into account. Dunsfold 
Park were consulted on the application and in their response, advised that it was not 
apparent that the applicant had properly considered the sensitivity of existing uses at 
Dunsfold Park including the use of the operational airfield. They also requested that the 
proposed tall structures and gas flaring activities were brought to the attention of the Civil 
Aviation Authority (CAA).

651. Alfold Parish Council, supported by both Dunsfold and Cranleigh Parish Councils’, has 
raised objection due to the impact on aviation safety. A representation submitted in 
response to the application has stated that input should be provided from the CAA to 
ensure the safety of the operational airfield is maintained.

652. The CAA has referred the CPA to their standing advice which provides planning guidance 
on the need to consult the CAA. This requires the CAA to be notified of details of proposed 
flaring activity within the vicinity of an aerodrome. The CPA has subsequently informed the 
CAA of details of the proposed flaring activity and forwarded copies of the relevant plans.

Page 125

7



653. The CPA has provided the CAA with the wording of a suggested condition requiring 
obstacle lights to be placed as close as possible to the top of the drilling and workover rigs 
and any crane deployed. The CAA’s response advises that although Dunsfold Aerodrome 
is not licenced, to avoid danger to aircraft flying in the vicinity in darkness or poor visibility, 
any structure or erection in the vicinity of an aerodrome should safeguard those aircraft 
with provisions, whether by lighting or otherwise, for giving such aircraft warning of their 
presence. They also advise that Article 240 of the Air Navigation Order 2016 makes it an 
offence to endanger the safety of an aircraft. Consequently if obstacles are erected this 
close to an aerodrome with insufficient safeguards, the CAA has confirmed that they could 
deem this as endangering an aircraft. In relation to the proposed condition, the CAA has 
advised that this is acceptable stating that this would be a good mitigation.

654. The CAA has referred to their publication “Guidance to Crane Operators on Aviation 
Lighting and Notification”. This provides the construction industry with a summary of 
existing regulation, duty of care expectations placed upon crane users and recommended 
best practice. They request that the operator contacts both the CAA’s Operations Team 
and the Military Low Flying Cell once operational dates for the site are established and 
before site activity takes place. They also requested that their “Crane Notification Form” is 
completed by the operator and submitted to the CAA’s Operations Team.

655. This information has been passed onto the applicant. In response, the applicant has 
confirmed that UKOG (234) Ltd are familiar with the “Guidance to Crane Operators on 
Aviation Lighting and Notification” as a result of the operational activity at Horse Hill and its 
proximity to Gatwick Airport. Further, the applicant has confirmed that the information and 
advice contained in the CAA’s response has been passed directly to UKOG (234) Ltd.

656. As set out in the restoration section above, the County Restoration and Enhancement 
Team, Gatwick Airport and the operator of Dunsfold Aerodrome have not raised concerns 
in relation to the risk of birds striking aircraft. 

Drilling Methodology

657. The submitted Planning Statement sets out that flow tests and pressure data from the 
Broadford Bridge and Horse Hill well sites have been sub-commercial which is why the 
‘potential means of recovery’ needs to be tested at Loxley in compliance with SMP Policy 
MC12. This is precisely why the side-track well (L-1z) forms part of the development 
proposal. Side-track well L-1z will allow alternate completion methodology, new 
completion fluids and the possible use of small-bore radial drilling to be deployed in the 
search for higher sustainable recovery rates. Knowledge gained at Loxley would be used 
elsewhere within the PEDL-234 licence area to benefit hydrocarbon recovery.

658. The Borough Council Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has requested 
that the application be refused due to the lack of clarity about the method of drilling 
proposed. Dunsfold Parish Council has objected to the application stating that SCC must 
require UKOG to fully disclose the "alternate completion methodology, new completion 
fluids and the possible use of small-bore radial drilling” that they are proposing to use. The 
Campaign to Protect Rural England has raised objection due to the need for acid fracking, 
matrix acidisation or nitrogen uplift.

659. A representation received in support of the application has stated that the application does 
not involve ‘fracking’ and must be approved as it is for the natural progression of oil 
extraction. A number of representations opposed to the application have raised concerns 
in relation to the drilling methodology. These relate to: the impacts of strong chemical ‘acid 
fracturing’ being unknown; the use of new completion fluids suggests that a substance 
stronger than vinegar will be used; a lack of information on extraction processes and how 
impacts will be mitigated; stimulation being required to obtain reserves at commercial 
rates; concern that the proposal involves ‘fracking’; and the impacts of strong chemical 
‘acid fracturing’ being unknown.

Page 126

7



660. The oil and gas industry is heavily regulated and requires a range of licences, permits and 
consents from the OGA, HSE, EA, and the MPA. In relation to the role of the MPA in 
devising planning policies and making decisions, paragraph 183 of the NPPF says that the 
focus should be on whether the proposed development is an acceptable use of the land, 
rather than the control of processes or emissions where these are subject to separate 
pollution control regimes. Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will 
operate effectively. Hence, the CPA is primarily concerned with whether or not the 
development and use of the land on the surface is acceptable in planning terms and 
whether any adverse impacts can be suitably mitigated. 

661. The drilling methodology to be used relates to sub-surface operations and any concerns 
about this aspect of the development is not considered to be a matter for the CPA to 
resolve, control or monitor. The OGA has responsibility for authorising the consent to drill 
and extended well testing (EWT). Further, the operator is required to send notifications 
about the design, construction and operation of the well, and any potential for the 
accidental release of fluids, to the HSE. This is to enable them to assess the well design 
and operations before activity starts, so that issues likely to impact on well integrity can be 
identified and addressed. However, the relevant licensing regime associated with the 
drilling methodology is operated by the EA with controls put in place through the 
environmental permitting process.

662. Due to the number of queries about the use of a group of techniques known as 
‘acidisation’ at conventional oil and gas exploration and production sites, particularly in the 
Weald Basin, the EA published a factsheet on ‘acidisation’ in January 2018. This explains 
how acidisation is a common technique carried out to clean and develop wells and is 
widely used in both the water industry and the oil and gas industry. It confirms that the EA 
takes any environmental risks associated with oil and gas exploration and production very 
seriously and are committed to ensuring that people and the environment are protected. 
Oil and gas companies must obtain the necessary environmental permits, unless the 
activity is exempt from the need for a permit. If the proposed activity poses an 
unacceptable risk to the environment it will not be permitted. If for any reason there is a 
breach of a permit condition or environmental legislation, the Environment Agency has a 
range of enforcement powers available including warnings, notices and prosecution. Any 
enforcement action is taken in line with the Environment Agency’s Enforcement and 
Sanctions guidance.

663. The fact sheet explains that acidisation is a term used in the oil and gas industry for 
different activities using diluted acid. It involves pumping acid into a drilled well or 
geological formation that is capable of producing oil and / or gas. This is commonly 
referred to as a target formation. The purpose of acidisation is to clean out the well 
following drilling and to improve the productivity of the well. The term acidisation can 
include acid washes, matrix acidisation and fracture acidisation. Other terms that are 
frequently used to cover matrix acidisation and fracture acidisation include “acid squeezes” 
and “stimulation” respectively.

664. The document states that it is important that the EA has a clear understanding of the type 
of acidisation activities that are proposed at a site. The information provided is used to 
make a regulatory decision with respect to whether the activity is acceptable or not, and 
whether an environmental permit can be granted or whether an exclusion applies. Further 
the type(s) of geology present determines the type(s) of acid necessary to carry out the 
treatment. The most commonly used acid is hydrochloric acid. It is usually used at a 
concentration of 15% or less. It is used to dissolve carbonate rocks, such as limestone or 
dolomite, or to dissolve calcite cement. Very occasionally hydrofluoric acid may be 
required to dissolve quartz or silica based rocks, such as sandstone or clay. 

665. The factsheet goes on to explain that additional chemicals and fluids may be added to 
protect the integrity of the well. These include inhibitors to prevent the acid damaging the 

Page 127

7



steel casing in the well and sequestering agents to prevent the formation of gels or the 
precipitation of naturally occurring iron in the well. The acid introduced to the particular 
geological formation in the well reacts with the alkaline carbonate based rocks and creates 
a chloride salt solution, carbon dioxide gas and water. Once acid has been used and has 
reacted with the rocks, it is referred to as “spent acid”. 

666. When an activity involving acid is carried out on the well the spent acid is circulated back 
to the surface. Most of the acid is used up during the chemical reaction, as it reacts with 
the rocks. If the fluid coming to the surface is still acidic it is neutralised with soda ash. Any 
carbon dioxide gas produced will be controlled at the site surface, at the well head with 
valves and pressure release technology. If the well is being used for oil or gas production 
the spent acid is produced along with the oil, gas and water in the geological formation. 
The rate that the hydrochloric acid reacts with the carbonate rocks depends on several 
factors, including the temperature, the concentration of the acid and the surface area of 
the carbonate rock available. The type of treatment to be carried out and the permeability 
of the geological rock formation determines the pressure required for pumping the acid in 
to the well. The factsheet confirms that in relation to the different types of ‘acidisation’, the 
EA does not consider an acid wash, matrix acidisation or fracture acidisation / acid 
fracturing to be a form of well stimulation.

667. When considering any proposal for acid use, the EA assess the type, concentration and 
quantity of acid to be used, along with details of any other chemicals (such as inhibitors or 
sequestering agents) on a site specific basis. They assess each of the chemicals to see if 
they are considered to be hazardous or non-hazardous, as defined by the Water 
Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) and the Groundwater Daughter Directive 
(2006/118/EC). To do this they check the chemical details against the list, or the 
methodology, provided by Joint Agencies Groundwater Directive Advisory Group 
(JAGDAG).

668. The EA check the predicted natural geological sequence and the predicted characteristics 
of the rocks at the specific site. For oil and gas exploration or production sites the target 
formations are deep below ground. The EA check that the target formation is naturally 
more permeable than the layers of rocks above and below it and that the permeability of 
the layers of rocks above and below it provide a natural seal to prevent migration of fluids. 
This ensures that there is adequate separation between any groundwater in aquifers near 
the ground surface and the target formation and that the acid will stay in the target 
formation and not migrate in to other formations.

669. To regulate the use of acids to protect groundwater, the EA may request confirmation of 
the proposed treatment activity (i.e. an acid wash, matrix acidisation or fracture acidisation 
or sometimes “acid squeeze”; the type, volume, concentration and quantity of acid to be 
used; details (including concentrations and quantities) of any other chemicals that are to 
be used including chemicals used to neutralise any spent fluid that will be returned to the 
surface (such as soda ash); how any waste products produced will be disposed of; and  
the specification of the well and target formation(s) in which acidisation will be used. 

670. The well specification will be to a standard to prevent any migration of acid in to other 
geological formations. If the EA have any concerns relating to this they would work with 
the operator and the HSE to investigate. The operator will also provide information on how 
they will seal the well so that they only use acid in the particular section of the target 
formation that they wish to work on.

Seismicity

671. A number of concerns have been raised over the potential for the application to result in 
earthquakes or tremors. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection due to the lack of 
information submitted on a range of technical information including in relation to major 
accidents including tremors. The Borough Council Portfolio Holder for Environment and 

Page 128

7



Sustainability has requested that the application be refused due to the lack of assessment 
of potential seismic impacts. Dunsfold, Alfold and Cranleigh Parish Councils’ along with 
the Hascombe Estate, have also objected to the development raising similar concerns. A 
number of representations have also been received raising concerns about this matter. 
Some have referred to the presence of fault lines in the geology beneath the site, and 
other concerns have been expressed that extraction would extend beneath the proposed 
new settlement at the airfield and that the proposal is just as likely to cause earthquakes 
as fracking.

672. The oil and gas industry is heavily regulated by a number of agencies including the MPA. 
However, the risk of earthquakes is not a matter for the MPA to resolve as part of the 
consideration of this application. Paragraph 112 of the Minerals Chapter of the nPPG 
states that a number of issues exist which are covered by other regulatory regimes and 
MPA’s should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Whilst these issues may 
be put before MPAs, they should not need to carry out their own assessment as they can 
rely on the assessment of other regulatory bodies.

673. This explains that the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) has 
responsibility for assessing the risk of and monitoring seismic activity. Further in terms of 
what hydrocarbon issues MPAs can leave to other regulatory regimes, paragraph 112 of 
the nPPG Minerals Chapters adds that DECC is responsible for controls, usually through 
the licence consent regime, to mitigate seismic risks.

674. In July 2016, DECC became part of the Government Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). It is now the OGA, which comprises a Government 
company with the Secretary of State for BEIS the sole shareholder, which has strict 
controls in place to ensure that operators manage the risk of induced seismicity resulting 
from the exploration, appraisal and production of hydrocarbons.

675. On 24 December 2019, the High Court refused permission for the Claimant to apply for 
judicial review (CO Ref: CO/4441/2019) of Surrey County Council’s decision on 27 
September 2019 to grant planning permission for the retention and extension of an 
existing well site at Horse Hill. This permission allowed the drilling of four new hydrocarbon 
wells to enable hydrocarbon production from six wells for a period of 25 years. A renewed 
application for permission to apply for judicial review was refused on 13 February 2020.

676. The third ground of challenge was that SCC failed to take into account a material 
consideration and / or erred in law by failing to consider the risk of earthquakes from the 
development. The judge found that SCC did not conclude that the risk of earthquakes was 
not material to its decision about planning permission, but, rather, that any dispute about 
such a risk was not for SCC to resolve, or make any recommendations about to the OGA. 
The judge stated that the relevant licensing regime is operated not by SCC, but by the 
OGA; in particular, the OGA can impose monitoring requirements, and can also stop 
development. The judge went on to conclude that SCC’s approach to this question was 
consistent with national policy and guidance. The Order dated 13 February 2020 may still 
be appealed.

Health and Safety

677. Waverley Borough Council has raised objection to the development due to concerns that 
the assessment of major accidents should be extended to consider the impacts of the 
proposed development on any identified output on factors such as climate change, fires, 
winds, spillage / contamination, flight paths and acts of terrorism / protest. The Borough 
Council Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability has requested that the 
application be refused due to the lack of clarity about chemicals to be used and storage 
and use of explosives. Alfold and Cranleigh Parish Councils’ have strongly objected to the 
application and urged the County Council to take into account the impact from protesters. 

Page 129

7



A representation has been received claiming that the HSE is not sufficiently resourced to 
monitor the site in the future.

678. Matters of health and safety and fire risk are enforced by the Health and Safety Executive 
(HSE) and would have to meet the strict safety code of the Borehole Site and Operation 
Regulations (BSOR) 1995 and other regulatory regimes of the EA and OGA.

679. A Major Accident and / or Disaster Risk Assessment has been submitted in support of the 
application. This considers the vulnerability, exposure and resilience of the proposed 
development to the likelihood of a major accident and / or disaster from sources beyond 
the boundary of the site or outside the control of the applicant.

680. This states that the site is sufficiently remote from land-use hazards to render any risks of 
disaster unlikely or not major. The site is distant from Dunsfold Aerodrome’s main 
flightpaths and the operation of the aerodrome and surrounding industrial processes are 
subject to a framework of health and safety regulations that ensure safe working practices 
and acceptable environmental impacts.

681. It also explains that with regard to natural hazards, there will be no increase in the site’s 
vulnerability given that the same considerate construction and drilling practices employed 
to date for previous sites will be engaged again. Work during extreme weather events will 
be stopped to break the pathway from any external hazard. All plant and machinery will be 
certified, securely installed and operated consistent with relevant EA permits and other 
relevant regulations. Further, the assessment considers that a combination of sensible site 
selection, design mitigation and appropriate on-site regulations is sufficient to manage any 
external hazard and make any residual risk unlikely, not major and acceptable in planning 
terms.

682. Paragraph 112 of the Minerals Chapter of the nPPG states that a number of issues exist 
which are covered by other regulatory regimes and MPA’s should assume that these 
regimes will operate effectively. Whilst these issues may be put before MPAs, they should 
not need to carry out their own assessment as they can rely on the assessment of other 
regulatory bodies.

683. This paragraph goes on to explain that the HSE are responsible for enforcement of 
legislation concerning well design and construction. Before design and construction, 
operators must assess and take account of the geological strata, and fluids within them, as 
well as any hazards that the strata may contain. Under health and safety legislation, the 
integrity of the well is subject to examination by independent qualified experts throughout 
its operation, from design through construction and until final plugging at the end of 
operation.

684. In terms of the operation of surface equipment on the well pad, paragraph 112 states that 
whilst planning conditions may be imposed to prevent run-off of any liquid from the pad, 
and to control any impact on local amenity, the actual operation of the site’s equipment 
should not be of concern to MPAs as these are controlled by the Environment Agency and 
the Health and Safety Executive. Further, with regard to well decommissioning / 
abandonment following exploration, the well is likely to be suspended and abandoned for a 
period of time. Health and Safety legislation requires design and construction to be carried 
out in such a way that, so far as reasonably practicable, there is no unplanned escape of 
fluids from it.

685. The HSE has been consulted on the application and has responded by advising that the 
proposed development site does not lie within the consultation distance of a major hazard 
site or major accident hazard pipeline. The HSE has also provided detailed information on 
their role in respect of the regulation of onshore oil and gas wells as set out in the 
‘Planning Considerations’ section above. This confirms that risk management procedures 
are incorporated into The Health and Safety Plan required by the HSE under the BSOR 

Page 130

7



Regulations 1995. Where appropriate, this requires: an escape plan and a plan for the 
prevention of fire and explosions including in particular provisions for preventing blowouts 
and any uncontrolled escape of flammable gases and for detecting the presence of 
flammable atmospheres.

686. In relation to the risk of protester activity and terrorism, these are not considered to be 
matters for the CPA to resolve. The CPA has liaised with the County Council’s Emergency 
Planning Team with regard to this application who are themselves in contact with Surrey 
Police.

House Prices

687. Representations have been received objecting to the application due to, amongst other 
matters, the negative impact on house prices that will result from the proposed 
development. This is not a matter that the CPA can take into consideration during the 
determination of planning applications.

Lack of Oil Reserves

688. A representation has been received objecting to the proposal stating that refusal could 
avoid a lot of disruption as there are no large oil reserves in the area. The primary target of 
the proposed development is gas. The secondary target is oil. The purpose of the 
application is to ascertain whether or not commercial volumes of gas and/or oil are present 
which are capable of being exploited.

Community Benefits

689. A representation has queried how the operator’s cash contribution to the local community 
would work in practice. The provision of community benefits is at the discretion of the 
operator and would only be considered if commercially exploitable volumes of 
hydrocarbons are found to be present enabling a subsequent planning application for 
production in the longer term to be submitted. No community benefits are proposed during 
the exploration and appraisal stages which are the subject of this application.

Future Application for Production

690. In the determination of this application, Dunsfold Parish Council has urged the County 
Council to consider the likely next steps and subsequent applications since many local 
residents consider that the consequences are so adverse that the County Council should 
conclude that the site is not fit for even a limited exploratory operation. This is because if 
commercially viable reserves were to be found, it would be very difficult to reject the 
subsequent development proposal. In carrying out its duties including the determination of 
planning applications, the CPA is required to treat each application on its merits. For this 
reason, the implications of a potential future planning application for hydrocarbon 
production in the longer term cannot be taken into consideration during the determination 
of this application.

Lack of Consultation

691. Cranleigh Parish Council strongly object to the application due to a lack of consultation 
amongst other matters. A representation has been received requesting that the 
determination of the application be delayed to facilitate proper publicity and public 
engagement over the proposed access via Pratts Corner following the ‘late’ withdrawal of 
application WA/2019/1089 for an alternative access from Dunsfold Road to the north. The 
application has been made publicly available since 14 June 2019. Whilst additional 
documentation and information has been submitted by the applicant and made publicly 
available since this time, Officers consider that this has allowed ample time for any 
interested persons to submit representations on the proposal and make their views known.

Page 131

7



Utility Information

692. The National Grid has no record of owning any infrastructure in the vicinity of the 
application site. In an automated response to an online query, the HSE has advised that 
the proposed development site does not currently lie within the consultation distance of a 
major hazard site or major accident hazard pipeline. An automated response to an online 
enquiry has confirmed that SGN does not have any gas utility infrastructure within the 
vicinity of the application site. To err on the side of caution, in the event that planning 
permission is granted, and in case any gas utility infrastructure is found, a number of 
guidance documents and safety information supplied by SGN have been sent to the 
applicant. These comprise: SGN’s response letter; ‘Know What’s Below: Protecting You 
and Your Family’; relevant SGN infrastructure plans; ‘Safety Advice - Valves’; and, ‘Dig 
Safely: Measures to Avoid Injury and Damage to Gas Pipes’. The applicant has been 
requested to forward this information onto the site operator so that this information can be 
brought to the attention of their contractors in the event that planning permission is 
granted.  

693. In an automated response to an online query, UK Power Networks has indicated the 
presence of an 11 KV underground cable in the vicinity of Dunsfold Road, Pratts Corner 
and High Loxley Road, an abandoned underground cable crossing High Loxley Road and 
a sub-station west of High Loxley Road. Again, safety information and guidance 
documents have been provided by UK Power Networks and passed onto the applicant and 
operator to bring to the attention of their contractors in the event that planning permission 
is granted. These comprise: the covering letter from UK Power Networks; the relevant 
utility infrastructure plans; and ‘Think before you Dig under Ground.

694. The applicant has advised that once they select a site as being a possible host for 
hydrocarbon development, one of the first acts performed by the construction manager is 
to ensure that there would be no unacceptable infrastructure constraints including in 
relation to gas, electricity, water and drainage networks. The applicant has advised that 
these matters have been carefully considered.

HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

695. The Human Rights Act Guidance for Interpretation, contained in the Preamble to the 
Agenda is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in conjunction with the 
following paragraph.

696. It is recognised that there would be some slight to modest temporary adverse impacts 
largely in terms of landscape, and amenity in relation to visual, noise, air quality, traffic and 
lighting disturbance, from the drilling, testing and appraisal, and future maintenance, at the 
site over a temporary period of 3 years. The impacts during construction, site preparation 
and restoration are considered to be negligible to slight. Nevertheless, it is the view of 
Officers that the scale of any potential impacts are not considered sufficient to engage 
Article 8 or Article 1 of the Convention and that the potential impacts will not be significant 
and can be mitigated by planning conditions to an acceptable degree. As a consequence, 
this proposal is not considered to interfere with any Convention right.

CONCLUSION

697. This application is for the first and second stages of onshore oil and gas development, 
namely exploration and appraisal, and is for a temporary period of three years. It involves 
the construction of a new well site compound and access track, a new highway junction 
with High Loxley Road, highway safety improvements along High Loxley Road and at the 
junction between High Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road, the erection of a boundary fence 

Page 132

7



and entrance gates followed by the installation of plant and machinery, the drilling of one 
exploratory well (Loxley-1) and one side-track well (Loxley-1z) and the appraisal and 
testing of hydrocarbon minerals with restoration to agriculture.  

698. The primary target for exploration is gas from the Portland Sandstone Formation within the 
Godley Bridge Gas Discovery. This consists of a hydrocarbon reservoir up to 2km below 
ground and 2km wide, stretching from Chiddingfold in the west to Alfold Crossways in the 
east. The secondary target is oil from the deeper Kimmeridge Limestone Formation. The 
proposal will comprise 4 distinct phases: Phase 1: Access and Well Site Construction; 
Phase 2: Drilling, Testing and Appraisal; Phase 3: Well Plugging, Abandonment and 
Decommissioning; and Phase 4: Site Restoration.

699. The application site is situated around 1 mile north-east of Dunsfold on an agricultural field 
in countryside beyond the green belt. The site is designated as AGLV and is situated 
within the setting of the AONB which is located approximately 530 metres to the north of 
the well site compound. All lorry traffic accessing and egressing the site is proposed to be 
routed via Dunsfold Road and the A281 to the east which connects Guildford and 
Horsham with details to be provided as part of a Transport Management Plan to be 
secured by condition prior to the commencement of the development. 

700. The oil and gas industry is heavily regulated and requires a range of licences, permits and 
consents from the OGA, the HSE, the EA, and the MPA. In terms of the role of the MPA, 
the NPPF says that the focus should be on whether the proposed development is an 
acceptable use of the land, rather than the control of processes or emissions where these 
are subject to separate pollution control regimes. Planning decisions should assume that 
these regimes will operate effectively.

701. The CPA’s adopted EIA Screening Opinion recommends that the proposal does not 
constitute ‘EIA development’. This is given the small area of land affected, the low 
volumes of any hydrocarbons that would be extracted, and the site not being located 
within any sensitive areas as defined within the relevant guidance and regulations. Officers 
are satisfied that the proposal accords with national energy and planning policy and 
consider that there is a demonstrable need to maintain a stable and reliable supply of 
indigenous energy sources into the future, by maximising the recovery of domestic 
supplies and contributing to the energy mix. Officers attribute significant weight to this 
aspect of the proposal and conclude that the development is in the national and wider 
public interest.

702. Officers conclude that the proposal would not conflict with the climate change agenda and 
acknowledge that climate change and energy policies are interlinked with the Government 
recognising that both the way we produce and use energy plays a major part in meeting 
the challenge of climate change. Officers therefore consider that the need for 
hydrocarbons to support a diverse energy mix, provide energy security, reduce reliance on 
imports by increasing domestic sources of supply and support the transition to a low 
carbon economy remain relevant despite recent declarations of a climate emergency and 
the recent publication of Surrey’s Climate Change Strategy.

703. The proposal has been found to be acceptable on highway safety, capacity and policy 
grounds subject to the imposition of a number of planning conditions to ensure that the 
development does not prejudice highway safety or cause inconvenience to other highway 
users. Whilst it is acknowledged that the site is situated in a sensitive landscape, the 
impact would be exacerbated by the clear-felling of woodland to the north, east and south-
east and that the proposal would create a more industrialised feel along the northern 
section of High Loxley Road, Officers conclude that as these impacts would be mitigated 
by a combination of factors, there would be no significant adverse impact on landscape 
and visual amenity. Whilst it would not be possible to screen the uppermost sections of the 
tallest structures comprising the crane or drilling rig, and potentially to a lesser extent, a 
coil tubing unit and two shrouded flares, proposed fencing with camouflage netting will 

Page 133

7



help to screen views of ground based cabins, plant, machinery and equipment. Further, 
views from all except the nearest locations, which would include the public bridleway 
running along the southern boundary of the well site host field, would be largely filtered by 
existing vegetation around field boundaries and along road side verges reducing the 
impact to an acceptable level.      

704. The application site is not located within an AQMA. An assessment of the proposal in 
relation to construction dust, in- combination effects and emissions from road traffic, 
engines, generators, HGVs and flares at the nearest locations of human exposure and 
ecological sites demonstrate that there will be no substantial threat to the attainment of 
ambient air directive limits. Officers therefore conclude that the impact on air quality is not 
likely to be significant. Subject to the provision of mitigation measures and the imposition 
of conditions, Officers are satisfied that the development would not give rise to a 
significant adverse impact on noise, either from temporary operations or during the day 
time and night time periods, or light trespass or glare on residential receptors, the level of 
‘sky-glow’ or light spill on ecological receptors.

705. The impacts of the proposal on surface water management, groundwater and the use, 
quality and integrity of land and soil resources and land stability have been assessed and 
found to be acceptable in planning terms subject to the imposition of conditions. Further, 
the EA has confirmed that additional measures to safeguard the water environment will be 
included as part of the environmental permitting process. Additionally, subject to the 
imposition of conditions requiring the submission of both an initial and final LEBREP to 
replace any lost vegetation at the earliest opportunity, secure the provision of biodiversity 
‘net-gain’ and to ensure that the final restoration scheme takes into account the prevailing 
ecological conditions at that time, the proposal would not have a significant adverse 
impact on ecology and biodiversity.

706. The application has been found acceptable on archaeological grounds subject to a 
condition requiring the prior approval of a Written Scheme of Investigation detailing a 
programme of architectural works to be undertaken. With regard to heritage assets and 
their setting, Officers conclude that the impacts of the development would not result in any 
harm to Hascombe Camp and Dunsfold Conservation Area or their respective settings 
although it would result in less than substantial harm to a number of listed buildings in the 
vicinity of the site as well as their settings. However the harm is reduced by partial 
vegetation screening and the mitigation measures proposed by the applicant. In view of 
the need for the development, which is considered to be in the national and wider public 
interest, Officers consider that the temporary less than substantial harm is outweighed by 
other public benefits. In addition, Officers have found that the proposal would not have a 
significant adverse impact on the rights of way network or in relation to cumulative impacts 
in terms of traffic, air quality and ecology.

707. Finally, in terms of restoration, Officers are satisfied that the proposal to return the land to 
agricultural use with woodland planting represents a suitable after-use and that the 
restoration and aftercare of the site can be secured by condition. Further, the proposed 
enhancement measures would result in local environmental improvements in the medium 
and longer term. Consequently, Officers believe that the site can be restored and 
managed to a high standard and at the earliest opportunity, in a manner that is 
sympathetic to the character and setting of the wider area and which is capable of 
sustaining an appropriate after-use.

708. Consultees providing specialist technical advice have found the proposal to be acceptable 
subject to the imposition of planning conditions where stated. Waverley Borough Council 
has raised objection to the proposal on 17 grounds and a number of local parish councils 
and amenity groups have objected strongly to the proposal. A large number of 
representations have been received of which around 78% object to the proposal for a wide 
range of reasons. The reasons for these objections have been carefully considered. 
Officers acknowledge the concerns raised and that the proposal would give rise to some 

Page 134

7



temporary impacts on amenity, especially given the rural nature of the locality. However 
mineral working is a temporary activity and in this case the proposal would last for up to 
three years. 

709. In conclusion, on the basis of the specialist advice received from consultees on technical 
matters, the assessment of both relevant national and local development plan policies and 
the demonstrable need for the development which is considered to be in the national and 
wider public interest, Officers consider that on balance, with proposed mitigation measures 
in place and the imposition of a number of planning conditions, the proposed development 
would not give rise to any significant adverse environmental or amenity impacts and meets 
the relevant development plan policy requirements. For these reasons, the planning 
application may therefore be permitted.

RECOMMENDATION

The recommendation is to PERMIT application WA/2019/0796 subject to the following 
conditions:

IMPORTANT - CONDITION NOs 9, 13, 14, 22, 25, 27, 30 and 31 
MUST BE DISCHARGED PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE DEVELOPMENT

THERE ARE OTHER CONDITIONS REQUIRING SCHEMES TO BE APPROVED PRIOR TO 
THE COMMENCEMENT OF CERTAIN OPERATIONS

CONDITIONS:

Approved Plans and Drawings 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in all respects in accordance with 
the following plans/drawings:

Drawing No Rev Title Date
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
01 0 Site Location Plan March 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
02 0 Location Plan March 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
03 0 Existing Site Plan (Composite) March 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
04 0 Existing Site Plan 1 of 3 (Well Site to Burchetts 

SW Corner) 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
05 0 Existing Site Plan 2 of 3 (Burchetts SW Corner 

to Burchetts NW Corner) 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
06 0 Existing Site Plan 3 of 3 (Burchetts NW Corner 

to High Loxley Road) 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
07 0 Existing Sections Plan (Well Site) March 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
08 1 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 1 of 4 (Well 

Site) 
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
09 1 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 2 of 4 (Well 

Site to Burchetts SW Corner)
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
10 0 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 3 of 4 

(Burchetts SW Corner to Burchetts NW Corner) 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
11 0 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 4 of 4 

(Burchetts NW Corner to High Loxley Road) 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA- 1 Proposed Construction Sections Plan December 

Page 135

7



Drawing No Rev Title Date
12 2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
13 0 Proposed Access Layout Plan - High Loxley 

Road 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
14 0 Proposed Access Layout Plan - Pratts Corner March 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
15 1 Drilling Mode Layout Plan December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
16 1 Section Through Drilling Mode Layout Plan 

(BDF Rig 28 - Height 37m)  
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
17 0 Section Through BDF Rig 28 Drilling Rig (Height 

37m)
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
18 0 Section Through BDF Rig 51 Drilling Rig (Height 

38m)
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
19 1 Initial Flow Testing Mode Layout Plan December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
20 1 Section Through Initial Flow Testing Mode 

Layout Plan
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
21 1 Section Through PWWS MOOR 475 Workover 

Rig (Height 35m) May 2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
22 0 Section Through PWWS IDECO BIR H35 

Workover Rig (Height 34m) 
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
23 1 Extended Well Testing Mode Layout Plan (with 

Temporary Noise Mitigation) 
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
24 1 Section Through Extended Well Testing Mode 

Layout Plan   
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
25 1 Retention Mode Layout Plan December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
26 1 Section Through Retention Mode Layout Plan December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
27 1 Proposed Well Site Fencing & Gates Section 

Plan   
December 

2019
ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
28 0 Proposed Entrance Fencing, Gates & Security 

Cabin Section Plan
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
29 0 Proposed Restoration Layout Plan 1 of 5 (Well 

Site)
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
30 0 Proposed Restoration Layout Plan 2 of 5 (Well 

Site to Burchetts SW Corner)  
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
31 0 Proposed Restoration Layout Plan 3 of 5 

(Burchetts SW Corner to Burchetts NW Corner)  
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
32 0 Proposed Restoration Layout Plan 4 of 5 

(Burchetts NW Corner to High Loxley Road)  
March 
2019

ZG-UKOG-L1-PA-
33 0 Proposed Restoration Sections Plan 5 of 5 (Well 

Site)  
March 
2019

6033.504 A Wellsite Construction Details Sheet 2 
13 

February 
2019

SK-04 B Post-mitigation Scheme of Lighting Layout
1 

November 
2019

2. From the date that any works commence in association with the development hereby 
permitted until the cessation of the development/completion of the operations to which it 
refers, a copy of this permission including all documents hereby approved and any 
documents subsequently approved in accordance with this permission, shall be available 
to the site manager, and shall be made available to any person(s) given the responsibility 
for the management or control of operations.

Page 136

7



Commencement 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this permission. The developer shall notify the County Planning Authority 
in writing within seven working days of the commencement of the implementation of the 
planning permission.

Time Limits

4. The development hereby permitted shall be for a limited period only, expiring 3 years from 
the date of the implementation of the planning permission referred to in Condition 3. By 
this date, all buildings, plant and machinery (both fixed and otherwise) and any 
engineering works connected therewith, on or related to the application site (including any 
hard surface constructed for any purpose), shall be removed from the application site and 
the site shall be reinstated in accordance with the restoration details set out in Condition 
32. Notwithstanding this, any plant or equipment required to make the site safe in 
accordance with the Oil & Gas Authority general arrangement requirements at the time 
and agreed with the County Planning Authority may remain in position.

 
5. Prior written notification of the date of commencement for each phase of development 

works hereby permitted (Phases 1-4 as described at Section 3 of the Planning Statement 
and Environmental Report, including workovers and side-tracks) shall be sent in writing to 
the County Planning Authority not less than seven days before such commencement.

Hours of Operation

6. With the exception of drilling, workovers, extended well tests and short-term testing, no 
lights shall be illuminated nor shall any operations or activities authorised or required by 
this permission, take place other than during the hours of: 

07:00 to 19:00 hours on Monday to Friday; 
09:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturday. 

Apart from the exceptions referred to above, there shall be no working at any time on 
Sundays, Bank Holidays, Public or National Holidays.

Highways, Traffic and Access

7. No operations associated with the well site compound shall take place unless and until the 
proposed access road within the site including its junction with High Loxley Road and any 
highway works at the junction of High Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road have been 
constructed. The junction of the site and High Loxley Road shall be provided with 2.4m x 
70m visibility splays in both the leading and trailing traffic directions in accordance with the 
approved plans and, thereafter, the visibility splays shall be kept permanently clear of any 
obstruction above 0.6m high. No other development shall begin before the junction works 
and the new access road within the site have been completed.

8. Within 3 months of the well site decommissioning, the site access onto High Loxley Road 
shall be permanently closed, any kerbs and verges fully reinstated and the highway works 
at the junction of High Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road shall be removed and the highway 
fully reinstated.

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Transport 
Management Plan, in accordance with the submitted Framework Construction Transport 
Management Plan (dated September 2019), shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the County Planning Authority. The plan shall cover all phases of the development and 
include: 

Page 137

7



(a) Parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors;

(b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials;

(c) Storage of plant and materials;

(d) Programme of works for each phase;

(e) Provision of boundary hoarding behind any visibility zones;

(f) HGV deliveries and hours of operation;

(g) HGV routeing;

(h) Measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway;

(i) ‘Pre’ and ‘Post’ construction condition surveys of the highway and a commitment to 
fund the repair of any damage caused: i) between the site entrance on High Loxley 
Road and the junction between High Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road; and ii) the 
section of Dunsfold Road situated 20 metres either side of the junction between High 
Loxley Road and Dunsfold Road;

(j) On-site turning for construction vehicles;

(k) Abnormal Load Traffic Management Plan;

(l) Having consulted with High Billinghurst Farm the submission of traffic management 
measures, by phase, for the cumulative traffic flows generated by the development 
hereby permitted and High Billinghurst Farm during an ‘event’ (as defined by 
Waverley Borough Council Decision Notice WA/2020/0220 dated 26th March 2020). 
The measures shall be designed to minimise the use of traffic signals or optimise 
signal operation in the interests of the free flow of traffic within High Loxley Road;

(m) Measures for traffic management by phase at the High Loxley Road/Dunsfold 
Common Road/Dunsfold Road junctions; and

(n) Measures for traffic management by phase at the junction of the site access track 
and High Loxley Road.

Only the approved details shall be implemented as part of the development.

10. No operations involving the bulk movement of materials to or from the development site 
shall commence unless and until facilities have been provided in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority so far 
as is reasonably practicable to prevent the creation of dangerous conditions for road users 
on the public highway. The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented, retained 
and used whenever the said operations are undertaken.

11. The development hereby permitted shall not be first brought into use unless and until 
space has been laid out within the site in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority for HGV parking, loading, 
unloading and on-site turning (so that they may enter and leave the site in a forward gear). 
Thereafter the parking, loading, unloading and turning areas shall be retained and 
maintained for the designated purposes.

12. There shall be:

Page 138

7



(a) no more than 20 two-way (10 in - 10 out) HGV movements to or from the site in any 
one day. The site operator shall maintain accurate records of the number of HGV’s 
accessing and egressing the site daily and shall make these available to the County 
Planning Authority on request; and 

(b) no HGV movements to or from the site taking place outside of the hours of 07:00 to 
19:00 Monday-Friday, 09:00-13:00 on Saturdays and all day on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays.

HGV movements outside these time-limits will only be allowed in exceptional circumstance 
(i.e. Phase transition or rig mobilisation/demobilisation). The County Planning Authority 
shall be given 14 days prior written notification of the time, date and duration of any such 
HGV movements.

Noise and Vibration

13. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme of noise 
mitigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
The mitigation measures will ensure that the noise levels set out in Conditions 15 and 16 
are met. Mitigation shall be put in place prior to any operations taking place and shall be 
retained and maintained for the duration of the works. 

 
14. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a noise monitoring 

plan (NMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority, taking into account the noise limits set out in Conditions 15 and 16. The NMP 
shall include a methodology for undertaking noise surveys, with the results of the 
monitoring reported to the County Planning Authority within 14 days of monitoring. Should 
the site fail to comply with the noise limits, within 14 days of notification of any breach of 
the noise limits, the applicant shall submit a scheme for the approval in writing by the 
County Planning Authority to attenuate noise levels to the required level which shall be 
implemented within 7 days of the County Planning Authority issuing approval for the 
scheme, or the source of noise shall cease until such a scheme is in place. Noise 
monitoring shall only be undertaken by those competent to do so (i.e. Member of 
Associate grade of the Institute of Acoustics).

15. For temporary operations such as site preparation and reinstatement, the level of noise 
arising from any operation, plant or machinery on the site, when measured at, or 
recalculated as at, a height of 1.2 metres above ground level and 3.5 metres from the 
façade of a residential property or other noise sensitive building that faces the site shall 
not exceed 65 dB LAeq during any 30 minute period between the hours of 0700 to 1900 
Monday to Friday and 0900 to 1300 hours on a Saturday and at no other time. No work 
causing audible noise at any noise sensitive receptor is permitted at any other time 
including Sunday, Bank Holiday or National Holiday.

16. For operations other than temporary, including drilling, testing and appraisal, maintenance 
workover and flaring, the daytime and evening noise levels (0700 hours to 2200 hours 
Monday to Friday and 0900 hours to 1300 hours Saturdays) shall not exceed 48 dB LAeq, 
30 minutes. At all other times, the noise levels shall not exceed 42 dB LAeq, 30 minutes. 
These noise limits apply 3.5 metres from the façade of any affected property.  

17. Between the hours of 19:00 to 07:00 inclusive, no tripping shall be undertaken, nor shall 
casing be cemented except in cases of emergency.

18. All plant and machinery shall be adequately maintained and silenced in accordance with 
the manufacturer's recommendations at all times.

Page 139

7



Lighting

19. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the measures 
for mitigating the impact of lighting outlined in Section 7.1 of the submitted Lighting 
Assessment dated November 2019.

 
20. Operational lighting shall be installed in accordance with Drawing No SK-04 Rev B Post-

mitigation Scheme of Lighting Layout dated 1st November 2019. All lighting required for 
operations and maintenance will be locally switched and manually operated on an ‘as 
required’ basis and luminaires over the cabins/stores doors will be controlled by ‘presence 
detection’ with a manual override.

21. Obstacle lights shall be placed as close as possible to the top of the drilling rig and 
workover rig (and any crane deployed in workover activity outside of daylight hours). 
These obstacle lights must be steady red lights with a minimum intensity of 200 candelas. 
Lights must be visible from all directions and illuminated at all times. Unserviceable lamps 
must be replaced as soon as possible after failure and in any event within 24 hours.

Water Environment

22. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of the design 
of a surface water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
County Planning Authority. The design must satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy and be compliant 
with the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS, National Planning Policy 
Framework and Ministerial Statement on SuDS. The required drainage details shall 
include: 

(a) Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to include: a finalised drainage 
layout detailing the location of drainage elements, pipe diameters, levels, and long 
and cross sections of each element including details of any flow restrictions and 
maintenance/risk reducing features including the proposed High Density 
Polyethylene membrane to be incorporated into the construction of the well site, silt 
traps and inspection chambers;

(b) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during construction and how 
run-off (including any pollutants) from the development site will be managed before 
the drainage system is operational;

(c) Details of how surface water levels within the well site will be monitored and how 
operations will be managed during periods of saturation;

(d) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance regimes for the 
drainage system; and

(e) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall greater than design events or 
during blockage) and how property on and off-site will be protected.

23. Prior to the commencement of drilling, testing and appraisal, a verification report carried 
out by a qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
County Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the drainage system has been 
constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), provide the details 
of any management company and state the national grid reference of any key drainage 
elements including surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction devices and 
outfalls. 

Page 140

7



Geotechnical Issues

24. The ‘Area of hardstanding for access, cabins and car parking’ shown on Drawing No: ZG-
UKOG-L1-PA-08 Rev 1 Proposed Construction Layout Plan 1 of 4 (Well Site) dated 
December 2019, shall be retained and maintained for these designated purposes and no 
HGV parking or storage of consumables, fuel, process chemicals and/or 
mechanical/electrical plant is permitted in this area.

25. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction 
Environment Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the County Planning Authority. The plan shall include:

(a) Soil Conservation and Management Plan, for the protection and conservation of 
excavated material supported by design methodology inclusive of the means of 
extraction, methods of storage and maintenance of soils in accordance with 
guidance provided by the Defra ‘Code of practice for the sustainable use of soils on 
construction sites’ and the measures adopted for reinstatement and restoration;

 
(b) Slope Stability Assurance Plan, for the level working platform and the integrity of the 

impermeable membrane liner supported by methodology inclusive of a timed 
programme of ground investigations to inform the geotechnical and hydrogeological 
parameters used in the final design and construction of the proposed earthworks;

(c) Construction Quality Assurance Plan, for the construction of retaining structures (i.e. 
perimeter bunding and earthworks) and containing structures (i.e. perimeter ditches 
and the impermeable membrane) inclusive of final design details and methods of 
membrane sealing (i.e. with drilling cellars, ‘rathole’ or ‘mousehole’, pavements, floor 
slabs and foundations) supported by design methodology and details of any further 
geotechnical assessments to be performed; and

(d) Construction Quality Monitoring Plan, for the testing, inspection and maintenance of 
retaining and containing structures together with details of the placement and design 
of any groundwater monitoring wells to be installed.

 
26. Prior to the commencement of drilling, testing and appraisal, a Construction Environment 

Management Plan (CEMP) Verification Report shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. The verification report should include:

(a) Details that demonstrate compliance with the CEMP;

(b) Justification for any changes or deviations from the agreed CEMP;

(c) The results and location plans of all field and laboratory testing, including certificates 
of compliance, and inspection records;

(d) Post-construction load testing to demonstrate the stability of retaining structures, 
containing structures and earthworks;

(e) Any other site-specific information considered relevant to proving the integrity of the 
construction works; and

(f) Provision of details of any changes including ‘as-built’ plans and sections of the 
approved CEMP, as identified under (b) above

27. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Pre-development 
Baseline Geochemical Testing Report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Page 141

7



County Planning Authority. The testing methodology shall comprise as a minimum the 
following:

(a) The collection of soil samples on the exposed soil formation after the well site and 
access track have been excavated to the final formation level. Sampling of the well 
site compound will adopt a grid pattern (not greater than 20m spacing) and sampling 
shall be carried out prior to the laying of the membrane and placement of any 
crushed rock hardstanding, slabs or foundations;

(b) The locations and elevations of the sampling locations shall be recorded accurately;

(c) The methodology shall set out the range of potential contaminants to be tested for, 
relevant to the proposed works, test methods, and limits of detection; and

(d) Details of the testing laboratory to be used and the accreditation status for each test.   

28. Prior to the commencement of restoration works a Post-Development Geochemical 
Inspection and Testing Report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority. The report shall present details of:

(a) The results of geochemical analysis of soil samples collected from the exposed soil 
formations adjacent to the sampling point locations adopted for the Pre-Development 
Baseline Geochemical Testing Report approved pursuant to Condition 27 after 
removal of the infrastructure and before the replacement of any restoration soils to 
allow for independent verification and site inspection prior to restoration if necessary;

(b) Comparison of the laboratory results for the ‘Pre’ and ‘Post’ development phases; 
and

(c) If contamination is identified, a Contaminated Land Risk Assessment Report 
inclusive of a strategy for the design and implementation of any remediation 
required.  

  
29. All excavated topsoil and subsoil shall be permanently retained on the site for subsequent 

use in restoration. No soils or soil making material for use in the restoration shall be 
brought onto the site, unless required by an approved site remediation scheme.

Ecology and Biodiversity 

30. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an initial 
Landscape, Environment and Biodiversity Restoration and Enhancement Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The plan shall 
include: 

(a) Year 1: Environmental Reinstatement and Enhancement Plan, as recorded within the 
Loxley Well Site Landscape, Environment and Biodiversity Restoration and 
Enhancement Plan (Section 2, EDP Report 4788_r002c dated October 2019) 
inclusive of the replacement of trees and hedgerows removed during construction 
works, a programme to retain and protect existing trees and hedgerows and a timed 
programme for the planting of new trees and hedgerows and the creation of new 
biodiversity habitat; and

 
(b) Precautionary Method Working Statements for great crested newts and reptiles, as 

recorded within the Loxley Well Site Ecological Impact Assessment (Chapter 6: 
Mitigation, Aecom Project No. 60555556 dated December 2018).

Page 142

7



The approved plan shall be implemented in full and those protection measures that are 
required to be retained shall be maintained in a functional condition for the duration of the 
development and any agreed aftercare period.

Archaeology and Heritage

31. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority.

Restoration

32. Within 12 months of the implementation of this permission or prior to well site 
decommissioning (whichever is the sooner) a Final Landscape, Environment and 
Biodiversity Restoration and Enhancement Plan shall be submitted to the County Planning 
Authority for approval in writing. The plan shall include:

(a) Year 3: Landscape Restoration, Biodiversity and Environmental Enhancement, as 
recorded within the Loxley Well Site Landscape, Environment and Biodiversity 
Restoration and Enhancement Plan (Section 2, EDP Report 4788_r002c dated 
October 2019) designed to deliver biodiversity and wider environmental net-gain 
making use of native species and reflecting the historic use of the site as worked 
agriculture land and forestry;

 
(b) The ecological surveys performed to support the Loxley Well Site Ecological Impact 

Assessment (Aecom Project No. 60555556 dated December 2018) shall be repeated 
to establish the ecological baseline required to inform the plan and ensure that there 
are no adverse impacts on habitats and species;

(c) Slope Restoration Plan supported by methodology inclusive of any further ground 
investigations required to inform the geotechnical and hydrogeological parameters 
used in the final design and construction of the earthworks required to restore the 
site to its pre-development state; and

(d) Soil Restoration Plan: inclusive of measures to cultivate and improve the soils prior 
to re-spreading and restoration and measures to ensure aftercare for a period of 5 
years post development completion.

The plan as approved shall be carried out in full and all planting implemented pursuant to 
this permission shall be maintained in good, healthy condition and be protected from 
damage for five years from the completion of site restoration. During that period any trees 
or shrubs which die, or are severely damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
available planting season with others of a similar size and species.

33. The restored land shall be brought to the required standard for agricultural and woodland 
use. The applicant shall notify the County Planning Authority in writing within seven days 
once the planting or seeding has been completed and within one year from the date of 
notification a meeting shall take place, to be attended by representatives of the applicant, 
the landowners (or their successors in title) and the County Planning Authority, to monitor 
the success of the aftercare. Annual meetings will then be arranged and held within the 
period of five years from the commencement of aftercare.

REASONS FOR IMPOSING CONDITIONS: 

1. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

Page 143

7



2. To ensure that site operatives are conversant with the terms of the planning permission in 
the interests of the local environment and amenity to accord with Surrey Minerals Plan 
2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. 

 
3. To comply with Section 91(1)(b) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 

by Section 5(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
4. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control over the operation so 

as to minimise the impact on local amenity and to ensure the prompt and effective 
restoration to comply with Schedule 5 paragraph 1 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC17. 

 
5. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control over the operation so 

as to minimise the impact on local amenity to comply with Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core 
Strategy Policy MC14. 

 
6. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise planning control over the operation so 

as to minimise the impact on local amenity to comply with Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core 
Strategy Policy MC14. 

 
7. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 

inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with Policy MC15 of the Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies 
and Sites (2018) Policy ST1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ Policy D1.

8. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with Policy MC15 of the Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies 
and Sites (2018) Policy ST1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ Policy D1.

9. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users in accordance with Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core 
Strategy Policy MC15, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies and Sites 
(2018) Policy ST1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ Policy D1.. The 
imposition of a pre-commencement condition for a Transport Management Plan is 
recommended by the County Highway Authority to secure the submission of a revised and 
updated Transport and Traffic Management Plan to safeguard highway safety, the 
environment and local amenity in terms of traffic and highways.

10. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with Policy MC15 of the Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies 
and Sites (2018) Policy ST1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ Policy D1.

11. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with Policy MC15 of the Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies 
and Sites (2018) Policy ST1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ Policy D1.

12. In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users, in accordance with Policy MC15 of the Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies 
and Sites (2018) Policy ST1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ Policy D1.

13. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality in accordance with 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. The imposition of a pre-
commencement condition for a scheme of noise mitigation is recommended by the 
Borough Council’s Environmental Health Officer to provide appropriate noise control to 

Page 144

7



ensure there would be no significant adverse impact from noise nuisance on nearby 
receptors.

14. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality in accordance with 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. The imposition of a pre-
commencement condition for a noise monitoring plan is recommended by the Borough 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer to provide appropriate noise control to ensure there 
would be no significant adverse impact from noise nuisance on nearby receptors. 

15. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality to comply with the 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. 

 
16. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality to comply with the 

Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. 
 
17. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality to comply with the 

Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. 

18. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality to comply with the 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14.

19. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality to comply with the 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14.

20. To ensure minimum disturbance and avoid nuisance to the locality to comply with the 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. 

21. To avoid endangering the safe movement of aircraft and operation at Dunsfold 
Aerodrome, and in the interest of residential amenity and the local environment and to 
comply with Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14.

22. To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS and 
the final drainage design does not increase flood risk on or off-site, and to ensure 
protection of groundwater and surface water from activities at the site in accordance with 
Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14. The imposition of a pre-
commencement condition for a surface water drainage scheme is recommended by the 
Environment Agency to ensure protection of groundwater and surface water from the 
activities at the site and the Lead Local Flood Authority to ensure that the development is 
compliant with SuDS as required by the NPPF, its technical standards and governmental 
ministerial statement for SuDS.

23. To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS and 
the final drainage design does not increase flood risk on or off-site, and to ensure 
protection of groundwater and surface water from activities at the site, in accordance with 
the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14.

24. To safeguard the environment and protect the amenities of the locality in accordance with 
the terms of the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policies MC12 and MC14. 

25. To ensure there would be no significant adverse impact from pollution on groundwater, 
land and the environment, and for land stability in accordance with the Surrey Minerals 
Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC12 and MC14 and the NPPF (2019) paragraphs 170, 
178 and 179. The imposition of a pre-commencement condition to secure the submission 
of a construction environment management plan which includes a soil conservation and 
management plan, a slope stability assessment, further information on platform and 
foundation stability and a construction quality assurance plan is recommended by the 
County Geotechnical Consultant and the County Planning Authority to ensure there would 

Page 145

7



be no significant adverse impact from pollution on groundwater, land and the environment, 
and for land stability in accordance with the development plan policies and the NPPF.

26. To ensure that the works are constructed as designed and maintain the required level of 
environmental protection and land stability. To safeguard the environment and protect the 
amenities of the locality in accordance with the terms of the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 
Core Strategy Policies MC12 and MC14.

27. To safeguard the environment and protect the amenities of the locality in accordance with 
the terms of the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policies MC12 and MC14. The 
imposition of a pre-commencement condition for a pre-development baseline geotechnical 
testing report is recommended by the County Geotechnical Consultant to ensure there 
would be no significant adverse impact from pollution on groundwater, land and the 
environment. 

 
28. To demonstrate that there has been no long-term contamination of the near surface 

natural soils at the site as a result of the development and to ensure the site can be 
suitably restored in accordance with the terms of the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core 
Strategy Policies MC12 and MC14.

29. To prevent loss or damage of soil and to ensure that the land is restored to a condition 
capable of beneficial after-use to comply with the Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core 
Strategy Policies MC14 and MC17 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) ‘saved’ 
Policy RD9.

30. To comply with the requirements of the Conservation Habitat and Species Regulations 
2017 and to protect species of conservation importance in accordance with Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: 
Strategic Policies and Sites (2018) Policy NE1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) 
‘saved’ Policy D7. The imposition of a pre-commencement condition for an initial 
landscape, environment and biodiversity restoration and enhancement plan is 
recommended by Natural England to ensure that landscape enhancements are 
implemented at the start of the works rather than just during restoration. 

31. To prevent loss or damage of any buried archaeological assets in accordance with Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC14, Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: 
Strategic Policies and Sites (2018) Policy HA1 and Waverley Borough Local Plan (2002) 
‘saved’ Policies HE14 and HE15.. The imposition of a pre-commencement condition for a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation is 
recommended by the County Archaeological Officer to ensure there would be no 
significant adverse impact on built heritage of special interest. 

32. To secure restoration to the required standard and for protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity and to assist in absorbing the site back into the local landscape in compliance 
with Schedule 5 paragraph 2 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Surrey 
Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policies MC17 and MC18 and NPPF paragraph 205(e). 

33. To secure aftercare to the required standard and assist in absorbing the site back into the 
local landscape in compliance with Schedule 5 paragraph 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Surrey Minerals Plan 2011 Core Strategy Policy MC17 and NPPF 
paragraph 205(e).

INFORMATIVES

1. Details of the highway requirements necessary for inclusion in any application seeking 
approval of reserved matters may be obtained from the Transportation Development 
Planning Division of Surrey County Council.

Page 146

7



2. Notwithstanding any permission granted under the Planning Acts, no signs, devices or 
other apparatus may be erected within the limits of the highway without the express 
approval of the Highway Authority. It is not the policy of the Highway Authority to approve 
the erection of signs or other devices of a non-statutory nature within the limits of the 
highway. 

3. The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to obstruct the public 
highway by the erection of scaffolding, hoarding or any other device or apparatus for which 
a licence must be sought from the Highway Authority Local Transportation Service.

4. The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried from the 
site and deposited on or damage the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly loaded 
vehicles. The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to recover any expenses 
incurred in clearing, cleaning or repairing highway surfaces and prosecutes persistent 
offenders. (Highways Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149).

5. The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out any works 
(including Stats connections/diversions required by the development itself or the 
associated highway works) on the highway or any works that may affect a drainage 
channel/culvert or water course. The applicant is advised that a permit and, potentially, a 
Section 278 agreement must be obtained from the Highway Authority before any works 
are carried out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming part of 
the highway. The developers attention is drawn to the advice provided by the County 
Historic Buildings Officer that flush-set concrete retainers (incorporating a ribbed surface) 
should be used to demarcate the edge of the carriageway (as opposed to raised 
kerbstones). All works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the 
development itself or the associated highway works) on the highway will require a permit 
and an application will need to be submitted to the County Council's Street Works Team 
up to 3 months in advance of the intended start date, depending on the scale of the works 
proposed and the classification of the road. Please see: http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-
and-transport/road-permits-and-licences/the-traffic-management-permit-scheme. The 
applicant is also advised that consent may be required under Section 23 of the Land 
Drainage Act 1991. Please see: www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-
planning-and-community-safety/floodingadvice.

6. Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge developers for 
damage caused by excessive weight and movements of vehicles to and from a site. The 
Highway Authority will pass on the cost of any excess repairs compared to normal 
maintenance costs to the applicant/organisation responsible for the damage.

7. The site operator must provide advanced notification to the Highway Authority of an 
abnormal load movement. Further details can be found at the following link 
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/traffic-and-travel information/large-
goods-vehicles/abnormal-loads. The site operator will be charged for the removal and 
reinstatement of any highway furniture.

8. The site operator should instruct all HGV drivers associated with the development not to 
lay up or wait within the highway network within the vicinity of the site at any time.

9. All heavy goods vehicles should access the site to/from the east via the B2130 signalised 
junction with the A281 in accordance with the terms of section 4.1.2.3 of the ‘updated’ 
Planning Statement and Environmental Report (19 April 2019) submitted on 21 May 2019.

 
10. Façade and free-field apply to the positions for either noise measurement or prediction. A 

façade position is one that effectively represents sound levels at a building but is 
conventionally taken at a position 1 metre from the building; this includes reflections from 
the building. A free-field position is one that is at least 3.5 metres from a building where 
reflection effects are not significant. The difference between a sound level measured at a 

Page 147

7

https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-and-transport/traffic-and-travel


façade position and a free-field position, assuming that there is a specific sound source 
that causes reflections, is that levels are around 3 dB higher at the façade, due to the 
reflection effects.

11. If proposed site works affect an Ordinary Watercourse, Surrey County Council as the Lead 
Local Flood Authority should be contacted to obtain prior written consent. More details are 
available on the Surrey County Council website. (www.surreycc.gov.uk)

 
12. If proposed works result in infiltration of surface water to ground within a Source Protection 

Zone the Environment Agency will require proof of surface water treatment to achieve 
water quality standards. (www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environmentagency)  

 
13. The Borehole Sites and Operations Regulations 1995 (BSOR) apply to all onshore oil and 

gas wells. These Regulations require notifications to be sent to the HSE about the design, 
construction and operation of wells, and the development of a health and safety plan 
which sets out how risks are managed on site. 

 
14. The Offshore Installations and Wells (Design and Construction etc.) Regulations 1996 

(DCR) include specific requirements for all wells, whether onshore or offshore, and include 
well integrity provisions which apply throughout the life of gas or oil wells. They also 
require the well operator to send a weekly report to the HSE during the construction of the 
well so that inspectors can check that work is progressing as described in the notification.

15. The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended 
(Section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while 
that nest is in use or is being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a 
defence against prosecution under this Act. Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting 
birds between 1 March and 31 August inclusive. Trees and scrub are present on the 
application site and are assumed to contain nesting birds between the above dates, unless 
a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist to assess the nesting bird 
activity during this period and shown it is absolutely certain that nesting birds are not 
present.

16. Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible that a crane may be required 
during its construction. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the requirement within the 
British Standard Code of Practice for the safe use of Cranes for crane operators to consult 
the aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome. The crane 
process is explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and Other Construction Issues’, 
(available from http://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/).

17. As Article 240 of the Air Navigation Order 2016 makes it an offence to endanger the safety 
of an aircraft, the applicant’s attention is drawn to the Civil Aviation Authority publication, 
“Guidance to Crane Operators on Aviation Lighting and Notification” which provides the 
construction industry with a summary of existing regulation, duty of care expectations 
placed upon crane users and recommended best practice.

18. The site operator’s attention is drawn to the Civil Aviation Authority’s request that they 
contact both the Civil Aviation Authority’s Operations Team and the Military Low Flying 
Cell once operational dates for the site are established and before site activity takes place 
and they complete and submit the “Crane Notification Form” to the CAA’s Operations 
Team.

19. Attention is drawn to the requirements of Sections 7 and 8A of the Chronically Sick and 
Disabled Persons Act 1970 and to the Code of Practice for Access of the Disabled to 
Buildings (British Standards Institution Code of Practice BS 8300:2009) or any prescribed 
document replacing that code.

Page 148

7

http://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/


20. The applicant is advised that regular community engagement in respect of this site be 
undertaken, and this may include the setting up of a local liaison group, which would 
provide a forum for discussing operational issues between the operator, the County 
Council (as County Planning Authority), interested parties and representatives of the local 
community. Emergency contact details for the receipt and handling of any complaints 
should be provided. The applicant is advised to have particular regard for the residents 
and businesses that neighbour the site, particularly Thatched House Farm to the north and 
High Billinghurst Farm to the south. The applicant is advised to liaise with neighbours to 
ensure the impacts of the development hereby approved are minimised and maintained at 
acceptable levels.

21. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the advice, guidance and safety information provided 
by SGN and UK Power Networks in relation to gas and electricity infrastructure, copies of 
which have been provided to the applicant or can be obtained from the County Planning 
Authority.

22. The National Grid has no record of owning any infrastructure in the vicinity of the 
application site. In an automated response to an online query, the HSE has advised that 
the proposed development site does not currently lie within the consultation distance of a 
major hazard site or major accident hazard pipeline. An automated response to an online 
enquiry has confirmed that SGN does not have any gas utility infrastructure within the 
vicinity of the application site. To err on the side of caution, in the event that planning 
permission is granted, and in case any gas utility infrastructure is found, a number of 
guidance documents and safety information supplied by SGN have been sent to the 
applicant. These comprise: SGN’s response letter; ‘Know What’s Below: Protecting You 
and Your Family’; relevant SGN infrastructure plans; ‘Safety Advice - Valves’; and, ‘Dig 
Safely: Measures to Avoid Injury and Damage to Gas Pipes’. The applicant has been 
requested to forward this information onto the site operator so that this information can be 
brought to the attention of their contractors in the event the permission is granted and the 
development proceeds.

23. In an automated response to an online query, UK Power Networks has indicated the 
presence of an 11 KV underground cable in the vicinity of Dunsfold Road, Pratts Corner 
and High Loxley Road, and abandoned underground cable crossing High Loxley Road and 
a sub-station west of High Loxley Road. Again, a safety information and guidance number 
supplied by UK Power Networks has been passes on to applicant and operator to bring to 
the attention of their contractors in the event that planning permission is granted and the 
development proceeds. This comprises: the covering letter from UK Power Networks; the 
relevant utility infrastructure plans; and ‘Think before you Dig under Ground.

24. In determining this application the County Planning Authority has worked positively and 
proactively with the applicant by: entering into pre-application discussions; assessing the 
proposals against relevant Development Plan policies and the National Planning Policy 
Framework including its associated planning practice guidance and European 
Regulations, providing feedback to the applicant where appropriate. Further, the County 
Planning Authority has: identified all material considerations; forwarded consultation 
responses to the applicant; considered representations from interested parties; liaised with 
consultees and the applicant to resolve identified issues and determined the application 
within the timeframe agreed with the applicant. Issues have been raised with the applicant 
including impacts of traffic, landscape and visual impact, air quality, noise and vibration, 
lighting, groundwater, geotechnical matters, ecology and biodiversity and restoration and 
aftercare and addressed through negotiation and acceptable amendments to the 
proposals. The applicant has also been given advance sight of the draft planning 
conditions. This approach has been in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 38 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Page 149

7



CONTACT 
David Maxwell

TEL. NO.
01483 518899

BACKGROUND PAPERS
The deposited application documents and plans, including those amending or clarifying the 
proposal, responses to consultations and representations received as referred to in the report 
and included in the application file and the following: 

Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework 
Planning Practice Guidance

The Development Plan
Surrey Minerals Plan Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD) 2011
Surrey Minerals Plan Site Restoration Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2011
Waverley Borough Local Plan Part 1: Strategic Policies and Sites 2018
Waverley Borough Local Plan 2002 (saved policies)

Other Documents
Waverley Borough Council Local Development Scheme January 2020
Borehole Sites and Operations Regulations 1995
Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974
Offshore Installations and Wells (Design and Construction etc) Regulations 1996
Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016
Water Resources Act 1991
The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017
Europe 2020 Strategy
EU Energy Security Strategy May 2014
The Annual Energy Statement 2014
Ministerial Statement on Shale Gas 17 May 2018
Climate Change Act 2008
Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019
Surrey’s Climate Change Strategy
Energy White Paper 2007 (Meeting the Energy Challenge)
Energy Act 2008
Energy Act 2011
The Carbon Plan: Delivering our Low Carbon Future December 2011
Gas Generation Strategy December 2012
Energy Security Strategy 2012
The Annual Energy Statement 2010
The Annual Energy Statement 2013
Annual Energy Statement 2014
Mineral Planning Factsheet “Onshore Oil and Gas”, British Geological Survey, April 2011
High Court Notification (CO Ref: CO/4441/2019): Sarah Finch v Surrey County Council; 
Applications for Permission to Apply for Judicial Review 24 December 2019 (Re-served on 3 
January 2020)
R (Heathrow Hub Ltd) v Secretary of State for Transport [2020] EWCA Civ 213 (Court of Appeal 
Decision on Heathrow Third Runway 27 February 2020)
Airports National Policy Statement, Department for Transport, June 2018
DfT Circular 01/2013
The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 2007

Page 150

7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/81439/Adopted-Core-Strategy-Development-Plan-Document.pdf
https://www.surreycc.gov.uk/land-planning-and-development/minerals-and-waste/minerals-core-strategy-development-plan/minerals-plan-site-restoration-supplementary-planning
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/downloads/file/6929/local_plan_part_1_strategic_policies_and_sites
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/downloads/file/6025/local_plan_2002


EU Air Quality Directive
EU’s Habitats Directive 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)
Rights of Way Act 2000
Land Use Planning and Development Control: Planning for Air Quality, EPUK/IAQM, 2017
Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction, IAQM, 2014
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, Highways England
British Standard 4142:2014: Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound
Guidelines for Noise and Vibration Assessment and Control, RPS, January 2020
Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light for Residential Receptors, Institute of 
Lighting Professionals, 2011
Waverley Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
LFE4 - Earthworks in Landfill Engineering, Environment Agency
Waste Framework Directive
BS: 5837:2012 - Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
Good Practice Advice in Planning: 2 Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic 
Environment, English Heritage
Good Practice Advice in Planning: 3 The Setting of Heritage Assets, English Heritage
Air Navigation Order 2016
Guidance to Crane Operators on Aviation Lighting and Notification, CAA
‘Acidisation’ Factsheet, Environment Agency, January 2018
Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)
Groundwater Daughter Directive (2006/118/EC).

Page 151

7



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Site Area

Page 153

7



Page 154

7



2018 Aerial Photos

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

Aerial 1 : Loxley Well Site, Dunsfold

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 155

7



2018 Aerial Photos

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

Aerial 2 : Loxley Well Site, Dunsfold

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 156

7



Figure 1: Well Site Host Field Looking North East 

Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 157

7



Figure 2: Vehicular Entrance to Well Site Compound Looking North East 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 158

7



Figure 3: Western Boundary of Well Site Compound Looking South 

Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 159

7



Figure 4: Western Boundary of Burchetts Woodland Block Looking North 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 160

7



Figure 5: View Looking East from High Loxley Road 

Along Route of Proposed New Access 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 161

7



Figure 6: View Looking North Along Eastern Boundary 

of Well Site Host Field 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 162

7



Figure 7: View Looking West Along Northern Boundary 

of Well Site Host Field 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 163

7



Figure 8: View Looking West Along Track 

to the North of the Well Site Compound Host Field 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 164

7



Figure 9: View Looking South from Southern Boundary 

of Well Site Host Field Towards High Billinghurst Farm 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 165

7



Figure 10: View Looking South Along High Loxley Road 

with Site Entrance on the Left 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 166

7



Figure 11: View Looking East from High Loxley Road 

Towards Thatched House Farm 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 167

7



Figure 12: - View Looking North Along High Loxley Road

from Proposed Entrance Point 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 168

7



Figure 13: View Looking West Towards Sharp Corner 

on Dunsfold Road from Junction with High Loxley Road 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 169

7



Figure 14: View Looking East Along Dunsfold Road

from Junction with High Loxley Road 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 170

7



Figure 15: View Looking South Towards High Loxley Road

and its Junction with Dunsfold Road 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 171

7



Figure 16: View Looking West Along Dunsfold Road

with Vegetation Screening on the Left 
Application Number : MO09/0110

Application Number : WA/2019/0796

P
age 172

7



ITEM NO 8

TO: PLANNING & REGULATORY COMMITTEE DATE: 21 May 2020

BY: PLANNING DEVELOPMENT MANAGER
DISTRICT(S) ELMBRIDGE BOROUGH COUNCIL ELECTORAL DIVISION(S):

Weybridge
Mr Oliver
CASE OFFICER:
Katie Rayner

PURPOSE: FOR DECISION GRID REF: 505981 162210

TITLE: MINERALS/WASTE EL18/3802 WO2018/1358

SUMMARY REPORT

Units 11 and 12 Wintersells Road, Byfleet, West Byfleet, Surrey KT14 7LF

Change of use to a waste transfer station and recycling facility (sui generis) for the receipt 
and treatment of mixed, dry, non-hazardous household, industrial and commercial and 
construction, demolition and excavation waste, including the demolition of the existing 
building at Unit 11 and the erection of a steel portal framed building, picking station, 
storage bays and boundary fencing.

The application site is located within the established Wintersells Business Park, situated between 
New Haw and Byfleet. This area contains three established industrial estates, including the 
Brooklands Industrial Estate, Wintersells Business Park and the Byfleet Industrial Estate. The 
Wintersells Business Park, occupies an area of land measuring approximately 6 hectares (ha) in 
total. The Business Park is bound to the south by an embankment and line of trees, which form 
part of the western extreme of the former Brooklands Airfield/Motor Circuit (designated 
Conservation Area), beyond which is the Brooklands Industrial Estate. To the north and north-east 
of the Business Park is a large railway embankment serving the New Haw and Byfleet Railway 
Station, which runs east to west (Woking to London Waterloo line) and to the west is the A318 
Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane. The A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane is a single dual carriageway which 
contains along its length a mix of residential and further industrial development, including access 
to the Byfleet Industrial Estate. A low railway bridge (height restriction 2.4m) is located on the 
A318 Blyfeet Road/Oyster Lane, approximately 180m to the north of the access to the Wintersells 
Business Park. 

Planning permission is sought for a change of use of Units 11 and 12 Wintersells Road, from a B1 
(Office) and B2 (Industrial) use class, to a sui generis waste use. This would comprise the 
amalgamation of Units 11 and 12 to develop a Waste Transfer Station (WTS) and Materials 
Recycling Facility (MRF). The proposal includes the demolition of the existing commercial building 
at Unit 11 and the erection of a cantilevered steel frame building to the rear of the existing office 
building at Unit 12, to accommodate the main waste sorting, recycling and storage facilities for the 
site. The proposal also comprises the retention of the existing office building, the construction of 
an enclosed picking station extending from the recycling building, the formalising of the yard area 

Page 173

8

Item 8



in Unit 11, a sealed drainage system, external storage bays, new boundary treatment and the 
provision of 17 on-site staff parking spaces. All primary waste handling and processing activities 
would be undertaken within the proposed waste recycling building, with the external yard being 
used for the residual storage and movement of waste once bulked up. 

The proposed development is intended to be operated as a separation facility for skip waste inputs 
from builders and householders, which typically contain quantities of recyclables such as plastics, 
wood, metal, paper and cardboard. The applicant has indicated that the site expect to receive up 
to 99,950 tonnes per annum of waste, compromising mixed, dry, non-hazardous, industrial and 
commercial (HIC) and construction, demolition and excavation (C, D & E) wastes. No hazardous, 
liquid or clinical waste will be accepted at the site. The waste will be separated both by hand and 
machinery, stored and sent on to other waste reprocessing facilities.

The application site measures approximately 0.3ha and is bound by adjoining commercial and 
industrial units and access via the Wintersells Road, which is the main road which serves the 
Business Park. The sole access to the Business Park is via the A318 Oyster Lane, approximately 
150m west of the application site. 

Issues to be considered in determining the application are the suitability of the location for waste 
development, the contribution the proposal would make towards the sustainable management of 
waste in line with national and local policy, the potential impacts arising from the development on 
the local environment and amenity in terms of traffic, visual impact, noise, air quality, 
contamination, drainage and other matters.  

Elmbridge Borough Council (EBC), Runnymede Borough Council (RBC) and the Byfleet, West 
Byfleet & Pyrford Residents’ Association have objected to the development. Additionally the 
County Planning Authority (CPA) has received 127 representations (39 in support and 
88objections) and five petitions opposing the development containing 271 signatures in total. A 
significant majority of these objections relate to the perceived impact increased HGV traffic would 
have on the local highway network, local amenity and local environment. Concerns have also 
been raised with respect to the operational management of the facility in terms of dust, odour, 
noise and the visual impact of the proposal. 

Although Officers recognise the concerns expressed by interested parties about Heavy Goods 
Vehicle (HGV) movements on local roads, the advice from the County Highway Authority is that 
the development would not have a significant adverse impact on the public highway and private 
road, subject to conditions. 

In all other technical respects advice received from statutory consultees is that there are no 
grounds to refuse planning permission and suitable mitigation measures have been advanced by 
the applicant on the basis of air quality, noise, landscape and visual impact, heritage assets, flood 
and drainage risk and contamination, subject to a range of conditions. Officers consider the 
proposal accords with the Development Plan and National Planning Policy. 

The recommendation is to PERMIT subject to conditions. 

APPLICATION DETAILS

Applicant

Page 174

8



Weybridge Skip Hire

Date application valid

22 November 2018

Period for Determination

21 February 2019, extension of time agreed until 1 June 2020

Amending Documents

SCP Framework Travel Plan, dated November 2019
SCP Transport Statement, dated November 2019
Oaktree Environmental Ltd, Design and Access Statement, Version 1.8, dated 19 November 2019
Oaktree Environmental Ltd, Air Quality Assessment – Waste Transfer Station at Wintersells Road, 
Version 1.2, dated 9 August 2019
3843-2410-E_V_&_R_Report_Part_5_1_of_2 - Arcadis EC Harris, Soil and Gas Assessment 
Report, Former Bylfeet Depot
Oaktree Environmental Ltd, Odour Management Plan, Version 1.4, dated 5 July 2019
BP Supply and Logistics, Remedial Target Derivation, Byfleet Depot dated March 2005
Arcasis Factual Groundwater Monitoring & Sampling Report, Former Byfleet Depot, Surrey, dated 
16 June 2008
Table 2a – Results from Sensitivity Testing of the Remedial Targets Spreadsheet for Soil Impacts 
with 160m Compliance Report 
Table 3a – Results from the Sensitivity Testing of the Remedial Targets Spreadsheet for Ground 
Water Impacts with a 160m Compliance Report 
3843-2410-E_V_&_R_Report_Part_4_Appendix_A
Oaktree Environmental Ltd, Dust Management Plan, Version 1.4, dated 12 May 2019.
KP Acoustics, BS4142 Assessment, Report: 18752.BS4142.01 Rev A, dated 2 April 2019
Drawing No: 3843-2410-E_Verification_&_Remediation_Report_Part_3
Drawing No: 3843-2410-G_Lighting_Assessment_Part_1, dated 15 February 2019
Drawing No: 3843-2410-G_Lighting_Assessement_Part_2, dated 15 February 2019
Drawing No: 3843-2410-E_Verification_&_Remediation_Report_Part_2
Drawing No: 3843-2410-E_Verification_&_Remediation_Report_Part_1
Drawing No: 3843/2410/05 Rev B, Building Elevations, dated 9 September 2019
Drawing No: 3843/2410/06 Rev B, Roof Plan, dated 6 September 2019
Drawing No: 3843/2410/03 Rev C, Existing Site Plan, dated 7 October 2019
Drawing No: 3843/2410/02 Rev B, Site Location Plan, dated 3 October 2019
Drawing No: 3843/2410/01 Rev A, Site Location Map, dated 3 October 2019 
Drawing No: 3843/2410/04 Rev M, Proposed Layout Plan, dated 21 November 2019.

SUMMARY OF PLANNING ISSUES

This section identifies and summarises the main planning issues in the report. The full text should 
be considered before the meeting.

Is this aspect of the 
proposal in accordance with 

Paragraphs in the report 
where this has been 

Page 175

8



the development plan? discussed

Sustainable Waste 
Management 

Yes 68-103

Highway, Traffic and Access Yes 104-145
Environment and Amenity Yes 146-320
Heritage Assets Yes 321-337

ILLUSTRATIVE MATERIAL

Site Plans

Drawing No 3843/2410/04 Rev M Proposed Layout Plan dated 21 November 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/05 Rev B Building Elevations dated 09 September 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/07 Sensitive Receptor Plan dated 20 November 2018

Aerial Photographs

Aerial 1
Aerial 2
Aerial 3
Aerial 4

Site Photographs

Photo 1: View of Units 11 and 12 looking north-west
Photo 2: View to the east of the application site towards cul-de-sac off Wintersells Road, looking 
north
Photo 3: View of Office building on Unit 12 to be retained. 
Photo 4: View of building on Unit 11 to be demolished. 
Photo 5: View of existing yard area to the south of Unit 11
Photo 6: Further view of existing yard area on Unit 11
Photo 7: View of existing yard area looking east. 
Photo 8: View of existing open area to the rear of Unit 12, looking north-west (location of proposed 
recycling building). 
Photo 9: View of turning circle at the end of the cul-de-sac to the north-east of the application site. 
Photo 10: View looking north-west towards the application site from Wintersells Road. 
Photo 11: View of the existing boundary treatment to the south of the application site on 
Wintersells Road, looking west. 
Photo 12: View from Wintersells Road looking north-east towards Unit 10 PM Skips. 
Photo 13: Long view of Wintersells Road looking west. 
Photo 14: Further view of Wintersells Road within the Wintersells Business Park. 
Photo 15: View of the approach from Wintersells Road of the access with the A318 Oyster Lane, 
looking west. 
Photo 16: View of the junction of Wintersells Business Park with the A318 Oyster Lane, looking 
south. 
Photo 17: View of the junction of the Wintersells Business Park with the A318 Oyster Lane, 
looking north. 

Page 176

8



BACKGROUND

Site Description

1. The application site is located within the established Wintersells Business Park, situated 
between New Haw and Byfleet. The application site is situated within the western extreme 
of the Borough of Elmbridge, as such the boundary of Runnymede Borough Council (RBC) 
bounds the Business Park to the north and the boundary of Woking Borough Council 
bounds the Business Park to the west. This area contains three established industrial 
estates, including the Brooklands Industrial Estate, Wintersells Business Park and the 
Byfleet Industrial Estate. 

2. The Wintersells Business Park, occupies an area of land measuring approximately 6 
hectares (ha) in total. The Business Park is bound to the south by an embankment and line 
of trees, which form part of the western extreme of the former Brooklands Airfield/Motor 
Circuit (designated Conservation Area), beyond which is the Brooklands Industrial Estate. 
To the north and north-east of the Business Park is a large railway embankment serving 
the New Haw and Byfleet Railway Station, which runs east to west (Woking to London 
Waterloo line) and to the west is the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane. The A318 Byfleet 
Road/Oyster Lane is a single two way carriageway which contains along its length a mix of 
residential and further industrial development, including access to the Byfleet Industrial 
Estate. A low railway bridge (height restriction 2.4m) is located on the A318 Blyfeet 
Road/Oyster Lane, approximately 180m to the north of the access to the Wintersells 
Business Park. 

3. The application site comprises Units 11 and 12 within the Wintersells Business Park, which 
occupy a central position within the site and are currently vacant. Combined Units 11 and 
12 measure some 0.306ha, and are accessed via two points from the south and one to the 
east via Wintersells Road. The Wintersells Road is the main access road through the 
Business Park, which links to the wider road network to the west by means of the A318 
Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane. Unit 11 comprises a single storey commercial building, 
measuring 29m by 13m with a height of 6m, which is surrounded by hardstanding. The site 
was formerly used by a haulage company for parking, office and storage space. Unit 12 is 
situated to the north of Unit 11 and comprises a two storey office building measuring 16m 
by 8m with a height of 6.5m, located to the front of the unit, with an open area of redundant 
industrial land behind and was previously used as a oil storage depot. 

4. The application site is bound to the north, west and east by existing industrial and 
commercial development also located within the Wintersells Business Park. These include, 
but are not limited to, racing boat manufacturers, automotive repair and sales, office space 
and general warehouse storage. Other businesses within the Business Park include a 
Mazda, Kia and Hyundai Service Centre, a concrete batching plant and a coach depot. To 
the south of the application site is the Wintersells Road which runs along the southern 
extent of the Business Park from the A318, beyond this is the embankment which 
separates the Wintersells Business Park from the Brooklands Industrial Estate. 
Immediately to the west of Units 11 and 12, is Unit 10, which is currently operated as a 
waste transfer station in connection with a skip business, known as PM Skips. The nearest 
residential property is located approximately 125m to the west of the application site on 
A318 Oyster Lane and further residential properties are located at the entrance to the 
Wintersells Business Park, on the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane, approximately 165m 

Page 177

8



from the application site. Residential properties are also located to the north of the 
application site beyond the railway embankment, approximately 140m from the application 
site on Westfield Parade. 

5. The application site is situated within an urban area and is therefore not covered by, or 
close to, any national or local level landscape designations. The closest boundaries of the 
Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and the Surrey Area of Great 
Landscape Value (AGLV) are some 9.9km to the south. The application site is located 
some 1.46km to the north east of the Basingstoke Canal Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) and the Ockham & Wisley Commons SSSI, which is a component part of the 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA), is situated some 2.77km to the 
south east of the proposed site. The Ockham & Wisley Local Nature Reserve (LNR) is also 
located some 2.93km to the south east of the application site. Additionally, there are 11 
sites of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCIs) located in Surrey within 2.5km of the 
application site. The closest area of Ancient Woodland is located some 1.29km to the 
north-east of the application site beyond the railway line. The application site lies within 
National Character Area 115 (Thames Valley) and as the site is situated in an urban 
setting, it is not characterised as part of the 2015 Landscape Character Assessment for 
Surrey. 

6. The application site is located some 0.02km to the west of a Scheduled Monument, ‘the 
Brooklands Motor Circuit, remains of a pre-World War II Aerodrome, World War II Bofor 
Tower and Shelters, and the Brooklands Memorial’. The Scheduled Monument is also 
covered by a Conservation Area designation and contains two Grade II Listed Buildings 
which form part of the Brooklands Airfield. There are no World Heritage Sites located 
within 10 kilometres of the application site, the closest is the ‘Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew’ 
(Historic England List ID 1000102), which lies some 18.2 kilometres to the north east. 

7. The application site is located some 0.41km to the east of the ‘M25 and Egham Town 
Centre’ Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), which was designated by Runnymede 
Borough Council (RBC) for exceedance of the National Air Quality Strategy Objectives for 
nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. 

8. The site is located on land with the lowest probability of flooding i.e. Flood Zone 1 and is 
classed as being predominately subject to ‘very low’ risk of surface water flooding, with the 
Wintersells Road to the south of the site being classed as ‘low’ risk. 

Planning History

9. There is no relevant County Planning history for the application site at Units 11 and 12, 
Wintersells Road. All previous planning applications at the Units in question have been 
determined by Elmbridge Borough Council (EBC) and are set out in the tables below:

Unit 11, Wintersells Road: 

 Reference Description Decision 
1993/1219 1.8 metre high boundary 

fence 
Permission Granted on 
24 November 1993

1984/0276 Erection of security 
fence and provision of 
car parking areas and 

Permission Granted on 
30 April 1984

Page 178

8



landscaping 
1979/0623 Construction of 

additional parking areas 
Permission Granted on 
2 August 1979 

1976/1275 Erection of a garage 
maintenance building 
with offices and toilet 

Permission Granted on 
3 February 1977

Unit 12, Wintersells Road:  

 Reference Description Decision 
1980/1507 Erection of a first floor 

extension to form 
additional offices 

Permission Granted on 
5 March 1981 

1979/0514 Erection of 3 single 
storey buildings to 
provide offices, 
workshop and stores 
together with provision 
on 9 car parking spaces 

Permission Granted on 
24 May 1979 

1978/0037 Erection of a building to 
provide coach garage 
with ancillary offices 

Permission Granted on 
16 March 1978

10. According to EBC’s records the Wintersells Business Park was first established in the 
1970s. Prior to this the site formed part of a former sewage works, comprising filter beds 
and tanks. 

11. As set out in the applicant’s submission, Units 11 and 12, subject of this application, have 
historically operated as separate Units in B1/B2 use (Office and General Industrial). Unit 
12 was operated as a bulk fuel storage and distribution depot for a number of years before 
BP acquired the operating company at the site in the late 1990s. The depot was 
decommissioned in the late 1999s/early 2000s, which comprised the removal of known 
underground fuel lines, loading gantry and above ground storage tanks (with the exception 
of the heating oil tank serving the office building). Since this time the site has also been 
subject to a number of intrusive investigations and a remedial programme following the 
cease of its use. Prior to the submission of the current planning application, Unit 11 was 
used as parking, office and storage space for a haulage firm.  

THE PROPOSAL

12. Planning permission is sought for a change of use of Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road, 
from a B1 (Office) and B2 (Industrial) use class, to a sui generis waste use. This would 
comprise the amalgamation of Units 11 and 12 to develop a Waste Transfer Station (WTS) 
and Materials Recycling Facility (MRF). The proposal includes the demolition of the 
existing commercial building at Unit 11 and the erection of a cantilevered steel portal frame 
building to the rear of the existing office building at Unit 12 to be retained, to accommodate 
the main waste sorting, recycling and storage facilities for the site.

13. The proposed development is intended to be operated as a separation facility for skip 
waste inputs from builders and householders, which typically contain quantities of 
recyclables such as plastics, wood, metal, paper and cardboard. The applicant has 

Page 179

8



indicated that the site expect to receive up to 99,950 tonnes per annum of waste, 
compromising mixed, dry, non-hazardous, industrial and commercial (HIC) and 
construction, demolition and excavation (C, D & E) wastes. No hazardous, liquid or clinical 
waste will be accepted at the site. 

Site Preparation Works 

14. The application proposes the demolition of the existing building located in the southern part 
of the application site on Unit 11, which measures approximately 30m by 16m, with a 
height of 6m. The removal of the existing building is required to facilitate the construction of 
a new main recycling building. 

15. The new recycling building is proposed to be constructed to the rear of the existing two 
storey office building on Unit 12. The building is proposed to measure approximately 35.5m 
in length by 30m in width, providing 1050sqm of additional floorspace. The building is 
proposed to be constructed from a steel portal frame building, with a steel roof which 
slopes upwards from north to south. As such the building would measure 10.3m in height 
at its northern elevation (rear) to 13m in height at its southern elevation (front). The 
building is proposed to be orientated in a south facing direction away from the existing 
units within the estate, with its open doorway facing towards the Wintersells Road and 
embankment separating the Wintersells Business Park with the Brooklands Industrial 
Estate. A conveyor and a covered six bay picking line cabin will extend southwards from 
the southern elevation of the building into the yard area of Unit 11 and will be situated over 
eight concrete bays. At the end of the conveyor will be a blower unit and cage. The picking 
line cabin and conveyor measure approximately 31.1m in length by 4m wide, with an 
overall height of approximately 6.3m. 

16. Other works to the site comprise changes to the existing boundary treatment on the 
southern and eastern boundaries of the site, including the installation of a 2.4m high fence 
with barbed wire on top. The application also proposes the laying of hardstanding across 
the site, provision of dedicated staff car parking, the siting of a number of waste storage 
bays and the provision of a skip storage area. In addition, security lights to be mounted on 
the building and on columns in the yard area of the site.

Buildings 

17. The main recycling building will house the proposed mechanical treatment plant to allow 
for the acceptance, storage and treatment of waste. As referenced above the hand picking 
line cabin and conveyor will extend through the southern elevation of the building and into 
the open hardstanding area.

18. The site office will be based within the retained existing two storey building to the east of 
the site. This building will be the administrative hub of the recycling facility for the storage 
of all relevant site documents (planning permission, environmental permit, management 
plans, site inspection sheets, waste transfer notes). 

Operations 

19. It is proposed the site will accept up to 99,950 tonnes per annum of waste. Based on this 
figure the site expects approximately 100 loads in any one working day, which equates to 

Page 180

8



200 vehicle movements in total (100 in 100 out) per day. It is proposed that these vehicles 
will comprise primarily skip loaders and smaller commercial vans. 

20. Waste will be delivered and removed from the site using hook loading trucks, 8 wheel 
tippers and articulated bulk waste vehicles. All waste delivered to the site will be deposited 
directly into the proposed recycling building. The open hardstanding area to the south of 
the proposed building is intended to be used for the storage of empty skips (estimated to 
be around 36 in total), some small waste storage bays (for overspill, metal, light wastes 
and hardcore) and the parking of HGV skip vehicles when the site is not in operation. 
During operations this area will also be used for vehicle turning. 

21. The applicant has indicated that a loading shovel (waste handler), 360º excavator, 
mechanical treatment plant and picking line will be the primary plant and equipment used 
on the site. Waste will be moved, loaded and unloaded using the loading shovel and 360º 
excavator. The mechanical treatment plant and picking line will further separate the mixed 
waste, which will be bulked up and sent to suitably permitted sites for further processing.  

22. All vehicles will be required to report to the site office upon arrival. Each load is proposed 
to be recorded and its contents inspected. All material accepted on site will be directed to 
the waste recycling building. All mixed loads will be tipped into the waste reception area in 
the recycling building and crudely sorted using the 360º excavator and by hand, which will 
separate bulky materials and C, D & E waste from the stockpile prior to loading into the 
hopper. Bulky waste will be consigned to an adjacent bay and exported to landfill or a 
suitably permitted site depending upon its composition. Wood will also be collected by 
hand or 360º excavator and deposited in the internal wood storage bay. 

23. The mixed waste would be fed into a feed hopper using a 360º excavator inside the 
building. The hopper then feeds the flip flow screener and soil fines will fall through the 
rotating drum mesh into a bay beneath the flip-flow and onto a reverse conveyor which will 
deposit the fines/soils into a number of bays inside the building. The remaining larger 
fractions of waste exit the flip flow onto a separate conveyor which enters the six bay 
covered picking line, which extends into the yard area. The picking belt moves slowly, 
enabling picking staff to remove recyclables and waste for landfill by hand and place them 
in the chutes next to the picking line. The chutes discharge into the bays beneath the 
picking station. The applicant has labelled these connecting external bays on Drawing No: 
3843/2410/04 Rev M, as Grade A-C wood (3 bays), plastic (UPVC), paper and cardboard 
and other plastic. A reject skip is also proposed to be located inside the building to collect 
waste which cannot be processed through the treatment plant following tipping e.g. 
batteries and paint. In addition, if odorous waste is discovered following tipping in the 
reception area of the building, a sealed skip from the ‘empty skip storage area’ would be 
brought into the building to store the material until it can be removed off site. 

24. The conveyor exiting the picking line has an overband magnet which removes ferrous 
metals to a separate bay below. Waste which is not suitable for recycling is not picked and 
passes under the magnet to be blown by a fan unit into a cage at the end of the picking 
line for removal off site. The remaining heavy fractions drop off the end of the conveyor 
into the stockpile for recycling and are likely to comprise inert/hard core waste.  

Landscaping and Boundary Treatment

Page 181

8



25. The application site is proposed to have a mixed boundary treatment. Those boundaries of 
the site which currently do not comprise buildings are to be enclosed by a 2.4m high metal 
powder coated fence, with 0.5m barbed wire on top and gates at the access points, which 
will extend along the south-eastern boundary up to the area of proposed staff car parking 
at the front of the retained office building at Unit 12. The existing low 0.3m brick boundary 
wall located on the south-eastern perimeter of the site is to be retained and extended to 
the eastern gate, along with a proposed 0.75m strip for planting. Further larger areas of 
soft landscaping and planting are also proposed either side of the southern access/egress 
gate to the site. 

Traffic and Access 

26. Access to the site is gained via three points off of the main Wintersells Road, which are 
located to the east and south of the site, as shown on Drawing No. 3843/2410/04 Rev M. 
The proposed development will continue to use the two access gates into Unit 11, allowing 
for the operation of a one-way system to improve the efficiency and safety of the site. 
There is also an open access which is separate to the recycling facility for staff and visitor 
parking to the front of the two storey office building on Unit 12. A total of 17 staff parking 
spaces are proposed to be provided on the site, to the front of the office building and along 
the south-eastern boundary of the application site. 

27. It is expected that the site will employ approximately 20/21 members of staff, including 
drivers, administrative staff, plant operatives and site managers, which has the potential to 
generate 21 one way vehicle movements. The site will be staffed, whenever it is open, by a 
minimum of five fully trained operatives during all operational hours. 

Hours of Operation 

28. The applicant proposes the following hours of operation.

For the acceptance and removal of waste including the use of plant:

0630 – 1800 Monday to Friday 
0700- 1700 Saturday

For the operation of plant only: 

1800-2200 Monday to Friday 
0700-1700 Saturday

29. There would be no operations on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. The applicant has 
proposed that the only exception to these hours is for maintenance work. 

Assessments

30. The application is accompanied by a Planning, Design and Access Statement, Transport 
Assessment, Framework Travel Plan, Dust Management Plan, Air Quality Assessment, 
Historic Contamination Reports, Odour Management Plan and Noise Assessment. 

Page 182

8



CONSULTATIONS AND PUBLICITY
 
District Council

31. Elmbridge Borough Council - Object, on the grounds of unacceptable harm to the 
character and appearance of the area, and 
insufficient information to assess the impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring properties. 

32. Woking Borough Council - No objection, subject to Surrey County Council 
being satisfied that no significantly harmful impact, 
by reason of adverse noise and air quality 
implications, would arise to Nos. 126-132 Oyster 
Lane (inclusive), No.136 Oyster Lane, and 
Nos.133-135 Oyster Lane, which are the closest 
residential receptors within Woking Borough, 
notwithstanding the sensitive receptors plan 
submitted and the proposal would not give rise to 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety and that 
the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would not be severe, particularly upon 
nearby Oyster Lane (A318) and Chertsey Road 
(A320). 

33. Runnymede Borough Council - Object, it is considered that the applicant has failed 
to demonstrate that there would be no harmful 
impacts on the residents and employees in RBC 
area and visitors to the area.  

Consultees (Statutory and Non-Statutory)

34. Transportation Development 
Planning

- No objection, subject to a range of conditions to 
secure a scheme to stop vehicles overturning the 
footway at the A318 and Wintersells Road 
junction, to restrict vehicle movements and to 
provide cycle parking and vehicle charging 
points. 

35. SCC Archaeology - No objection, the proposed development is not in 
an Area of High Archaeological Potential and 
does not directly affect any designated or non-
designated Heritage Assets. The proposed 
development is adjacent to the western extreme 
of a remaining section of banked track of the 
former Brooklands racing circuit; a Scheduled 
Monument. Whilst the development does not 
directly impact the Scheduled Monument, it could 
be considered to impact its setting. However, it is 
considered that the setting of the track is not 
adversely impacted due to the previous modern 

Page 183

8



developments to its east and west. 

36. The Environment Agency 
(South East)

- No objection, following amendments to the 
application to remove the soakaway from in the 
northern corner of the site. Satisfied with the level 
of remedial works carried out on the former oil 
storage depot, coupled with the removal of the 
infiltration drainage of surface water, that the 
development at this site should not present an 
unacceptable risk to ground water quality.  

37. SCC County Noise Consultant - No objection, subject to conditions. 

38. SCC Air Quality Consultant - No objection, the applicant has provided 
assurances that the extent of the study for the 
assessment is appropriate and the air quality 
effects within all AQMAs are not likely to be 
significant. 

39. SCC Geotechnical Consultant - No objection, subject to pre-commencement 
conditions to secure details of any historic 
contamination, necessary remediation action and 
the final details of the surface water drainage 
strategy. 

40. SCC Lighting Consultant - No objection. The proposed lighting columns are 
directed into the site and the building mounted 
fittings are aimed below the horizontal so will not 
cause an adverse impact outside the site. 

41. SCC Ecologist - No objection, subject to the provision of a 
condition to secure a scheme of biodiversity 
enhancements. 

42. SCC Landscape - Overall the revised proposal represents an 
improvement to the street scene in comparison to 
the original proposal and would allow for the 
provision of a scheme of soft landscaping to help 
soften the visual impact of the development and 
provide biodiversity interest. It is recommended 
that conditions are attached to any grant of 
planning permission requiring the submission of 
a soft landscaping scheme, and final details of 
the appearance of the boundary treatment and 
exterior of the building.

43. SCC Historic Buildings Officer - No objection.

44. Historic England - Do not wish to offer any comments on this 

Page 184

8



proposal. It is recommend that the views of the 
specialist conservation and archaeological 
advisers are sought, as relevant. 

45. Lead Local Flood Authority - No objection, subject to conditions. Satisfied that 
the proposed drainage scheme meets the 
relevant national requirements and non-statutory 
technical standards, subject to conditions to 
secure details of the final design of the surface 
water drainage system and ensure that it is 
properly implemented and maintained throughout 
the lifetime of the development. 

46. Affinity Water - No views received. 

47. Thames Water - No objection, with regard to the Waste Water 
Network and Sewage Treatment Works 
infrastructure capacitybased on the information 
provided. Informatives are recommended to be 
attached to any grant of planning permission to 
ensure the applicant is aware of the need to gain 
any relevant consents/permits from the waste 
water company. 

48. Network Rail - No objection. 

Parish/Town Council and Amenity Groups

49. Byfleet, West Byfleet & Pyrford 
Residents' Association

- Object. The application will generate around 200 
lorry movements every working day. Due to the 
road layout, the traffic will have to go along the 
A318 and onto the A245, A3 and the A320. The 
traffic in this area is already substantial and traffic 
reports already state that at certain times of the day 
the road capacity is exceeded. The proposed 
development at Land West of Byfleet Road (rear of 
98-138 Byfleet Road) New Haw KT15 3LA (Ref: 
RU.19/0378), has been withdrawn on 09/04/19 due 
to traffic implications. Before this application is 
considered SCC Highways must carry out a full 
update traffic survey of the A318, A245 & A320 
covering the Brooklands, Byfleet, West Byfleet and 
Pyrford areas. 

Summary of publicity undertaken and key issues raised by public

Page 185

8



50. The application was initially publicised by the posting of two site notices and an advert was 
placed in the local newspaper. A total of 56 owner/occupiers of neighbouring properties 
were directly notified by letter. 

51. A second consultation exercise was carried out on 26 July 2019 by the County Planning 
Authority (CPA) following the submission of clarifying and additional information by the 
applicant in support of the application. This resulted in letters being sent to the 
owner/occupiers of neighbouring properties originally notified of the application, and to 
people and organisations who had expressed an interest in the application prior to the 
receipt of the additional information received. 

52. A third consultation exercise was carried out on 14 October 2019 by the CPA following the 
submission of further clarifying and additional information by the applicant to support the 
application. This resulted in the posting of two site notices and letters were sent to the 
owner/occupiers of neighbouring properties originally notified of the application, and to 
people and organisations who had expressed interest in the application prior to the receipt 
of the additional information received. 

53. A final fourth consultation exercise was carried out on 27 November 2019 by the CPA 
following the submission of additional information by the applicant in support of the 
application. This resulted in the posting of two site notices and letters were sent to the 
owner/occupiers of neighbouring properties originally notified of the application, and to 
people and organisations who had expressed interest in the application prior to the receipt 
of the additional information received. 

54. A total of 127 written representations have been received to date, although some people 
have written in more than once. Five petitions of the same format were also received in 
response to the proposal containing a total of 271 signatures. 

55. Of the letters received approximately 39 have written in support of the proposal. These are 
summarised as follows: 

 Need for waste facilities in the County
 Support for new waste facilities in general to reduce the amount of waste going to 

landfill
 Provision of jobs in the area
 Should be supporting local businesses
 Appropriate industrial location
 Gap in the market for such a facility

56. Of the remaining representations approximately 88 objections have been received. The 
issues raised will be addressed in the following sections of this report. The main points of 
public concern are summarised as follows: 

Highway, Traffic, Access and Routing 

 The local roads are not suitable for another 200 HGV movements per day
 The local transport infrastructure is not suitable for this volume of vehicle and traffic
 The existing road infrastructure needs to be improved and new roads need to be built to 

take this extra weight which is causing damage to our road surfaces

Page 186

8



 Traffic is already heavy coping with many HGV vehicles each day and night for the various 
supermarkets, parcel companies, M25, Cappagh (Addlestone Quarry) and those trying to 
turn around at the railway bridge. 

 Congestion and fumes will be significantly increased. 
 Major solutions required to alleviate the congestion on the surrounding roads.
 A further 200 HGV movements will make it impossible for residents to move around. 
 Oyster Lane and Parvis Road are already at their limit and well over their limit at particular 

times of the day. Each application cannot be taken individually and needs to be compared 
to the existing load and infrastructure. 

 Woking BC already planning huge residential development along the Parvis Road and any 
additional traffic would make the daily lives of residents living in Byfleet a nightmare. 

 There will be queues of multiple skip lorries waiting to turn into the site causing huge 
disruption to the existing businesses in the estate. 

 Access to the A3 or M25 (Junction 10) would be via Sopwith Drive and the A245 which are 
both heavily congested roads at busy times. 

 Alternative access to the site should be sought from the Weybridge side or Brooklands 
Estate. 

 Wintersells is not considered to be a modern industrial estate and was designed when 
most people came to work on foot or by bicycle. The roads are narrow and there is only a 
footpath on the left hand side of the roads. Vehicles already parking on the kerb block this 
for pedestrians. 

 It is likely that the number of traffic movements will be exceeded and can only be regarded 
as a minimum for the benefit of the planning application. 

 Extra congestion means increased journey times for local residents, businesses and the 
emergency services

 The A318 already gets very congested with long queues often stretching back for over a 
mile either side of the bridge and further delays caused by drivers ignoring the low bridge 
sign and having to do a 3-point turn on either side of the bridge. 

 Byfleet is an island, cut off by M25 to the west, the River Wey to the south and east and a 
high railway embankment to the north. Consequently, the traffic infrastructure in Byfleet is 
already under severe strain due to its extremely limited access and egress. 

 Oyster Lane the sole access to Wintersells, is greatly restricted by one vehicle wide, 2.9 
metre high railway tunnel through the embankment. 

 The A318 is already challenging for users and for residents with a significant number of 
residential properties, for who traffic, pollution and noise is already a serious issue.

 21 Jobs will be provided, only 17 car parking spaces provided within the site, resulting in 4 
cars trying to find space on the estate

 Increased likelihood of damage to parked cars
 No turning circle in the estate large enough to accommodate large vehicles
 The amount of dust on the road and in houses of people living along the A318 is already 

intolerable since Cappagh (Addletone Quarry) was granted permission for 200 vehicle 
movements in 2017. To have a further 200 HGV movements would be detrimental to the 
health and wellbeing of residents and businesses. 

 On street parking in the Wintersells Estate is at a saturated level and any additional 
demand for spaces resulting from high levels of vehicle movements and or high numbers 
of staff from overdeveloped sites will severely overload the current parking provision. 

 Given the frequency of movements trucks will overspill onto Wintersells Road and cause 
issues for residents and businesses gaining access

 No confirmation that the skip trucks will only be operated by the applicant. If not provides 
no control on emissions or the ability to control truck movements.

 The A318 is badly overcrowded between 08.00-09.30 and 15.00-18.00. All skip lorry 
movements should be banned from Oyster Lane during this time and also movements 
between 19.00 and 07.00 due to adverse impact on residential properties.

 Significant increase in late night traffic, which drives past residential properties on A318

Page 187

8



 The yellow box markings on Byfleet Industrial Estate have worn away. The Highways 
Authority should but a yellow box junction on the junction of Wintersells Road with Oyster 
Lane. 

 Significant risk to local roads, a very quick inspection of the area used by these HGVs 
shows flattened curbs, broken pavements and drain covers. 

 Project should be delayed until the road infrastructure is improved. 
 The site plans show the parking at right angles to the building. The space does not provide 

sufficient room for vehicles to manoeuvre around each other. 
 Due to the severe traffic issues, and recent adding of 600 Ocado lorries, business owner in 

Wintersells Estate has had to change employee start times and a further 200 HGV 
movements will exacerbate this issue. 

 The applicant’s documents state that the roads in the Estate are approximately 7m wide 
but this fails to take into consideration the unrestricted parking on one side which reduces 
the width of the road to 4.5m wide. A HGV is 3m wide, if the access road is gridlocked, 
these vehicles will spill onto the main road. 

 The presumption that HGVs do not fit under the bridge has skewed traffic figures and also 
impacted the air quality report which addresses only points to the south of the site. 

 The bus routes referred to in the Transport Statement are not suited to anyone working 
shifts or starting early and leaving late. To say they are frequent is misleading. 

Road and Pedestrian Safety

 Increased risk of accidents, including bridge strikes. Large footfall in the area from the 
station and surrounding Schools not to mention other businesses. 

 Already safety issues within the Wintersells Estate due to the volume of traffic. 
 No safe crossing points, so people manoeuvring between vehicles. 
 HGVs will be required to swing across into the other carriage way to exit the site and 

Abotts Close which is 30 yards from the entrance to Wintersells, very good chance that the 
number of accidents will increase. 

 Byfleet Road does not benefit from a footpath/shared cycleway on both sides of the road 
as incorrectly stated in the planning documents. There is no footpath or shared cycleway to 
the west of the hazardous single carriageways of Byfleet Road. There is a narrow footpath 
on the eastern side of the A318 carriageway and 2 feet wide beneath the bridge and even 
narrower on the western side. This is dangerous for pedestrians who walk to work. 

 The traffic assessment makes much of the site accessibility by cycle and on foot by fails to 
mention that the roads providing access to the site are not suitable for cycles due to the 
level of traffic. 

 The Wintersells estate is also suffering from a lack of parking, over congestion, which 
makes it difficult to enter at peak times, so the adding of 200 movements a day will have a 
detrimental effect on safety and on the convenience of estate users. 

Application Documentation 

 The Transport Statement has been prepared in accordance with superseded guidance 
from the Department for Transport and should have considered the later version dated 
March 2015. 

 Expected to see a Travel Plan of the routes of vehicles that would be using to collect and 
distribute waste and its impact on those roads used by vehicles. 

 It is questioned why the Weylands Site was not selected for the transport statement to 
provide information on trip movements given the similarities.

 It cannot be accurate to base calculations on the 2011 census of traffic volumes between 
2019 and 6 July 2017 particularly when on 16 June 2017, SCC gave permission for 
Cappagh (Addlestone Quarry) to operate 200 vehicle movements a day along the A318. 

 The application is misleading, it refers to a change of use but fails to mention the wording 
‘material recovery facility’ in the description of development.

Page 188

8



 All reports on polluting matters are lacking substance. 
 Distance to sensitive receptors varies in the application documents. 
 Dust and Odour documents appear to have been written as operation manuals for the 

workforce. 
 Application documents make a number of erroneous, misleading and unsubstantiated 

claims/statements about the respective site, including using out of date data to support 
their application.

Waste Management Issues

 There is already a recycling centre next door and in New Haw (Cappagh, Addlestone 
Quarry) there is no justification for the need for a further one here. 

 An additional recycling facility will cause reduced input to the current designated sites, 
potentially making them less operationally efficient and financially resilient, which could in 
turn prevent them from investing in the latest recycling technologies. 

 Given the size of the site there is no long term prospect of it becoming a major recycling 
centre and this would make more sense to close the existing operation of Unit 10 entirely 
and co-locate waste businesses in either Leatherhead or Heathrow or Oakleaf. 

 The application should be considered alongside the overall waste plan for the Country. 
 The proposed amount of waste at Wintersells site is well over double what is 

recommended in the Waste Plan Site Assessment Document. It states at 2.2.2.4 for each 
allocated site an indication of the type of waste use and the scale of facility that may be 
suitable. In terms of the scale broad definitions are used based on hectares and tonnes per 
annum. Small facilities are indicated to be up to 5 hectares and would process up to 
50,000 tonne per annum. 

 Detailed analysis of the site in SCC’s Environmental and Sustainability reports of 
December 2018 show that in virtually all of the categories of assessment the site is high 
and medium level risk to the atmosphere, water, landscape and human environment. 

 Sorting waste in the middle of a business park which comprises mainly offices and where 
the whole site is bounded by further offices, warehouses, retail establishments, hotel and 
most importantly residential properties is unacceptable. 

 Not an industrial park but a business park.
 Change of use is not consistent with or complementary to existing businesses. 
 Aware of pressing need to sort and recycle waste but inappropriate to place such a plant in 

a non-industrial area. 
 A plant of this magnitude should not be built anywhere near other small businesses that 

have nothing to do with waste. 
 Since the estate was originally set up in 1970 it has developed with plots ranging from one 

third to generally about half an acre. The proposed application to merge two plots would be 
out of character with the other plots and the start of setting a precedent for other plots to be 
merged which could result in an Industrial Estate with large units only, similar to 
Brooklands and Canada Road. This would be unwelcome and would drive small business 
out of the area. 

Operational Impacts

 Operation times are in excess of Weybridge Skip Hires normal operational hours and not in 
line with other waste site hours of business in the area. No consideration for the wellbeing 
of its neighbours. 

 Operational times should be in line with Cappagh (Addlestone Quarry), 07.30 to 17.30 
Monday to Friday and 07.30 to 13.00 on Saturdays with no Sunday, Bank or Public Holiday 
Working. 

 Sorting this type of waste in a business park is totally unacceptable when so many people 
will be affected by the odours, noise and general pollution from such a site. 

Page 189

8



 The applicant has stated that if the Wintersells road site is approved their Weylands site 
would be used for storage and maintenance of their vehicles. This is illogical and will 
necessitate additional trips.

 The permit from the Environment Agency does not match the planning application in terms 
of quantities. Permit allows 75,000 tonnes per annum to be processed application refers to 
99,950 tonnes per annum. 

 No information on how the building will be constructed and whether it will be insulated.
 Lack of information about the construction of the interior plant and machinery to be 

installed. 
 Health risk to employees on the Estate, from unchecked skips potentially holding 

hazardous material or asbestos. 
 No purpose made parking spaces in the site for skip trucks or HGVs waiting to tip or those 

taking material to landfill, these will no doubt park up and wait on Wintersells Road, or on 
the kerbs blocking the narrow road for other users. Where will vehicles wait whilst loading, 
recording and off-loading?

 The picking line does not appear to be enclosed, the Council should ensure that it is. 
 The Council should ensure that a weighbridge is installed for each loads to be recorded
 Delays should be kept to a minimum if a driver refuses to take back a load, or there is need 

for discussion.
 External stockpiles should not exceed 4m in height, and if they do work should stop until 

they are emptied. 
 There is no mention in the documents about replacing the hard-core in the area of Unit 12. 

Such matters should not be left to assumption. 
 Stockpiles should not be higher than the bays in which they are in. 
 No provision is made for closures (doors or shutters) to the front of the building
 Inspections of the boundary for vermin and litter will be impossible on the north and west 

boundaries as the site plans indicate that there is less than 1m between the building and 
the boundary wall. 

 Assurances should be given that the site will be closed when there is no more room. 
 All on site skips should be covered to prevent the escape of light waste
 It is naive to believe that all people and companies using the skip company will respect 

what can legally be put in the skips and could ignorantly or deliberately dump hazardous or 
noxious waste into the skips which won’t be identified until it is tipped. 

 Question how the rejected skips will be removed immediately or will this ‘rejected waste’ 
skip now be moved until it is full? 

 Height of the blower unit and conveyors demonstrates how out of proportion this 
development is to the rest of the buildings on the Estate (6.3m high). 

 The only rejected waste skip identified on the site plan states it is for non-odorous waste. 
There is no odorous waste skip identified on the Plan. How is that a fully sealed skip 
requires a weather proof covering if it hasn’t been removed in 48 hours? 

Environmental and Amenity Impacts 

Air Quality, Odour and Dust

 High risk of air, dust and noise pollution not only from the site itself but from vehicles 
entering and leaving the site. 

 None of the boundary treatment will stop the escape of dust
 Increased risk of odour and contamination
 Risk of increased air pollution from operating plan, affecting health of residents and 

businesses. 
 Windy conditions will cause dust and debris to blow onto footpath which will affect people 

walking past. 
 Impact of air-borne particles and dust affecting those who are spending their working life in 

Wintersells Road. 

Page 190

8



 Wintersells Estate should be introduced as an AQMA to protect existing uses from further 
pollution. 

 Assurances should be given that the site will take appropriate steps to ensure no escape of 
dust, pollutants or malodorous smells. 

 Dust will be embedded in air con units and cars causing increased cost in terms of 
maintenance and cleaning. 

 No information on the dust suppression system. 
 The proposed open plan nature of the facility has a very real prospect of toxic airborne 

contaminants, odour and dust.  
 No mention of PM2.5 particles, which is likely to be present in waste material brought to 

the facility and should therefore be considered. 
 The Air Quality Regulations 2010 state that the annual limit for PM10 should not exceed 40 

microns per cubic metre. A report produced in late 2016 by DEFRA showed that Byfleet 
road has a background concentration of 18.3 microns per cubic metre. The institute of Air 
Quality Management stated that the site movements at Cappagh site can contribute to a 
further 15 cubic metre, bringing the total to 33.3 microns per cubic metre. Given the 
proposed activity there is every reason to believe that these will be exceeded on a regular 
basis. 

 Air Quality Regulations 2010 state an objective of limiting PM2.5 pollution to no more than 
25 microns per cubic metre by 1st January. 

 Byfleet Primary School lies within the predicted path of any air borne pollutants from the 
open fronted south east facing building.

 Request that SCC deploy air, particle and noise monitoring systems over a minimum of six 
months along the Byfleet Road/Oyster Road areas as far as the crossing of the M25. 

 Air pollution in this area is known as being the worst in the Country. 
 Further dust controls need to be identified. 
 Malodourous waste should be rejected on collection rather than accepted and removed 

from the site. 
 All vehicles should be sheeted to avoid dust escape. Vehicles arriving without covers 

should be rejected. 
 The air quality report concentrates solely on vehicle emissions and does not address the 

site operations.
 There must be a more technical way to test for odours other than the ‘sniff-test’ as there is 

a risk individuals become de-sensitised to the smell. 
 The assessment of AQMAs has only taken into consideration those within Elmbridge, not 

Runnymede which is closer. 
 End of the picking line where waste is deposited from a height outside and where the 

blower is higher than the boundary wall, much dust is likely to escape. 

Noise 

 Noise levels would be high given the number of vehicles, operation of machinery and 
proposed operating times. 

 Demolition of existing building and construction would create further noise and disruption.
 All businesses and nearby residential properties will be affected by noise and vibrations 

from lorries, forklift trucks and plant and machinery. 
 When containers are dropped at PM Skips the ground shakes at the Estate. 
 Noise from PM Skips is already unacceptable, the new facility will be much larger and 

generate more nose from the breaking up of waste. 
 The application does not take into account the revised PPG planning guidance on noise on 

22 July 2019 which includes a new section on how the ‘agent of change’ principle can be 
managed in the Planning process. 

 Nosie Assessment is flawed as it doesn’t consider the actual noise impact from the 
proposed machinery. 

 The noise mitigation measures are just common sense and vague. 

Page 191

8



Landscape and visual amenity

 The design of the building indicates the height to be 13m, this is higher than any of the 
other businesses on Wintersells Estate at 2.5 times the height of the 2 storey building to be 
retained. 

 No design has been provided, leaving the reader to guess what it will look like inside and 
out. 

 Its central location will mean that it has a dominant effect on the image of the estate.
 The building would appear unduly prominent due to its massing and height. 
 The development is not in keeping with the Estate.
 Concerns with design and impact on the character and appearance of the area. 
 The south-eastern boundary of the site is currently marked by a brick wall of 30cm high, 

with a chain link fence above, total height of around 2m. The proposed site plan indicated 
that this would be replaced by a 3m high fence and concrete panels. This type of boundary 
would dominate views of the site along Wintersells Road resulting in a significant adverse 
visual and townscape impact. 

General Amenity 

 General impact on the daily living of residents. 
 Residents may suffer isolation
 Increased vermin and risk of diseases in the area due to the open nature of the facility and 

waste being left on site.
 Increased potential for windblown debris and litter coming from the site. 
 Exterior of surrounding buildings on the Estate will become dirty. 
 No objective assessment on lighting levels and potential impact on sensitive receptors. 
 Lack of adequate assessment of concerns over rodent infestation. Proposed solution not 

sufficient. There should be a fence between these properties to contain the site. 
 Dust Management Plan refers to the loading of a crusher. This is the only reference found 

but is of concern due to the dust and noise if one is to be used on site. 

Contamination 

 As the site will handle mixed waste there is no guarantee that harmful pollutants will not be 
present in such waste and thus leach into the ground through soakaway. 

 Site was part of a sewage works with filter beds and tanks prior to it being developed into 
Wintersells Business Park. There is potential that contaminants from this are still present. 
There are vents leading from this structure that ventilate gasses up to the surface of the 
Estate. One vent is located at Unit 15. 

 If agreed on-going monitoring of the site will be necessary to ensure that no deleterious 
waste finds its way into the subsoil where on-going problems with leachate and methane 
gas can occur. 

 Concern that any contaminants and harmful gasses are still present and could be released 
in an uncontrolled manner, contaminating the surrounding area and water. 

 Influx of heavy vehicles could cause underground structures to fail and release 
contaminants.  

Drainage and Flood Risk 

 Concern for water drainage, if the pipes were to get clogged with waste debris, cost to 
businesses on Estate to maintain. 

 Concern that the soakaway will receive contaminated waste water. 

Page 192

8



 The new policy paper from the Environment Agency to protect Weybridge and Byfleet from 
flooding should be examined and the conditions adhered to. 

 Will foul water drainage be allowed by Thames Water 
 The assertion that there is no watercourses within the vicinity of the site is not correct 

because the river ditch is only a short distance away and could be reach through ground 
under the railway. 

 Historically the Estate has suffered from burst water pipes due to heavy movements of 
vehicles. 

General Comments 

 It seems unrealistic that both Byfleet and West Byfleet are being subjected to so many 
different developments at the same time with no plan to either improve access or other 
facilities. 

 Similarities between this planning application and one earlier this year in Byfleet 
(RU.19/0373 and RU.19/0378) for the redevelopment of a greenfield site to provide Class 
B1c/B2/B8 floorspace, with ancillary office accommodation. Severe concerns raised by 
SCC highways and Highways England, about increased air, noise and light pollution and 
dust pollution and effect on health in general. 

 Additional congestion, delays, emissions and noise pollution will make it difficult for existing 
businesses to attract and retain staff. 

 Loss of customer contact can result in loss of profitability
 Discourage and prevent new businesses from investing in the area 
 Additional cost to businesses to maintain access track
 Devaluation of surrounding properties
 The suggestion of controls to manage impact should be rejected as evidence from 

adjacent quarry site has proved these are not effective. 
 Land registry files include a restrictive covenants that restrict the use of land in the Estate 

for any sewage refuse or other offensive matter coming or drawn from the parish place 
lands or houses. 

 Concerns over the competency of the operator as it is understood that the Environmental 
Health Officer at Elmbridge Borough Council has received a number of complaints about 
the existing business at Weylands. 

Officers’ note that matters of devaluation of businesses or loss of income are not material 
considerations in the determination of a planning application. The matters relating to the restrictive 
covenants on the land, are also not a material consideration in the determination of the planning 
application, but are of course a risk for the applicant. As such the applicant has been informed and 
they have sought the relevant legal assurances in this regard. 

Application Process 

 Lack of consultation or information provided by SCC to the neighbourhood that would be 
impacted with a waste site development. 

 Public, statutory and non-statutory consultation by SCC has been misleading and 
confusing. This has disadvantaged a number of third parties and resulted in prejudice.

 SCC did not make it clear that in July 2019 that objections made prior to the re-
consultation would still be accepted as valid. 

 Unclear what criteria was applied by SCC to notify consultees. 
 Statutory responses not available on SCC website. 

Officers’ note that the publicity and consultation carried out on the application was in accordance 
with Surrey County Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (May 2015). A revised 
Statement of Community Involvement (October 2019) has been adopted since the submission of 

Page 193

8



the planning application, however as the application was received prior to this the application has 
been determined in accordance with the SCI (dated May 2015). Officers’ have been in contact 
with those residents aggrieved by the perceived lack of publicity, during which it was made clear 
that all representations submitted with respect to the proposal following the initial consultation to 
the final (fourth) consultation are taken into consideration in the determination of the application. In 
terms of the consultation, statutory consultees were consulted  in accordance with Schedule 4 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
and non-statutory consultees were also consulted, where there was a planning policy reason to do 
so. There is no requirement for consultee responses to be made available on Surrey County 
Council website, nor for these to be sent to the relevant district/borough for the planning register. 
Consultee views are therefore not in the public domain until the Officer report is published as up 
until that time they may change and are not considered final. 

57. In addition to the letters from individuals, letters of representation were also received from 
a group of businesses and organisations who are currently occupying Units in the 
Wintersells Business Park. This group is referred to as the ‘Wintersells Road Management 
Company’ and given the detailed representation and comments received their views have 
been summarised separately below. This summary also includes an overview of the 
findings of two independent assessments commissioned by the Wintersells Road 
Management Company and carried out by Mayer Brown with regard to the Noise Impact 
Assessment (April 2019) and Transport Statement (November 2019) submitted by the 
applicant. 

58. Wintersells Road Management Company

General: Failing of the applicant to obtain pre-application advice with Elmbridge Borough 
Council. Insufficient assessment of planning policy within the applicants supporting 
planning statements. None of the planning history for either Units 11 and 12 establish a 
development principle for a waste use. Inadequate consultation with public from SCC and 
lack of consultees responses available on the planning register. Reputation of the applicant 
is questioned. 

Planning Policy Context: The scheme does not accord with paragraphs 170, 180, 181, 
182 and 183 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019), on the basis that it 
would contribute to unacceptable levels of pollution, not appropriate for the locality taking 
into account the cumulative effects of pollution and amenity impacts, it would not contribute 
to compliance with air quality limits taking account of the presence of an Air Quality 
Management Area, the scheme cannot integrate with existing businesses and community 
facilities and would be considered an unacceptable use of land. 

The scheme does not accord with the National Planning Policy for Waste (2014), because 
it has not considered the extent to which the capacity of existing operational facilities would 
satisfy any identified need, not demonstrated that waste disposal facilities are in line with 
the Local Plan and SCC Waste Plan, not considered the likely impact on the local 
environment and amenity against the criteria in Appendix B and the assessments 
submitted are lacking or flawed, it should have necessitated the relevant Waste Planning 
Authority (WPA) to carry out their own detailed assessment on impact to health and it is 
not well-designed so would not contribute positively to the character and quality of the 
area. Furthermore, it would place to high a burden on pollution control authorities and other 

Page 194

8



regulatory bodies. The WPA cannot work on the assumption that the relevant pollution 
control regime will be properly applied and enforced. 

The scheme would not accord with the wording of the paragraphs B13 to B40 of the Surrey 
Waste Plan (SWP) 2008, however it would accord with Policies CW5 and WD2 of the 
same. The scheme would not accord with Policy DC3 of the SWP because the provision of 
information supplied by the applicant does not demonstrate that the range of adverse 
impact can be controlled to not significantly adversely affect people, land, infrastructure 
and resources. 

The scheme would not accord with strategic objectives 4 (best use of existing sites), 5 
(suitable locations) and 7 (support for sustainable transport) and Policies 2 (recycling and 
recovery), 3 (recycling of inert construction, demolition and excavation waste), 8 
(improvement and extension to existing facilities), 10 (areas suitable for waste), 13 
(sustainable design), 14 (development management planning), 15 (transport and 
connectivity) or 16 (community engagement) of Part 1 of the Emerging Surrey Waste Local 
Plan. Part 2 (sites) of the emerging Waste Local Plan lists Wintersells Road Industrial Park 
as an ‘Industrial Land Area of Search’ that may be suitable for waste development. It is 
considered that the proposed scheme does not accord with this. 

The scheme would not accord with the principal policies of the Elmbridge Borough Council 
Local Plan (2011), namely CS1 (spatial strategy), CS13 (Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area), CS17 (Local Character, Density, and Design), CS23 (Employment Land 
Provision), DM12 (Heritage) and DM21 (Nature Conservation and Biodiversity). 

Reference is made to three legal cases to clarify the position on the duty in Section 54A of 
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, that the determination shall be in accordance with 
the Plan, these comprise Ouseley J in R (Cummins) v. Camden LBC (2011) EWHC 1116 
Admin, Stratford-on-Avon DC v. Secretary of State (2013), EWHC 2074 Admin and R v. 
Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council, July 2000, EWHC 1264 Admin. The dominant 
policies in this case are considered to be SCC Waste Plan Policies CW5 and DC3, and 
EBC Local Plan Policies CS1, CS17 and CS23. In this respect the scheme is not in 
accordance with the Development Plan and contravenes the majority of the most relevant 
and dominant policies and there are no material considerations which indicate a departure 
of this.  

Officers’ note that Policy CS13 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy (2011) relates to residential 
development and the issues concerning the intensification of residential development on 
the Thames Heath Basin SPA. As such the specific Policy is not referred to in the Officers’ 
considerations below. 

Prematurity: The emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan is at an advanced stage. To approve 
this application would be to substantially undermine the plan-making process by 
predetermining the decision about the scale, location or phasing of new waste 
developments that are centre to the emerging plan, in a random, ad-hoc and 
unplanned/assessed fashion. 

Environmental Impact Assessment: A lack of a screening opinion for this proposal is a 
breach of EU EIA Directive and UK SI 571; the scheme is considered Schedule 2 
development and would exceed the relevant thresholds and criteria, in addition it is close 

Page 195

8



to two ‘sensitive areas’ (Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area and The 
Basingstoke Canal SSSI) and biodiversity opportunity areas. It therefore has the potential 
to give rise to a range of environmental effects and should be considered EIA 
development. The submission of eight standalone environmental reports strongly suggests 
a wide suite of environmental effects that require detailed and examination and point to a 
type of development that should be EIA. It is requested that SCC reconsider the EIA 
Screening process, which is out of date following the submission of further information by 
the applicant, incorrect in some factual information and legally flawed. 

Adverse Effects: The building is larger in scale and will appear unduly prominent due to 
its massing and height. Boundary treatment (concrete panels) will have a significant 
adverse visual and townscape impact. Adverse noise, vibration, dust and light pollution, 
smell/odour and visual impacts will be felt by sensitive receptors in locality and other 
occupants of the business park. The proposal does not take account of the ‘agent of 
change’ principle in the revised national guidance. The noise assessment is flawed. The 
Dust Management Plan does not go far enough to satisfy concerns and does not 
demonstrate how dust arising from activities at the site, including stockpiles, vehicle 
movements and on-site operations can be controlled. Odorous waste should be an 
exception at this site and should be rejected on delivery. To condition a contaminated land 
assessment is inappropriate, it is fundamental to the scheme should be examined as part 
of the planning process. 

Summary of findings from the independent review of Transport Assessment: The 
junction of Wintersells Road and Oyster Lane is not of sufficient width or layout to 
accommodate increased vehicle movements as evidence by existing damage to kerbs; 
Wintersells Road is not of adequate width to accommodate an increase in large vehicle 
movements due to on street parking; the safety record of Wintersells Road and Oyster 
Lane is poor and further traffic will increase this; the projected traffic attraction of the 
development is not clear; robust or consistent; detailed junction modelling and an 
understanding of the local highway conditions is required in order to demonstrate the 
proposal will not exacerbate the existing situation; access design does not accommodate 
large vehicles that would use the site including visibility; the parking layout raises concerns 
about pedestrian conflict; insufficient information about the parking of trucks and HGVs 
overnight; insufficient information about controlling vehicle movements and preventing tip 
rate increase. It is concluded that the development proposals are not acceptable from a 
highways perspective. 

Summary of findings from the independent review of the Noise Assessment: The 24-
hour survey is insufficient to determine the background sound level; the report incorrectly 
identifies the nearest sensitive residential receptor as 190m from the site, findings suggest 
there are properties closer at 125m to the west of Byfleet Road; correction factors have 
been incorrectly applied; the accuracy of the instruments used has not been verified with a 
calibrator; table 3.1 reports the daytime and night-time background sound levels as 51dB 
LA90 and 49 dB LA90 respectively, however given the noise sources in the vicinity of the 
site it is considered that the difference between these two values would be greater if a 
longer duration survey was undertaken; misinterpretation of BS4142, underestimate of the 
actual noise emissions; movement of empty skips has not been covered in the 
assessment. It is concluded that planning permission be refused on the grounds that the 
submitted noise report does not provide sufficient information upon which a reliable 
decision can be based. If however the CPA is minded to grant planning permission it is 

Page 196

8



requested that operative noise limits are imposed which provide protection to existing 
businesses adjoining the site. It is recommended that the noise levels at the boundary of 
the site should not exceed the level of 60 dB LAR T, in accordance with BS 4142. 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

Introduction 

59. The guidance on the determination of planning applications contained in the 
Preamble/Agenda front sheet is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in 
conjunction with the following paragraphs. 

60. In considering this application the acceptability of the proposed development will be 
assessed against relevant development plan policies and material considerations. In this 
case the statutory development plan for consideration of the application consists of the 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 (SWP), the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 (ECS), and the 
Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015 (EDM).  

61. The Surrey Waste Plan 2008 is currently in the process of being replaced by the “Surrey 
Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies” (SWLP-1) and the “Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 2 – 
Sites” (SWLP-2). These will set out how and where different types of waste will be 
managed within Surrey, and will form the policy framework for the development of waste 
management facilities from 2019 until 2033. 

62. The two part replacement document referred to as the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2019-2033 
whilst not yet formally adopted, is in the final stages of preparation. The Council's latest 
plan (called the 'Submission Surrey Waste Local Plan') was agreed by Cabinet on Tuesday 
18 December 2018 and submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination. 
An independent Inspector was appointed by the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government. An examination into the soundness and legal 
compliance of the Plan was held, in the form of Public Hearing Sessions which took place 
between 17 and 26 September 2019 as part of the examination process. During this 
process the Council identified ‘Main Modifications’ that it considers necessary to make the 
Plan sound and legally compliant. The consultation on the proposed ‘Main Modifications’ 
and revised Environmental & Sustainability Report commenced on 13 January 2020 and 
continued until 23 February 2020. Any representations received relevant to the 
modifications proposed were sent to the Inspector to inform their conclusion of the 
examination. 

63. In accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019), weight can be given to relevant 
policies in emerging plans according to the stage of preparation (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that can be given), the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to relevant policies and the degree of consistency to the relevant 
policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF. Accordingly, the Surrey Waste Local Plan 2019-
2033 is at an advanced stage in the examination process, it can therefore attract weight in 
the determination of this application and moderate weight for those policies, subject to 
main modifications at this stage. 

64. In addition, Elmbridge Borough Council (EBC) are in the process of replacing the adopted 
Core Strategy 2011 and Development Management Plan 2015 with a new Local Plan, to 

Page 197

8



shape how Elmbridge is developed over a 15 year period. This long-term plan for the 
borough will also seek to respond to the shortage of new and affordable housing as well as 
ensure that future development happens with the necessary infrastructure while protecting 
the environment. At present EBC have consulted on the Strategic Options, the first stage in 
the process of developing a new Local Plan. The consultation closed on 30 September 
2019 and 3,760 comments were received in total. EBC are therefore in the process of 
considering the feedback from the Strategic Options consultation and carrying out further 
studies and assessments in response to the concerns raised. Given the very early stages 
of the emerging Local Plan no weight can be given to it in the consideration of this 
application. 

65. In assessing the application against development plan policy it will be necessary to 
determine whether the proposed measures for mitigating any environmental impact of the 
development are satisfactory. In this case the main planning considerations are: 
sustainable waste management matters; highway, traffic and access; environmental and 
amenity matters including air quality and dust; noise; contamination; drainage and flood 
risk; lighting; landscape and visual impact and the impact on heritage assets. 

Environmental Impact Assessment 

66. The proposed development was evaluated by the CPA in line with the Town & Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the 
advice set out in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) on Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA). On 13 December 2018, the CPA adopted a screening opinion 
under Regulation 8 of the above EIA Regulations. Having considered the proposed 
development in the context of Schedule 2 of the Town and County Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended), it was 
recommended that the development to which this application relates is not likely to give 
rise to any significant environmental effects (in terms of the meaning of significant in EIA 
Regulations) and it was therefore recommended that the proposed development did not 
constitute EIA development. 

67. On 4 October 2019 a representation received on behalf of the ‘Wintersells Road 
Management Company (WRMC)’, detailed at paragraphs 57 and 58 above, challenged the 
lawfulness of the adopted screening opinion and asked the CPA to reconsider their views 
in this respect or they would reserve the right to seek a Direction from the Secretary of 
State (SoS). The CPA considered that in the absence of exceptional circumstances, such 
as new evidence or a substantial change to the proposal, there was no justification for a 
revision to the adopted Screening Opinion. In light of the likely third party challenge the 
applicant was advised to request a Screening Direction from the SoS to confirm the 
position in terms of EIA development. An initial request was submitted to the SoS on 9 
October 2019. The third party was also invited by the SoS to comment on the request. The 
SoS Screening Direction was issued on 14 January 2020, in which it addresses the 
request of the applicant and third party and confirmed that the application is not likely to 
have significant effects on the environment and is therefore not considered to be ‘EIA 
development’ within the meaning of the 2017 Regulations. 

SUSTAINABLE WASTE MANAGEMENT

Development Plan Policies

Page 198

8



Surrey Waste Plan 2008
Policy CW4 – Waste Management Capacity
Policy CW5 – Location of Waste Facilities
Policy WD2 – Recycling, Storage, Transfer, Materials Recovery and Processing Facilities
Policy DC3 – General Considerations

Aggregates Recycling Joint Development Plan Document for the Minerals and Waste Plans
Policy AR4 – Aggregates Recycling Outside Preferred Areas
Policy AR5 – High Value Recovery 

Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies
Policy 1 – Need for Waste Development
Policy 2 – Recycling and Recovery (other than inert C, D & E and soil recycling facilities)
Policy 4 – Sustainable Construction and Waste Management in New Development
Policy 10 – Areas suitable for development of waste management facilities 

Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 2 – Sites 
Industrial Lane Areas of Search – 1 (Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road Industrial Park 
and Byfleet Industrial Estate). 

Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011
Policy CS4 – Weybridge 
Policy CS23 – Employment land provision

Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015
Policy DM1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy DM5 - Pollution

Policy Context 

68. In England, the waste hierarchy is both a guide to sustainable waste management and a 
legal requirement, enshrined in law1. The hierarchy gives top priority to waste prevention, 
followed by preparing for re-use, then recycling, other types of recovery2 and last of all 
disposal. 

69. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) does not contain policies relating 
to waste management. Instead national waste management policies are contained within 
the Waste Management Plan for England 2013 (WMP) and set out by the National 
Planning Policy for Waste 2014 (NPW). 

70. The WMP advocates that the dividends of applying the waste hierarchy will not just be 
environmental but explains that we can save money by making products with fewer natural 
resources, and we can reduce the costs of waste treatment and disposal. It envisages that 
the resulting benefits of sustainable waste management will be realised in a healthier 
natural environment and reduced impacts on climate change as well as in the 
competitiveness of our businesses through better resource efficiency and innovation – a 

1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2011/9780111506462/contents 
2 Including energy recovery and other beneficial uses 

Page 199

8

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2011/9780111506462/contents


truly sustainable economy. Similarly, the NPW sets out the Government’s ambition of 
working towards a more sustainable and efficient approach to waste management by 
driving waste up the waste hierarchy. In this context the NPPF, at paragraph 80 explains 
that significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and 
productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for 
development. 

71. The NPW states that when determining planning applications the CPA should: (a) consider 
the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity against the criteria set out in 
Appendix B of the NPW and the local implications of any advice on health from the 
relevant health bodies but that the CPA should avoid carrying out their own detailed 
assessments in these respects; (b) ensure that waste management facilities in themselves 
are well designed so that they contribute positively to the character and quality of the area 
in which they are located; and (c) concern themselves with implementing the planning 
strategy in the Local Plan and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the 
pollution control authorities3. The CPA should work on the assumption that the relevant 
pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced. 

72. The SWP explains at paragraph B30 that SCC remains committed to achieving net self-
sufficiency, enabling appropriate development that implements the waste hierarchy and 
ensures that the County delivers its contribution to regional waste management. In this 
context paragraph B32 goes on to state that a range of facilities, type, size and mix will be 
required, located on a range of sites to provide sustainable waste management 
infrastructure in Surrey. Consequently, Policy CW4 of the SWP requires planning 
permissions to be granted to enable sufficient waste management capacity to be provided 
to manage the equivalent of the waste arising in Surrey, together with a contribution to 
meeting the declining landfill needs of residual waste arising in and exported from London, 
by ensuring a range of facilities are permitted. 

73. Policy CW5 of the SWP sets out the approach that should be taken in respect of the 
location of waste management facilities on unallocated sites. Generally, waste 
management facilities should be suited to development on industrial sites and in urban 
areas giving priority over greenfield land to previously developed land, contaminated, 
derelict or disturbed land4. In respect of this application planning permission is sought for 
the change of use of two previously developed industrial units within the Wintersells 
Business Park to accommodate the construction of a new waste transfer and recycling 
facility. These facilities are expected to enable and to encourage waste to be used as a 
resource, and to recover materials to be put to beneficial use. Policy WD2 of the SWP 
states that permission for development involving the recycling, storage, transfer, recovery 
and processing of waste will be granted on land that is, or has been used, or is allocated in 
a Local Plan or Development Plan Document, or has planning permission for industrial or 
storage purposes. A list of industrial estates, which may be able to accommodate waste 
management facilities can be found at Table 3.1 (page C4) of the SWP. This table includes 
Wintersells Industrial Estate, Byfleet.

3 In this case the Environment Agency and the relevant Borough Councils. 
4 Where there is an absence of landscape, and international and national nature conservation designations; 
and where the site is well served by the strategic road network or accessible by alternative means of 
transport. 

Page 200

8



74. Policy AR4 of the ARDPD sets out that applications for new aggregate recycling facilities 
outside the preferred areas identified in the Plan will be supported where it can be 
demonstrated that the development would result in an increase in the recovery of C,D & E 
waste material suitable for the production of recycled aggregates and comply with the 
locational and development management policies within the Surrey Minerals Plan Core 
Strategy and the Surrey Waste Plan. Furthermore, Policy AR5 of the same, expects 
planning applications for aggregate recycling facilities to maximise the amount and range 
of recyclable material that can be recovered.

75. Policy 1 of the emerging SWLP-1, seeks to ensure that new waste developments 
contribute towards achieving targets for the management of waste at the highest point 
practical in the waste hierarchy. Policy 2 of the same, states that planning permission for 
the development of recycling or recovery facilities and any associated development will be 
granted where: (i) the site is allocated in the Surrey Waste Local Plan for waste 
development (Policy 11) (such as this site); ii) the activity involves the redevelopment of a 
site, or part of a site in an existing waste management use; and iii) the site is otherwise 
suitable for waste development when assessed against other policies in the Plan. 
Additional Policy 4 of the SWLP-1 seeks to ensure that waste generated during the 
construction, demolition and excavation phase of the development is limited and 
opportunities are effectively sought for the re-use and recycling of such arisings. 

76. The emerging SWLP-1 sets out the spatial strategy and overall approach to the location of 
new waste management capacity across Surrey. Areas potentially suitable for waste 
management development include prioritising previously developed land, sites and areas 
identified for employment uses, industrial and storage purposes. In this respect Policy 10 
of the SWLP-1 ensures planning permission will be granted for the development of 
facilities: on land identified as an ‘Industrial Land Area of Search’ as shown on the Policies 
Map; on any other land identified for employment uses or industrial and storage purposes 
by the district and borough councils; on land considered to be previously developed; and 
that is otherwise suitable for waste development when assessed against the other policies 
of the Plan. The SWLP-2 identifies the Brooklands Industrial Park, Wintersells Road 
Industrial Park and Byfleet Industrial Estate as an Industrial Land Area of Search (ILAS). 

77. Policy DM1 of the EDM sets out that when considering development proposals the Council 
will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the NPPF. Planning applications that accord with the policies in 
the Local Plan will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. Policy CS4 of the ECS indicates that the opportunities for further employment 
will be focused in existing employment areas at The Heights, Brooklands Business Park 
and the Town Centre. Policy CS23 of the same goes on to set out that in order to 
accommodate predicted and future economic growth, ensure sustainable employment 
development patterns and working practices, the Council will protect strategic employment 
land and retain other employment uses. 

Need

78. The proposal is for the construction of a permanent waste transfer station and materials 
recycling facility at Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road. The site is proposed to be operated 
in connection with the applicants existing skip waste business ‘Weybridge Skip Hire’, which 
is currently based at Weylands Treatment Works, Walton-on-Thames. The proposed 

Page 201

8



facility is expected to receive up to 99,950 tonnes per annum of skip waste inputs, which 
will equate to approximately 2000 tonnes a week and 300 tonnes a day. The waste inputs 
will comprise mixed, dry, non-hazardous Commercial and Industrial waste (C&I) and 
Construction, Demolition and Excavation (C,D & E) Wastes, which are described in the 
application as typically comprising, plastics, wood, metals, paper, cardboard, hardcore and 
soils. It is proposed the skip waste inputs will be separated by hand and mechanically, into 
separate waste streams, which once bulked up will be transferred on to other waste 
recycling sites for further processing. 

79. The applicant in the submitted Planning, Design and Access Statement (PDAS) dated 
November 2019, has indicated that given the emphasis in national policies for the 
minimisation, re-use and recycling of waste, it can be concluded that there is a clear and 
defined need for facilities such as the existing, to diversify and expand in order that 
national recycling targets can be met, whilst also assisting in compliance with legislation at 
a National and European level. 

80. Estimates of waste arisings in Surrey are reported in the latest Annual Monitoring Report 
2018/19 (AMR 2018/19). The AMR 2018/19 refers to the Waste Needs Assessment (April 
2019), undertaken to support the development of the emerging SWLP. This document 
estimates waste arisings and the capacity of existing and planned waste management 
infrastructure in the county of Surrey. 

81. The table5 below provides a summary of the forecasted total waste arisings in Surrey by 
principal waste streams relevant to this proposal. As set out above, Surrey County Council 
(SCC) is committed to achieving net self-sufficiency, through ensuring that there is 
sufficient capacity to manage the equivalent amount of waste produced within the county. 
Waste Stream 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035
Commercial and 
Industrial (C&I)

682,000 744,000 848,000 951,000 1,055,00

Construction, 
Demolition & 
Excavation Waste 
(C,D &E)

2,494,000 2,494,000 2,494,000 2,494,000 2,494,000

82. As set out in the Waste Needs Assessment (April 2019)6 in 2017, 30% of C&I waste was 
sent to landfill, with the remainder being prepared for reuse or recycling (including transfer 
and composting) (62%), and sent for ‘other recovery’ (4%) and anaerobic digestion (4%). 
In terms of C,D & E waste, in 2017, 64% was recycled (including transfer and compost), 
with 36% of this being sent for deposit on land and restoring mineral workings by infilling 
sites such as Addlestone Quarry, Hithermoor Quarry and Shepperton Quarry. 

83. The current SWP includes targets for the waste management based on the South East 
Plan, which has now been revoked. The existing targets require the amount of C&I waste 
to be recycled to be 60% by 2020 and 65% by 2025. In addition 60% of C,D & E waste is 
expected to be recycled by 2020/25. These have been built on in the emerging SWLP-1, to 
continue to encourage the sustainable management of waste by promoting the 
management of waste further up the waste hierarchy. In this regard the targets proposed 

5 Table 1 taken from the Waste Needs Assessment (April 2019) – Summary of forecast waste arisings in 
Surrey by principal stream. 
6 Paragraph 3.3.2.1 

Page 202

8



for the emerging plan period are more ambitious than that previously set, requiring by 
2020, 65% of C&I waste arising in the County to be recycled, rising to 70% in 2025 and 
75% in 2035. In terms of C, D & E waste the target is 65% by 2020, 70% by 2025, 75% by 
2030 and 80% by 2035. 

84. The table7 below provides an overview of the net available capacity for preparing waste for 
re-use or recycling less the predicted waste arisings. As can be noted there is a surplus of 
recycling capacity in the medium to long term (including transfer facilities), with a small 
surplus towards the end of the plan period. Insufficient capacity is predicted for C, D&E 
waste. At present the County is reliant on a number of temporary permissions for 
aggregates recycling on existing mineral workings, which are due to expire, resulting in a 
significant capacity loss over the next 10 years8. 

Treatment Type 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035
Recycling9 540,000 423,000 281,000 175,000 15,000
C, D & E 311,000 -14,000 -389,000 -809,000 -1,134,000
Other Recovery -10,000 -39,000 -92,000 -156,000 -148,000

85. Whilst it is acknowledged that there is a specific need for additional ‘other recovery10’ 
capacity in Surrey, the CPA seek to promote recycling capacity ahead of ‘other recovery’ 
capacity to encourage the management of waste further up the hierarchy. Consequently, 
emphasis is placed on having sufficient WTS and MRF capacity available. This approach 
is consistent with the WFD and the emerging SWLP. 

86. The applicant has not specified within the submitted information a breakdown of expected 
amounts of C&I and C, D & E waste to be processed on the site, however based on the 
above predictions whilst a capacity gap in recycling would not arise in the short term, the 
predicted surplus by 2035 is a small one and emphasis is placed on the need for recycling 
facilities to maximise opportunities for preparing for re-use, recycling and recovery. Overall 
this will contribute to achieving sustainable development by making best use of natural 
resource and reducing reliance on landfill. Furthermore, it is evidenced that a high 
proportion of this capacity continues to be disposed of by landfill, which is considered the 
least desirable method of waste management. 

87. As set out above, there is clearly a need to continue to encourage increased recycling and 
recovery capacity in Surrey to contribute to national and development plan targets. The 
proposed development at Units 11 and 12 would contribute to the provision of permanent 
recycling capacity, where materials can be sorted and recovered before onward transfer to 
recycling sites as part of a network of facilities within the county, reducing reliance on 
landfill locally and nationally, in accordance with Policy CW2 of the SWP. Furthermore, the 
proposal will also contribute towards the targets for aggregates recycling and provide 

7 Table 29 from the Waste Needs Assessment (April 2019) showing waste management capacity in Surrey, 
with the negative gap shown in red. 
8 Paragraph 3.2.1 of the Local Aggregates Assessment 2019
9 Including Anaerobic digestion and Other Recovery Facilities due to become operational in 2018/19
10 Other recovery is not specially defined in the revised Waste Framework Directive, although ‘energy 
recovery’ is referred to as an example. It can be assumed by their exclusion in the definition of recycling, 
that processing wastes into materials to be used as fuels or for backfilling can be considered ‘other 
recovery.’

Page 203

8



capacity through the mechanical separation and screening of soils for onward transfer to a 
specialised aggregate and soil recycling facility.

88. Objections received in response to the proposal, as set out at paragraphs 56 – 58 above, 
raise concern with regard to the need for the facility given the proximity of other existing 
waste development in the area, including the adjacent waste facility at Unit 10, Wintersells 
Road and Addlestone Quarry, New Haw, located approximately 186m to the north of the 
application site, beyond the railway line. 

89. As set out in this section, whilst there is sufficient capacity overall to deal with the 
equivalent amount of waste arising in the county with regard to recycling, a range of 
facilities in terms of type, size and mix are required to support the efficient and sustainable 
management of waste. In this regard, there is no cap on recycling capacity in the county, 
particularly for WTS and MRF facilities, which make an important contribution to ensuring 
the management of waste further up the waste hierarchy and reducing the need for ‘other 
recovery’ facilities, for which there is insufficient capacity at present. The applicant is 
currently operating the skip waste business ‘Weybridge Skip Hire’ from their facility at 
Weylands Treatment Works, approximately 7km from the application site. The current 
proposal seeks to improve these existing operations and contribute to more efficient 
recycling of the skip waste inputs, which is encouraged within the county. Officers are 
satisfied provided the proposal is acceptable in all other respects and any impacts arising 
can be suitably mitigated, as set out in the preceding sections of this report. 

90. In terms of Addlestone Quarry, Byfleet Road, the waste operations at the site are currently 
taking place under a temporary permission (expiring 31 December 2020), and comprise 
the processing of C,D & E waste (by way of screening and crushing), to enable the quarry 
to export recycled shingles, Sustainable Urban Drainage materials and sub-base material. 
These materials are manufactured from selected demolition and excavation materials, 
principally concrete breakout and tarmac planings, imported from excavation and 
demolition contracts in the area. The most recent planning application at the site (Ref: 
RU16.1960, approved on 16 June 2017) details that the site receives up to 100,000 tonnes 
of C,D & E waste per annum, from which 70,000 tonnes of recycled aggregate is produced 
with the remaining 30,000 tonnes being used in the restoration of the wider Quarry site. In 
this respect, the activities taking place at the site are of a different nature and scale to that 
proposed at Units 11 and 12 Wintersells Road. Furthermore, as set out above a network of 
waste management sites are required to effectively manage the waste arising in the county 
and reduce reliance on landfill. 

Site Suitability  

91. The existence of an identifiable general need in the county does not mean that every 
proposal is automatically acceptable. As set out in the NPW sites are required of the right 
size, in the right locations and capable of supporting the required infrastructure and being 
operated without harm to local amenity and environmental interest. The application site is 
not located within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), or an Area of Great 
Landscape Value (AGLV), nor is it close to international and national nature conservation 
designations.

92. Objections to the proposal, as set out at paragraphs 56 – 58 above, have raised concerns 
with regard to the level of material expected to be processed at the site, when compared to 

Page 204

8



the size of the facility, with specific reference to the site assessment process undertaken 
with respect to the emerging SWLP-2. In addition, objections state that a waste 
management use of this scale and magnitude is considered to be inappropriate for the 
existing light industrial and high end nature of the Wintersells Business Park.

93. The emerging SWLP-2 provides an overview of the process of site selection and suitability 
of sites to accommodate waste management, to inform the site allocation and areas of 
search within the emerging Plan. These assessments identify specific issues at each 
potential site and have informed the key development issues (KDIs). The indicative scales 
referred to by the objector, are not definitive and are used to inform KDIs for allocated sites 
only. These scales are used to indicate whether the site is likely to be suitable for small, 
medium or large facilities11.It must be stressed that the Plan does not give an indicative 
scale of facilities likely to be suitable at each identified ILAS (with the exception of thermal 
treatment which has been included as a Proposed Main Modification and currently subject 
to consultation, see paragraph 62 above). As with all sites there will be material 
considerations associated with the ILAS which will need to be appraised on a site by site 
basis at the planning application stage and it cannot be assumed that the site is not 
capable of supporting the scale of facility proposed based on the indicative scales. The 
considerations will include the ability of the development to mitigate potential adverse 
impacts taking account of the particular characteristics of the site.

94. As set out above, the application site is located in an industrial area on an established 
business park and on land which has been used previously for industrial purposes. The 
Wintersells Business Park is also identified in the Elmbridge Borough Local Plan as an 
employment area to which Policy CS23 applies. The area surrounding the application site 
primarily comprises industrial and commercial development, with access to a network of 
major highway routes. As set out in Policy CW5 of the SWP, priority is given to land that is, 
or has been in industrial or storage use, allocated for industrial or storage use or has 
planning permission for such uses, land that is considered to be previously developed, 
contaminated, derelict or disturbed land over greenfield land and AONB and AGLV sites 
should be avoided. 

95. Whilst the application site is not identified under criterion (ii) of Policy WD2 of the Surrey 
Waste Plan, paragraph C11 of the SWP, sets out at table 3.1 a list of industrial estates, 
which may be capable of supporting waste management facilities. This list includes the 
Wintersells Industrial Estate, Byfleet. These sites are not allocated specifically in the plan 
due to the high turnover and frequency of plot ownership changes, however it is 
acknowledged that during the plan period some sites will become available in these areas.  
The wider industrial area in which the application site is situated is also identified in Policy 
10 of the emerging SWLP-1 and the SWLP-2 as an ILAS. These sites whilst not allocated 
are considered ‘in principle’ areas which are likely to be compatible with waste 
management facilities. As such the application site is located in a preferred area for the 
management of waste as identified in CS23 of the Elmbridge Local Plan, CW5 of the SWP 
and Policy 10 of the SWLP-1.

11 The indicative scales are set out at Table 6 of the SWLP-2, and suggest a small scale development is 
defined as up to 5 hectares or up to 50,000 tonnes per annum. A medium scale facility is categorised as 5 to 
10 hectares or 50,000 to 120,000 tonnes per annum and a large scale facility is 10 or more hectares or 
120,000 or more.

Page 205

8



96. The applicant proposes to manage up to 99,950 tonnes per annum of waste at the 
combined Units, which measures approximately 0.3ha in total. The majority of operations 
taking place on the site will be within the proposed building, with areas of external storage 
and space for vehicle turning. The applicant has set out that there is sufficient space within 
the site to accommodate the expected waste arisings, which is supported by the 
construction of a large waste reception building and anticipated fast turnaround times for 
the removal of waste from the site to other processing facilities. As such the longest a 
waste stream is expected to be stored on the site is 72 hours. As set out above, the 
indicative scales are not definitive and each case is to be assessed on its own merits. In 
terms of this application appropriate conditions will be attached to any grant of planning 
permission to ensure that any adverse impacts arising from the development are 
appropriately mitigated. Furthermore, the Environment Agency has advised that the 
development would require the benefit of an Environmental Permit and the CPA in 
accordance with the NPPF, should assume that this regulatory regime would operate 
effectively. In terms of the potential impact on the environment, amenity, traffic and 
infrastructure, these matters are considered in more detail in the further sections of this 
report. 

97. Overall, Officers consider that the application site at Wintersells Road is, in principle, an 
appropriate location for the management of waste, when taking into account its industrial 
location and context, on previously developed land, with accessible links to the strategic 
road network, in accordance with development plan policies CW5 and WD2 and of the 
SWP, Policy DM1 of the EDM and Policies CS4 and CS23 of the ECS and national 
guidance. In general, the most appropriate locations will be those with the least adverse 
impacts on the local population and the environment. These matters will be covered in 
more detail in the highway and environment and amenity sections of the report. 

Prematurity 

98. The WRMC in their objection to the proposal have indicated that to approve this application 
would be to undermine the plan-making process by way of prematurity. By predetermining 
the decision about the scale, location or phasing of new waste developments that are 
centre to the emerging SWLP, in a random, ad-hoc and unplanned/unassessed fashion.

 
99. In this regard, Paragraphs 49 to 50 of the NPPF (2019) indicate that arguments that an 

application is premature are unlikely to justify a refusal of planning permission other than in 
limited circumstances. In these circumstances the development would have to be ‘so 
substantial’, or its cumulative impact ‘so significant’ that granting permission would 
undermine the plan making process by predetermining decisions about the scale, location 
or phasing of new development that are central to an emerging plan’. 

100. As set out above, the application site is located in an industrial area which is advanced 
within the current SWP as likely to be a suitable location to accommodate a waste 
management development. These sites are not formally allocated within the current plan 
due to the high turnover of the plots and changes to ownership. For the same reasons the 
site is not allocated in the emerging SWLP-2. In accordance with the current SWP, 
unallocated sites will be considered in accordance with the principles set out within Policy 
CW5, which prioritises industrial/employment sites and previously developed land, whilst 
avoiding sites within or close to international and national nature conservation 
designations. As such, the application site at Units 11 and 12 is considered, in principle to 

Page 206

8



be appropriately located in accordance with Policy CW5. Other matters regarding the 
location including impact on the local population and environment will be covered in more 
detail in the proceeding sections of this report. 

101. In terms of the scale of development, the application site measures approximately 0.3ha 
and involves the construction of a waste recycling building, providing approximately 
1050sqm of additional floorspace, with an adjoining yard area for the turning of vehicles 
and external storage space. Whilst not providing a significant increase in capacity in itself, 
it contributes towards the county’s current and future needs. As set out above the shortfall 
in waste recycling is not anticipated in the medium to long-term but predicted surplus is 
due to drop by 2035. WTS and MRF facilities also continue to be supported in the county 
to reduce reliance on ‘other recovery’ and increase diversion of waste from landfill. 

102. Officers consider for the reasons set out above, the circumstances of prematurity do not 
arise in this application. The proposal does not involve a departure from the current policy 
in terms of location and is not considered to be of a ‘substantial’ scale or size, that would 
undermine the emerging Waste Plan.  Subject to any adverse impacts on the locality being 
appropriately managed by conditions attached to any grant of planning permission the 
proposal does not warrant a refusal on grounds of prematurity. 

Conclusion 

103. Overall, Officers consider there is a clear need to encourage an increase in recycling 
capacity in the county to contribute to the agreed and emerging targets. The proposed 
WTS and MRF would make a contribution towards the need to increase the rates of 
recovery and is located in an area preferred for waste management development. It is 
therefore considered that the proposal accords with the development plan policy CW4, 
CW5 and WD2 of the SWP and Policy DM1 of the EDM, Policies CS4 and CS22 of the 
ECS, in this regard. This is subject to other material considerations not causing harm to the 
environment and amenity of the locality as discussed below. 

HIGHWAYS, TRAFFIC AND ACCESS 

Development Plan Policies 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008
Policy DC3 – General Considerations

Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies
Policy 14 – Development Management
Policy 15 – Transport and Connectivity 

Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011
Policy CS25 – Travel and Accessibility

Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015
Policy DM7 – Access and Parking

Policy Context 

Page 207

8



104. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF is clear that development should only be refused or prevented 
on transportation grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or 
the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. This guidance also 
advocates at paragraph 111, that all development that would generate significant amounts 
of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be 
supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of 
the proposal can be assessed. 

105. Appendix B of the NPW states that in testing the suitability of sites for waste management 
the CPA should bear in mind the envisaged waste management facility in terms of its 
nature and scale and consider the suitability of the road network and the extent to which 
access would require reliance on local roads. 

106. Policy DC3 of the SWP requires that applicants demonstrate, by the provision of adequate 
supporting information, that any impacts of the development can be controlled to achieve 
levels that will not significantly adversely affect people, land, infrastructure and resources. 
The policy goes on to state that the supporting information should include, where 
appropriate, an assessment of traffic generation, access and suitability of the highway 
network, and mitigation measures to minimise or avoid a material adverse impact and 
compensate for any loss. Policy 14 of the SWLP -1 echoes this approach and sets out that 
planning permission for waste related development will be granted where it can be 
demonstrated that it would not result in significant adverse impacts on communities and 
the environment, which includes cumulative impacts arising from the interactions between 
waste development, and between waste development and other forms of development. 

107. Policy 15 of the SWLP-1 sets out that planning permission for waste development will be 
granted where it can be demonstrated that transport links are adequate to serve the 
development or can be improved to an appropriate standard. Where the need for road 
transport has been demonstrated, the development will ensure that; waste is able to be 
transported using the best roads available12, which will usually be main roads and 
motorways, with minimal use of local roads, unless special circumstances apply, the 
distance and number of vehicle movements are minimised, vehicle movements associated 
with the development will not have a significant adverse impact on the capacity and safety 
of the highway network, there is safe and adequate means of access to the highway 
network and satisfactory provision is made to allow for safe vehicle turning and parking, 
manoeuvring, loading, electric charging and where appropriate, wheel cleaning facilities 
and low or zero low emission vehicles, under the control of the site operator, are used 
which, where practicable, use fuel from renewable sources. 

108. Policy CS25 of the ECS promotes improvements to sustainable travel, and accessibility to 
services, through a variety of measures. It seeks to direct new developments that generate 
a high number of trips to previously developed land in sustainable locations within the 
urban area13 and promotes the delivery of new footpaths, cycleways and bridleways 
thereby increasing permeability and connectivity within and outside the urban area. The 
policy also seeks to improve and mitigate the detrimental environmental effects caused by 
transport particularly with regard to HGVs. In this respect it references air quality, noise 

12 Surrey County Council Controlling lorry movements in Surrey on the Road and Transport webpage.   
13 Town centres and areas with good public transport accessibility. 

Page 208

8



and the Elmbridge Air Quality Strategy. The air quality and noise implications of the 
development are discussed in the relevant sections of this report. 

109. Policy DM7 of the EDM requires the layout and siting of accesses to and from the highway 
to be: (a) acceptable in terms of amenity, capacity, safety, pollution, noise and visual 
impact; and (b) safe and convenient for pedestrians, cyclists and motorists. It also requires 
provisions for: (c) loading, unloading and the turning of service vehicles which ensure 
highway and pedestrian safety; and (d) minimising the impact of vehicle traffic nuisance, 
particularly in residential areas and other sensitive areas. 

The Development
110. A significant majority of the public objections (over 70%) to the development concern its 

perceived highway, traffic and access implications. Similarly the Byfleet, West Byfleet and 
Pyrford Residents’ Association, consulted in respect of the proposal have objected to the 
development on the same grounds and the WRMC have commissioned an independent 
review of the applicants Transport Statement (dated November 2019). These concerns are 
registered in paragraphs 56 to 58 above. 

111. The application site is located in a central position on the established Wintersells Business 
Park. The site is approximately 150m to the west of the main A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster 
Lane, which is the sole access to the Business Park. The Wintersells Road, is located to 
the south of the application site and provides the main access road within the Business 
Park from the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane. It is anticipated that the proposal would 
generate a maximum of 200 HGV movements a day, following the deposit of a maximum 
100 loads in any one working day (100 in and 100 out). Based on an 11.5 hour day, this 
equates to an average of 18 movements per hour. In addition, the applicant is proposing to 
employ approximately 20-21 members of staff, which will also generate vehicle movements 
to and from the site. Given the proposed hours of operation (06.30-22.00) a high proportion 
of staff movements will take place outside of the typical highway peak hours. 

112. The applicant has indicated that the types of vehicles required to access the site will 
primarily comprise skip vehicles but also Roll-on Roll-off (RoRo) trucks, HGV tipper 
wagons and articulated lorries for the removal of waste and commodities only. The 
applicant has indicated that of the 100 trips the split of vehicles is expected to be 76% skip 
wagons, 10% RoRo, 10% tippers and 4% articulated lorries. The applicant has a total fleet 
of 15 HGVs and would look to park two HGVs on the site overnight as two members of 
staff are within walking distance from the proposed facility. It is proposed these HGVs 
would be parked near to the skip storage area. The remaining HGVs will be parked at the 
applicants existing facility at Weylands Treatment Works. A vehicle wash facility is also 
proposed to the situated on the south eastern site boundary. 

113. The main vehicular access to the site is proposed from the two existing accesses off the 
Wintersells Road to Unit 11. The proposed development will operate a one-way system, 
through the site for the collection and delivery of waste, which will help minimise conflict 
and reduce the need for larger vehicles to undertake excessive turning and reversing 
manoeuvres. Unit 12 also benefits from a separate access point to the east of the site 
which will be utilised to gain access to the proposed car parking spaces to be provided to 
the front of the retained office building. Additional parking will also be provided within the 
open hardstanding area to the front of the site. A total of 17 car parking spaces for staff is 
proposed to be provided on the site. Following the submission of a Framework Travel Plan 
(November 2019) the applicant is also seeking to promote more sustainable modes of 
transport to and from the site by staff. Given the urban context of the surrounding area the 
applicant is keen to promote the use of walking, cycling, bus and train. 

Page 209

8



114. The Transport Statement, dated November 2019 submitted with the application concludes 
that the increase in traffic as a result of the proposal will be negligible and will not have a 
significant impact on the operation of the local highway network. 

Impact on Wintersells Road and A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane 

115. The Wintersells Business Park is served by Wintersells Road, which is a private road 
which connects to the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane to the west of the application site 
via a priority controlled T-Junction and benefits from dropped kerbs and tactile paving to 
assist pedestrians. The Wintersells Road extends across the length of the Business Park 
and branches out into three cul-de-sacs to serve the various industrial units located within 
the Business Park. In transport location terms the site is well related to the primary road 
network with the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane joining the M25 at Junction 11 via the 
A320 St Peters Way to the north and the A3 via the A245 to the south. As referenced 
previously, approximately 180m to the north of the junction of Wintersells Road with the 
A318 Byfleet Road is a railway embankment, with a low railway bridge which the A318 
Oyster Lane passes under, with a height restriction of 2.4m. As a result all heavy traffic 
including skip lorries, tippers and articulated lorries, are restricted to arriving and leaving 
the site to the south of the entrance to the Business Park.

116. Units 11 and 12 are existing industrial units within the established Business Park. Their 
previous uses have been associated with a wide range of vehicles, which have operated 
without restrictions on the size or number. Based on the available TRICS data the use of 
the units in a B1/B2 use, could generate in the am peak period 10 vehicle movements and 
in the pm peak period 8 vehicle movements. In comparison with the proposed facility, it 
would generate 18 HGV vehicle movements in the am and pm peaks, with the addition of a 
few smaller vehicles for employee access. 

117. Objectors have raised concerns with regard to the volume of heavy traffic generated by the 
proposal and the suitability of the existing highway network in terms of capacity and safety 
to accommodate this additional pressure. In this regard, objectors have suggested that the 
infrastructure improvements are required and alternative site access should be sought to 
avoid the use of the A318 Byfleet Road. The WRMC raised concerns regarding the width 
and layout of the entrance to the Business Park, and its ability to cope with additional 
heavy traffic, evidenced by damage to kerbs and a poor safety record. 

118. Further, concerns are raised generally regarding the congestion issues within the 
Wintersells Business Park, considered to be exacerbated by the volume of HGVs trying the 
access the site and lack of available parking. The findings of the review commissioned by 
the WRMC raise concerns that significant stretches of the Wintersells Road feature on-
street parking, limiting the width to approximately 5.1m, below the 6.0m minimum width 
required to allow two HGVs to pass each other in a straight line. A greater width is also 
required on a bend, and this is also recorded to be below the 5.5m minimum width 
recommended in figure 7.1 in Manual for Streets14. The assertion made in the applicants 
Transport Statement that the Wintersells Road is 10.9m wide is therefore considered to be 
incorrect and it is reported to be a maximum width of between 7.2m and 7.6m wide. 
Concern is also raised with regard to the available visibility splays for egress from the site 
onto Wintersells Road which are considered to be inadequate. 

14 Manual for Streets (2007)

Page 210

8

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/341513/pdfmanforstreets.pdf


Highway Constraints

119. Following concerns from the County Highway Authority (CHA), the applicant provided a 
swept path analysis of a skip loader and rigid tipper (Appendix B of the Transport 
Statement (November 2019) Drawing Numbers: SCP/18503/ATR01 dated 14.11.18 and 
SCP/18503/ATR03 Rev A dated 14.11.18) exiting the junction of Wintersells Road with the 
A318 Byfleet Road. These demonstrate that these vehicles can be accommodated at the 
junction of Wintersells Road with the A318 without need to overrun the footways or the 
opposing lanes. In terms of the articulated vehicles it is accepted that whilst the wheels of 
the vehicle do not overlap the kerbing to the tactile paving the vehicle body does, this size 
of vehicle would also need to cross into the opposing lane, which is the situation for all 
vehicles of this size which currently use the Business Park access. The applicant has 
therefore proposed to increase safety measures for pedestrians at the entrance to the 
Business Park, through the movement and installation of new bollards. This position has 
been accepted by the CHA and further details are required to be secured by condition 
attached to any grant of planning permission along with a swept path plan of the use of the 
junction by an articulated lorry. 

120. The Wintersells Road, is a private road serving the Business Park and therefore does not 
form part of the public highway, and is not in the jurisdiction of the County Highway 
Authority (CHA). Formal parking arrangements are provided throughout the Business Park, 
which include double yellow lines and dedicated areas for parking, which avoid conflict with 
the junctions and egress points. As this is a private road it would be for the management 
company of the Business Park to ensure that these parking restrictions continue to be 
adhered to and are enforceable, for the benefit of the users. The proposed development 
seeks to provide 17 off street car parking spaces for 20-21 employees, whilst also 
promoting measures for employees to walk to work through the Travel Plan and the Freight 
Operator Recognition (FOR) Scheme, to avoid pressure on the existing arrangements. 

121. The application site will operate a one-way system, allowing vehicles to access and egress 
from the site without conflict. Appendix B of the Transport Assessment (November 2019) 
contains swept path drawings of the vehicles associated with the proposed facility. All 
vehicle types proposed to access and egress from the site are shown to do so without 
conflict. In the context of the site, daily HGV movements are already accommodated to and 
from the Business Park, and it has been designed as such to accommodate these larger 
movements, which already occur on the estate from the existing businesses. 

Road Capacity 

122. The Design Manual for Roads and Bridges15 (DMRB) provides guidance on the level of 
highway link capacity for typical roads. Whilst this focuses on urban roads, category ‘Urban 
All Purpose 3’ provides a useful comparison, with the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane 
being a two-way single carriageway road of variable standard, carrying mixed traffic with 
frontage access, side roads, bus stops and at-grade pedestrian crossings. A 6.1m wide 
road under this classification (the lowest of the width ranges specified in the DMRB), 
estimates a capacity of 1800 vehicles per hour in each direction. In a 12 hour day this 
equates to 21,600 movements and in an 18-hour day 32,400 and a 24 hour day 43,200. By 
comparison, the Department for Transport Road, Traffic Statistics, provides an Annual 

15 Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, Volume 5, Section 1. 

Page 211

8



Average Daily Flow count for the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane at 20,330 for all motor 
vehicles. This demonstrates that theoretically the road is operating below capacity 
predicted by DMRB, demonstrating that in capacity terms its level of background traffic 
means that highway capacity itself is not a concern in the determination of this proposal. 
Although capacity cannot be used as a means to determine a quantifiable level where the 
number of HGV movements generated by the development is in overall terms acceptable. 

123. The applicant has indicated that the movement of vehicles to and from the site will 
fluctuate on a day to day basis so it is not possible to identify a particular peak time for 
these movements. The hours of the proposed operation for the acceptance of vehicles are 
06.30 to 18.00 Monday to Friday, resulting in an 11.5 hour window. Vehicle movements 
spread evenly across 11.5 hours would result in 18 HGV movements an hour, so 1 vehicle 
movement approximately every 3.5 minutes. The WRMC have criticised the applicant’s 
approach of a flat profile of HGV movements. In this regard the WRMC have applied the 
multi-model Ordinary Goods Vehicle (OGV) trip rate which predicts a peak of 38 HGV 
movements in the hour of 12:00 – 13:00 (comprised of 17 arrivals and 21 departures). 
Using the same method it is also considered that there would be 25 HGV movements 
during the AM Peak 08:00-09:00. The CHA have considered the WRMC’s assessment and 
note that the peak period would occur outside the network peak. The CHA are satisfied 
that the volume of movements can be accommodated on the highway network and private 
road and in order to manage this a condition will be attached to any grant of planning 
permission to restrict the total number of HGV movements to 200 HGV a day, and not the 
AM/PM peak hour movements. The CHA have also recommended that as part of such a 
condition the site operator is required to keep a record of vehicle movements to ensure 
compliance to be made available on request. Given the fluctuation in the volume of 
movements through the 11.5 hour period it is also proposed to attach a condition to restrict 
the queuing of traffic on the Wintersells Road to protect the amenity of existing businesses 
within the Business Park and avoid congestion over spilling on the highway network. 

124. To further reduce instances of vehicles waiting on the road within the Business Park, the 
applicant has indicated that more than one vehicle can be accommodated within the site at 
any one time. In addition, the applicant uses a Personal Digital Assistant (PDA) system, 
which allows the applicants office team to track vehicles, to see when vehicles are idling or 
switched off, how fast they are traveling and the direction. This system would be used to 
control and re-direct vehicles, so in the event of a breakdown or a malfunction or delays at 
the site there is not an accumulation of vehicles waiting to access the facility. Whilst this 
would not apply to third party vehicles, it would aid in reducing the instances of any build 
up within the Business Park. 

Severance 

125. Severance is used to describe a complex series of factors that separate people from 
places and other people. Severance may result from the difficulty of crossing a busy road 
or the physical barrier of the road itself. It can also relate to minor traffic flows if they 
impede pedestrian access to essential facilities. All road users including pedestrians, 
cyclists and motorist may be affected. The measurement of severance is extremely 
difficult. There are no predictive formulae which give simple relationships between traffic 
factors and levels of severance. In general, marginal changes in traffic flow are unlikely to 
create, or remove, severance. 

Page 212

8



126. Different groups in the community may be more affected by severance than others. Older 
people or young children may be more sensitive to traffic conditions than others. Any 
assessment of severance should aim to estimate the current severance caused by traffic 
and related factors, and the extent to which the additional traffic will exacerbate this 
problem. It is generally accepted, based on studies of major changes in traffic flow, that 
changes in traffic flow of 30%, 60% and 90% are regarded as producing ‘slight’, ‘moderate’ 
and substantial’ changes in severance respectively16. 

127. In this particular case, annual average daily traffic flow as recorded in 2018 for the A318 
Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane is 20,330. If the application site were to generate a maximum of 
200 HGV movements in any one day, an additional 200 HGV movements to the daily 
average flow of 20,330 would result in a change in traffic flow of 0.98%. This is below the 
levels required to produce a ‘slight’ change in severance outlined in the above paragraph. 

128. If the HGVs were converted to Passenger Car Units (PCUs) the results would be different. 
A HGV is equal to 2.3 cars17. The proposed 200 HGV movements would therefore be 460. 
The daily average of 200HGV/460 movements would lead to a change in severance of 
around 2.2%, which would still be described as ‘slight’ on the basis of the methodology 
above. 

Driver delay

129. Traffic delays to non-development traffic has potential to occur at points on the network 
surrounding the site including at the access from Wintersells Business Park to the A318 
Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane, on the surrounding routes where there is likely to be additional 
traffic, and at other junctions along the route that may be affected by increased traffic. 
Driver stress, as outlined in the DMRB18 has three principal elements: frustration, fear of 
potential accidents and uncertainty relating to the route being followed. It is recognised that 
the weight of these factors varies depending on the individual driver. Any resulting delays 
are only likely to be significant when the traffic on the network surrounding the 
development is already at, or close, to capacity or if there are accidents or delays 
elsewhere on the wider network such as the M25 or A3 which cause traffic to back up in 
the locality. As set out in paragraphs 122 - 124 above the A318 is not at capacity and the 
increase in movements as a result of the proposal will not result in a significant change to 
the existing situation. There would be no significant delay or congestion as a result of the 
proposed development. 

Pedestrian and Cycle Amenity 

130. Pedestrian and cyclist amenity is broadly defined as the relative pleasantness of a journey 
and is considered to be affected by traffic flow, traffic composition, footway and cycleway 
widths and their separation from traffic. This potentially significant effect is considered to 
be a broad assessment category which also encompasses fear, intimidation and exposure 
to noise and air pollution. A tentative threshold for judging the significance of changes in 
pedestrian and cyclist amenity is described as instances where traffic flow or its HGV 
component halves or doubles. There is neither formal guidance nor a consensus on the 

16 Institute of Environmental Assessment, Guidance Notes No.1, Guidelines for the Environmental 
Assessment of Road Traffic, Page 34. 
17 Transport for London figure. 
18 Volume 11, Section 3, Part 9 ‘Vehicle travellers’

Page 213

8



thresholds for the assessment of the level of fear and intimidation experienced by 
pedestrians. However, the degree of fear and intimidation experienced is generally 
dependant on traffic volumes, composition and the presence of protection such as wide 
footways or guardrails. 

131. IEMA guidance suggests the use of degree and hazard thresholds as set out in the table 
below in order to assess fear and intimidation in the first instance. 

Degree of Hazard Average Traffic Flow 
over 18 hour day 
(vehicle/hour)

Total 18 Hour HGV 
flow 

Average Speed Over 
18 Hour Day 
Mile/Hour 

Extreme 1800+ 3000+ 20+
Good 1200-1800 2000-3000 15-20
Moderate 600-1200 1000-2000 10-15

132. Concern has been raised with regard to the impact of additional HGV traffic on the footfall 
of the area, with no safe crossing points and narrow footpaths which are considered 
hazardous/dangerous for those pedestrian who walk to work. Objectors have also 
questioned the presence of a shared cycleway on each side of the road and the applicant’s 
encouragement of employees to walk or cycle to work without evidence that the roads are 
suitable for this. 

133. Wintersells Road from the junction of the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane contains a 
footway on each side of the road for approximately 88m, it then reduces to a footway on 
the northern side of the road only, which extends through the Business Park and into the 
cul-de-sac areas. Wintersells Road is a private road within the established industrial 
estate, given the nature of the businesses the traffic is likely to consist of predominately 
private cars, commercial vehicles and HGVs during the day, with an increase in private car 
movements at the beginning and end of the working day as employees arrive and leave. 
The footfall within the estate would be limited to users or employees of the Business Park 
or adjoining Brooklands Industrial Estate using the cut through. The speed of vehicle 
movements within the Business Park would be considerably slower to that on the A318 
Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane, given the road layout and on street parking. Those on foot in 
the Business Park would therefore generally be more aware of their surroundings and 
adjust their behaviour accordingly. 

134. The A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane a single two-way carriageway which provides access 
to the Business Park, contains a footway on each side of the road for its length, with a 
short gap on the northern side of the railway bridge, which contains a grass verge. In the 
immediate vicinity of the access to the Wintersells Business Park off A318 Byfleet 
Road/Oyster Lane there is signage which suggests that the footway is shared for 
pedestrians and cyclists. As there are residential properties along this road, a number of 
these have driveways at the front of their properties, which are accessed by crossing over 
the footway on A318. 

135. In terms of the composition of traffic, the increase in vehicle movements (200 HGV 
movements a day), when added to the annual average daily traffic count for the road in 
2018 would equate to 20,530. The HGV proportion of this is recorded as 241 in 2018, 
when adding the increase in HGV movements to this figure (441 HGVs), only 2% of the 
overall traffic using the road on a daily basis would be HGV movements. There is no 

Page 214

8



protection between the users of the pavement and the road in terms of guardrails, although 
the stretch of the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane at the access to the Business Park is 
30mph. Whilst no pedestrian or cyclist counts have been submitted, given the context of 
the area near to the junction to the Business Park, footfall is likely to be limited to 
customers, employees of the commercial units and some residents living along A318. 
Further footfall may arise from those traveling to and from the New Haw and Byfleet train 
station and walking to the town centre approximately 1.5km to the south of the station. 

136. The Byfleet Primary School is located on the western edge of Byfleet within a residential 
area, with the M25 immediately to the west. It is located approximately 530m from the 
application site. The School is a 1 Form of Entry Primary School which serves 239 pupils, 
across 8 classes. It has 28 full time staff and 12 part time staff. The School Travel Plan 
submitted in support of the most recent application at the School (Ref: WO/2019/0677) 
approved on 9 August 2019, sets out that 41% of pupils (98) and 32.5% of staff (13) walk 
to the School. In comparison, 40% of pupils (97) and 62.5% of staff (25) drive to the School 
and 0.8 of pupils (2) and 2.5% of staff (1) travel by train. Whilst it is identified that there is a 
relatively high number of pupils and staff who walk to the site, given the context and 
location of the residential areas in proximity to the south and east of the School it is likely 
that only a small number of pupils and staff would walk to school from the north. There is 
also a very limited number of staff and pupils accessing the School from the railway 
station.  

137. In terms of cyclist, the footways on each side of the A318 are signposted as a shared 
cycleway which will reduce the amount of conflict between vehicles and cyclists on the 
road. Whilst it is noted that the footpaths narrow under the railway bridge, given the 
industrial context of the area it would not be uncommon for cyclist to come across HGVs 
and other commercial vehicles, as such being overtaken or approached by a HGV can be 
intimidating to a cyclist but is more likely to be an issue for those that are inexperienced or 
nervous.

Accidents 

138. The most obvious and immediate health risk from transport is the risk of fatal and serious 
injuries from collision with vehicles. All accidents involving a personal injury have to be 
reported to the police. Non-injury accidents do not have to be reported to the Police where 
certain other requirements have been met and there is no reliable way of collating 
information about them. Accident analysis is therefore always on the basis of personal 
injury accidents. The IEMA guidelines state than an assessment of road safety on the 
highway network should be undertaken on recent collision records. 

139. The Transport Statement (November 2019) indicates three accidents within the last five 
years, with only one relating to the junction of A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane and the 
Wintersells Road. This indicates an average of less than one accident per year, all of 
which were of slight severity. Based on the data available there is no evidence to 
demonstrate that there is an existing highway safety issue that would be exacerbated by 
this proposal. 

Other Matters

Page 215

8



140. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 2019, makes it clear that planning 
conditions should be kept to a minimum and only used where they satisfy the six tests 
(necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the development to be permitted, enforceable, 
precise and reasonable in all other respects). In terms of the perceived increase in the 
deterioration of the road as a result of the additional heavy traffic movements, in the 
context of the industrial area where other HGV movements are permitted, it would be 
difficult to solely attribute any damage to the movements of the application site in 
particular. As such it would be unreasonable and unenforceable for the CPA to impose a 
condition to require the repair of any damage. Furthermore, it is recognised that there are 
historic issues associated with the local highway network in the area, not least the railway 
bridge, however it would be unreasonable for the CPA to require wholesale improvements 
to these when taking in to account the additional trips generated by the proposal, 
compared to the number of users of the road. The CHA are however responsible for the 
repair and maintenance of the public highway which is set out in the Highways Act 1980, 
including provisions to seek costs to contribute to repair, where applicable. In terms of any 
increase in damage to the Wintersells Road, as this is a private road, it would be for the 
management company to implement and maintain a process for ensuring the up keep and 
suitability of the road for its users.  

141. The Byfleet, West Byfleet & Pyrford Residents' Association in their objection, refer to the 
withdrawal of a planning application (Ref: RU.19/0373 & RU.19/0378), in the area due to 
traffic concerns. The proposal now withdrawn involved the redevelopment of 7.54ha of 
greenfield land to the rear of 98-138 Byfleet Road. It comprised the construction of nine 
new industrial units, providing 19,632sqm of floorspace in B1/B2 use, with access onto 
A318 Byfleet Road. The withdrawn proposal represents a scheme of a substantially larger 
scale, with a large volume of vehicle movements, than that proposed. The CHA comments 
on the withdrawn proposal raised concern with regard to a proposed uncontrolled 
pedestrian crossing and the safety of users on a new footpath link, requiring the 
submission a road safety audit. The CHA acknowledged that the modelling of key local 
junctions indicated that the proposal would have an impact, however this was not 
considered to be ‘significant/severe’ enough to warrant a recommendation to refuse on 
road safety/capacity grounds, subject to the other matters being satisfied. In this respect, 
whilst the withdrawn scheme was a scheme of a much larger nature, the capacity of the 
surrounding road network to accommodate the additional traffic was considered sufficient 
to support the additional movements and was therefore not considered a reason for 
refusal.   

Assessment 

142. As demonstrated above the proposal would equate to a 0.98% increase in traffic flow 
overall, which is below the threshold which would see a ‘slight’ change in traffic flow. In 
regard to the capacity of the existing highway network there would be no significant delay 
or congestion as a result of the proposed development. Furthermore, there is no evidence 
of accidents along the A318 that would suggest that there is an existing problem with 
safety in the area. It is recognised that fear and intimidation of pedestrians and cyclists 
using the road could occur, however given the location of the proposal and likely footfall 
this impact is not considered to be severe. 

143. The applicant has demonstrated that the site can accommodate more than one vehicle at 
any one time for the turning, unloading and loading. In addition proposed measures 

Page 216

8



including the PDA system and the adoption of a Staff Travel Plan will help in alleviating 
congestion within the Business Park. 

144. The County Highway Authority were consulted on the proposal and have raised no 
objection subject to the provision of conditions to restrict HGV movements to 200 a day, a 
scheme to stop the overturning of the footway a the A318 and Wintersells Road Junction, 
the provision of cycle parking and electric charging sockets. It is further noted that the 
A318 is a busy ‘A’ class road, so the addition of these vehicles will be negligible and will 
not have a significant impact on the operation of the local highway network. The 
Wintersells Business Park whilst not in the jurisdiction of the CHA has been designed to 
accommodate HGVs and larger commercial vehicles that are generated by the existing 
industrial units that it serves, so the impact here will not be significant either. 

Conclusion 

145. Overall, officers consider that the proposal would not result in a significant adverse impact 
on the public highway, subject to the imposition of conditions. Having regard to paragraphs 
104 to 144 above, it is considered that the proposal accords with the development plan 
policy DC3 of the SWP, Policy CS25 of the ECS and Policy DM7 of the EDM, alongside 
the requirements of the NPPF and NPW, in this regard.  

ENVIRONMENT AND AMENITY 

Development Plan Policies 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 
Policy DC2 – Planning Designations
Policy DC3 – General Considerations

Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies
Policy 13 – Sustainable Design 
Policy 14 – Development Management 

Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011
Policy CS15 - Biodiversity
Policy CS17 – Local, Character, Density and Design
Policy CS26 – Flooding 

Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015 
Policy DM2 – Design and Amenity
Policy DM5 – Pollution 
Policy DM6 – Landscape and trees 
Policy DM21 – Nature Conservation and Biodiversity 

Policy Context

146. Paragraph 170 of the NPPF advocates the contribution to and enhancement of the natural 
and local environment by preventing development from contributing to or being put at 
unacceptable risk from levels of air pollution. In this regard, paragraph 180 of the NPPF 
sets out that planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative 

Page 217

8



effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the 
potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 
development. In doing so the CPA should:

a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise 
from new development, and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts 
on health and the quality of life. 

b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by 
noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason; and 

c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically 
dark landscapes and nature conservation. 

147. Further, paragraph 182 of the NPPF sets out that planning policies and decisions should 
ensure that new development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and 
community facilities. Existing facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on 
them as a result of development permitted after they were established. Where the 
operation of an existing business or community facility could have a significant adverse 
effect on new development (including changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or agent 
of change) should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the development has 
been completed. Paragraph 183 goes on to set out that the CPA should focus on whether 
the development itself is an unacceptable use of land, and the impact of the use, rather 
than the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution 
control regimes). Planning decisions should assume these regimes will operate effectively. 

148. The NPW sets out at paragraph 7 that when determining planning applications, planning 
authorities should consider the likely impact on the local environment and upon amenity, 
against the criteria set out in Appendix B. Appendix B comprises: the protection of water 
quality; resources and flood risk; land instability; landscape and visual impacts; nature 
conservation; conserving the historic environment; traffic impacts; air emissions including 
dust, odour, vermin and birds, noise, light and vibration, litter; and potential land use 
conflicts. 

149. Policy DC2 of the SWP sets out that planning permission will not be granted for waste 
related development where this would endanger, or have a significant adverse impact, on 
the character, quality, interest or setting of a designated site including Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC), candidate Special Areas of Conservation (cSPA), Special Protection 
Area (SPA), potential Special Protection Area (pSPA), Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) and Site of Nature Conservation Importance (SNCI), unless the development can 
demonstrate that any significant adverse impacts identified could be controlled to an 
acceptable level in accordance with prevailing national policy and guidance. The 
assessment will also take into account whether any significant adverse impacts could be 
controlled to acceptable levels. 

150. Policy DC3 of the SWP requires that applicants demonstrate, by provision of adequate 
supporting information, that any impacts of the development can be controlled to achieve 
levels that will not significantly adversely affect people, land, infrastructure and resources. 
Similarly, Policy 14 of the SWLP-1 states planning permission for waste development will 
be granted where it can be demonstrated that it would not result in significant adverse 
impact on communities and the environment which includes public amenity and safety in 

Page 218

8



respect of impacts caused by noise, dust, fumes, odour, vibration and illumination 
(including impacts on Air Quality Management Areas), the water environment, the 
appearance, quality and character of the landscape, the natural environment, the historic 
environment and the cumulative impacts arising from the interactions between waste 
developments and other forms of development.

151. Policy DM2 of the EDM requires all new development proposals to be based on an 
understanding of local character including any specific local designations and take account 
of the natural, built and historic environment. Proposals should also protect the amenity of 
adjoining land uses and potential occupiers and users. 

152. Policy CS17 of the ECS requires new development to deliver high quality and inclusive 
sustainable design, which maximises the efficient use of urban land whilst responding to 
the positive features of individual locations integrating sensitively with the local distinctive 
townscape. Policy DM9 of the EDM sets out that all development that may result in 
potential sources of pollution from noise, odour, light or contamination will be expected to 
incorporate appropriate attenuation measures to mitigate the effect on existing and future 
residents. 

Landscape and Visual Impact 

Policy Context 

153. The application site, as mentioned above, is located (almost centrally) within an existing 
industrial estate. To the south of Wintersells Business Park is the Brooklands Industrial 
Estate. To the west on the other side of the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane are other 
industrial units including a mix of storage and distribution and service centres. North of the 
Wintersells Business Park is the railway line with some residential properties and a large 
substation beyond that. The Wintersells Business Park, Brooklands Industrial Estate and 
the units beyond the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane do not lie within any landscape 
character area as defined by the Surrey Landscape Character Assessment 2015. 

154. Paragraph 56 of the NPPF states that the design of the built environment should contribute 
positively to making places better for people and it plays an important role in sustainable 
development and is indivisible from good planning. Paragraph 124 of the NPPF is clear 
that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. It 
explains that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people. To this end paragraph 127 of the 
NPPF sets out that decisions should ensure that developments will, inter alia, function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area and be sympathetic to local character and history, 
including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation or change. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that 
permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of the area and the way it 
functions. 

155. In respect of the protection of the landscape and visual amenity the NPW Appendix B 
Criteria C requires consideration of (i) the potential for design-led solutions to produce 
acceptable development which respects landscape character, and (ii) the need to protect 
landscapes or designated areas of national importance including Areas of Outstanding 

Page 219

8



Natural Beauty. The application site does not lie within any national landscape character 
areas such as the AONB. 

156. Policy DC3 of the SWLP seeks the protection of landscapes and woodland and the 
provision of mitigation measures where appropriate. This is echoed in Policy 14 of the 
SWLP-1 whereby planning permission for waste development will be granted where it can 
be demonstrated that it would not result in significant adverse impacts on the integrity of 
key environmental assets including protected landscapes and important heritage assets. 
Furthermore it would not result in significant adverse impact on communities and the 
environment which includes the impacts on the appearance, quality and character of the 
landscape and any features that contribute to its distinctiveness, including character areas 
defined at national and local levels and the cumulative impacts arising from the interactions 
between waste developments and other forms of development. 

157. Policy 13 of the SWLP – 1 sets out that planning permission for waste development will be 
granted where it can be demonstrated that the development follows relevant best practice. 
All proposals for waste development should demonstrate that the development is of a 
scale, form and character appropriate to its location and during its construction and 
operation measures are required to maximise landscape enhancements and biodiversity 
gains, contribute to green infrastructure provision, maximise the efficiency of water use, 
minimise greenhouse gas emissions and ensure resilience and enable adaptation to 
climate change. 

158. Elmbridge Borough’s Core Strategy recognises the importance of high quality, sustainable 
design. Policy CS1, which sets out the spatial strategy for the Borough, aims to protect 
Elmbridge's Green Infrastructure assets, by directing new development towards previously 
developed land within the existing built up areas such as the application site. Policy CS17 
of the ECS requires new development to deliver high quality design and inclusive 
sustainable design, which maximises the efficient use of urban land whilst responding to 
the positive features of individual locations, integrating sensitively with the local distinctive 
townscape, landscape, and heritage assets, and protecting the amenities of those within 
the area. Particular attention should be given to the design of development which could 
have an effect on heritage assets which include conservation areas, historic buildings and 
scheduled monuments. Additionally, the Council will support and promote sustainable 
design that addresses climate change and minimise the borough’s carbon footprint. As 
such new development should be landscaped, and where appropriate should incorporate 
biodiversity habitats. This is echoed in Policy DM6 of the EDM which expects development 
proposals to be designed to include an integral scheme of landscape which, inter alia, 
reflects, conserves or enhances the existing landscape and integrates the development 
into its surroundings, adding scale, visual interest and amenity

159. Policy DM2 of the EDM sets out that all new development should achieve high quality 
design, which demonstrates environmental awareness. The Council will permit 
development proposals that demonstrate that they have taken full account of the local 
character including specific local designations including the natural, built and historic 
environment. Development proposals will be expected to take account of the relevant 
character assessment companion guide in the Design and Character Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) (2012). Proposals should also preserve or enhance the 
character of the area, with particular regard to appearance, scale, mass, height, levels and 
topography, prevailing pattern of development and separation distances of plot boundaries. 

Page 220

8



160. Furthermore, development proposals should create safe and secure environments and 
reduce opportunities for crime. 

Landscape Character 

161. The Elmbridge Design and Character SPD provides design guidance relating to all new 
development in the Borough with its overall aim being to ensure that the design of future 
development is more locally responsive, sustainable and built to a high quality. It sets out 
how the location, form and type of new residential and non-residential development in the 
borough will be considered through the Design Process. 

162. Within the SPD, the application site falls within the ‘Weybridge’ settlement area which 
acknowledges the Brooklands area and it having its own individual identity containing a 
diverse mix of uses. Much of the document focuses on the design of residential spaces 
however there are elements that are relevant for this development proposal such as 
consideration of the appropriateness of the materials of the building, the use of sustainable 
water systems and massing as it plays a large part in determining the character of the 
building and its appropriateness. The SPD also says that boundary treatments should 
reflect those in the vicinity. The SPD does cover specific development types beyond 
residential and this includes commercial development. The SPD says that “as commercial 
development is so varied it is not possible to give comprehensive guidance […] but the 
general design principles should be adhered to”. The SPD recognises that commercial 
developments are located in prominent positions and therefore their potential role within 
the streetscape should be fully considered and taken account of in the design and that 
design briefs may be issued in particularly critical locations. There is no such design brief 
for Wintersells Business Park or the adjacent Brooklands Industrial Estate

163. The application site lies within a built-up area, within the flat, low-lying floodplain of the 
River Wey. It is not within a designated landscape or a landscape defined Surrey 
Landscape Character Area (LCA); however, the open land of the Lower Wey River 
Floodplain (RF7) LCA lies to the north and further east, beyond the Brooklands Industrial 
Estate. The site does lie within an existing business park which is an established part of 
the townscape within the immediate surrounding area, which is characterised by industrial, 
commercial and storage/warehouse buildings that are of varying materials including brick 
and metal cladding, with varying frontages and at varying heights.  

164. The Wintersells Business Park is visually contained by the railway line which runs on the 
embankment immediately to the north, and by the embanked Brooklands race track to the 
south and east. Both of these features have mature trees which provide a further degree of 
screening. 

165. The proposal would involve the construction of a steel building for the purposes of waste 
management, measuring 35.5m in length by 30m in width, with a sloping roof at a 
maximum height of 13m to the front and 10.3m in height at the rear. The building is 
proposed to have an open doorway measuring 17.5m wide with a height of 10m, to allow 
for the safe access and egress of equipment and vehicles. As part of the proposal the 
applicant also intends to change the boundary treatment. It is proposed to replace an 
existing 2m concrete post and steel wire fence and access gates with a 2.4m powder 
coated mesh fence, with 0.5m barbed wire on top. The applicant has also amended the 

Page 221

8



application to keep and extend a low brick wall around the southern and south-eastern 
perimeter of the site, with a gap of 0.75m between the wall and proposed fencing for 
landscaping.  

166. As detailed above, there are currently buildings on Units 11 and 12 Wintersells Road 
however these are both smaller in height and massing than the proposed. Given the 
change to both the height and massing that the proposed building would result in, it is 
appropriate to assess the implications of the proposal on landscape character and visual 
impact. 

167. A number of objectors (20%) and the WRMC have raised concerns with regard to impact 
of the proposed building at a maximum height of 13m on the character of the Business 
Park, given its central location and the resulting dominant effect the proposal could have 
on the image of the Business Park. In addition, the objectors consider that the 
development is not in keeping with the Business Park and would appear unduly prominent. 
Other concerns were raised during the early rounds of consultation with regard to the 
provision of a high fence and concrete panels around the perimeter of the site, which was 
considered to create an adverse visual and townscape impact. The applicant has since 
revised this aspect of the proposal.  

168. EBC have also raised concerns with regard to the design of the proposal and its impact on 
the character and appearance of the local area. More specifically EBC consider, the 
replacement building is sufficiently larger in scale than any of the surrounding buildings, 
and whilst it is set back from Wintersells Road, it would appear unduly prominent by 
reason of its height. Concerns were also raised by that the 0.75m strip of planting would be 
insufficient to support any long-term retention of planting and should be doubled in width.

Visual Impact 

169. The application site is located within an established Business Park which forms part of a 
cluster of three industrial estates to the north of Byfleet. The prevailing development in the 
area is therefore characterised by industrial and commercial warehouse units, delivering a 
range of services No residential properties are located immediately adjacent to the units in 
question, but are located within the wider surrounding area and along the A318 Byfleet 
Road/Oyster Lane.

170. The planning application is not supported by a landscape and visual appraisal, including 
longer range views towards the site from the surrounding area. The County Landscape 
Architect (CLA) has commented on the proposal and notes that given the context of the 
area the visibility of the proposed development would be limited to street-level with limited 
views beyond the immediate Wintersells Road area. In this regard, it is anticipated that the 
uppermost parts of the building may appear on the skyline in some local views, such as 
from along the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane, although this would have a limited visual 
impact overall and is not considered to create an adverse impact on the visual amenity of 
the wider locality beyond the Wintersells Business Park. 

Scale/Prominence 

171. As set out in the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) guidance on 
‘Designing Waste Facilities – A Guide to Modern Design in Waste’ dated 2008, the 

Page 222

8



footprints and heights of buildings will vary according to the nature of the technology being 
used and the configuration of the operational processes. One common determining factor 
for most waste facilities is that the internal space and vehicular door openings need to 
accommodate the height of a raised tipper lorry. As an example this requires the door 
opening to be 7 metres in height with the building eaves often at a height of approximately 
12 metres. This is noted to be a similar scale to many commercial distribution buildings in 
general. 

172. As outlined above, the proposed building contains a large open doorway, to enable the 
effective use of machinery and allow easy manoeuvrability around the site. Given the 
proposed boundary treatment and location of the machinery and stockpiling areas within 
the building as shown on Drawing No: 3843/2410/04 Rev M, any views into the building as 
a result of the open door way will be limited to the upper void space of the building. 
Furthermore, the orientation of the building compared to adjacent units limits any direct 
views into the open doorway of the facility and views of this part of the site will only be 
obtained from the Wintersells Road to the south.   

173. The majority of Units within the Wintersells Business Park are two storeys in height (5-6m), 
with the exception of the Hyundai Service Centre at Unit 19 which measures 11m in height 
(equivalent to a three storey building). The application site is also located immediately 
adjacent to an existing waste management facility, PM Skips, which contains a large 
building, with an open doorway at approximately 8m in height at the ridge, with external 
waste and skip storage and concrete sleepers and a mesh fence on its boundary. Other 
development in the adjoining Brooklands Industrial Estate ranges from 10m to 13m in 
height. 

174. Whilst the proposal will be in contrast in terms of overall height of the building and design 
in comparison to the immediate surrounding units within the Business Park, this needs to 
be balanced against the prevailing, established industrial and commercial character of the 
area, and the fact that other modern warehouse units in the locality (adjoining Brooklands 
Industrial Estate) are of a similar scale and design. In this respect the proposal is for the 
construction of a modern style industrial unit which should not be considered out of 
character within the context of the surrounding locality. 

175. The CLA has recognised that the proposed building would form one of the tallest buildings 
and would be a prominent feature within the business park. However, the building is 
proposed to be set back from the Wintersells Road, which will reduce its prominence when 
approaching or passing the application site.

Materials/Construction 

176. Defra’s guidance (2008) sets out that material use should reflect the setting of the site, and 
minimise potential impacts in the number of ways, including maintenance costs, thermal 
and acoustic insulation and drainage. Appropriate colouring can also minimise potential 
impact by linking the building with its surrounding. 

177. The proposed building is of a full steel construction. The Units immediately surrounding the 
application site comprise brick and metal construction, with the majority containing a brick 
plinth with an upper metal storey and metal construct roof. However, the Units located to 
the south of the site on the adjoining Brooklands Industrial Estate are of a similar nature to 

Page 223

8



that proposed, including full steel construction with an upward sloping roof. It is considered 
that taking into consideration the industrial nature of the area surrounding the application 
site and context of the locality, the proposed material for the building is not considered to 
be out of keeping with the character of the area or incongruous with other buildings on the 
Business Park. Nonetheless, the exterior finish of the proposed building will be an 
important factor in determining its prominence against the sky. It is recommended by the 
CLA that a matt, light grey finish, as seen on many warehouse buildings within the 
surrounding area, would present less of a contrast against a typical cloudy sky and would 
assist in ameliorating the building into the local and wider landscape. The details of the 
external finish of the building are to be secured by condition attached to any grant of 
planning permission.

178. The extension of the cabin style picking line and conveyor from the southern elevation of 
the building, with a height of approximately 6.3m, will be visible above the proposed 
boundary treatment. Given the position of the picking line and conveyor along the south-
western boundary of the application site and adjacent to the building at Unit 10 it is 
considered that views of the picking line and conveyor will be seen in conjunction with the 
proposed recycling building and other existing development on the estate and would 
therefore not appear unduly prominent. Furthermore Unit 10 operates a conveyor on the 
southern elevation of the building to deposit hard-core into an external storage area, as 
such the use of an open conveyor is not considered to be incongruous within the Business 
Park. 

Boundary Treatment 

179. Defra’s guidance (2008) sets out that fencing around the site may be considered to be 
peripheral to design, but can set the tone of a development. The main objective of fencing 
is to provide site security. However, stark fencing can look imposing and unpleasant and it 
should be as discrete as possible and can be combined effectively with hedging where 
space permits. In this respect the approach to fencing should link with the proposed 
landscaping strategy for the boundary as this can result in the most appropriate overall 
solution and provide an attractive edge and entrance to the facility.  

180. As set out above the applicant has revised the proposal to remove the previously proposed 
concrete panels and palisade fencing, which were to be situated on the outer edge of the 
perimeter of the application site. The proposed security fencing now comprises a 2.4m 
high slim profile mesh fencing topped with barbed wire. It is further proposed to retain, 
rebuild and extend the existing low brick boundary wall so it extends alongside the full 
extent of the south-eastern site boundary. Many of the plots on the Wintersells Business 
Park have low brick perimeter walls with a variety of open mesh style fencing similar to that 
proposed defining the plot boundaries. There are also pockets of planting, particularly at 
the entrance to the Wintersells Business Park, around the perimeter of plots, comprising 
low shrubbery and small trees. 

181. The CLA has commented that the proposed revision to the boundary treatment is welcome 
as it would provide a high quality boundary treatment consistent with other units within the 
Business Park. A 750mm wide/deep planting strip is proposed behind the low brick wall, 
also along the full extent of the site frontage. Although this planting strip is narrower than 

Page 224

8



that which it replaces this is counterbalanced by its greater extent along the site boundary, 
including turning the corner into the cul-de-sac to the north-east. There are also two 
individual areas either side of the southern access gate which are proposed for soft 
planting, in keeping with the pockets of landscaping at the front of Units 2 and 4a at the 
entrance to the Business Park. The addition of landscape features and the revised fencing 
is considered to be an improvement and will help soften the visual impact of the 
development and provide biodiversity interest. In this respect a scheme of proposed 
landscaping to cover the areas of planting in terms of type, species and size and 
maintenance should be secured by condition attached to any grant of planning permission. 
With regard to EBC’s comments this condition will ensure control over the appropriate type 
and maintenance of any proposed planting to ensure that it provides a positive long-term 
contribution to the site and character of the Business Park. 

182. The County Ecologist has also commented on the proposal and notes that a scheme of 
biodiversity enhancements should be combined with the landscape enhancements and 
secured by condition attached to any grant of planning permission. 

Ancillary buildings/equipment

183. As set out in the Defra Guidance (2008), many waste management facilities, incorporate 
ancillary buildings such as a site office or weighbridge. It is important that the design 
solution encompasses these elements to ensure the overall design works. 

184. The applicant has indicated that they are proposing to retain the existing two storey office 
building currently located to the eastern frontage of Unit 12. At this stage the applicant has 
not provided details of where a weighbridge is likely to be incorporated on the site. This is 
a key feature of any waste activity and is required to ensure that all loads are appropriately 
recorded. In this respect, a condition will be attached to any grant of planning permission to 
secure details of the type and location of the weighbridge to be installed prior to the 
commencement of the development/operation. 

Conclusion 

185. The existing landscape in the immediate and wider context of the application site is 
characterised by industrial and commercial buildings. The proposal will replace an existing 
building with a larger one, as set out above, the application site and Business Park do not 
lie in a designated LCA. Both the immediate and wider landscape character is 
characterised by a variety of industrial units of varying sizes, massing, scale and form. 
Officers consider when balanced against the prevailing, established industrial and 
commercial character of the area and the other warehouse units within the wider area of a 
similar scale and nature, the proposal  is unlikely to have a significant visual impact on the 
character of the area.. Officers consider that whilst the proposed building would occupy a 
prominent position within the Business Park, measures proposed by the applicant such as 
increased landscaping to the front of the site, the fencing to be in keeping with surrounding 
units and the colour of the external building walls will go some way to soften its 
appearance and provide mitigation. 

186. Officers are satisfied that these measures along with the imposition of conditions to cover 
the proposed landscaping, that the proposal would not conflict with the aims and objectives 
of the development plan Policies DC3 of the SWP, Policies CS1 and CS17 of the ECS and 

Page 225

8



DM6 and DM2 of the EDM, alongside the NPPF, the NPW, and the Elmbridge Design 
SPD, in this regard. 

Air Quality, Odour and Dust 

Policy Context 

187. Paragraph 181 of the NPPF discusses air quality specifically in relation to Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs), whereby planning decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking 
into account the presence of AQMAs and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts 
from individual sites in local areas. Air Quality can also affect biodiversity and odour and 
dust can adversely affect local amenity. 

188. Criteria G of the NPW’s Annex B explains that in respect of air quality, considerations 
should include the proximity of sensitive receptors. Including ecological as well as human 
receptors, and the extent to which adverse emissions can be controlled through the use of 
appropriate and well-maintained and managed equipment and vehicles. 

189. Policy DM5 of the EDM states that within designated AQMAs, the Council will promote 
measures to improve air quality and will expect development proposals to avoid 
introducing additional sources of air pollution. Its goes on to state that planning permission 
will not be granted for proposals where there is a significant adverse impact upon the 
status of the AQMA or where air quality may have a harmful effect on the health of future 
occupiers of the development, taking into account their sensitivity to pollutants, unless the 
harm can be suitably mitigated. 

The Development 

190. The application site is not situated within an AQMA. It lies 0.41km to the east of the M25 & 
Egham Town Centre AQMA, which is designated by RBC for exceedance of the National 
Air Quality Strategy objectives for nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. 

191. The primary operations of the site will comprise the use of the mechanical treatment plant 
within the proposed building. Once crudely sorted by hand for bulky items, all mixed waste 
is proposed to be fed into the hopper of the plant. From the hopper the waste will been 
screened and soils and fines will fall through a rotating drum mesh into a bay beneath with 
conveyor depositing them into bays within the waste reception building. The remaining 
larger fractions of waste will exit on a separate conveyor which will enter the six bay 
picking line. The picking belt moves slowly allowing staff to remove any recyclable or waste 
for landfill by hand and place them in chutes to discharge into the bays beneath the 
operation. The conveyor exiting the picking line has an overband magnet which removes 
the ferrous metals and any waste not suitable for recycling which is not picked passes 
under the magnet to be blown by fan unit into a cage at the end of the picking line. The 
remaining heavy fractions drop off the end of the conveyor into a stockpile for recycling, 
this is likely to comprise inert/hardcore waste. This is a standard plant used elsewhere on 
other waste sites.

192. External storage of the recyclable material is proposed to be stored within the relevant 
bays as shown on Drawing No: 3843/2410/04 Rev M, attached to this report. The applicant 

Page 226

8



has proposed that external stockpiles within the bays will be limited to a maximum height 
of 4m. Reference is also made within the applicants Planning, Design and Access 
Statement (dated November 2019) to the use of hook loader skips in the picking station 
bays to collect waste. 

193. Waste will arrive at the site using Weybridge Skip Hire Ltd’s own vehicles/contracts and 
also third party users/hauliers, whose details will be checked prior to the delivery/collection 
of waste. The waste will be subject to checking by a suitably qualified person prior to being 
deposited and stored in the relevant areas on site. It is proposed that waste will be moved, 
loaded and unloaded using a loading shovel and 360o excavator. Waste will be delivered to 
the site in skip trucks, hook loaders and tippers and will be removed in hook loaders, 8 
wheeled tippers and articulated bulk waste vehicles. If any unacceptable materials are 
found they will be placed in a designated rejected waste skip and stored within the waste 
recycling building, which is an area of sealed drainage. Unauthorised waste will be 
removed to a suitably authorised facility accompanied by the necessary paperwork. 

194. It is identified that there is potential for the development to give rise to operational traffic 
emissions in the location area, dust and particulate matter emissions associated with the 
handling of waste and odour emissions associated with the handing of waste. As such, 
given the type of application there is a need to assess Air Quality, Odour, construction and 
operational dust. In this respect the applicant has submitted an Air Quality Management 
Plan and a Dust Management Plan. 

195. The sensitive receptors in proximity to the site are shown on Drawing No: 3843/2410/07, 
submitted with the application. The applicant identifies that the nearest sensitive receptors 
are the users of the Wintersells Business Park <50-250m from the application site. The 
nearest residential receptors are noted to be 150m north of the application site on the other 
side of the railway line, within Westfield Parade. Officers note that residential receptors are 
closer than that identified by the applicant, located 125m from the application site, along 
the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane. The prevailing wind direction for the site is considered 
to be south-west and in the opposite direction to the nearest residential receptors.

196. Objections received in response to the proposal, as registered at paragraphs 56 to 58, 
have raised concerns with regard to the escape of dust from the application site, odours 
and the impact of pollution from the operations and vehicle movements on the health of 
residents and existing users of the Business Park. 

197. The Environment Agency (EA) have raised no concerns with regard to air quality. 
Concerns have been raised by EBC and RBC with regard to the perceived impact of the 
development on the AQMAs, within proximity to the application site. Further concerns note 
the need to predict the amount of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) arising from the development. 
RBC have also noted that the assessment undertaken by the applicant does not consider 
the potential impacts on the Runnymede AQMA. In terms of Dust Management Plan 
(DMP) EBC have also raised concerns that it does not provide a robust scheme for the 
management of dust and no assurances are made that all vehicles (including third party) 
will be sheeted. Furthermore, the DMP does not demonstrate fully how dust arising from 
the activities at the site, including stockpiles, vehicular movements and on-site operations 
can be controlled and mitigated. EBC therefore recommend a condition to secure a dust 
management plan prior to the commencement of the development. 

Page 227

8



Air Quality

198. Transport is a leading source of emissions to air in the UK and the predominate exposure 
source is within urban areas. At the strategic level, the health effects of air pollution is 
typically addressed through air quality standards. AQMAs are set to protect the 
environment and health. The control of air pollution is the responsibility of local authorities 
and other government regimes. The role of local authorities is covered by the Local Air 
Quality Monitoring (LAQM) regime. Whilst the application site is situated in the district of 
EBC, it is in close proximity to the district boundaries of RBC and Woking Borough Council 
(WBC). These authorities have a responsibility for monitoring and declaring AQMAs, within 
their Boroughs.

199. The Environmental Protection UK (EPUK)/Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) 
guidance ‘Land-Use Planning and Development Control: Planning for Air Quality19’ 
comments that there is a clear link between air quality and health in relation to PM10, PM2.5 

and NO2. The guidance outlines that any air quality issues that relate to land use and its 
development is capable of being a material planning consideration. The weight given to air 
quality in making a planning application decision, in addition to the policies in the local 
plan, will depend on factors as:

 The severity of the impacts on air quality
 The air quality in the area surrounding the proposed development
 The likely use of the development i.e. the length of time people are likely to be 

exposed at that location
 The positive benefits provided through other material considerations

200. In terms of air quality impacts associated with traffic, the EPUK and IAQM guidance as 
referenced above, provides an indicative criteria for determining when an air quality 
assessment is likely to be required. The threshold criteria is provided as annual average 
daily light and heavy duty vehicles (HDVs). The threshold criteria differs depending on 
whether the traffic generated by the development is likely to travel through a designated 
AQMA. A change in HDV flows of more than 25 Annual Average Daily Traffic (ADDT) 
within or adjacent to an AQMA or more than 100 AADT elsewhere, indicates that an Air 
Quality Assessment is required. Where an air quality assessment is undertaken to inform 
the decision making process it does not, in itself, provide a reason for granting or refusing 
planning permission. Almost all development will be associated with new emissions if the 
development is considered in isolation. Any impacts should be seen in the context of air 
quality objectives and existing air quality. 

201. An Air Quality/Vehicle Emissions Assessment (dated 9 August 2019) was submitted with 
the application. In this document the applicant has undertaken an assessment of the 
predicted traffic flows through the nine AQMAs within proximity to the site and the 
expected routing of vehicles. The table below is taken from Appendix IV of the applicants 
Air Quality report. The table provides the maximum net AADT movements for HDVs 
through the nine AQMAs. The extent of the assessment was determined by the routing of 
vehicles based on the applicants likely customer base which is considered to be Walton-
on-Thames/Hersham, Weybridge, Esher, Cobham, Oxshott, Leatherhead, Surbiton, 
Kingston-upon-Thames, Epsom, Wimbledon, Putney, Fulham, Richmond, Twickenham, 
Teddington, Hampton, Shepperton, Sunbury and Byfleet/west Byfleet. In addition, the main 

19 http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-quality-planning-guidance.pdf 

Page 228

8

http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/air-quality-planning-guidance.pdf


residual waste and commodities leaving the site are expected to go to Hersham (Metals), 
Mitcham (Mixed), Tilbury (Wood), Dagenham and Rainham (Essex). 

HGV Movements Maximum Existing 
Development20

Proposed 
Development21

Net Traffic 
Generation

AQMA 1 M25 – West Byfleet to 
Egham 

3 1 -2

AQMA 2 Addlestone – High 
Street/ Brighton 
Junction Road

9 3 -6

AQMA 3 Weybridge – Church 
Street, High Street 
and Monument Hill

24 50 26

AQMA 4 Walton-on-Thames – 
High Street and 
Terrace Road 
Junction

12 7 -5

AQMA 5 Molesey – Walton 
Road

40 17 -23

AQMA 6 Hampton Court – 
Bridge/Hampton 
Court Way

30 31 1

AQMA 7 Hinchley Wood 16 8 -8
AQMA 8 Esher – One Way 

System 
75 36 -39

AQMA 9 Cobham – High 
Street

12 20 8

202. The table shows that the criterion of 25HDVs per day within an AQMA is only exceeded in 
the Esher and Weybridge AQMAs. As such the receptors in these AQMAs have been 
considered in the assessment. Impacts on the remaining AQMAs are concluded to be not 
significant and have not been considered further in the assessment. Both the identified 
AQMAs are located within the Borough of Elmbridge. In the 2019 Annual Air Quality Status 
Report for EBC, air quality monitoring has shown continued improvements at many 
locations across the Borough. However, further action is still required as exceedances of 
annual mean NO2 objective have been identified at four monitoring locations in 2018. Three 
of these sites are located within the Esher AQMA and are described as Esher 1, 7 and 5. 
PM10 and PM2.5 are not currently monitored in Elmbridge but have been included within a 
modelling exercise undertaken by a project team which the EBC is part of, which is 
expected to be finalised and discussed in the 2020 Annual Status Report.  

203. The applicant has undertaken detailed modelling using the Breeze Roads model and Defra 
emissions factors for 2016 and 2019. The applicant has used meteorological data collected 
at London Heathrow and has verified the model using the measurements at several 
roadside monitoring sites. The County Air Quality Consultant agreed with the methodology 

20 Applicants existing operation at the Weylands Treatment Works site. 
21 Looks at traffic generation only through the AQMAs not the total number of traffic generated by the 
development. 

Page 229

8



undertaken and notes the applicant has modelled annual-mean NO2 and PM10 

concentrations, with and without the development and used the impact descriptors in the 
EPUK and IAQM 2017 guidance. 

204. The applicants assessment predicts that vehicle emissions generated by the development 
to be ‘not significant’, the main effects being a ‘slight adverse’ impact has been predicted 
for NO2 for the residential property at the junction of A318 and Wintersells Road from 
vehicle emissions. However the impact is localised and the predicted annual mean NO2 
concentrations are predicted to be significantly below the Air Quality Limit Value (AQLV) at 
the receptor concerned. A ‘moderate beneficial’ impact on annual mean AQLV NO2 levels 
was predicted at Esher 1 maintained diffusion tube near the junction of High Street and 
Church Street, Esher. The assessment also concludes that the predicted annual mean 
PM10 concentration impact at sensitive receptor locations for do nothing and do something 
scenarios, is negligible at all receptor locations. 

205. The County Air Quality Consultant (CAQC) has been consulted on the proposal and is 
satisfied that the predicted results look reasonable in light of the changes in traffic as set 
out in the report and therefore the effects of vehicle-related emissions on air quality are not 
likely to be significant. Whilst no significant adverse impacts have been identified, the 
applicant has identified air quality mitigation measures which will further minimise potential 
emissions from the development, which include the HDV fleet to be fitted with Euro IV 
compliant engines and mobile plant to be fitted with Stage IV compliant engines. These 
matters will be secured by condition attached to any grant of planning permission. 

206. In terms of the concerns raised by RBC the applicant has undertaken a comparison of the 
vehicle movements through the AQMAs, including the M25 and Egham Town Centre 
AQMA, designated by RBC. In this regard the criterion for an air quality assessment in this 
AQMA is not exceeded. As such it is concluded that the extent of the study area for the 
assessment is appropriate and the air quality effects within all non-assessed AQMAs are 
not likely to be significant. It is acknowledged that vehicles would access the site from the 
A318 (Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane) to the west, from which access could be gained to the 
M25 via junctions 10 (to the south east) or 11 (to the North West). The published AADT 
figures for the M25 between junctions 11 and 10 for 2016 are 182,421 for all vehicles, and 
13,959 for HGVs, so the additional vehicle movements generated by the proposed 
development would be equivalent to 0.1% of the daily traffic on the M25 between junctions 
10 and 11. It is unlikely that all vehicles travelling to and from the proposed facility would 
travel on the M25 on any given day, and consequently any impact the development would 
have on the designated AQMA would not be significant. 

Dust 

207. There is no specific guidance for the risk of dust impacts. The NPPG does not provide any 
specific direction on dust assessment methodology for waste planning applications. In the 
absence of this it is recommended that assessments for waste development are based on 
the qualitative disamenity dust assessment method in the IAQM minerals guidance22, with 
appropriate modification/amendments made. 

22 http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/mineralsguidance_2016.pdf 

Page 230

8

http://www.iaqm.co.uk/text/guidance/mineralsguidance_2016.pdf


208. In this case, the applicant has submitted a Dust Management Plan (DMP). The risk 
assessment within this plan considered emissions of dust and particular matter (PM2.5). For 
each potential source, the applicant classified the risk using a source-pathway-receptor 
conceptual model as advocated by the IAQM minerals guidance. The applicant has set out 
mitigation measures for each potential source of dust. 

209. The proposed development would have the potential to give rise to emissions of dust 
during construction and operational phases. A number of objections (17%) have raised 
concerns with regard to the impact of dust escaping from the site on the existing users of 
the Business Park, residential properties and the Byfleet Primary School. Further concerns 
are raised with regard to the proposed operations including the external storage of material 
and the use of the conveyor to deposit hard-core which is higher than the boundary 
treatment and the need for vehicles to be sheeted. 

210. The application site is located well within the Business Park on the corner of a cul-de-sac 
that leads to other commercial businesses and a turning circle. As set out above, the 
applicant has identified with reference to Drawing No: 3843/2410/07, attached to this report 
the sensitive receptors in proximity to the application site. Immediately to the west of the 
application site is Units 10, 9 and 8. Unit 10 is an existing Waste Transfer Station operated 
by PM Skips, which occupies a site of 0.14ha, with a waste transfer building and yard area 
with external storage. Unit 14 abuts the application site to the north (rear) and contains a 
boat manufacturers business. Other businesses within the cul-de-sac include a tyre 
company (approximately 21m to the north-east of the application site), a car service centre 
(approximately 40m to the north-east of the application site) and a cluster of nine smaller 
units referred to as Unit 15 containing a range of small business (approximately 51m 
metres to the north-west of the application site). The nearest residential property is located 
approximately 125m to the west of the application site on A318 Oyster Lane and further 
residential properties are located at the entrance to the Wintersells Business Park, on the 
A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster Lane and beyond the railway embankment to the north of the 
site, on Westfield Parade. This is not shown on the applicant’s receptor plan, identified as 
the closest by Officers. 

Construction Phase 

211. Emissions of dust to air can occur during demolition processes and can vary from day to 
day and depending on the weather conditions. The Institute of Air Quality Management 
(IAQM) document “Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and 
Construction23” 2014 is relevant in the consideration of this application. The guidance 
recognises that the main air quality impacts that may arise during demolition activities are: 
dust deposition resulting in the soiling of surfaces, visible dust plumes, elevated PM10 
concentrations; and an increase concentration of airborne particles. 

212. Paragraph 4.3 of the Guidance outlines that the risk of dust emissions from a demolition 
project causing loss to amenity and/or health or ecological impacts is related to: the 
activities being undertaken, the duration of those activities, the size of the site, the 
meteorological conditions, proximity of receptors to the activities, adequacy of mitigation 
measures to reduce or eliminate dust; and sensitivity of receptors to the dust. However the 

23 http://iaqm.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/guidance/iaqm_guidance_report_draft1.4.pdf 

Page 231

8

http://iaqm.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/guidance/iaqm_guidance_report_draft1.4.pdf


Guidance does recognise that there is an exponential decline in both airborne 
concentrations and the rate of deposition with distance. 

213. The guidance provides an approach to assess the risk of dust impacts from demolition and 
construction projects when there are no mitigation measures in place; breaking down those 
activities to be assessed into demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout. All four are 
relevant for this application. The guidance then sets out how this approach should be taken 
firstly by assessing the dust emission magnitude based on the scale of the anticipated 
works and whether they should be classified as small, medium or large. For demolition this 
is based on the total building volume to be demolished alongside the height above ground 
when the activity takes place. For earthworks, this is based on the total site area, soil type, 
number of earth moving vehicles and total material moved. For construction this is based 
on the size of the building and construction materials. For trackout, this is based on the 
number of HGVs leaving the site in any one day and the length of unpaved surface they 
would be traveling along. 

214. The second part of the assessment is based on the sensitivity of the area which is the 
number, type24 and distance of receptors to the application site and the potentially dusty 
activity. The assessment then divides this into the sensitivity of the area to the soiling 
effects on dust on property and people (i.e. nuisance dust); and then the sensitivity of the 
area to human health impacts (i.e. PM10). 

215. Having looked at the proposal the Officers conclude that the potential dust emission 
magnitude from the proposal in terms of demolition would be ‘small’ as the total building 
volume to be demolished would be less than 20,000m3 and the works will be carried out at 
ground level. For earthworks Officers conclude the potential for dust emission to be 
‘medium’ due to the size of the site, being between 2,500m2 and 10,000m2. For 
construction officers conclude that the potential dust emission magnitude would be ‘small’ 
due to the volume of the building to be constructed being less than 25,000m3 and the 
construction material, which will predominately comprise of metal which has low potential 
for dust release. In terms of trackout, Officers conclude the potential for dust emission 
would be ‘small’ due to the urban location of the application site with no unmade roads for 
vehicles to travel on. 

216. With regard to sensitivity to dust soiling on property and people; and sensitivity of the area 
to human health from demolition activities, Officers recognise that given the urban location 
of the application site there are a range of receptors within proximity to the application site. 
In terms of high sensitivity receptors there are no residential properties within 100m of the 
application site. There is one car show room within 100m and two further car showrooms 
within 250m of the application. There are also 7 places of work within 20m of the 
application, 22 within 50m and 39 within 100m. Officers therefore conclude that where the 
demolition, earthworks and construction would occur this would result in a ‘medium’ 
sensitivity for both soiling and health. In terms of trackout, the Guidance suggest that 
trackout may occur 200m from medium sites, as such the impact declines with distance 
and it is only necessary to consider trackout impacts up to 50m from the edge of the road. 
There are 5 residential properties which are located along the 200m trackout distance. 
There are also 9 places of work within 200m, with 3 of these within 50m, 3 within 100m 

24 For example a high sensitivity receptor is a dwelling, school, hospital. A medium sensitivity receptor are 
places of work. A low sensitivity receptor are public footpaths, playing fields and parks, 

Page 232

8



and 3 within 200m. On this basis where trackout would occur this would result in a ‘low’ 
sensitivity for both soiling and health. 

217. In order to define the risk of impact of the demolition aspect of the proposal with no 
mitigation measures from dust on soiling and health, the dust emission magnitude is then 
combined with the sensitivity of the area. For demolition this would be combining a small 
dust emission magnitude with a medium sensitivity in the area. This would result in a low 
risk of dust impact from the demolition activities proposed for dust without mitigation. The 
same process is followed for construction by combining a small dust emission magnitude 
with a medium sensitivity in the area. This would result in a low risk impact from dust when 
there are no mitigation measures proposed. For earthworks this would be combining a 
small dust emission magnitude with a medium sensitivity in the area, which would result in 
a low risk impact without mitigation. In terms of trackout, this would be combining a small 
dust emission magnitude with a low sensitivity in the area, which would result in a 
negligible risk of dust impact. 

218. The applicant has not provided information on how dust will be managed during the 
construction phase of the proposed development. As demonstrated in the above 
assessment using the IAQM Guidance, Officers conclude that a ‘low’ dust risk would occur 
during these activities. The County Air Quality Consultant has reviewed the information 
submitted and agrees with the review undertaken which is outlined in paragraphs above. In 
the absence of any specific construction dust mitigation measures and the likelihood of 
some impact arising from the activities, albeit low, it is recommended that a condition is 
attached to any grant of planning permission to require the submission and implementation 
of a dust management and monitoring plan for this phase to ensure no significant adverse 
harm from the construction phase of the proposed development. 

Operational Phase 

219. The proposed recycling building is to be situated to the rear of the application site, with the 
open doorway facing to the south. An enclosed picking line is proposed to extend out of 
the southern elevation of the building, adjacent to the boundary with Units 10 and 9, into 
the yard area, which will be situated on top of six concrete bays. The conveyor from the 
picking line will then extend out of the enclosure to three further bays, which comprise a 
metal bay (waste deposited by overhead magnet), a steel cage for light waste to be 
collected and a hardcore bay at the end. The remaining yard area is proposed to contain a 
further two overspill waste bays, staff car parking, empty skip storage and a vehicle wash 
facility. The yard will be contained by 2.4m high powder coated fencing with 0.5m barbed 
wire on top, with a low brick wall and area of planting in front. 

220. It is identified within the DMP that the main sources of operational dust will be from any un-
sheeted vehicles accessing/egressing from the site, tipping of waste deliveries into the 
recycling building, loading of waste into the mechanical treatment plant transporting waste 
around the site, fines and clean up storage bays and the mechanical treatment process. 
Other sources could be linked to prolonged periods of dry/warm or windy weather 
conditions. 

221. Whilst it is acknowledged that the building and height of the reception bay will help prevent 
the escape of dust, further mitigation measures to minimise the impact from dust during the 
operation of the proposed facility include, undertaking all the waste processing activity 

Page 233

8



within the proposed waste recycling building and enclosed picking line, surfacing all areas 
across the site with hardstanding and maintaining these to prevent the build-up of soils and 
other dust generating materials, reducing vehicle speeds on site to 5mph, sheeting of all 
incoming and outgoing vehicles, limiting the height of dusty stockpiles to 3m, and in 
extreme atmospheric conditions suspending certain activities to prevent unnecessary dust 
generation. The applicant has also indicated that a water suppression system would be 
utilised on site to dampen down material stockpiles as appropriate. No details are currently 
provided with regard to the type of water suppression system to be installed, as such these 
will be secured by condition attached to any grant of planning permission. The applicant 
has further set out at paragraph 7.3.2 of the PDAS (dated November 2019) that the deposit 
of material on the access road or public highway will be treated as an emergency and will 
be cleared immediately by the operator. 

222. The site manager and site foreman will be responsible for the implementation of the DMP. 
It is indicated that the DMP is to be reviewed annually or sooner in the event of 
complaints/dust issues; whichever is the soonest, with any amendments or alterations put 
in place as soon as possible. It is also proposed that staff will undergo training to ensure 
compliance with the DMP. 

223. With regard to the prevailing wind direction this is from the south west and is considered to 
be in the opposite direction to the nearest residential receptors. However there are a 
number of units to the east of the application site which could be affected. Given the 
orientation of the building and location of the enclosed picking line and external storage 
bays along the boundary of the site which is adjoined to the west by the buildings at Units 
10 and 9, there is likely to be limited impact from a south-westerly direction on the Units to 
the east of the application site. However, there is potential for any dust arising in the 
eastern area of the yard to escape. This area would not comprise dust generating 
activities, but includes the access to the facility, empty skip storage and staff parking. On 
the basis that the proposed mitigation measures including the sheeting vehicles and 
maintenance of the yard area are implemented and maintained, there should be no 
adverse impact from these activities. 

224. The CAQC has reviewed the applicants DMP and benchmarked it against the good 
practice requirements set out in SCC’s guidance note, Advice on Expected Content of Dust 
Management Plans for Minerals and Waste Planning Applications (version 5, 7 June 
2016), and is satisfied with the information contained within the plan to manage and control 
the risk of dust on the site.

225. Officers’ experience of other waste transfer stations and materials recycling facilities in the 
County, indicate that these facilities are generally dust generating and whilst the proposed 
mitigation measures are considered appropriate, Officers consider that given the nature of 
the surrounding businesses, the open nature of the facility in this location could lead to 
further dust escape. It is therefore recommended that a condition be attached to any grant 
of planning permission to further secure the details and implementation of a dust curtain to 
the front of the building. This would be operated in addition to the other measures 
proposed by the applicant. It would also aid in reducing views directly into the waste 
recycling building from outside of the application site. 

226. In terms of the perceived impact on the Byfleet Primary School, located approximately 
530m to the south-west of the application site, there are a number of intervening land uses 

Page 234

8



between the application site and the School, including the A318 Oyster Lane and the 
Byfleet Industrial Estate. Furthermore, the School is located in the opposite direction to the 
prevailing wind and would be predominately up wind of activities. Given the distance, 
intervening land uses and it not being in the prevailing wind direction from the application 
site, the proposed facility is not considered to have a significant adverse impact on the 
School. 

227. Officers recognise that the proposal could give rise to both construction and operational 
dust. However Officers consider that conditions can be imposed to secure a construction 
dust management plan, mitigation measures as proposed by the applicant, monitoring and 
dust curtain to the front to the building and in doing so the proposal would not result in an 
adverse impact from dust on the locality and meets the requirements of Policy DC3 of the 
SWP, in this regard 

Odour 

228. The application states that whilst the waste that the applicant proposes to handle in the 
facility would be non-odorous some loads may contain putrescible and biodegradable 
waste, which has the potential to give rise to odour. Such waste would be considered a 
contaminant/residual waste in the waste imported to the site as it is not proposed that 
these types of waste will be handled at the site. 

229. Other odour sources as set out within the application are foul surface water following a 
rainfall event. The external concrete areas of the site drain by gravity to the foul pumping 
station to the south of the site, nevertheless, periodically skips which have stood on 
producers sites for a long time often contain foul smelling water which can give rise to 
odour when tipped. Green waste also has the potential to give rise to odorous emissions. 
The site is not a dedicated green waste handling facility, the green waste produced at the 
site is considered to comprise branches and tree trunk from skips and other mixed wastes 
and will be loaded into the daily wood skip and not stored on the site. Adverse weather 
conditions including wet weather, hot weather and windy weather could also lead to the 
release of odour. Although odour is a matter that would be regulated through the 
Environment Permit the applicant has proposed a number of processes to control odour 
related incidences. 

230. Concerns have been raised with regard to the potential impact from odour on the existing 
businesses within the Business Park and residential properties. 

231. The applicant has undertaken an assessment of the likelihood of odour effects arising from 
the site at existing sensitive receptors. The CAQC agrees with the receptor sensitives 
identified and the pathways attributed. The assessment assumes a ‘medium’ source odour 
potential, resulting in a negligible to slight adverse odour effect. 

232. The applicant has submitted an Odour Management Plan (OMP). The assessment has 
been undertaken to assess the odour risk by using the Institute of Air Quality Management 
(IAQM) Guidance on the ‘Assessment of Odour for Planning’ document. 

233. In order to ensure the above sources of odours will be minimised the applicant proposes to 
enforce a rigorous control of waste delivered to the site, with contaminated or odorous 
waste rejected in line with the applicant’s strict waste acceptance procedures. If upon 

Page 235

8



acceptance into the site odours are present, the site foreman would direct the load to an 
alternative waste facility site. If odorous waste is discovered following tipping in the 
reception area, a sealed skip from the ‘empty skip storage area’ would be brought into the 
building to store the odorous waste inside the building until it can be removed from site. In 
this respect, the ‘rejected skip’ labelled on the applicants Drawing No. 3843/2410/04 Rev 
M, attached to this report, would be for material which cannot be processed through this 
treatment plant or for hazardous material found in a load following tipping (i.e batteries, 
paint tins). It is also proposed that there is a low storage volume and strict turnaround 
times of odorous wastes on site and stock rotation procedures will be observed to ensure 
maximum duration of storage times are not exceeded. In this respect, all waste would be 
stored for no longer than 12 hours prior to processing and all stored waste is contained 
internally or within secure concrete bays to reduce the impact of odorous emissions. 

234. Other procedures include sheeting vehicles, keeping drop heights to a minimum, liaising 
with neighbours, recording complaints, regular cleaning of operational areas such as 
roads, drainage channels and the holding tank to discourage odour generation. 

235. Additionally, the applicant will undertake olfactory monitoring twice daily and an odour diary 
will be completed by a suitably qualified member of staff. Any complaints received will be 
investigated promptly and remedial action taken. The applicant has also committed to the 
annual review of the OMP, which will help ensure the continued and appropriate 
management of any potential odours on the site. 

236. The CAQC has reviewed the OMP and is satisfied that the odour effects from the site are 
not significant. Furthermore, the OMP has been benchmarked against good practice and is 
considered acceptable in this regard. 

237. Officers consider that the types of waste proposed to be handled at the site should not give 
rise to odour, and this together with the mitigation measures proposed and controls that 
would be exercised through the Environmental Permitting regime are such that there would 
not be a materially adverse effect on neighbouring amenity and businesses from odour. In 
order to ensure the external storage of waste is appropriately managed a condition will be 
attached to any grant of planning permission to ensure that waste is confined to the 
identified storage areas on the site and appropriately contained. In this regard, officers 
consider that subject to conditions to secure the mitigation measures outlined within the 
application and the appropriate storage of external waste on the site the proposal would 
not result in an adverse impact from odour on the locality and meets the requirements of 
Policy DC3 of the SWP. 

Ecological Impacts
 
238. Objectors raised concerns with regard to the cumulative impacts of emissions from this 

development on nearby sensitive areas, including the Basingstoke Canal SSSI and the 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA. 

239. Section 28G of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 imposes a duty on ‘public 
bodies’ in exercising their functions to take reasonable steps to further the conservation 
and enhancement of the special features of a SSSI. 

Page 236

8



240. The application site is not considered to be located in a sensitive area. The Basingstoke 
Canal SSSI is located 1.46km to the west of the application site and the Ockham and 
Wisley Commons SSSI, which is a component of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA is 
situated some 2.77km to the south-east of the application site. Both these areas are 
separated from the application site by a range of intervening land uses, including industrial 
development, the M25 and dense residential development. 

241. The applicant has undertaken an assessment as set out at paragraphs 200 to 203 above, 
of the predicted traffic flows based on the applicants likely customer base. In this 
assessment it is demonstrated that vehicle emissions generated by the development are 
not significant with the main effects being localised to the Wintersells Road and the 
residential property located at the entrance to the Business Park. 

242. Given the distance of the Basingstoke Canal SSSI and the Ockham and Wisley Commons 
SSSI, from the proposed facility it is unlikely to have an impact in terms of run-off, as water 
flows away from the Basingstoke Canal towards the application site which means there 
would be no potential for pollution to reach the waterway from the proposal. Furthermore, 
as the proposal is not residential, increased recreation is also not considered to be an 
issue which would impact on the SPA.  

Conclusion 

243. Having regard to the above paragraphs 187 to 242 above, Officers consider that subject to 
conditions as set out, the development satisfies the requirements of the development plan 
policy DC3 of the SWP and Policy DM5 of the EDM, with regard to site traffic emissions, 
dust (construction and operational), odour and ecological impacts, alongside the 
requirements of the NPPF and NPW. 

Noise 

Policy Context 

244. As outlined above, paragraph 180 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should aim 
to mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from 
new developments and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life.  

245. The Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) (2010), sets out the long term vision of 
Government Noise Policy. This vision seeks to ‘promote good health and a good quality of 
life through the effective management and control of noise within the context of 
Government policy on sustainable development’ and is supported by three key aims:
 avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life; 
 mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of life; 

and
 where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of life.

246. These aims require that all reasonable steps should be taken to avoid, mitigate and 
minimise adverse effects of noise on health and quality of life whilst also taking into 
account the guiding principles of sustainable development, including social, economic, and 
environmental and health considerations. The NPSE applies to all forms of noise including 
environmental noise, neighbour noise and neighbourhood noise but does not apply to 

Page 237

8



noise in the workplace (occupational noise). The thresholds defined in the NPSE, to assist 
in the consideration of whether noise is likely to have a ‘significant adverse’ or ‘adverse’ 
effects on health and quality of life are; No Observed Effect Level (NOEL), Lowest 
Observed Adverse Effect Level (LOAEL), Significant Observed Adverse Effect (SOAEL)25. 
Regarding the numerical definition of these levels, it is not possible to have a single 
objective noise-based measure that defines SOAEL that is applicable to all sources of 
noise in all situations. Consequently, the SOAEL is likely to be different for different noise 
sources, receptors and at different times. 

247. The National Planning Practice Guidance on Noise (PPG-N) sets out that noise needs to 
be considered when development may create additional noise, or would be sensitive to the 
prevailing acoustic environment. Plan-making and decision making need to take account of 
the acoustic environment and in doing so consider: whether or not a significant adverse 
effect is occurring or likely to occur; whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely 
to occur; and whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved.

248. The PPG-N includes examples of how to recognise when noise could be a concern and 
provides example outcomes to which the ‘Observed Effect Levels’ can be applied, in a 
noise exposure hierarchy. Noise that is not noticeable is considered to fall into category of 
‘No Observed Effect’. Noise that is noticeable but not intrusive with no perceived change in 
the quality of life is considered to fall into the category of ‘No Observed Adverse Effect’, 
with no specific measures required. On this basis the audibility of noise from a 
development is not, in itself, a criterion to judge noise effects that is commensurate with 
national planning policy. Noise above the LOAEL causes small changes in behaviour (e.g. 
needing to speak more loudly to be heard, closing windows). PPG-N guidance is generally 
consistent with the NPPF and NPSE on the need to mitigate and minimise effects above 
LOAEL, whilst taking into account the economic and social benefits derived from the 
activity causing the noise.  Noise exposures above the SOAEL cause material changes in 
behaviour and/or attitude (e.g. avoidance of certain activities during period of intrusion, 
keeping windows closed for most of the time). The PPG-N reinforces advice provided in 
the NPPF and NPSE, that effects above a SOAEL should be avoided and that whilst the 
economic and social benefits derived from the activity causing the noise must be taken into 
account, such exposures are undesirable. 

249. Annex B of the NPW requires consideration of the proximity of sensitive receptors, noise 
and vibration of goods vehicle traffic movements to and from a site. In this respect, Policy 
DC3 of the SWP requires the assessment of adverse effects on neighbouring amenity 
including noise and vibration and the identification of appropriate mitigation to minimise or 
avoid any material adverse impact compensate for any loss. Policy DM5 of the EDM states 
that all development that may result in noise pollution will be expected to incorporate 
appropriate attenuation measures to mitigate the effect on existing and future residents

The Development 

250. The proposal comprises the amalgamation of two existing industrial units (11 and 12). An 
existing two storey office block will be retained on the site at Unit 12, whilst the existing 
commercial building at Unit 11 is proposed to be demolished. An open fronted, steel waste 

25 NOEL – This is the level below which no effect can be detected. LOAEL – This is the level above which 
adverse effects on health and quality of life can be detected. SOAEL – This is the level above which 
significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur. 

Page 238

8



recycling building is proposed to be constructed to the rear of the site for the primary 
storage and processing of waste. An enclosed picking line is proposed to extend from the 
building along the south-western boundary, into the area of open hardstanding to the front 
of the site, which will be utilised for access, turning, car parking and the further storage of 
some waste streams and empty skips. The main noise generating plant and activities 
would include: loading shovels; 360O excavators; a mechanical treatment plant; a picking 
line; tipping waste into containers; and HGV movements around the site. 

251. The application site occupies a central position within the Wintersells Business Park, with 
several industrial units including a number of office receivers located to the north, east and 
west of the site. The adjoining units typically comprise two storey buildings with a lower 
brick storey and a steel construction upper storey. Units 8, 9 and 10 situated to the west of 
the application site are separated from the site by a 2.5m concrete block wall. These units 
back on to the western elevation of the proposed recycling building, with their entrances 
facing away from the proposed facility towards the west. The southern façade of Unit 14 
extends along the rear boundary of the application site with its entrance facing east into the 
cul-de-sac off Wintersells Road, it is also separated from the site by a 2.5m concrete block 
wall and would be situated directly behind the proposed recycling building. There is also an 
office development (currently unoccupied) to the east of the application site (Unit 18) on 
the opposite side of the Wintersells Road located approximately 30m from the open front of 
the recycling building, this is referred to as ‘the workshop’ by the applicant in their 
submission.  The nearest noise sensitive residential receptors to the application site are 
located on the A318 Byfleet/Oyster Road, 125m to the west of the application site and 
properties in Westfield Parade, 140m to the north of the application site. Further properties 
are located at the entrance to the Business Park 165m from the application site. 

252. The application site is proposed to be in full operation between the hours of 06:30 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday and 07:00 and 17:00 on Saturdays, with some further 
reprocessing between the hours of 18:00 and 22:00 Monday to Friday and 07:00 and 
17:00 on Saturdays only, with no working on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. The 
applicant has specified that the operation of the recycling site will remain constant 
throughout its standard working hours with no noticeably busier periods. The site would 
conduct movements and compacting of waste using a wheeled loader and two tracked 
excavators within the proposed building. The additional hours of processing as requested 
by the applicant (18.00 to 22.00 Monday to Friday and 07.00-17.00 on Saturdays), are to 
be confined to the building with no extra deliveries or collections within these hours. It is 
anticipated that only one tracked excavator and the waste recycling plant will be in use 
during this time. The applicant has indicated these additional hours are requested to cover 
the site in the event of a major breakdown or lack of staff, as well as access for any 
maintenance, where the priority is to move the processed waste off the site as soon as 
possible to reduce stockpiling. The recycling plant is expected to run for up to 9 hours per 
day.  

253. Objections to the proposal as set out at paragraphs 56 to 58, raise concerns with regard to 
the perceived high noise levels at the application site, including during the demolition and 
construction phase, the use of plant and the dropping and moving of containers. The 
WRMC have commissioned an independent review of the applicant’s noise assessment. 
Overall, the WRMC consider that the applicants noise assessment underestimates the 
noise emissions from the site, however if planning permission were to be approved the 
WRMC would like to see a condition to specify that noise from the site operations at the 

Page 239

8



site boundary shall not exceed 60dB LAR,T, to ensure that internal noise levels in adjacent 
businesses are in accordance with BS8233 guidance, for the control of noise in and 
around building26. 

254. EBC have also raised concerns with the applicant’s noise assessment and have indicated 
that it does not identify or recognise any noise sources creating impact/impulsivity qualities 
and ‘other sound characteristics’ that are readily distinctive against the residual acoustic 
environment. EBC have therefore requested that once the site has been occupied a noise 
assessment is undertaken to demonstrate that the operations at the site (with mitigation 
where necessary) achieves the criteria set out in the applicants assessment. RBC have 
also queried whether there should be the inclusion of an acoustic feature within the noise 
assessment modelling.  

Assessment 

255. Noise from waste facilities should be assessed following the methodology in BS 4142:2014 
‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound’. Procedures as set out 
in BS 4142:2014 require evaluation of the baseline, background sound levels and the 
rating noise levels from the proposed development at potentially affected noise sensitive 
receptors. The acceptability of the development is then determined from the level 
difference between the background and rating noise levels which determined the 
significance of the impact and hence the acceptability of the development. 

256. BS 4142:2014 states that the following factors are pertinent when considering the context: 
the absolute level of the sound; the character and level of the residual sound compared to 
the character and level of the specific sound; and the sensitivity of the receptor and 
whether dwellings or other premises used for residential purposes will already incorporate 
design measures that secure good internal and/or outdoor acoustic conditions.

257. The applicant has submitted a noise impact assessment with the application, titled BS4142 
Assessment (dated 2 April 2019). This Assessment presents the methodology and results 
from the environmental noise survey, followed by calculations in accordance with BS4142 
to provide an indication as to the likelihood of the noise emissions from the waste recycling 
site having an adverse impact on the closest noise sensitive receiver. The Assessment 
indicates that the initial background noise profile of the monitoring points is specific to the 
industrial park environment, with the dominant source of noise being the road traffic from 
the surrounding roads, as well as additional surrounding industrial sites. 

258. The Assessment considers the noise impact on the commercial noise sensitive receptor 
(NSR), ‘the workshop’ which is located 30m to the east of the site and residential NSR ‘3 
Westfield Parade’ which is considered to be 190m to the north-west of the site27. 
Continuous monitoring was undertaken at these locations, for the duration of the noise 
survey between 14:00 on 05/02/2019 and 14:40 on 06/02/2019 (24 hour period). 
Representative background noise levels were derived from the most commonly occurring 
LA90, 5 min levels measured during the survey period. This revealed for the daytime period 

26 Guidance BS8233 provides guidance to the design of new buildings or refurbishment of buildings 
undergoing a change of use, but does not provide guidance on assessing the effects of change in the 
external noise levels to the occupants of existing buildings.
27 Officers note residential and commercial properties located closer to the site than identified by the 
applicant for the purposes of the BS4142 Assessment. 

Page 240

8



(07:00-23:00) a background noise level of 51 L A90 dB(A) and a night-time (23:00-07:00) 
level of 49 L A90 dB(A). 

259. The Assessment identifies the ‘rating level28’ of each operational phase of the facility at 1m 
from the closet receivers (the workshop and 3 Westfield Parade). This level is then 
subtracted from the representative background sound level to obtain an estimate of the 
impact. Typically the greater this difference, the greater the magnitude of the impact. The 
results of the applicant’s findings have been summarised in the tables below: 

The Workshop Rating Level (dB) Representative 
Background Noise 
(dB)

Excess rating over 
background sound 
(dB) 

Night-time (Full 
Operational Hours 
06.30-07.00)

48 (no acoustic 
correction)

49 -1

Daytime (Full 
Operational Hours 
07.00-18.00/07.00-
13.00)

48 (no acoustic 
correction)

51 -3

Daytime (After Hours 
18.00 – 22.00/13.00-
17.00)

38 (no acoustic 
correction)

51 -13

3 Westfield Parade Rating Level (dB) Representative 
Background Noise 
(dB)

Excess rating over 
background sound 
(dB) 

Night-time (Full 
Operational Hours 
06.30-07.00)

21 (no acoustic 
correction)

52 -31

Daytime (Full 
Operational Hours 
07.00-18.00/07.00-
13.00)

21 (no acoustic 
correction)

53 -32

Daytime (After Hours 
18.00 – 22.00/13.00-
17.00)

13 (no acoustic 
correction)

53 -40

260. Based on the applicant’s suggested rating level acceptability range29 the Assessment 
concludes that the noise observed at ‘the workshop’ during full operational hours would 
have an ‘Amber - adverse effect level, which may be considered to be acceptable when 
assessed in the context of other merits of the development.’  In this regard, the applicant 
has indicated that due to the commercial nature of the ‘Workshop’ use and its position 
within an industrial park it can be determined that the level of noise inside and outside of 
the receiver building would be at a higher level than a habitable space within a residence. 
The office would therefore have a reduced sensitivity and a calculated external level of 3dB 
below the background in this location is concluded to be acceptable. In terms of the NSR 

28 Specific sound level in question (LAeq,TR), including any relevant acoustic feature corrects such as tonality, 
impulsivity and intermittency. 
29 BS4142 Assessment (dated April 2019) table 4.1 noise criteria for waste recycling sites. 

Page 241

8



identified at 3 Westfield Parade, noise is concluded to be at an acceptability level and 
cause no adverse effect. In this regard, notwithstanding the use of anti-idling devices on all 
trucks, the applicant does not propose any specific mitigation measures with respect to 
noise. 

261. The Surrey County Council Noise Guidelines dated January 2020, sets out that during 
normal working hours (weekdays between 07:00 and 19:00 hours), the differences 
between the rating level and background sound level should be no greater than +5dB. A 
lower difference may be appropriate at other sensitive times of the day or if other industrial 
noise sources are already present in the area and the affect the same NSR. For industrial 
noise assessments, including waste, processing and manufacture as part of a minerals 
site, oil and gas production and other industrial noise assessments, the significance of the 
initial evaluations that should be made are provided in the table30 copied below. 

Rating Level minus 
Background Sound Level

BS 4142:2014 Semantic 
Description Significance

> 7.5 dB

A difference of around +10 
dB or more is likely to be 

an indication of a 
significant adverse impact, 
depending on the context.

significant adverse impact

0 to 7.5 dB

A difference of around +5 
dB is likely to be an 

indication of an adverse 
impact, depending on the 

context.

adverse impact

-10  to 0 dB

Where the rating level 
does not exceed the 

background sound level, 
this is an indication of the 

specific sound source 
having a low impact, 

depending on the context.

no impact to low impact

< -10 dB - no impact

262. Based on the criteria assessment above, the noise levels as indicated by the applicant are 
not considered to exceed the background sound levels in all scenarios, providing an 
indication that the application site will have a no impact to a low impact in this regard. 

263. The County Noise Consultant (CNC) has reviewed the applicant’s noise report and the 
WRMC independent review and notes that there are shortcomings in the applicant’s 
assessment, which include incorrect distance calculations for NSR, distance of 190m to 
the receptor at Westfield Parade rather than 140m. There are also considered to be 
residential properties closer to the site than the one considered in the assessment (125m 
on the A318 Byfleet Road/ Oyster Lane). However, given the context of the application site 
within an established industrial estate and the screening of other buildings between the 
receptors and the application site, the CNC considers that it is not expected that the 
proposed facility would give rise to an adverse noise impact at this location. As such the 

30 Surrey Count Council – Guidelines for Noise and Vibration Assessment and Control – Minerals, Waste 
and Other County Development – Appendix A – Table A.3 Initial BS4142:2014 Assessment – Rating and 
Background Level Differences. 

Page 242

8



presence of closer residential receptors does not alter the conclusion of applicant’s noise 
assessment. There are also further uncertainties in the noise predictions due to the 
methodology used, however it is considered that overall the report is valid and the CNC is 
satisfied in this regard.

264. The CNC notes the application of the BS4142:2014 methodology to ‘the workshop’ is 
inappropriate as this is an office use and not residential. Commercial property within a 
Business Park location should be assumed to be built to an appropriate standard for the 
location, with appropriate noise mitigation controls by design due to their location and the 
prevailing acoustic environment. As such they are not considered to be sensitive receptors 
for the purposes of planning. In this regard the condition as recommended by the WRMC 
to protect the surrounding industrial units of the Business Park, is not considered to be 
appropriate in this case. The CNC has advised that this is not a standard requirement and 
may be prohibitive of development in the Business Park. 

265. In terms of the acoustic feature corrections, the CNC has noted that although there may be 
elements and sources within the operation that will have potential to produce impulsive 
noise or other sound characteristics at the site, such as the use of the mechanical 
separation of waste, loading and unloading/tipping of waste into the reception area and the 
movement of skips, these would not necessarily be perceptible at the nearest residential 
receptor. Therefore the character correction would not apply in all cases where a site 
produces these sound characteristics. Furthermore, the specific sound levels at the 
identified nearest residential receptor, 3 Westfield Parade, are low (21 dB during the 
daytime and 13dB during the night-time) and in this regard the exclusion of an acoustic 
feature correction is justified. 

266. In this regard, the application site is unlikely to have a significant adverse effect on the 
acoustic environment of the locality and a good standard of amenity can be achieved at the 
residential receptors in proximity to the site. The noise levels from the site, as predicted by 
the applicant in the context of the Business Park are considered to be low impact, resulting 
in no noticeable effect above the existing background noise levels, and as such no specific 
measures have been proposed in this regard. The CNC considers that the noise impact is 
low risk at the closest residential properties and should not be considered a material 
concern in granting planning permission, subject to the provision of conditions to secure a 
rating level of the noise emitted from all plant ,equipment and machinery, including on site 
vehicle movements, associated with the application to not exceed the existing 
representative background sound level at any time by more the +5dB(A) at the nearest 
noise sensitive receptor and compliance monitoring to allow for the submission of a further 
noise assessment in the event of a noise complaint. 

267. Officers recognise that the Wintersells Business Park is characterised by a range of 
businesses, and whilst those purporting to be ‘sensitive’ should be built to an appropriate 
standard to withstand noise created within such an environment, the application site should 
be controlled to ensure that it does not give rise to any adverse impacts on the surrounding 
units in terms of noise. As such conditions are proposed to be placed on any grant of 
planning permission to ensure that all vehicles are fitted with white noise reversing alarms, 
the activities taking place during reduced hours are confined to within the envelope of the 
building only and a construction management plan is submitted prior to the 
commencement of development to control the impact of the temporary construction 
activities. 

Page 243

8



268. Notwithstanding the above, Officers are also minded to impose a condition to secure the 
hours of operation as assessed by the applicant in the BS4142 Assessment. For 
avoidance of doubt, the applicants BS4142 Assessment indicates that full operations were 
assessed to be between the hours of 06.30 and 18.00 Monday to Friday and 06.30 and 
13.00 on Saturdays only, with no working on Sundays, Bank and Public Holidays. Reduced 
operations (further processing only) were assessed between the hours of 18.00 to 22.00 
Monday to Friday and 13.00 to 17.00 on Saturdays only, with no working on Sundays, 
Bank or Public holidays. In accordance with other waste recycling sites across the County 
and the proximity of sensitive residential receptors, it is also considered necessary to limit 
the commencement of noise generating activities at the site from 06.30 to 07.00. Whilst 
personnel can arrive at the site from 06.30, no noise generating activities shall commence 
until 07.00am to protect the amenity of the locality in general. 

269. Furthermore, the operation of the site until 22.00 Monday to Friday is considered to be 
excessive. There are currently no waste sites of a similar nature to that proposed within the 
County which operate until this time. As above, it is understood that the applicant has 
requested these ‘extra’ hours to cover the site in the event of a breakdown, to ensure 
waste continues to be processed and moved off site as soon as possible. Officers 
recognise the movement of waste is a priority on this site given the limitations of the site to 
avoid excessive stockpiling, however given its locality it is proposed to limit the after-hours 
operations to between 18.00 – 20.30 Monday to Friday, and 13.00 to 17.00 on Saturdays 
only with no working on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, all operations during these 
hours shall also be confined to within the building (operation of plant only), as per the 
terms of the application and to protect the amenity of the locality. 

Conclusion

270. Overall, having regard to paragraphs 244 to 269, Officers are satisfied subject to the 
provision of the aforementioned conditions that the proposal accords with policy DC3 of the 
SWP and Policy DM5 of the EDM in this regard, alongside the requirements of the NPPF 
and NPW. 

Lighting

Policy Context 

271. Internal and external lighting will be required for almost all waste facilities. Lighting within a 
site can have several important dimensions; health and safety, security and appearance. 
Lighting will be needed on key pedestrian routes, car parks and access roads to ensure 
security and safety for employees and visitors. In this respect it is important that any 
potential adverse impacts associated with lighting are reduced where possible and this can 
be achieved by measures such as, appropriate cowl/shielding to prevent glare, minimising 
of light spread and reflected light, positioning and minimising the operational time of the 
lighting to reduce the potential for disturbance.

272. As set out above, Paragraph 180 of the NPPF sets out that development should take 
account of pollution on health and living conditions and the natural environment. In doing 
so development should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local 
amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation. 

Page 244

8



273. In respect of lighting the NPW’s Appendix B Criteria J requires light pollution aspects to be 
considered. Similarly, Policy DC3 of the SWP is clear that planning permissions for waste 
related development will be granted provided that it can be demonstrated by the provision 
of appropriate information to support a planning application that any impacts of the 
development can be controlled to achieve levels that will not significantly adversely affect 
people, land and infrastructure and resources. Included in the matters are effects on 
neighbouring amenity from glare, and loss or damage to flora and fauna and their 
respective habitats at the site or on adjoining land. 

274. Guidance notes by the Institute of Lighting Engineers for the reduction of obstructive light 
(2020) set out guidance on controlling light to avoid light pollution. The guidance states 
obtrusive light is a form of pollution, which may also be a nuisance in law and which can be 
substantially mitigated without detriment to the lighting requirements of the task. Obtrusive 
light includes Sky glow, the brightening of the night sky, glare, the uncomfortable 
brightness of a light source, light spill, the spilling of light beyond the boundary of the area 
being lit and light intrusion. The guidance advises that the choice of luminaires with the 
right optical distribution at the right mounting height is critical to minimising light spill and 
obtrusive light effect whilst providing the right lighting for the task. It is therefore important 
to consider the luminaire, its light distribution, how it is installed and how it is set up. The 
guidance goes on to state that care should be taken when selecting luminaires to ensure 
appropriate products are chosen to reduce the upward spread of light so that it is near to 
and above the horizontal to reduce spillage and glare to a minimum. The guidance advises 
that the angle of light should not be greater than 70 degree angle in order to avoid any 
potential glare. 

275. The ILP guidance identifies a number of Environmental Zones and suggests limits to the 
light pollution from each in terms of Sky Glow (measured in ULR % - Upward Light Ratio) 
and Light into windows (measured in lux). In accordance with this guidance note, the 
relevant zone for this site would be E3: Suburban, well inhabited rural and urban 
settlements, small town centres of suburban locations. For proposals within the E3 Zone, 
the guidance sets out limitations of lux levels as follows:

Light Intrusion (into windows) EV (lux)Environmental Zone Sky Glow ULR (Max 
%) (Upward lighting) Pre-curfew Post-curfew

E3 5 10 2

The Development 

276. A two part lighting assessment (dated 15 February 2019) has been submitted with the 
application, providing an overview of the proposed lighting to be installed within the 
building (part 1) and the proposed external lighting at the application site (part 2). The 
applicant intends to install Linear LED Batten Lighting within the building, to illuminate the 
internal operations. The number of lights to be installed within the building has not been 
specified. In terms of the external lighting the applicant proposes to install a total of five 8m 
high column flood lights evenly spaced along the south-eastern boundary of the application 
site and three wall mounted flood lights to be affixed to the southern elevation of the 
proposed building, all of which are proposed to be directed into the application site to 
illuminate the external yard area. 

Page 245

8



277. The applicant has provided details of the light spillage from the proposed installations, in 
the form of an Isolux Plot, which shows limited spillage outside of the boundaries of the 
application site. It is assumed that the lighting of the site will only be required during 
operational hours and particularly during the proposed after-hours operation of the site 
(18.00-22.00), however the applicant has not provided any details with regard to the use 
and timings of the lights. There are also no details on the exact specification of the lights 
and whether they would be fitted with cowling or would be sensor or motion triggered, 
which may result in illumination of the site outside of the operational hours. Furthermore, 
Drawing No: 3843/2410/05 Rev B, Building Elevations dated 9 September 2019, shows the 
wall mounted lighting to be at various levels on the building ranging from 10m to 13m in 
height, which does not appear to accord with that assessed in the lighting assessment.  

278. EBC have raised concerns that the application provides no objective assessment of 
lighting levels and any potential impacts on sensitive receptors. EBC therefore 
recommended that a scheme for the external lighting at the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by prior to the occupation of the development. 

Assessment 

279. The County Lighting Consultant (CLC) has reviewed the submitted information and notes 
that the columns are directed into the site and the building mounted fitted are aimed below 
the horizontal, so will not cause an adverse impact outside of the boundaries of the 
application site. Furthermore, the calculations as provided within the lighting assessment 
demonstrate minimal light spillage outside of the application site. 

280. As outlined above, the closest residential property to the application site is located 125m to 
the west of the application site on the A318 Oyster Lane. Further residential properties are 
located at the entrance to the Wintersells Business Park, on the A318 Byfleet Road/Oyster 
Lane, approximately 165m from the application site and to the north of the application site 
beyond the railway embankment, approximately 140m from the application site on 
Westfield Parade. The application is well concealed from these residential properties by 
the existing intervening commercial development and infrastructure. In terms of the 
adjoining the industrial units, the application site is orientated to the south, on a corner of 
the industrial estate with the operations facing away from the existing surrounding units. 
The CLC is satisfied that the lighting would not cause an adverse impact outside of the 
boundaries of the site and is therefore not considered to result in an adverse impact on the 
residential or surrounding industrial units and any light spillage resulting from the site will 
be localised and contained within the site.

Conclusion 

281. Officers recognise that whilst the proposed lighting is not considered to result in an 
adverse impact in terms of light spillage, the applicant has not provided sufficient detail 
with regard to the location, use, timing and specification of the actual lighting to be 
installed, it is therefore proposed that a condition be imposed to require the submission of 
a detailed scheme for the lighting of the site prior to its occupation, to ensure the protection 
of the amenity in the locality. 

Vermin and Pests

Page 246

8



282. Objectors have raised concern that the handling of skip waste at the facility could result in 
the receipt of malodourous material which would attract vermin, particularly as the Unit is 
proposed to have a permanently open door way. It is considered that this could then 
adversely impact on the existing office uses and kitchens within close proximity to the 
proposed development. 

283. As outlined in paragraphs 228 to 237 above, the waste proposed to be handled at the 
facility is of an inert nature. The applicant proposes a number of mitigation measures 
proposed to minimise the generation of odour which would also apply in terms of vermin 
and pests. 

284. The site will be inspected daily for the presence of vermin and the result of the inspection 
noted in the site diary or site inspection form. If occurrences are noted, a pest controller will 
be called to the site to eradicate the problem. 

285. Vermin and pests are matters regulated through the Environmental Permit issued by the 
Environment Agency. Officers consider that the types of waste proposed to be handled at 
the site should not give rise to problems in the vicinity from vermin and pests, and this 
together with the mitigation measures proposed and controls that would be exercised 
through the Environmental Permitting regime are such that there would not be a material 
adverse effect on neighbouring amenity and businesses from vermin and pests. 

Litter 

286. Objectors have raised concern with regard to the escape of litter from the site. 

287. Given the nature of waste accepted at the site (i.e light waste including paper/cardboard), 
there is a risk of litter escaping the site boundary and therefore careful management is 
required to reduce that risk. The greatest risk would be during windy conditions. The site 
will be operated to a lesser degree during these conditions giving due regard to the 
potential effects of windblown litter. Stockpiles of any light waste are proposed to be 
restricted to the maximum height.  

288. Other mitigation proposed by the applicant includes, regular inspection (minimum daily) of 
the site boundary for the presence of windblown litter and operatives will be instructed to 
collect the litter and place it in a skip for disposal/recovery before the end of the working 
day. Staff carrying out litter picking duties will record their findings on the daily inspection 
form and report to site management who can ensure suitable action is taken. As outlined 
above conditions will be attached to any grant of planning permission to secure the 
appropriate storage and containment of waste, alongside stockpile heights which will help 
avoid litter escape outside of the site boundary. 

Flood Risk and Drainage  

Policy Context

289. The application site is located within the catchment of the ‘Wey’ (Shalford to Riveral 
Thames) at Weybridge which is a heavily modified surface water course. The application 
site is located on area of land with the lowest probability of fluvial flooding i.e. Flood Zone 
1. It is not underlain by any Groundwater Source Protection Zone but is underlain by the 

Page 247

8



Chobham Bagshot Beds Aquifer which exhibited ‘good’ quantitative quality and ‘good’ 
chemical quality during the 2016 reporting cycle for the Water Framework Directive.

290. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but 
where development is necessary, making it safe without increased flood risk elsewhere. 
Paragraph 163 of the NPPF explains that when determining planning applications, local 
planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Paragraph 170 of 
the NPPF advocates that the planning system should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing development from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of pollution. 

291. The NPPG outlines that sustainable drainage systems are designed to control surface 
water run-off close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as possible. 
Whether a sustainable drainage system should be considered will depend on the proposed 
development and its location, for example where there are concerns about flooding. These 
systems may not be practical for some forms of development. As defined in the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, 
sustainable drainage systems should be provided unless demonstrated to be 
inappropriate. With regard to these systems the aim should be to discharge surface run off 
as high up the following hierarchy of drainage options as reasonably practicable:

1. into the ground (infiltration);
2. to a surface water body;
3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
4. to a combined sewer. 

292. In respect of the protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management the 
NPW’s Appendix B Criteria A requires consideration of the proximity of vulnerable surface 
and groundwater or aquifers and the suitability of locations subject to flooding, with 
consequent issues relating to the management of potential risk posed to water quality from 
waste contamination. 

293. Policy DC2 of the SWP states that planning permission will not be granted for waste 
related development where this would endanger, or have a significant adverse impact, on 
the setting of land liable to flood. Policy DC3 of the SWP is clear that planning permissions 
for waste related development will be granted provided it can be demonstrated that the 
development will not significantly adversely affect people, land, infrastructure and 
resources in terms of flooding, groundwater conditions and the hydrogeology of the 
locality. This is echoed in Policy 14 of the SWLP-1 whereby planning permission for waste 
development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that it would not result in 
significant adverse impacts on communities and the environment which includes flood risk 
(from all sources) including impacts, on and opportunities to provide and enhance, flood 
storage and surface water drainage capacity and water resources, including impacts on 
the quantity and quality of surface water and ground water resources. 

294. Policy DM5 of the EDM states that development proposals should be designed and/or 
located to prevent or limit the inputs of pollutants into water bodies and the groundwater. 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDs) should be incorporated wherever practical to reduce 
the discharge of surface water to the sewer network. Policy CS26 of the ECS states that in 

Page 248

8



order to reduce the overall and local risk of flooding in the Borough, development much be 
located, designed and laid out to ensure that it is safe, the risk from flooding is minimised 
whilst not increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere and that residual risks are safely 
managed. 

The Development 

295. Section 5 of the Planning Design and Access Statement (PDAS) (dated November 2019), 
sets out that surface water at the application site will be managed by two methods. Firstly, 
surface water from the roofs of the proposed and existing building (that will be relatively 
clean) will be directed via a below ground attenuation storage tank located in the northern 
corner of the application site (under the staff car parking) to the public surface water sewer 
in Wintersells Road. It is also proposed that the attenuation tank will be fitted with a pump 
system which will be connected to a standpipe which will supply the dust suppression 
system inside the building and externally and the vehicle washing area to the south of the 
site. This water would also be accessible in the event of a fire. 

296. Originally the applicant sought to implement a surface water drainage strategy to manage 
the clean water from the roofs of the building, based on infiltration to ground, through the 
provision of a soakaway in the northern corner of the site. However concerns were raised 
by the County Geotechnical Consultant and the Environment Agency (EA) to this 
approach, given the evidence within a former site investigation report submitted as part of 
the application, that a raised level of hydrocarbons was observed in the location of the 
soakaway. Whilst remedial works indicate there is no further risk to groundwater this was 
under existing conditions and the introduction of surface water into the ground has 
potential to mobilise existing residual contamination from the historic uses of the site. 
Therefore this option was abandoned and now the applicant proposes the installation of an 
underground attenuation tank. 

297. Secondly, it is proposed that the site is laid with an impermeable concrete surface, which 
will contain a sealed drainage system with the recycling building and yard area. As such, 
run-off from these impermeable areas (that may carry some contaminants from the 
operation of the site) will be directed to the public sewer via bypass oil interceptor. The oil 
interceptor is proposed to have sufficient capacity to deal with a 1 in 30 year rainfall event 
plus a 40% allowance for climate change. 

Assessment 

298. Concerns have been raised by objectors with regard to the issues surrounding the 
management of a drainage system to stop pipes getting clogged with waste debris, which 
would result in an additional cost for the users of the Business Park. Other concerns 
surround the need to obtain consent from Thames Water and one objector also referred to 
the Environment Agency’s paper to protect Weybridge and Byfleet from flooding, which 
should be examined and the conditions adhered to. 

299. The proposed approach to the management of surface water at the site in terms of the roof 
water and operational areas, is in principle considered acceptable by the County 
Geotechnical Consultant, subject to conditions to secure further detailed designs of the 
proposed measures including flow rates and maintenance. The EA have also commented 
that they are satisfied that infiltration drainage of surface water is not proposed and the 

Page 249

8



development in its revised form should not present an unacceptable risk to groundwater 
quality.

300. Additionally the Lead Local Flood Authority have commented on the proposal and note that 
they are satisfied that the proposed drainage scheme meets the requirements of the 
NPPF, its accompany Planning Practice Guidance and the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards and are content with the development proposed, subject to provision of 
conditions to secure detailed design of the surface water drainage scheme, to ensure it is 
properly implemented and maintained throughout the lifetime of the development. 

301. As set out within this report the applicant intends to implement various measures on the 
site to control the escape of dust, dirt and litter from the operations, which coupled with the 
appropriate maintenance of the system as required by condition attached to the any grant 
of planning permission, will reduce the risk of the system becoming clogged. 

302. With regard to concerns about flooding, following flood events in 1968, 2000, 2003 and 
more recently in 2013/2014 which resulted in the flooding of 74 properties in the Byfleet 
and Weybridge Area, the EA have prepared a Policy Paper on the flood alleviation scheme 
for Byfleet and Weybridge (2019). In this paper the EA look at a number of options and 
locations to reduce flood risk. The majority of these options are centred on the residential 
development in close proximity to the River Wey, located approximately 0.8km to the east 
of the application site. There are no measures proposed within proximity to the application 
site, and officers therefore consider that the proposed development would not impact on 
the delivery of the scheme. 

303. Thames Water are responsible for dealing with foul water in the area. They were consulted 
on the proposal and raise no objection in terms of the capacity of the existing waste water 
and sewage treatment works infrastructure, based on the information provided and the 
applicant is reminded to obtain a trade effluent consent. This consent is separate from the 
planning regime and the information of how to obtain such a consent will be attached to 
any grant of planning permission as an informative. 

304. There are also public sewers crossing or close to the application site, and the applicant is 
advised to read the Thames Water Guidance on working near to or diverting pipes, which 
will also be attached as an informative. It is also expected that the developer demonstrates 
what measures will be undertaken to minimise groundwater discharges into the public 
sewer. Groundwater discharges typically result from dewatering, deep excavation, 
basement infiltration, borehole installation and testing and site remediation. Any discharge 
made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions 
of the Water Industry Act 1991. As such, Thames Water would like an informative attached 
to any grant of planning permission to remind the applicant of the need to obtain a 
Groundwater Risk Management Permit, if the activities on the site result in the discharge of 
groundwater to the public sewer. 

Conclusion 

305. No Objection is raised by statutory consultees on this matter. Officers consider that the 
surface water management measures proposed by the applicant are acceptable, subject to 
the conditions as set out above. As identified an infiltration SuDs scheme is not practical at 
this site due to the risk of mobilising historic contamination in the soils. In the absence of a 

Page 250

8



surface water course, the application is seeking to direct the clean water from the site to 
the public surface water sewer on the Wintersells Road, in accordance with the SuDs 
Hierarchy. The measures as proposed are designed to manage the pollutants from the site 
and will seek to harvest water for re-use in the operations on the site where possible. In 
this respect, it is considered that the proposal accords with the development plan policy 
DC2 and DC3 of the SWP, policy DM5 of the EDM and Policy CS26 of the ESC, in this 
regard, alongside the requirements of the NPPF and NPW. 

Contamination 

Policy Context

306. Paragraph 178 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should ensure that a site is 
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risk arising from 
land instability and contamination. This includes risks arising from hazards or former 
activities, and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation and adequate site 
investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is available to inform these 
assessments. Paragraph 179 of the NPPF goes on to set out that where a site is affected 
by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development 
rests with the developer and/or landowners. In this context, paragraph 180 of the NPPF 
sets out that planning decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its 
location, taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on 
health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of 
the site or the wider area.  

307. Policy DC3 of the SWP outlines that planning permissions for waste related development 
will be granted provided it can be demonstrated that the development will not significantly 
adversely affect people land, infrastructure and resources in terms of contamination of 
ground and surface water. Similarly, NPW’s Appendix B Criteria A requires consideration 
of the proximity of vulnerable surface and groundwater or aquifers and the suitability of 
locations subject to flooding, with consequent issues relating to the management of 
potential risk posed to water quality from waste contamination.

308. Policy DM5 of the EDM states that development affecting contaminated land will be 
permitted provided that the site is remediated to ensure it is suitable for the proposed use, 
taking into account the sensitivity of future occupants/users to pollutants, and that remedial 
decontamination measures are sufficient to prevent harm to living conditions, biodiversity 
or the building themselves. All work, including investigation of the nature of any 
contamination, should be undertaken without escape of contaminants that could cause risk 
to health or the environment.

The Development 

309. The application site formerly formed part of a larger sewage treatment works with filter bed 
and tanks on site, prior to its re-development into B1/B2 land uses. As set out at paragraph 
11 above, Unit 12 was operated as a bulk fuel storage and distribution depot for a number 
of years and was decommissioned in the late 1999s/early 2000s. Unit 11 has more 
recently been used by a haulage firm. The site is underlain by a principal aquifer in the 
superficial deposits and a secondary ‘A’ aquifer in the bedrock geology immediately below. 

Page 251

8



310. The proposed development will result in the demolition of the existing building on Unit 11 
and the construction of a new waste recycling building on an area of vacant land to the 
rear of Unit 12. The existing office building at Unit 12 is to be retained and Unit 11 will be 
re-developed to provide an open yard area in front of the building, containing an enclosed 
picking line, storage bays and car parking. As a result of the development the majority of 
the application site will be redeveloped, which will comprise groundworks and excavation.

311. The applicant has provided copies of a range of the historic site investigation reports 
relating to the application site. As set in a letter dated 9 November 2017 to the Land Owner 
from Ash Remediation Management, it is noted that to address the potentially significant 
health risk to the current and future occupants of the commercial development, that a 
remediation strategy was adopted which included the cleaning and removal of interceptors 
and associated drainage system, the breakout of hardstanding and investigation of 
underlying soils across the site, separation and disposal of any contaminated soils and the 
pumping and disposal of any residual free product encountered. All works were reported to 
have been carried out during September and October 2017 under the supervision of Ash 
Remediation Management Staff. 

312. Concerns have been raised by objectors with regard the historic use of the site and the 
potential for contaminants to be present, which could then be released in an uncontrolled 
manner, contaminating the surrounding area and water. Reference is made to vents within 
the Estate (including one on Unit 15) which ventilate the gasses to the surface of the 
Estate. Continuous monitoring is also considered to be necessary to ensure that no 
deleterious waste finds its way into the subsoil where on-going problems with leachate and 
methane gas can occur. 

313. EBC in their comments on the proposal have set out that the application is identified under 
the Councils Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy. They have commented that based 
on information currently available they do not consider that there is a reasonable possibility 
that a significant contaminant linkage is likely to impact either on the site receptors or 
neighbouring properties under the current site use. In the event that the site is subject to a 
change of use or that ground works are undertaken that may alter ground conditions, then 
EBC would require a ground investigation to be carried out to assess ground conditions in 
accordance with the current day standards.  

Assessment 

314. As set out in the NPPG31 contamination is more likely to arise in former industrial areas. To 
ensure that a site is suitable for this new use and to prevent unacceptable risk from 
pollution, the implications of contamination for development should be considered through 
the planning process to the extent that it is not addressed by other regimes. If there is 
reason to believe contamination could be an issue, applicants should provide proportionate 
but sufficient site investigation information (a risk assessment) prepared by a competent 
person to determine the existence or otherwise of contamination, its nature and extent, the 
risks it may post and to whom/what (the receptors) so that these risks can be assessed 
and satisfactorily reduced to an acceptable level. 

31 Paragraphs 002-007 Reference ID: 33-003-20190722

Page 252

8



315. In the absence of any development specific risk assessments and based on the previous 
investigation information provided, it is identified that there are three key potential 
contaminant linkages of concern relating to human health. These comprise of: 1) Risk to 
on-site commercial workers from direct contact with soil contamination; 2) Risk to 
commercial workers (on site and off site) from intrusion of hydrocarbon vapours in the 
subsurface into buildings; and 3) Risk of explosion/asphyxiation from the ingress of bulk 
gases into buildings. 

316. As understood from the submitted PDAS (dated November 2019) the site will be hard 
covered and as such the risk from contaminant linkage 1 will likely to be mitigated through 
design. The existing two-storey building on the site will be retained and a new open ended 
building will be constructed. Vapour and bulk gas intrusion (linkage 2) in to the new open 
building is unlikely to cause a significant risk due to the high level of ventilation associated 
with an open building. 

317. The Arcadis Soil Gas Assessment Report submitted with the application, states that one 
round of soil gas sampling was undertaken on the site in January 2015. This sampling 
compared the measured concentrations of hydrocarbons in soil vapour with site specific 
assessment criteria generated by their own modelling in order to characterise the risks. 
The Report concluded that the risks to on and off site commercial workers from inhalation 
of vapours from residual sources of hydrocarbons at the site were not significant. Whilst 
the approach taken by Arcadis is reasonable, reliance cannot be placed solely on one 
round of soil gas sampling. This is because soil gas concentrations can vary by orders of 
magnitude between sample events. Further vapour monitoring and vapour risk assessment 
(specific to the proposed design) is therefore required to demonstrate with certainty that 
the risks from vapour are acceptable. This can be addressed by a suitable planning 
condition attached to any grant of planning permission.

318. Furthermore, the Arcadis soil gas monitoring identified elevated concentrations of methane 
in the subsurface that could give rise to contaminant linkage 3. Soil bulk gas monitoring 
(including measurements of flow) and risk assessment will therefore be required to 
demonstrate that the risk from bulk gases are acceptable. This can be addressed via a 
suitable planning condition attached to any grant of planning permission. 

319. The County Geotechnical Consultant has also reviewed the historic information provided in 
support of the application, which discusses the works undertaken at the application site 
following the decommissioning of the fuel depot at Unit 12 and notes that this does provide 
sufficient confidence that the risks to human health are manageable and can be addressed 
by pre-commencement conditions. In this respect the applicant would need to complete a 
risk assessment of human health for Units 11 and 12 specific to the development end use 
proposed, and if necessary prepare remediation or mitigation strategies. The EA have 
considered the application and information on the potential contamination present on the 
site and have noted that they are satisfied with the levels of remedial works carried out on 
the former oil storage depot.

Conclusion 

320. Officers consider that given the design of the site (hardstanding) the potential for 
contamination is limited during operation. However, pre-commencement conditions should 
be attached to any grant of planning permission to secure the carrying out of investigation 
and remedial works to safeguard against any potential south-pathway-receptor linkages. In 

Page 253

8



this respect, it is considered that subject to conditions the proposal accords with the 
development plan policy DC3 of the SWP and Policy DM5 of the EDM, in this regard, 
alongside the requirements of the NPPF and NPW. 

HERITAGE ASSETS 

Development Plan Policies
Surrey Waste Plan 2008
Policy DC2 – Planning Designations
Policy DC3 – General Considerations

Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies
Policy 14 – Development Management

Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015
Policy DM12 – Heritage

Policy Context 

321. The application site itself is not covered by any national or local level archaeological or 
heritage designations. The application site is, however, located approximately 13m west of 
the Brooklands Motor Racing Circuit, remains of pre-World War II aerodrome, World War II 
Bofors tower and shelters, and the Brooklands Memorial32 which are a Scheduled 
Monument. This Scheduled Monument is also covered by the Brooklands Conservation 
Area designation. Two Grade II Listed Buildings associated with the airfield, the former 
Aero Control Tower and the former flight booking office are located inside the former racing 
circuit and are within 0.46km of the proposed site. These are all heritage assets. 

322. The proposal comprises the change of use of the site to a waste development facility within 
the established Wintersells Business Park. It would involve the construction of a new waste 
recycling building to a maximum height of 13m. The Brooklands Industrial Estate, located 
approximately 13m to the east on the other side of Wintersells Road (which the Scheduled 
Monument mentioned above forms part of), contains a number of large industrial units 
which are also up to 13m in height. As such long distant views of the application site from 
any direction are limited given existing industrial units within both the Wintersells Industrial 
site and the Brooklands Industrial Estate.

323. Historic England state when making any decision on a planning application for 
development that affects a listed building or its setting the LPA must have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its features of special architectural or historical 
interest which it possesses. This obligation is found in Section 16 and 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

324. Paragraph 184 of the NPPF sets out that heritage assets33 are an irreplaceable resource 
that should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance34. Paragraph 190 of 

32 Historic England List ID 1020137.
33 Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of highest significance, such 
as World Heritage Sites and includes archaeological resources. 
34 ‘Significance’ in terms of heritage-related planning policy is defined in the Glossary of the National 
Planning Policy Framework as the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its 

Page 254

8



the NPPF is clear that a local planning authority should identify and assess the particular 
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal including any effect 
on the setting of a heritage asset. This should be taken into account when considering the 
impact of a proposal on a heritage asset so to avoid or minimise any conflict between the 
heritage asset conservation any aspect of the proposal. Paragraph 192 goes on to state 
that in determining planning applications, a local planning authority should take account of: 
“a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness”.

325. Paragraph 193 of the NPPF sets out that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance”. Paragraph 194 goes on to say 
that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification. 

326. In this respect, Paragraph 195 of the NPPF is clear that where a proposed development 
will lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance of a designated heritage asset, 
local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the 
substantial harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh 
that harm or loss. Whilst paragraph 196 of the NPPF outlines that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

327. The NPPG provides guidance on the historic environment and significance. Paragraph 
00735 states that significance in decision making for heritage assets is important as 
heritage assets may be affected by direct physical change or by change in their setting. 
The paragraph goes on to state that “Being able to properly assess the nature, extent and 
importance of the significance of a heritage asset, and the contribution of its setting, is very 
important to understanding the potential impact and acceptability of development 
proposals”. Paragraph 18 outlines that where potential harm to designated heritage assets 
is identified, it needs to be categorised as either less than substantial harm or substantial 
harm (which includes total loss) in order to identify which policies in the NPPF apply. 

328. Historic England has published a series of guidance notes36 to assist in the determination 
of planning applications that could have an impact on heritage assets. Advice Note 3, at 
paragraph 4, recognises that the extent of a setting cannot have a fixed boundary and may 
alter over time due to changes in circumstance. Whereas paragraph 5 explains that views 
can contribute to setting of heritage assets e.g. viewing points or where a view is a 

heritage interest. This interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance dervices 
not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. 
35 Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 18a-007-20190723
36 ‘Good Practice Advice in Planning 2: Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic 
Environment’ and ‘Good Practice Advice in Planning 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets’ 

Page 255

8

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa2-managing-significance-in-decision-taking/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa2-managing-significance-in-decision-taking/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/


fundamental aspect of the design of the asset or where assets were meant to be seen by 
one another for aesthetic, functional, ceremonial or religious reasons. Advice Note 2, at 
paragraph 4, explains that the first step in assessing the impact a development proposal 
may have on a designated heritage is to understand the significance of any affected 
heritage asset and, if relevant, the contribution of its setting to its significance. The 
significance of a heritage asset is the sum of its archaeological, architectural, historic and 
artistic interest. 

329. Criteria E of Appendix B of the NPW states that in testing the suitability of sites the CPA 
should consider the potential effects on the significance of heritage assets, whether 
designated or not, including any contribution made by their setting. 

330. Policy DC2 of the SWP advocates that planning permission will not be granted for 
development where this would endanger, or have a significant adverse impact, on the 
character, quality, interest or setting of (viii) listed buildings and historic parks and gardens, 
(ix) conservation areas or (v) scheduled ancients monuments or sites of archaeological 
importance. Additionally, Policy DC3 of the SWP explains that planning permission for 
development will be granted provided it can be demonstrated that any impacts of the 
development can be controlled to achieve levels that will not significantly adversely affect 
heritage assets or result in the loss of or damage to archaeological resources or historic 
landscapes. This is echoed in Policy 14 of the SWLP whereby planning permission for 
waste development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that it would not result in 
significant adverse impacts on communities and the environment which includes impacts 
on the historic landscape and sites or structures of architectural and historic interest. 

331. Policy DM12 of the EDM is clear that planning permission will be granted for developments 
that protect, conserve and enhance the Borough’s historic environment including 
Scheduled Monuments and their settings. 

Assessment 

332. The proposal does not involve any physical works to either the Schedule Monuments or 
listed buildings which are detailed above in paragraph 321. As such the proposal would 
result in no direct impact on these heritage assets. With regards to setting of the listed 
buildings, the listed buildings are located within the south eastern part of the Brooklands 
Industrial site and are surrounded by existing industrial units of varying height and mass. 
The listed buildings setting is also contained within the arc of the Scheduled Monument, 
the historic racing circuit. Given their position within the Brooklands Industrial estate, the 
existing intervening buildings and structures between them and the application site; and 
that the application proposal would be no greater in height than existing buildings on the 
Brooklands Industrial Estate, officers are of the view that the application proposal would 
not impact on the setting or significance, nor cause any harm to the two listed buildings. 

333. With regards to the Scheduled Monument, paragraph 01337 of the NPPG provides 
guidance on how the setting of such an asset can be assessed. The paragraph says that 
the extent and importance of setting is often expressed by reference to the visual 
relationship between the asset and the proposed development and associated visual/ 
physical considerations. However the paragraph goes on to state that it may not be visual/ 

37 Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 18a-013-20190723

Page 256

8



physical considerations alone that may make up the setting of a heritage asset but also 
other environmental factors and an understanding of the historic relationship between 
places, i.e. buildings that are in close proximity but not visible from each other may have a 
historic connection amplifying the experience of the significant of each. The paragraph 
states that in assessing setting consideration should be given to the cumulative change 
and potential for its ongoing conservation. 

334. As outlined above, the Scheduled Monument is designated as the motor racing circuit, 
remains of a pre-war aerodrome, Bofors tower and shelters and the Brooklands memorial. 
The aspect of this Scheduled Monument whereby the setting could be affected by the 
proposal is the motor racing circuit which runs around the western, northern and southern 
perimeter of the Brooklands Industrial Estate and forms an embankment between that and 
the Wintersells Business Park. Whilst the development proposal does not directly impact 
the Scheduled Monument, it could be considered to impact its setting. 

335. The County Archaeologist and County Historic Buildings Officer have both reviewed the 
planning application. They have stated in their opinion the setting of the track is not 
adversely impacted by this proposal due to the previous modern developments to the east 
and west (in the form of the industrial estates and the buildings that are contained within 
them) of which the buildings that form part of this application, is a part of that overall 
industrial development. Furthermore the Officers have gone on to say that the setting 
would not be adversely impacted because the setting of the track is largely experienced 
from the east, within the former motor circuit, looking westwards rather than from the 
direction of the application site. Historic England were also consulted and indicated that on 
the basis of the information supplied they did not wish to comment. 

336. The Brooklands Conservation Area is also a designated Heritage Asset and extends 
around the former motor racing circuit of Brooklands with the former race track forming its 
western, northern and southern boundaries, with the eastern boundary extending to the 
B374. The Conservation Area was designated for its importance for its historical links with 
motor racing and aviation. As outlined above with regards to the Scheduled Monument, 
with regards to this planning application area the setting of the Conservation Area is 
experienced from the east. The proposal would be within an existing industrial estate and 
there is an industrial estate within the Conservation Area with buildings of a mix of height 
and mass. The proposal would be similar in height and massing and be of an industrial 
nature. 

Conclusion 

337. Officers recognise there are heritage assets within the vicinity of the application site in the 
form of a Scheduled Monument, a Conservation Area and listed buildings. Officers are 
satisfied that the proposal would not directly harm or destroy any listed buildings within the 
vicinity nor have any impact on the setting of these listed buildings due to the location of 
the development from the buildings and their setting. With regards to the Scheduled 
Monument and Conservation Area, given the industrial character of the wider area in which 
the Scheduled Monument and Conservation Area are situated and that the proposal would 
not result in a change to their setting; Officers consider that the proposal would not harm 
the setting or significance of heritage assets within the vicinity of the application site and 
meets the requirements of Development Plan policy with regards to SWP 2008 Policy DC2 

Page 257

8



and DC3 and EDM Policy ELM12; alongside the requirements set out in Historic England’s 
good practice guide.  

 
HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS

338. The Human Rights Act Guidance for Interpretation, contained in the Preamble to the 
Agenda is expressly incorporated into this report and must be read in conjunction with the 
following paragraph.

339. In this case, the Officer’s view is that while impacts on amenity caused by dust, noise and 
traffic are acknowledged, the scale of such impacts is not considered sufficient to engage 
Article 8 or Article 1 of Protocol 1. Their impact can be mitigated by conditions.  As such, 
this proposal is not considered to interfere with any Convention right.

CONCLUSION

340. Planning permission is sought for a change of use of Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road, 
from a B1 (Office) and B2 (Industrial) use class, to a sui generis waste use. This would 
comprise the amalgamation of Units 11 and 12 to develop a Waste Transfer Station (WTS) 
and Materials Recycling Facility (MRF). 

341. The development is intended to be operated as a separation facility for skip waste inputs 
from builders and householders, which typically contain quantities of recyclables such as 
plastics, wood, metal, paper and cardboard. The applicant has indicated that the site 
expect to receive up to 99,950 tonnes per annum of waste, compromising mixed, dry, non-
hazardous, industrial and commercial (HIC) and construction, demolition and excavation 
(C, D & E) wastes. No hazardous, liquid or clinical waste will be accepted at the site. The 
waste will be separated both by hand and by proposed plant, stored and sent on to other 
reprocessing facilities.

342. The statutory development plan for consideration of the application comprises the Surrey 
Waste Plan 2008, the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011, the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015, and the emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies and 
the Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 2 – Sites. In considering the development Officers have 
assessed its acceptability against the development plan policies, alongside national policy 
and guidance and material considerations in respect of: sustainable waste management; 
highways, traffic and access; landscape and visual impact; air quality (including dust and 
odour); noise; lighting, flood risk and surface water drainage; contamination and heritage 
assets. 

343. Officers consider that the application site at Units 11 and 12 Wintersells Road is, in 
principle, an appropriate location for the proposed waste transfer and recovery of materials 
facility and the proposal would make a contribution towards waste management capacity 
required in Surrey and towards meeting the targets for diversion of waste from landfill in 
Surrey. 

344. The Borough Councils and other interested parties have raised concerns about the 
development in respect of all aspects. However, no technical objection is raised by 

Page 258

8



statutory consultees. Officers recognise that there could be impacts from dust both 
operationally and during construction however the applicant proposes a number of 
mitigation measures alongside conditions to provide mitigation. No concerns are raised 
with regard to noise, lighting, heritage or contamination. With regards to surface water 
controls statutory consultees raise no objection but this is subject to further details being 
provided by condition. Similarly, air quality impacts have been assessed and the effects of 
vehicles related emissions are not considered to be significant. In terms of highway 
impacts the proposed vehicle movements have been identified as having a negligible 
impact on the operation of the local highway network. Similarly, the Wintersells Business 
Park, whilst not in the jurisdiction of the CHA has been designed to accommodate HGVs 
and larger commercial vehicles that are generated by the existing industrial units that it 
serves. The impact in this regard is therefore not considered significant. 

345. As discussed throughout the report these concerns have not been borne out by the 
investigations and assessments undertaken by the applicant and the CPA’s technical 
consultees including the County Highway Authority; the Environment Agency; Historic 
England; Thames Water; Network Rail; the Lead Local Flood Authority; SCC’s Landscape 
Architect, Listed Buildings Officer, Ecologist and Archaeology Officer; and SCC’s Noise 
and Air Quality Consultants. Officers have concluded that any potential harm can be 
mitigated by the imposition of planning conditions and therefore assess the development to 
be in compliance with all relevant development plan policies applicable to sustainable 
waste management; highways, traffic and access; landscape and visual impact; air quality 
(including dust and odour); noise; lighting; flood risk and surface water drainage; 
contamination and heritage assets. 

346. In conclusion, Officers consider that the proposal meets the development plan policy and 
national policy in this regard and planning permission should be granted in this case 
subject to suitable planning conditions.  

RECOMMENDATION

To PERMIT application EL/18/3802 subject to conditions. 

Conditions:

IMPORTANT - CONDITION NOs 5, 6, 35, and 41 MUST BE DISCHARGED PRIOR TO 
THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE DEVELOPMENT.

Approved Documents 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in all respects in accordance with 
the following plans/drawings: 

Drawing No 3843/2410/01 Rev A, Site Location Map, dated 03 October 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/02 Rev B Site Location Plan, dated 03 October 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/03 Re C Existing Site Plan, dated 07 October 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/04 Rev M Proposed Layout Plan dated 21 November 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/05 Rev B Building Elevations dated 09 September 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/06 Rev B Roof Plan dated 06 September 2019
Drawing No 3843/2410/07 Sensitive Receptor Plan dated 20 November 2018

Page 259

8



Commencement 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun no later than the expiration of three 
years beginning with the date of this permission. The applicant shall notify the County 
Planning Authority in writing within seven working days of the commencement of the 
implementation of the planning permission. 

Hours of Operation 

3. No authorised operations or activities, including the access and egress by HGVs, shall be 
carried out, and no light illuminated, except between the following times:
For the acceptance and removal of waste including the use of plant:

0700 – 1800 Monday to Friday 
0700- 1300 Saturday

For the operation of plant only inside the building and no HGV access or egress:  
1800-2030 Monday to Friday 
1300-1700 Saturday

Neither shall any servicing, maintenance or testing of plant be carried out between 2030 
and 0700 hours nor shall any other operation or activity take place on a Sundays or any 
public, bank or national holiday. This shall not prevent the carrying out of emergency 
operations, but these should be recorded and notified to the County Planning Authority 
within seven working days of occurring. 

4. No construction operations or activities authorised or required by this permission shall be 
carried out except between the following times:  

0800 – 1800 Monday to Friday excluding Public Holidays
0800- 1300 Saturday

There shall be no construction working on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 

Highway Traffic and Access

5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the County Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include details of: 

a) a programme of works
b) site preparation works, including the provision of fencing and other safety/security 
measures
c) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors
d) loading and unloading of plant and materials
e) storage of plant and materials
f) measures for keeping the highway free from mud or extraneous matter
g) measures for the control, mitigation and monitoring of dust during the 
demolition/construction phase, which are consistent with the level of risk 

Page 260

8



h) measures for the protection of groundwater
i) lighting required; and 
j) waste management.
Only the approved details shall be implemented during the construction period. 

6. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a scheme to prevent the 
overturning of the footway at the A318 and Wintersells Road junction, either by moving the 
current bollard on the A318 Oyster Lane closer to the road, or by placing additional 
bollards on the adjacent side of the tactile paving, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the submission of a 
plan to show the tracking of articulated vehicles associated with the development hereby 
permitted to show that these do not overturn the footway as a result of the scheme. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

7. Prior to the first use of the onsite car parking facilities hereby permitted, a scheme for the 
secure parking of bicycles on the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
County Planning Authority. Thereafter the facilities shall be implemented, retained and 
maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

8. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the 
site, space for the parking of vehicles shall be laid out within the site in accordance with 
Drawing No. 3843/2410/04, Rev M Proposed Layout Plan, dated 21 November 2019. 

9. Before any of the operations which involve the movement of waste materials to or from the 
site are commenced, details of the facilities to be provided, in order that the operator can 
make all reasonable effort to keep the private Wintersells Road and public highway clean 
and prevent the creation of a dangerous surface, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. The agreed measures shall thereafter be retained 
and maintained and used at all times. 

10. Within 6 months of the first receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the site, an 
updated travel plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority. The submitted Travel Plan shall include detailed measures to promote 
sustainable modes of transport and provisions for the maintenance, monitoring and annual 
review of the impact of the Travel Plan and its further development for the life of the 
planning permission hereby permitted. The Travel Plan shall thereafter be implemented 
and reviewed as specified within the approved document. 

11. Prior to the first use of the available car parking spaces hereby permitted at least 10% shall 
be provided with a fast charge socket (current minimum requirement: 7kw Mode 3 with 
Type 2 connector – 230 v AC 32 amp single phase dedicated supply), in accordance with a 
scheme first submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 

12. There shall be no more than a total of 200 Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) movements (100 
in and 100 out) to or from the site in any one day between Monday to Friday, and 108 (54 
in and 54 out) to or from the site on Saturdays. The site operator shall maintain accurate 
records of the number of HGVs accessing and egressing the site daily and shall make 
these available to the County Planning Authority on request and provide written records to 
the County Planning Authority within 21 days if requested. 

Page 261

8



13. There shall be no queuing or waiting of Heavy Goods Vehicle traffic associated with the 
development hereby permitted on the Wintersells Road. 

14. All loaded Heavy Goods Vehicles entering and leaving the application site shall be 
sheeted. 

Limitations 

15. Only commercial and industrial and construction, demolition and excavation wastes shall 
be imported onto the application site for handling within the waste facility hereby permitted. 
No putrescible food wastes or hazardous waste shall be imported to the site. Any non-
conforming waste imported to the site, including any that arrive as part of loads, shall be 
removed from the site within 48 hours or 12 hours for odorous material as set out at 
paragraph 6.6 Material Storage of the submitted Planning, Design and Access Statement, 
Version 1.8 dated 19 November 2019, and shall be taken to a suitably authorised waste 
facility. 

16. All unloading and processing of imported waste material must take place within the 
confines of the waste building hereby permitted. 

17. All unprocessed waste shall be stored with the ‘waste reception bay’ only within the 
building hereby permitted, as shown on Drawing No. 3843/2410/04 Rev M Proposed 
Layout Plan, dated 21 November 2019. 

18. All processed waste stockpiled externally at the site, shall be stored within the areas 
delineated on Drawing No. 3843/2410/04 Rev M Proposed Layout Plan, dated 21 
November 2019. Stockpiles heights shall not exceed the height of the designated bays (3.5 
meters in height) and light wastes stored externally shall be stored within containers or 
netted skips prior to removal off site. 

19. There shall be no crushing of inert waste comprising concrete, hardcore, brick, tiles or 
stones using any mechanical equipment. 

20. Empty skips shall only be stacked in the location shown on Drawing No. 3843/2410/04 Rev 
M, Proposed Layout Plan, dated 21 November 2019 and no more than 3 metres high. 

General Permitted Development Order 

21. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary under Schedule 2 Part 2, Part 4 and Part 7 
(Class L) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 or any subsequent Order;

a) No plant, building or machinery whether fixed or moveable shall be erected on the 
application site without the prior written approval of the County Planning Authority in 
respect of the location, design, specification and appearance of the installation, such 
details to include the predicted levels of noise emission and their tonal characteristics. 

Page 262

8



b) No external lighting or fencing other than those permitted by this application shall be 
installed or erected at the application site without the prior written approval of the County 
Planning Authority.

Noise and Vibration 

22. The Rating Level, LAr,Tr, of the noise emitted from all plant, equipment and machinery, 
including on site vehicle movements, associated with the application site shall not exceed 
the existing representative LA90 background sound level at any time by more than +5 
dB(A) at the nearest noise sensitive receptor (NSR) when assessed in accordance with 
British Standard (BS) 4142:2014 ‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial and 
commercial sound’.

23. At the request of the County Planning Authority (CPA), measurements shall be carried out 
to demonstrate compliance with Condition 22. The existing representative LA90 
background sound level shall be determined by measurement that shall be sufficient to 
characterise the environment and should be justified following guidance contained within 
BS 4142:2014. The measurements shall be submitted to the CPA for approval within 30 
days following a request.

24. Should the site fail to comply with the set noise limits, within 21 days of any evidence of a 
breach of the noise limits being established, the applicant shall submit a scheme for 
approval in writing to the County Planning Authority to attenuate noise levels to the 
required level. Once approved, the scheme shall be implemented within seven working 
days of the County Planning Authority issuing approval for the scheme, or the source of the 
breach of noise shall cease until the scheme is in place. 

25. Other than vehicles involved in delivering waste and exporting recovered 
materials/recyclate, all vehicles and mobile plant involved in the handling of waste or 
product operating outside of the waste transfer building must be fitted with, and use, a 
white noise type vehicle reversing alarm or switchable system. All vehicles, plant and 
machinery operated within the site shall be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturers’ specification at all times, and shall be fitted with and use effective silencers. 

Air Quality 

26. The mitigation measures outlined in Section 6 of the submitted Air Quality Assessment – 
Waste Transfer Station at Wintersells Road, Document Reference: 3843-2410-J dated 9 
August 2019, including the Heavy Goods Vehicle fleet to be fitted with Euro VI complaint 
engines and mobile plant to be fitted with Stage IV compliant engines, shall be undertaken 
and adhered to on the commencement of the development hereby permitted. 

27. The dust mitigation, monitoring and control measures outlined in, Dust Management Plan, 
Document Reference: 3843-2410-B, Version 1.4 dated 12 May 2019, shall be implemented 
in full and adhered to at all times.

28. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the 
site, details of the water suppression system for the management of dust on the site, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority and thereafter be 
implemented as specified within the approved document. 

Page 263

8



29. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the 
site, details of the dust curtain, to be erected within the open doorway of the building 
hereby permitted to manage the escape of dust from the operations, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority and thereafter be implemented 
as specified within the approved document. 

30. No activity hereby permitted shall emit dust, which causes a nuisance beyond the 
boundaries of the site, due to either inappropriate working or adverse weather conditions. If 
such emission should occur appropriate measures shall be taken as secured by Condition 
27 above to abate the problem, but if unsuccessful the activity shall be suspended until it 
can be resumed without causing emission as a result of different methods of working, the 
addition of additional dust suppression measures or changed weather conditions. The 
County Planning Authority shall be notified within 7 working days of any additional dust 
suppression measures or changes to working to mitigate the impact of dust. 

31. The odour control, monitoring and mitigation measures outlined in the submitted Odour 
Management Plan, Document Reference: 3843-2410-F, Version 1.4 dated 5 July 2019, 
shall be implemented in full and adhered to at all times. 

32. Any odorous material should be dealt with by the correction actions as set out in Section 
6.2 of the submitted Odour Management Plan, Document Reference: 3843-2410-F, 
Version 1.4 dated 5 July 2019. 

Lighting 

33. No lighting shall be installed as part of the development hereby permitted unless and until 
details of a Light Management Plan for the site have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority and thereafter implemented in accordance with 
such approval prior to any operations which involve the receipt of waste materials hereby 
permitted at the site. The scheme shall include details of: 
a) The siting of all external lighting, including floodlighting, safety and security lighting 
including the use of any temporary lighting, for all phases of the development; 
b) Illumination from within the waste building; 
c) The hours lights would be illuminated and good practice measures to minimise the 
use of lights including timings.
d) The height and position of any lighting
e) The intensity of the lights specified in LUX levels
f) Measures to control and minimise light spill
g) Measures for reviewing any unforeseen impacts.
h) Practical measures to minimise upward waste of light from site luminaries and to 
minimise light spill outside of the boundary of the site.

No floodlighting or any form of external lighting, including security lighting other than that 
explicitly approved under this condition, shall be installed on the site in accordance with the 
approved details. The approved Light Management Plan shall be implemented at all times. 

Landscaping and Ecology

Page 264

8



34. Prior to the receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the site,  a detailed scheme of 
landscaping, planting and maintenance, for the area of soft landscaping as shown on 
Drawing No. 3843/2410/04 Proposed Layout Plan, dated 21 November 2019, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority and implemented as 
approved. The submitted scheme shall include the following details:

a) seeding and planting plans with written specifications including cultivation and other 
operations associated with tree, shrub and hedgerow establishment; 
b) schedules of trees, shrubs and plants noting species, sizes and positions and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate; 
c) maintenance specification
d) management plan, including a scheme of ecological enhancements, for the duration of 
the life of the planning permission. 

All landscaping and planting in accordance with the approved scheme shall be carried out 
within a period of 12 months from the date on which the development of the site is 
commenced and shall be maintained for a period of 10 years, such maintenance to include 
the replacement of any trees and shrubs that may die or are severely damaged with trees 
or shrubs of a similar size and species in the next available planting season. 

Flood and Surface Water Drainage 

35. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of the design of a 
surface water drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
County Planning Authority. The design must satisfy the SuDs Hierarchy and be compliant 
with the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDs, NPPF and Ministerial 
Statement on SuDs. The required drainage details include: 

a) Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively manage the 1 in 30 & 1 in 100 
(+40% allowance for climate change) storm events, during all stages of the development, 
associated discharge rates and storage volumes shall be provided using maximum 
discharge rate of 2.0I/s. 

b) Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to include: a finalised drainage 
layout detailing the location of drainage elements, pipe diameters, levels, and along and 
cross sections of each element including details of any flow restrictions and 
maintenance/risk reducing features (silt traps, inspection chambers etc). 

c) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e during rainfall greater than design events or 
during blockage) and how property on and off site will be protected. 

d) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance regimes for the 
drainage system. 

e) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during construction and how runoff 
(including any pollutants) from the development site will be managed before the drainage 
system is operational. 

Page 265

8



36. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the 
site, a verification report carried out by a qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to 
and approved by the County Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the drainage 
system has been constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), 
provide the details of any management company and state the national grid reference of 
any key drainage elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction 
devices and outfalls). 

Buildings, fencing and gates 

37. Prior to any building hereby permitted being erected on site, details and colours of all 
materials to be used on the external faces of all buildings to be constructed on the site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. All 
materials specified for the external facing surfaces of the waste recycling building hereby 
permitted, shall be of a non-reflective nature and shall be used and maintained at all times.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

38. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of waste materials hereby permitted at the 
site, details of the final appearance (specification and colour) of the boundary fencing to be 
erected, including any accompanying gates, to be constructed on the site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Site Layout and Surfacing Details 

39. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of the waste materials hereby permitted at 
the site,  details of the hard surfacing materials to be used on areas external to the 
proposed buildings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority. The site shall be surfaced in accordance with the approved details and the 
surfacing maintained in a good state of repair thereafter. 

40. Prior to any operations which involve the receipt of the waste materials hereby permitted at 
the site,  details of the weighbridge including its specification and location on the site, to 
allow for the weighing and recording of waste material imported to the site, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. 

Contamination 

41. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, development other than 
that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation or mitigation 
shall not commence until Parts a) and b) of this condition have been complied with. If 
unexpected contamination is found after development has begun, the development must 
be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent 
specified by the County Planning Authority in writing until Part c) has been complied with in 
relation to that contamination. 

a) Site Characterisation and Remediation Strategy
The nature and extent of any contamination present in the ground, groundwater, ground 
gas or soil vapour at the site shall be assessed via a structured scheme of review, 

Page 266

8



investigation, testing, monitoring and risk assessment. This shall be in addition to any 
assessments provided with the planning application. 
The review, investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons 
and a written report of the findings shall be produced, which shall be submitted to and 
approved by the County Planning Authority in writing. The report of the findings shall 
include as appropriate: 

(i) a synopsis and review of all previous potentially contaminative land uses, historical 
ground investigations, risk assessments and remediation already undertaken at the site, 
that describe the extent, scale and nature of the contamination and the action taken to deal 
with it (previous reports shall be included as appendices if available; 
(ii) the results of any additional contamination investigations undertaken;
(iii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
• Human health users, (current, construction and operational stages)
• Property (existing or proposed) including buildings, and service lines and pipes, 
• Adjoining land, 
• Groundwaters and surface waters
• Ecological systems
• Archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 

(iv) an appraisal of remedial and/or mitigation options, and a detailed 
remediation/mitigation options, and a detailed remediation/mitigation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment etc. The 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation or mitigation 
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management procedures, and 
proposals and programme for any long term inspection, monitoring or maintenance 
required. Where imported material is to be used in the works only clean uncontaminated 
materials shall be permitted and the remediation/mitigation scheme shall include 
acceptability criteria for the imported materials and details of the checking, sampling and 
testing programme to demonstrate conformity. A detailed verification plan for the scheme 
shall be included. The scheme shall ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated 
land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use 
of the land after remediation. 

The works shall be conducted in accordance with current UK Government guidance "land 
contamination: risk management’ https://www.gov.uk/guidance/land-contamination-how-to-
manage-the-risks dated 5 June 2019. 

b) Implementation of Approved Remediation/Mitigation Scheme 

The approved remediation/mitigation scheme shall be carried out prior to the 
commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation. The 
County Planning Authority shall be given two weeks written notification of commencement 
of the remediation scheme works. 

Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation or mitigation 
scheme, a verification report (alternatively referred to in some guidance as validation 
report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out and the suitability 

Page 267

8



of the site for its proposed end use shall be produced, and shall be subject to the approval 
in writing of the County Planning Authority. 

c) Reporting Unexpected Contamination 

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified, it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the County Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of Part a), and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be prepared and implemented in accordance with the 
requirements of Part a) (iv), which is subject to the approval in writing of the County 
Planning Authority. 

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report shall be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with Part b). 

d) Piling and Foundation Works 

Development approved by this permission shall not commence unless a Foundation Works 
Risk Assessment and Foundation Construction Method Station has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. A verification report demonstrating 
that the foundations have been constructed as designed shall be submitted and approved 
by the County Planning Authority before occupancy of any part of the site. 
 

Reasons:

1. For avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

2. To comply with Section 91 (1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 
by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3. To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste 
Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

4. To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste 
Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

5. To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste 
Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015. The 
condition is required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that 
appropriate measures are in place to manage the impacts of the construction phase of the 
development. 

6. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015. The condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development to ensure that appropriate measures are in place to manage vehicles 

Page 268

8



associated with the development accessing and egressing from the Wintersells Business 
Park safely. 

7. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015. 

8. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015.

9. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015.

10. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015.

11. In order to be meet the objectives of Section 9 ‘Promoting Sustainable Transport’ of the 
NPPF 2019. 

12. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015. 

13. In order that the development does not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience 
to other highway users to comply with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
CS25 of the Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011 and Policy DM7 of the Elmbridge Development 
Management Plan 2015. 

14. In the interest of local amenity and to comply with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and 
Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

15. To comply with the terms of the application and in the interest of the local environment and 
amenity, in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the 
Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

16. In order to retain proper planning control over the development and in the interests of 
safeguarding the environment and amenity of local residents and businesses in the vicinity 
of the site, in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the 
Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

Page 269

8



17. To comply with the terms of the application and in the interests of the local environment 
and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of 
the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

18. To comply with the terms of the application and in the interests of the local environment 
and amenity to prevent windblown litter, and to comply with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 
2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

19. In the interest of local amenity and to comply with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and 
Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

20. In order to retain proper planning control over the development and in the interest of 
safeguarding the environment and amenity of local residents and businesses in the vicinity 
of the site in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the 
Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

21. To enable the County Planning Authority to exercise control over the development and to 
minimise its impact on the amenities of the local area, and local environment in accordance 
with Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008. 

22. To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste 
Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

23. To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste 
Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

24. To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste 
Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

25. To ensure the minimum disturbance for noise and avoid nuisance to nearby businesses 
and their on-site-employees and nearby residential properties and their occupiers in 
accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge 
Development Management Plan 2015.

26. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015.

27. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015. 

28. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015.

29. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015.

Page 270

8



30. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015.

31. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015.

32. In the interests of the local environment and amenity, and to comply with Policy DC3 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 
2015.

33. No such details have been provided and are necessary in order to retain proper planning 
control over the development and in the interests of safeguarding the environment and 
local amenity in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of 
the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

34. To ensure the implementation and maintenance of the landscaping and ecological 
enhancements for the long-term visual amenities of the area, in accordance with Policy 
DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policies CS1 and CS17 of the Elmbridge Core 
Strategy 2011 and Policies DM2 and DM6 of the Elmbridge Development Management 
Plan 2015. 

35. In the interest of the local environment and to ensure the final drainage design meets the 
national Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDs and does not increase flood risk on 
or off site, to comply with Policies DC2 and DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, Policy 
DM5 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015 and Policy CS26 of the 
Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011. The condition is required prior to the commencement of the 
development to ensure that appropriate measures are in place to manage the surface 
water drainage from the development.

36. To ensure the drainage system is constructed to the National Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for SuDs, to comply with Policies DC2 and DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008, 
Policy DM5 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015 and Policy CS26 of the 
Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011. 

37. No such details have been provided and are necessary in order to retain proper planning 
control over the development and in the interests of safeguarding the environment and 
local amenity in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of 
the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

38. No such details have been provided and are necessary in order to retain proper planning 
control over the development and in the interests of safeguarding the environment and 
local amenity in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of 
the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015.

39. No such details have been provided and are necessary in order to retain proper planning 
control over the development and in the interests of safeguarding the environment and 
local amenity in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of 
the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015. 

Page 271

8



40. No such details have been provided and are necessary in order to retain proper planning 
control over the development and in the interests of safeguarding the environment and 
local amenity in accordance with Policy DC3 Surrey Waste Plan 2008 and Policy DM2 of 
the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015. 

41. To ensure that any risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with 
Paragraphs 170 and 178 of the NPPF 2019, Policy DC3 of the Surrey Waste Plan 2008 
and Policy DM5 of the Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015. The condition is 
required prior to the commencement of the development to ensure that appropriate 
measures are in place to manage the contamination risk from the development.

Informatives:

1. The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried from the site 
and deposited on or damage the highway from uncleaned wheels or badly loaded vehicles. 
The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to recover any expenses incurred in 
clearing, cleaning or repairing highway surfaces and prosecute persistent offenders 
(Highways Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149). 

2. The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out any works 
(including Stats connections/diversions required by the development itself or the 
associated highway works) on the highway or any works that may affect a drainage 
channel/culvert or water course.  The applicant is advised that a permit and, potentially, a 
Section 278 agreement must be obtained from the Highway Authority before any works are 
carried out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming part of the 
highway. All works (including Stats connections/diversions required by the development 
itself or the associated highway works) on the highway will require a permit and an 
application will need to submitted to the County Council's Street Works Team up to 3 
months in advance of the intended start date, depending on the scale of the works 
proposed and the classification of the road. Please see  http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/roads-
and-transport/road-permits-and-licences/the-traffic-management-permit-scheme. The 
applicant is also advised that Consent may be required under Section 23 of the Land 
Drainage Act 1991. Please see www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-and-community/emergency-
planning-and-community-safety/flooding-advice.

3. It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the electricity supply is sufficient to 
meet the future demands and that any power balancing technology is in place if required. 
Please refer to http://www.beama.org.uk/resourceLibrary/beama-guide-to-electric-vehicle-
infrastructure.html for guidance and further information on charging modes and connector 
types. 

4. If proposed site works affect an Ordinary Watercourse, Surrey County Council as the Lead 
Local Flood Authority should be contacted to obtain prior written consent. More details are 
available on our website. 

Page 272

8



5. If proposed works result in infiltration of surface water to ground within a Source Protection 
Zone the Environment Agency will require proof of surface water treatment to achieve 
water quality standards. 

6. The Noise Sensitive Receptors (NSR) referred to in Condition 22 are those residential 
properties located to the north-west of the application site on the A318 Oyster Lane 
(No.136 Oyster Lane), to the north of the application site on Westfield Parade (Nos 4-7) 
and those to the south-west at the entrance to the Wintersells Road Business Park 
(No.132-126 Oyster Lane). 

7. Please be aware that buildings constructed before 2000 may contain asbestos and a 
suitable asbestos survey should be undertaken before any redevelopment commences. If 
materials containing asbestos are present on the site, a written Plan for either removal of 
the Asbestos Containing Materials (ACMs) from the building or management of the ACMs 
within the building is required by the Health and Safety Executive. This is to ensure that the 
material is not broken up or left on site and does not pose a health risk to site workers, 
future occupants or neighbouring residents. The enforcing authority with regard to 
asbestos on demolition and construction sites is the Health and Safety Executive and 
advice is available at http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos. 

8. A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is 
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provision of the Water Industry Act 
1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will undertake to 
minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries should be 
directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by 
emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should be 
completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk. Please refer to the Wholesale; Business 
customers; Groundwater discharges section. 

9. The applicant is reminded that where the developer proposes to discharge to a public 
sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you 
require further information please refer to the Thames Water website 
https://developers.tahmeswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Apply-and-pay-for-
services/Wastewater-services. A Trade Effluent Consent will also be required for any 
Effluent discharge other than a ‘Domestic Discharge’. Any discharge without this consent is 
illegal and may result in prosecution. Typically Trade Effluent Processes include: 
laundrette/laundry, PCB manufacture, commercial swimming pools, photographic/printing, 
food preparation, abattoir, farm waters, vehicle washing, metal plating/finishing, cattle 
market wash down, chemical manufacture, treated cooling water and any other process 
which produces contaminated water. Pre-treatment, separate metering, sampling access 
etc. may be required before the company can give consent. Applications should be made 
at https://wholesale.thameswater.co.uk/Wholesale-services /Business-customers/Trade-
Effluent or alternatively to Waste Water Quality, Crossness STW, Belvedere Road, 
Abbeywood, London, SE2 9AQ. Telephone: 020 3577 9200. 

10. The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended 
(Section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while 
that nest is in use or is being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a 
defence against prosecution under this Act. 

Page 273

8



Trees and scrub are likely to contain nesting birds between 1 March and 31 August 
inclusive. Trees and scrub are present on the application site and are assumed to contain 
nesting birds between the above dates, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a 
competent ecologist to assess the nesting bird activity during this period and shown it is 
absolutely certain that nesting birds are not present. 

11. The Applicant’s attention is drawn to the potential need to modify the existing 
Environmental Permit for the site prior to the commencement of any works. 

12. In determining this application the County Planning Authority has worked positively and 
proactively with the applicant by assessing the proposals against relevant Development 
Plan policies and the National Planning Policy Framework including its associated planning 
practice guidance. Further, the County Planning Authority has identified all material 
considerations, liaised with consultees, considered representations from interested parties 
and determined the application within the timeframe agreed with the applicant. This 
approach has been in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019.

CONTACT 
Katie Rayner
TEL. NO.
020 8541 9322

BACKGROUND PAPERS
The deposited application documents and plans, including those amending or clarifying the 
proposal, responses to consultations and representations received as referred to in the report and 
included in the application file and the following: 

Government Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework 
Planning Practice Guidance

The Development Plan 
Surrey Waste Plan 2008
Aggregates Recycling Joint DPD 2013
Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 1 – Policies
Emerging Surrey Waste Local Plan Part 2 - Sites
Elmbridge Core Strategy 2011
Elmbridge Development Management Plan 2015

Other Documents 

Environment Protection UK (EPUK)/Institute of Air Quality Management (IQAM) Land-Use 
Planning & Development Control: Planning For Air Quality
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) Volume 11, 2007 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges, Volume 5 1993
Institute of Environmental Management and Auditing (IEMA) ‘Guidelines for Environmental 
Assessment of Road Traffic’ 1993. 
Department for Transport Road, Traffic Statistics

Page 274

8

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/environment-housing-and-planning/minerals-and-waste-policies-and-plans/surrey-waste-plan-adopted-plan
http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/environment-housing-and-planning/minerals-and-waste-policies-and-plans/aggregates-recycling-joint-development-plan-document


Elmbridge Design and Character Supplementary Planning Document 
Annual Air Quality Status Report for Elmbridge Borough Council (2019)
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) document “Guidance on the Assessment of Dust from 
Demolition and Construction 2014
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) Guidance on the ‘Assessment of Odour for Planning’ 
2018
Noise Policy Statement for England (2010),
Institute of Lighting Engineers for the reduction of obstructive light (2020)
Environment Agency Policy Paper on the flood alleviation scheme for Byfleet and Weybridge 
(2019)
Good Practice Advice in Planning 2: Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic 
Environment
Good Practice Advice in Planning 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets

Page 275

8

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa2-managing-significance-in-decision-taking/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa2-managing-significance-in-decision-taking/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/


Page 276

8



Application Site Area

Page 277

8



This page is intentionally left blank



B

D

A

C

Metal bay

Light
wastes

Hardcore
bay

Waste
reception bay

Bunded fuel
tankMRF feed

hopper

Plasterboard

bay

Proposed powder coated
mesh fencing (2.4m high)

Flip-flow
screen

Fines clean
up bay (1)

Fines clean
up bay (2)

Fines clean
up bay (3)

Fines clean
up bay (4)

Fines clean
up bay (5)

Reverse
conveyor

Conveyor

Picking
bay (1)

Picking
bay (2)

Picking
bay (3)

Picking
bay (4)

Picking
bay (5)

Picking
bay (6)

Carpet

bay

Overspill
bay (1)

Overspill
bay (2)

Wood bay

17.58m open front
(south-east facing)

20m diameter
turning circle

Existing 2-storey
office building

(to be retained)

2.5m concrete block
wall (to be retained)

2.5m concrete block
wall with 1m barbed
wire (to be retained)

Existing 2.5m brick
wall (to be removed)

Existing building
(to be demolished)

Existing post and
wire fence to be

removed

Existing security
light on office

Proposed light
facing down on
top of building

Proposed light
facing down on
top of building

Existing lighting
column

Existing access to
be retained

Existing access
for staff/visitors

North-east
boundary open

Title:

Client:

Site:

Date:

Printed at:

Client No: Job No:

Drawing No:

Drawn by: Checked:

Scale:
PROPOSED LAYOUT PLAN

3843/2410/04

1:200

Oaktree Environmental Ltd
Waste Management and Environmental Consultants

Lime House, Road Two, Winsford, Cheshire CW7 3QZ
Tel: 01606 558833   E-mail: sales@oaktree-environmental.co.uk

2410 3843

CP

21 November 2019
Revision:

M

Weybridge Skip Hire Ltd

Units 11 & 12, Wintersells Road, Byfleet, Surry KT14 7LF

Revision Details:
Rev: Init: Description: Date:

M CP Updated drainage information 21/11/19

NOTES:

1. Drawing is for indication only.
2. All measurements must be verified on site.
3. For details of the proposed lighting, please refer to Document Ref.
3843-2410-G

Reproduced with the permission of the controller of H.M.S.O. Crown copyright licence No. 100015148

A2

Key:

Application boundary

Other land within applicant's ownership

Waste storage areas

Non-waste storage areas

Waste recycling building

Concrete surface (sealed)

Other buildings / offices

Foul / dirty water drainage

Surface water / clean drainage

Surface & foul gully

Surface and foul manhole

Existing / proposed lighting

0.28m high, 0.24m wide brick wall

2.4m high powder coated mesh fence with
0.5m high razor wire on top

0.75m wide planting strip

Existing access to
be retained

Proposed NSPBP006
Bypass oil separator

Vehicle wash bay

Proposed aco or u-channel
drain to seal access

Proposed aco or
u-channel drain
to seal access

Parking for cycles
(Sheffield Stand)

0   m 1 0   m 2 0   m

S c a l e   B a r   ( 1 : 2 0 0 )

Connection to
foul sewer on
Wintersells Rd

Legio block
walls

Legio block
walls

Grade A - C
wood bays

Plastic
(UPVC) bay

Paper/cardboard

Deposited by fan blower
and bay enclosed by steel

cage to prevent litter

Hardcore falls
off end of
conveyor

Other plastic

Deposited by
overband
magnet

Rejected waste skip -
odourous waste will not

be stored in this skip

Empty skip
storage area

Concrete floor
inside site

2.4m high
powder coated
mesh fencing

0.75m wide tree planting strip
(planting type and height can be

agreed with LPA)

South-east boundary elevation (not to scale)

Existing
footpath

Extend brick
wall and

planting strip

End of current
brick wall and
planting strip

0.5m barbed
wire

0.24m wide,
0.28m high
brick wall

Soft landscaping

Soft landscaping

Proposed brick
wall (see key)

Proposed fencing
(see key)

Proposed
landscaping (see key)

Example of powder coated
mesh fence and brick wall

Access gates to
match same
material as

proposed fencing

Access gates to
match same
material as

proposed fencing

Clean water from building and
office block and  roof to drain into a

77.3m3 (9.2m x 7m x 1.2m)
underground attenuation tank

Connection to surface water
sewer on Wintersells Rd

Flow control device comprising perforated riser with 12 no. 22mm
diameter holes, 4 of which equivalent to tank base, 4 of which

equivalent 0.6m tank depth and remaining 4 of which equivalent to top
of tank. Flow restricted to average of 2 l/s over period of tank filling.

Manhole access for fire water
suppression

A submersible or other suitable pump will be
placed in the tank sump with a riser pipe

connected to a standpipe which will supply
dust suppression inside the building and

externally. The water can also be pumped to
the vehicle washing area

Page 279

8

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
17



This page is intentionally left blank



Oaktree Environmental Ltd
Waste Management and

Environmental Consultants

Lime House, Road Two

Winsford Industrial Estate

Winsford, Cheshire  CW7 3RY

Tel: 01606 558833    Fax: 01606 861182

E-mail: sales@oaktree-environmental.co.uk

Title:

Drawing No:

Site:

Date: Printed At:

Revision: Drawn By: Checked:

BUILDING ELEVATIONS

9 September 2019 A0

RS/CPB

Client:

-
Job No: Client No:

3843 2410

Scale:
1:100

Rev Description Date

- Initial drawing 07/03/18

Dimensions shown are in millimetres unless otherwise specified.

Only building elevations are shown - no other features on site or on
surrounding sites are shown.

The new transfer building will be constructed using steel portal
frames and steel cladding to sides and roof.

The colour of the cladding will be Merlin Grey (BS 18B25)or
Goosewing Grey (BSW10A05) in order to blend in with surrounding
properties.

Existing industrial

warehouse building

(to be demolished)

Existing 2-storey office

building (to be retained)

Existing industrial

warehouse building

(to be demolished)

Existing industrial

warehouse building

(to be demolished)

Existing 2-storey office

building (to be retained)

New waste

handling building

New picking line

Blower unit

Conveyor

Overband

magnet

Concrete bays

Existing 2-storey

office building

(to be retained)

Existing 2-storey

office building

(to be retained)

Existing 2-storey

office building

(to be retained)

Existing 2-storey

office building

(to be retained)

Existing 2-storey office

building (to be retained)

Existing industrial

warehouse building

(to be demolished)

New waste

handling building

New waste

handling building

New waste handling building

(Note: the internal plant layout

is not shown as configuration

may be subject to change)

New picking line
Blower unit

Conveyor

Overband

magnet

Concrete bays

ELEVATION A
(EXISTING)

ELEVATION A
(PROPOSED)

ELEVATION D
(EXISTING)

ELEVATION D
(PROPOSED)

ELEVATION B
(EXISTING)

ELEVATION B
(PROPOSED)

ELEVATION C
(EXISTING)

ELEVATION C
(PROPOSED)

3843/2410/05

Weybridge Skip Hire Ltd

Units 11 & 12, Wintersells Road, Byfleet, Surrey KT14 7LF

New picking line

Concrete bays

Blower unit

Conveyor

Steel sheeted

cladding

A Amended for planning submission 13/11/18

Security light

Security light
Security light

Existing

security light

Existing

security light

OPEN FRONTED FACING

SOUTH EAST

Lights cage

B Amended elevation B 09/09/19

P
age 281

8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Oaktree Environmental Ltd
Waste Management and

Environmental Consultants

Lime House, 2 Road Two

Winsford Industrial Estate

Winsford, Cheshire  CW7 3QZ

Tel: 01606 558833

E-mail: sales@oaktree-environmental.co.uk

Title:

Drawing No:

Site:

Date:

Scale:

Printed At:

Revision:

Job No: Checked:

SENSITIVE RECEPTOR PLAN

3843/2410/07

11 November 2018 A3

3843

-

Revision Details:
Rev: Description: Date:

Client:

1:10,000

- Initial drawing 13/11/18

Drawn By:
CP

Client No:
2410

Notes:

(1) Boundaries are shown indicatively.
(2) Wind rose data shows the prevailing

wind direction to be SW.

WSHL

0 m 500 m

Scale Bar (1:10,000)

100 200 300 400

Compass Wind Rose for Manchester INTL (EGCC)
Period 2010-2018

KEY:

Permit boundary

River Ditch (Main River)

Watercourse i.e. ditch, stream, river

Workplaces (includes agriculture
industry, commerce and retail)

Surrounding industrial / commercial
areas and properties

        Residential blocks

                   Class A, B, C roads

                   Nearest fire hydrant

        Railway line

        School

        Woodland areas

SCH

H

SCH

Basingstoke Canal
(Main River)

River Wey
(Main River)

Nearest Residential
Properties

M25 Motorway

Railway
Station

Grade II Listed
Buildings

H

Units 11 & 12, Wintersells Road,
Byfleet, Surrey KT14 7LF

Weybridge Skip Hire Ltd

200m

400m

600m

800m

1,000m

Page 283

8



This page is intentionally left blank



2019 Aerial Photos

Application Number : EL18/3802

Aerial 1 :   Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road, Byfleet

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 285

8



2019 Aerial Photos

Application Number : EL18/3802

Aerial 2 :   Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road, Byfleet

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 286

8



2019 Aerial Photos

Application Number : EL18/3802

Aerial 3 :   Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road, Byfleet

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 287

8



2019 Aerial Photos

Application Number : EL18/3802

Aerial 4 :   Units 11 and 12, Wintersells Road, Byfleet

All boundaries are approximate

Wintersells Business Park

M25

(between

J10 – J11)

Low Railway Bridge

New Haw & Byfleet Train Station

Brooklands Industrial Estate

Brooklands Disused Airfield

Brooklands Motor

Racing Circuit
(Scheduled Monument)

Brooklands Business Park

A318 Oyster Lane
Byfleet Primary School

Byfleet Industrial Estate

P
age 288

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 1:   View of Units 11 and 12 looking north-west.

Unit 11
Unit 12

P
age 289

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 2:   View to the east of the application site towards 

the cul-de-sac off Wintersells Road, looking north. 

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 290

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 3 :   View of Office Building on Unit 12 to be retained.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 291

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 4 :  View of building on Unit 11 to be demolished.

All boundaries are approximate

Existing site boundary treatment

P
age 292

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 5: View of existing yard area to the south of Unit 11.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 293

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 6: Further view of existing yard area on Unit 11.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 294

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 7 :   View of existing yard area looking east.   

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 295

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 8: View of existing open area to the rear of Unit 12, 

looking north-west (location of proposed recycling building). 

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 296

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 9: View of turning circle at the end of the cul-se-sac 

to the north-east of the application site.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 297

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 10 :   View looking north-east towards the 

application site from Wintersells Road. 

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 298

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 11 :   View of the existing boundary treatment to the 

south of the application site on Wintersells Road,  looking west.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 299

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 12:   View from Wintersells Road looking north-east 

towards Unit 10 PM Skips.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 300

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 13 :   Long view of Wintersells Road looking west. 

All boundaries are approximate

Brooklands Industrial 

Estate
Hyundai Service Centre

P
age 301

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 14 :   Further view of Wintersells Road 

within the Wintersells Business Park.

All boundaries are approximate

Brooklands Industrial 

Estate

P
age 302

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 15:   View of the approach from Wintersells Road of 

the access with the A318 Oyster Lane, looking west.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 303

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 16: View of the junction of Wintersells Business Park 

with the A318 Oyster Lane, looking south. 

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 304

8



Application Number : EL18/3802

Photo 17: View of the junction of the Wintersells Business Park 

with the  A318 Oyster Lane, looking north.

All boundaries are approximate

P
age 305

8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ITEM NO. 

TO: PLANNING & REGULATORY COMMITTEE DATE:  

BY: HEAD OF LEGAL & DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

DISTRICT (S): WAVERLEY   ELECTORAL DIVISION:
WAVERLEY EASTERN 
VILLAGES
Victoria Young

PURPOSE: FOR DECISION

TITLE: APPLICATION TO RECTIFY THE REGISTER OF COMMON LAND.
LAND AT THE HALLAMS, LITTLEFORD LANE, BLACKHEATH, GUILDFORD

SUMMARY REPORT

The committee is asked to consider whether or not to remove the land the subject of 
this application from the commons register. 

Application to rectify the register of common land by CA Collins and RPH Turner (the 
Applicants) dated 11 May 2016 relating to land at The Hallams, Littleford Lane, 
Blackheath, Guildford (CL 435).

The County Council is the Commons Registration Authority under the Commons 
Registration Act 1965 and the Commons Act 2006 which administers the Registers of 
Common Land and Town or Village Greens. Under Section 22: Schedule 2(6) of the 
2006 Act the County Council is able to deregister a building wrongly registered as 
common land on application.

The recommendation is:
a) that the Applicants be permitted to amend the application; and
b) the application to deregister the land shown hatched blue on the 

amended application plan (Annexe B) be accepted

APPLICATION DETAILS

Applicants
Carol Collins and Richard Turner

Land
Land at The Hallams, Littleford Lane, Blackheath, Guildford

Date of Application
№ 1876:  11 May 2016.

ILLUSTRATIVE MATERIAL

Annexe A: Plan of Land submitted with application (Appendix 1 of the Inspector’s 
report)

Page 307

9

Item 9



Annexe B: Amended application plan (Appendix 2 of the Inspector’s report)
Annexe C: Inspector’s report dated 20 January 2020 and Appendices

Site photographs

Figure 1: Front Aspect
Figure 2: Rear Aspect

BACKGROUND

1. On 17 May 2016 Surrey County Council received an application to rectify the register 
of common land relating to CL 435 by the removal of the land at The Hallams, 
Littleford Lane, Blackheath. The application was made on the basis that on the date 
of the provisional registration the land was covered by a building or was within the 
curtilage of a building. The application was accompanied by various documents in 
support of the application. 

2. The Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2014 sets out the process to be 
followed by any applicant seeking to deregister a building wrongly registered as 
common land and the process to be followed by the Commons Registration 
Authority. Under Regulation 21(1) (b), the Registration Authority must serve notice of 
an application on anyone who has previously asked to be informed of all applications. 

3. A public notice was placed on the application land and on the County Council’s 
website on 2 August 2016 with an objection period running from 2 August 2016 until 
13 September 2016. The application was placed on public deposit at Bramley 
Community Library.

4. An objection to the application was received from the Open Spaces Society and one 
other (the Objectors). It was not clear from the evidence provided with the application 
whether the Land met the criteria for removal from the register. Legal opinion was 
sought and a view was taken that an independent investigation be conducted. This 
was to enable the County Council, as Commons Registration Authority, to discharge 
its statutory duty. 

5. The legal opinion was circulated to the Applicants and Objectors. The Applicants 
submitted an amended application plan on 31 May 2019. 

6. A barrister specialising in the law relating to commons registration was instructed to 
act as an independent inspector. The investigation took the form of a site visit and 
written representations. The site visit took place on 16 October 2019. The Inspector 
submitted his report to the Commons Registration Officer on 20 January 2020. 
(Annexe C).

7. The Commons Registration Officer is therefore now placing this matter before 
members for consideration.

CONSULTATIONS AND PUBLICITY

Borough/District Council

Waverley Borough Council No views received

Page 308

9



Consultees (Statutory and Non Statutory)

The Open Spaces Society: Objection received

Local Residents – adjoining properties: No views received

Rights of Way No objection

Land & Assets – 
Countryside Management Comments received

County Highways Authority – No views received
Highways Information Team

Regulation 21(1) (b) consultees Objection received

Summary of publicity undertaken

8. Documents placed on public deposit at local library. No representations have been 
received in response to this publicity other than those listed above. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

9. The process of determining the application is met from existing budgets.

The management of the land will continue to be the responsibility of the owners.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

10. In determining an application, a registration authority must have regard to its general 
statutory duties under the following provisions: 

i. in exercising its functions, to have regard, so far as is consistent with 
the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving 
biodiversity (section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006);

ii. its duty (in relation to any land designated as a site of special scientific 
interest) to take reasonable steps, consistent with the proper exercise 
of its functions, to further the conservation and enhancement of the 
flora, fauna or geological or physiographical features by reason of 
which the site is of special scientific interest (section 28G of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981); 

iii. its duty to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats Directives 
so far as they may be affected by the exercise of those functions; and

iv. its duty (in relation to an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty) to have 
regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty 
of the area of outstanding natural beauty (section 85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000).

Page 309

9



Defra guidance suggests that there will seldom be circumstances in which the 
registration authority’s decision to grant or refuse an application is subject to 
discretion which may be influenced by the duties referred to above.

The Council’s Countryside Team were consulted on the application and commented 
that: “Whilst it is clear that the house and its residential curtilage may have been 
registered in error, the western part of the application site is open land forming part of 
the Blackheath Site of Special Scientific Interest [SSSI]…”

However, the amended application plan excludes the western part of the land 
included in the original application plan and there is now only a very slight overlap 
with the SSSI on the western boundary of the application site. 

Given the nature of the land in the amended application plan, which includes a 
substantial house and garden land, but excludes the unmanaged woodland, the 
officer’s view is that the duties outlined above should not, in this instance, be 
overriding factors where the criteria for deregistration in the legislation is met. 

EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

11. It is not considered that an Equalities Impact Assessment is required or that there are 
any equalities and diversity implications. 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

Public Authorities are required to act, as far as possible, compatibly with the 
European Convention on Human Rights, now enforceable in English Courts by way 
of the Human Rights Act 1998. The officer’s view is that this proposal will have no 
adverse impact on public amenity and has no human rights implications.

ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY

12. Surrey County Council is the Commons Registration Authority under the Commons 
Registration Act 1965 and the Commons Act 2006 which administers the Registers of 
Common Land and Town or Village Greens. Before the Commons Registration 
Authority is an application (№ 1876) made by Ms Collins and Mr Turner, under the 
Commons Act 2006, to have land at The Hallams, Littleford Lane, Blackheath, 
removed from the register of common land. The original application Land is identified 
on the plan appended to the application (Annexe A).

13. The Open Spaces Society and one other opposed the application.

14. For an application to succeed, the criteria set out in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 2 must 
be met:-

a) the land was provisionally registered as common land under section 4 of 
the 1965 Act;

b) on the date of the provisional registration the land was covered by a 
building or was within the curtilage of a building;

Page 310

9



c) the provisional registration became final; and

d) since the date of the provisional registration the land has at all times been, 
and still is, covered by a building or within the curtilage of a building.

15. The land was provisionally registered as common land on 24 September 1968 under 
Unit CL 435 and the registration became final on 1 August 1972.

16. From the date of provisional registration, the land must have been covered by a 
building or within the curtilage of a building. 

17. The evidence submitted by the Applicants included a report by a heritage consultant 
who investigated the building curtilage. Following the objections the Applicants 
submitted a new plan showing a smaller area to be removed from the register. The 
boundaries of the new application land are shown on the plan at Annexe B.

18. The Inspector recommended that the Commons Registration Authority (CRA) agree 
to an alteration of the extent of the application land from that relied on when the 
application was first made. 

19. The Inspector’s reasoning is given in paragraphs 26 and 27 of his report. He 
concluded that:

“…In the circumstances, whilst it would admittedly be useful to clarify, once and for 
all, the status of the woodland I am disinclined to recommend to the CRA that it 
should do so on the basis of the evidence presented to the CRA. The sensible 
course is, I think, to allow the amendment and to deal with the application in its 
amended form and to leave it to the As [Applicants] to pursue a further application in 
relation to the woodland if they are minded to do so…”

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

20. The Inspector’s report contained the following conclusions: - 

1. I am satisfied that the AL1 is the proper building curtilage of The Hallams. It 
represents the historic garden curtilage and even today this is the area which can 
sensibly be said to be ancillary to the main house.

2. The land to the west of the AL is, as Mr Craddock rightly says, more of a 
wilderness and a buffer between Littleford Lane and the publicly accessible heath 
to the north, and the main house and gardens. For one thing, the nature of its use 
is quite different and, for another, the area up to the Littleford Lane is, as it seems 
to me, physically remote from the AL. It is not as if such land is even necessary 
or useful to the main house and surrounding garden curtilage. For instance, it is 
not as if we are dealing with stabling and associated buildings within a courtyard 
or other outbuildings near the main house where, in terms of function, there 
would be an obvious association with the main house. 

3. Accordingly, it is my recommendation to the CRA that the application to de-
register the land shown hatched blue on the plan at Appendix 2 is justified on the 

1 AL is defined in the Inspector’s report as the Application Land shown on the plan at Appendix 2 of 
his report (paragraph 3.2) being the amended application plan. 

Page 311

9



evidence presented by As and on the basis of my own inspection of the site. It 
follows that the commons registration within reference CL 435 should be adjusted 
by the removal of such land from the registration. 

The Inspector’s recommendation to the Registration Authority is that the land shown 
hatched blue on the amended application plan at Annexe B should be removed from 
the register of common land because, on the evidence, it meets the criteria required 
in Section 22: Schedule 2(6) of the Commons Act 2006 for the reasons explained in 
detail in the Inspector’s report dated 20 January 2020.

21. Therefore, Officers recommend that:

a) the Applicants be permitted to amend the application; and
b) the application to deregister the land shown hatched blue on the 

amended application plan (Annexe B) be accepted.

CONTACT
HELEN GILBERT, COMMONS REGISTRATION OFFICER.
TEL. NOS.
020 8541 8935 / 07890 317154

BACKGROUND PAPERS
All documents quoted in the report.

GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE

Correcting the Commons Registers
Guidance for Commons Registration Authorities

Page 312

9

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/commons-registration-authorities-correct-mistakes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-registers-for-commons-registration-authorities-and-the-planning-inspectorate


Annexe A - Plan of land submitted with the 
application

Page 313

9



Annexe B - Amended application plan

Page 314

9



1 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL 

APPLICATION TO REMOVE LAND KNOWN AS THE HALLAMS, 

LITTLEFORD LANE, BLACKHEATH, Nr GUILDFORD FROM 

THE REGISTER OF COMMON LAND 

PROCEEDING UNDER REFERENCE NUMBER 1876 

___________________________________________________________________ 

INSPECTOR’S REPORT 

Introduction 

1. I am instructed by Surrey County Council in its capacity as commons

registration authority (CRA). This report contains my advice and

recommendation to the CRA on whether grounds exist which require it to

accede to an application to de-register land falling within reference CL 435.

2. The application concerns a substantial Grade II listed property set in the

Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty with gardens and grounds

extending to around 12.4 acres. The application was made on the Form CA13

dated 11 May 2016 by Carol Collins and Richard Turner as registered

freehold proprietors of The Hallams whose postal address is Littleford Lane,

Blackheath, Guildford GU4 8QZ, and whose interest is registered under title

numbers SY390135 and SY503275. The applicants (As) purchased The

Hallams in 2013.

3. The Hallams is located in the countryside outside the village of Blackheath. In

broad terms, roughly half the land (the western half) consists of extensive

woodland acting as a buffer between the main house and Littleford Lane in

the west and the publicly-accessible heath to the north. As an aid to

Annexe C - Inspector's report

Page 315

9



2 
 

identifying the affected land, reference should be made to the plans in the 

appendices.  

3.1 At Appendix 1 there is a recent plan (produced by As) on which the entirety of 

the registered common land is shown cross-hatched blue. 

3.2 At Appendix 2 there is another recent plan (also produced by As) showing 

cross-hatched blue the land which they claim should be de-registered. This 

land will be referred to herein as the application land (AL). The land to the 

west of the AL is unmanaged woodland whereas the AL includes the main 

house and garden and its various outbuildings as well as the main access.     

4. This application is made under the Commons Act 2006, Sch.2, at paragraph 

6, which enables land to be de-registered as common land in circumstances 

where land was registered under the default procedure contained in the  

Commons Registration Act 1965.  

5. An application made under Sch.2, paragraph 6, enables land to be de-

registered as common land where (a) the land was provisionally registered as 

common land under the Commons Registration Act 1965 (as it was in this 

case on 24 September 1968); (b) on that date the land was covered by a 

building or was within the curtilage of a building (the main house – The 

Hallams – was built in 1894-95); (c) the provisional registration became final 

(which occurred here on 1 August 1972); and (d) that since 1968 the relevant 

land has been covered by a building or else has been within the curtilage 

of a building. 

6. As the above highlighting implies, the core issue on the application is whether 

the curtilage of the main house is accurately represented by the boundaries 

shown on the plan at Appendix 2?  

7. This was originally a registration of rights of common. However, these rights 

were released by the applicant commoner in 1978 from which it follows that 

the AL is currently a registered common but with no subsisting rights of 

common thereon. Whether the public enjoys access over the registered 

common is not within the scope of this advice but it is perhaps worth 

Page 316

9



3 
 

mentioning that the rights of the public in relation to access land under the 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, Pt.1, are subject to the exceptions 

contained in Sch.1 to that Act of which those mentioned in para 2 (land 

covered by buildings or within the curtilage of such land) and para 4 (land 

used as a park or garden) would no doubt be of interest to the landowner.     

The legal framework 

8. It was a deficiency of the 1965 Act that registrations of common land and 

common rights could become final by default even though the land was never 

common land or the rights never existed. Furthermore, regulations made 

under the 1965 Act did not even provide for sufficient notification to the public 

of applications made for provisional registration of common land and rights of 

common. This meant that many provisional registrations became final without 

objection and thus without any independent review of the original application. 

The Court of Appeal has found (Corpus Christi College v Gloucestershire CC 

[1982] 3 All ER 995) that the 1965 Act provided no mechanism to enable land 

to be removed from the register once the registration became final even 

where the land had clearly been wrongly registered as common land. The 

likelihood of this happening was exacerbated by the fact that there was no 

provision for notifying the landowner that an application for registration had 

been made. Particular problems arose when registration included back 

gardens or even buildings, as arises in this instance. The result was that 

although the 1965 Act made provision for alteration of the register arising from 

events occurring after 1970, no such provision was made to overcome 

mistakes made in the course of the original registration process. 

9. Provision for rectifying registers (i.e. de-registration) was initially made in the 

Common Land (Rectification of Registers) Act 1989, but the Act only applied 

in the case of land on which there was a dwelling-house or land which was 

ancillary to a dwelling-house. For the purposes of the 1989 Act, land ancillary 

to a dwelling-house was taken to mean a garden, private garage or 

outbuildings used and enjoyed with the dwelling (s.1(3)). There are two useful 

authorities on the 1989 Act (under which any application had to be made by 

Page 317

9



4 
 

mid-1992), namely Cresstock Investments Ltd v Commons Commissioner 

[1992] 1 WLR 1088, and Re Land at Freshfields (1993) 66 P&CR 9. 

10. It is plain from these cases that the expressions used in the 1998 Act were to 

be construed liberally having regard to the purposes of the Act which was the 

remedying of inadvertent expropriation or dedication of public use. So it was 

that in Cresstock a registration was cancelled in the case of a little over an 

acre of garden land which was found to be overgrown woodland which was 

quite separate from the dwelling which was surrounded by a well-cultivated 

lawn and flower beds. The view taken was that the fact that ownership of the 

land had passed with the house since 1933 raised a presumption that the land 

was ancillary to the house as part of its garden and there was no evidence to 

rebut that presumption. Although it is quite true that we are dealing, in this 

instance, with a substantial residence dating from a period when large 

gardens were commoner than they are today, Judge Paul Baker QC in 

Cresstock on p.1093 at C, noted 

 that it may be that the grounds associated and held with a house are so extensive that they 

could not be said to be ancillary to it.  

 The Freshfields’ case involved two fields (which had been used at times for 

cattle grazing or the growing of hay) adjoining the applicant’s home but 

separated from it by a high and overgrown hedge. The Commissioner and, on 

appeal, the court ruled that the fields could not be described as a garden 

within the meaning of s.1(3) of the 1989 Act.    

11. One then turns to the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 which, at s.1(5)(b), extends the meaning of a listed building to ‘any 

object or structure within the curtilage of a building which, although not fixed 

to the building, forms part of the land and has done so since before July 1, 

1948 .. ’. In AG, ex rel. Sutcliffe v Calderdale BC [1983] JPL 310, the Court of 

Appeal held that a terrace of cottages which had been constructed as mill-

workers’ dwellings adjacent to, and linked by a bridge to, a mill which was 

now a listed building, was within the curtilage of the mill and thus included in 

the listing by virtue of s.1(5). In Morris v Wrexham County Borough Council 

[2002] 2 P&CR 7 the High Court derived from the various authorities the 

Page 318

9



5 
 

principle that building A is within the curtilage of building B if (a) the buildings 

are sufficiently close and accessible to one another; and (b) in terms of 

function, building A is ancillary to building B. In the same year the Court of 

Appeal ruled in Skerrits of Nottingham Ltd v SSETR [2000] 2 PLR 102, that it 

was not an essential feature of a curtilage that it be small, and that in the 

context of the 1990 Act, the curtilage of a substantial listed building was likely 

to extend to what were, or had been, in terms of ownership and function, 

ancillary buildings (such as, for instance, stabling and associated buildings 

within a courtyard or other outbuildings near the main house and might even 

extend to statues in a closely managed garden or terrace). Accordingly, in 

Skerrits the Court of Appeal ruled that a stable block some 200m away from 

the listed building fell within the curtilage of that property.   

12. In Challenge Fencing Ltd v Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and 

Local Government [2019] EHHC 553 (Admin) (which concerned a decision by 

an inspector on the scope of an industrial building in the context of permitted 

development under Pt.7, Class J) the court summarised the applicable 

principles (as set out below) when determining the extent of the curtilage of a 

building. 

 (a) The extent of the curtilage was a question of fact and degree. 

 (b) The physical layout and the past and present ownership and use of the 

 land or buildings had to be taken into account. 

 (c) The relative sizes of the building and its claimed curtilage were 

 relevant. 

 (d) Whether, in terms of ownership and use, the building or land within the 

 claimed curtilage was ancillary to the main building was relevant. 

 (e) The degree to which the building and the claimed curtilage fell within 

 one enclosure was relevant. 

Page 319

9



6 
 

 (f) The relevant date on which to determine the extent of the curtilage was 

 the date of the relevant application, having regard to the past history of 

 the site and its use at the time of the application.   

13. It is then plain that whether a piece of land falls within the curtilage of a 

building involves considerations of physical layout, scale, evidence of the 

nature of the historic uses of the site and of how the use of the main building 

related to the surrounding area. It is also worth noting that the grounds held 

with a house may be so extensive (and especially if such land is also 

unmanaged) that, in terms of function, they could not be said to be ancillary to 

the main building. Moreover, the fact that the wider estate may be held within 

the same title as the land nearer the main building will of itself never be 

enough. 

The site 

14. On 16 October 2019 I visited the site accompanied by officers of the CRA, Mr 

Richard Turner and his barrister, Paul Wilmshurst. It was disappointing that 

neither of the objectors (namely Hugh Craddock on behalf the Open Spaces 

Society and Steve Byrne whom I note lives in Lancashire) felt able to attend 

the site visit which was extremely informative. I also took a number of photos 

which has enabled me to refresh my memory of my visit.     

15. Having started off in front of the main house the group walked in a westerly 

direction on what is a sloping site. The areas on either side of the house 

consist of managed garden and general open space within which there are a 

number of mature trees and obviously comprises part of the immediate 

curtilage of the main house. On the plan at Appendix 1 there is a line running 

inwards from the edge of the southern boundary. Roughly half way along this 

line one finds some steps (albeit taken over by a good deal of plants and soil 

after years of neglect) which allows one to move to a lower level where one 

could see the remnants of what is likely to have been an ornamental wall 

running in a straight line to the southern boundary, as is depicted on the plan 

at Appendix 1. At its southern end there were some abandoned railings and 

features on the ground which, before the onset of fencing and a recently 

Page 320

9



7 
 

planted hedgerow along The Hallams’ southern boundary by As neighbour, 

would have looked out on a picturesque view over a verdant valley landscape. 

16. The remnants of the wall to the south of the steps were more evident than to 

the north and we found no trace of the dogleg shown on the plan where the 

southerly line ends on the plan at Appendix 1. There is, of course, no line at 

all on the plan connecting the two linear lines to the north of the main house 

and the alignment shown on the plan at Appendix 2 is obviously one of 

convenience but is, I think, amply justified in practice to show where the 

westerly curtilage is likely to have ended in the gap between the lines shown 

on the plan. 

17. To the west of the claimed curtilage boundary the land slopes away in a 

landscape which appeared to me to comprise of mainly impenetrable scrub 

and woodland.1 On the western side of the main house the AL is intended to 

align with the linear or feature lines shown on the southern and northern sides 

of the main building on both plans. It is, I think, reasonable to assume that at 

one time an ornamental wall (or something like it) and steps comprised the 

line running into the site from the southern boundary and that the same or 

another similar feature might well have been sited on the ground on the linear 

lines shown on the northern side, the second of which cuts back towards the 

main driveway. It seems probable to me that this would have been the case 

from which it follows that the land to the east of these lines would, at one time, 

have represented the extent of the managed garden on the western side of 

the property.   

18. Despite out best efforts to find some evidence of what these northern lines 

represented on the ground, the land was far too overgrown to find anything of 

interest. We did though see a small levelled off area in the approximate 

location of the square structure shown on the plan in the gap between the 

linear lines. Clearly the managed open space on both sides of the main house 

will have shrunk over the years but I think this is only to be expected. There 

                                            
1 In a letter written to the CRA by As solicitors dated 9 January 2020 they were informed that ‘the composition and nature  
  of the new growth in the woodland is pioneer species that are highly invasive and vigorous in growth. The barriers of 
  bramble, gorse and nettle have been created in a matter of a couple of years (see paragraph 10 of the Statutory  
  Declaration of Carol Collins and paragraph 9 of the Statutory Declaration of Darren Osborne)’.  

Page 321

9



8 
 

was, however, some evidence of active management in the gap between the 

northern edge of the open space on the northern side of the main house and 

the AL boundary on this side.  

19. One further thing that should be mentioned is that the previous access into 

The Hallams would have been roughly via the western edge of the AL through 

a gateway sited roughly due north of the junction of the two northern linear 

lines on the edge of the site on the Appendix 1 plan. This is a sloped area and 

one can see why the route of the driveway probably had to be changed.  

The expert evidence put in by the applicants            

20. The boundaries of the AL derive from the conclusions of Adrian Parry (acting 

for a body known as Heritage Collective) who is a heritage consultant who 

investigated the building curtilage in his report dated 28 May 2019. This report 

superseded an earlier report on the building curtilage produced by Louise 

Ryan (for RPS CgMs) in April 2016 where the view taken by her was that the 

whole of the applicants’ freehold estate, namely as shown on the plan in 

App/1, comprised the building curtilage. In other words, that it comprised not 

only the land and buildings within the applicants’ title but also the unmanaged 

woodland to the west of the AL. As it seems to me that such a conclusion was 

obviously open to question and is no longer relied on by As, I recommend that 

the CRA should agree to an alteration of the extent of the claimed AL from 

that relied on when the application was first made and my report is prepared 

on this basis.  

21. The past history of the site is of assistance in arriving at a determination of the 

current building curtilage. It is known that The Hallams was built in 1894-95 on 

land that was a mixture of woodland and heathland. The Figure 2 print in Mr 

Parry’s report (this is the 1910 Finance Map survey) shows us that the main 

house had by then clearly defined laid out gardens to the front and rear. It 

also shows that there is a broad equivalence with the boundaries shown on 

the AL with the gap between the end of the structure running in from the 

southern boundary and the linear lines on the northern side coinciding with 

the edge of the driveway which used to exist on this side of The Hallams (see 

Page 322

9



9 
 

Figure 2 at Appendix 3). It is plain that the garden curtilage surrounding the 

main house in 1910 is quite distinct from the woodland beyond with the border 

between the two being, in all likelihood, defined by boundary walls of some 

description of which there are only few remnants. The remains of the structure 

running in from the southern boundary and its location on an OS map dating 

back to a survey carried out in 1913 is shown within Figures 4 and 5 of Mr 

Parry’s report which will be found at Appendix 4.    

22. It is stated in Louise Ryan’s report that the estate was broken up by sales in 

1929 and 1951. The plan attached to the conveyance accompanying the 1951 

sub-division will be found at Appendix 5 where the darker land, representing 

the house and gardens, was sold separately to the green land which 

eventually became Hallams Court. It is clearly relevant that the unmanaged 

woodland on the west was excluded from the sale plot comprising the main 

house and surrounding garden land. It is also worthy of note that the 

conveyance plan shows that the purchase land was slightly set back from the 

AL western boundary. There is also a ‘T’ mark indicating the presence of a 

fencing covenant operating on the owner of the retained woodland which was 

excluded from the sale.     

23. It is Mr Parry’s view that the true curtilage of The Hallams is the land shaded 

blue on the plan at his Figure 7 which will be found in Appendix 6 and is the 

basis for the AL shown in Appendix 2. Clearly it excludes the unmanaged 

woodland to the north and west of the main house. 

Other evidence advanced by the applicants 

24. The applicants’ solicitors, DMH Stallard LLP, have supplied the CRA with 

detailed submissions dated 29 November 2019 in support of the application. I 

have found these very helpful and they are intended to supersede the 

submissions of the same solicitors dated 16 May 2016.   

 

 

Page 323

9



10 
 

25. These solicitors state as follows:  

 19. We distinguish the Application Land2 into three areas:  

 
 a. the building;  

 
 b. the formal garden (which also includes access, parking areas and ancillary 
 buildings); and  
 
 c. the woodland.  
 
 20. In line with the Stephenson factors,3 the physical layout, use and function of the 
 areas of the Application Land is presented in the additional evidence referred to 
 below.  
 
 Statutory Declarations  
  
 21. The applicants have provided the following Statutory Declarations4 which set out 
 the layout, use and function of the areas of the Application Land over the period of 
 1979 to present:  
 
 a. Dominic Bateman, owner and property manager between 1979 and 2006 – copy at 
 Appendix 5;  
 
 b. Darren Osborne, gardener since 1986 – copy at Appendix 6;  
 
 c. Carol Collins, owner and occupier since July 2013 – copy at Appendix 7; and  
 
 d. Richard Turner, owner and occupier since July 2013 – copy at Appendix 8.  
 
 Dominic Bateman  
  
 22. The Statutory Declaration of Dominic Bateman covers the period 1979 to 2006, 
 during which time the Application Land was used by Batemans Opticians as its head 
 office. Mr Bateman was the Property Manager, Property Director and Estates’ 
 Director with responsibility for all estates’ matters.  
 
 23. Mr Bateman identifies the presence of the building and distinguishes the 
 Application Land between building, formal garden (and main access/parking) and 
 woodland throughout the period of his knowledge.  
 
 24. The main access is marked in yellow and the car parking area in orange on his 
 plan. A second access is also noted.  
 
 25. Mr Bateman’s recollection as to the extent of the formal garden is as shown 
 edged in green on his plan. This area comprised flower beds, shrubs, ornamental 
 trees, picnic tables, swimming pool, changing rooms and artists studio.  
 

                                            
2 The application land is a reference to the whole of the land comprised within As ownership and is shown on the plan at  
   Appendix 1. 
3  See AG, ex rel Sutcliffe v Calderdale BC (1982) 46 P&CR 399 at 407, per Stephenson LJ. 
4  As solicitors also say in their letter dated 9 January 2020 that the witness evidence ‘provided in the form of sworn 
   statements and the veracity of the Statutory Declarations of Dominic Bateman and Darren Osborne should be given 
   weight accordingly’.   

Page 324

9



11 
 

 26. The woodland is confirmed as having been used for recreational walking through 
 pathways.  
 
 27. Mr Bateman recollects that the western boundary where the formal garden meets 
 the woodland (shown edged in brown on his plan) was distinguished by a metal/iron 
 fence running from north to south. 
  
 28. Mr Bateman confirms that the extent of the Application Land was the enclosed 
 boundary throughout his knowledge.  
 
 Darren Osborne  
  
 29. The Statutory Declaration of Darren Osborne (gardener for the Application Land 
 since 1986 to present) confirms his recollection as to the presence of the main 
 building throughout the period of his knowledge.  
 
 30. Mr Osborne distinguishes the rest of the Application Land between formal (or 
 “ornamental”) garden and woodland.  
 
 31. In respect of the formal garden area, which Mr Osborne identifies by a green line 
 including flower beds, ornamental lawns and shrubberies as present since 1986. He 
 confirms the presence of the parking and main access within this throughout the 
 period of his knowledge. Mr Osborne also identifies a number of features within this 
 area of the Application Land as having been present but removed (swimming pool, 
 changing room, art studio, water tanks). Greenhouses and sheds are confirmed as 
 having been present (and some still present) within the formal garden area 
 throughout the period of his knowledge.  
 
 32. Mr Osborne describes the woodland surrounding the garden and the two 
 accesses therein, one which is still used and the other which was used until 2006. 
 The use of the woodland is explained as having been for recreation during the period 
 of the Batemans ownership, containing maintained walkways.  
 
 33. In respect of the extent of where the formal garden begins and ends, Mr Osborne 
 recollects that there were railings running north to south along the line shown in red 
 on his plan. These railings were removed and the path which remained alongside it 
 only became overgrown in the last couple of years.  
 
 34. Mr Osborne confirms that the extent of the Application Land was the enclosed 
 boundary of the property throughout the period of his knowledge.  
 
 Carol Collins  
  
 35. The Statutory Declaration of Carol Collins covers the period of 2013 to present, 
 throughout which Ms Collins has lived at the Application Land with Mr Turner and 
 their family.  
 
 36. Ms Collins also identifies the presence of the building throughout this period and 
 distinguishes between building, formal garden, main access/parking, and woodland.  
 
 37. The garages, access and hardstanding are identified on Ms Collins’ plan as 
 having been present throughout her knowledge of the Application Land.  
 
 38. The presence of many typical garden features and paraphernalia are confirmed 
 as present and having been present within the formal garden edged in green on Ms 

Page 325

9



12 
 

 Collins’ plan. These include sheds, greenhouses, play areas, compost and planting. 
 Ms Collins confirms this area is used as a garden and contains grassed lawns, 
 ornamental trees and bushes.  
 
 39. The woodland is shown edged in brown on Ms Collins’ plan, which has been and 
 is used as a garden for walking and playing with features such as feature trees, 
 ornamental rhododendrons and a stone bench. An additional access is identified and 
 confirmed as having been used as a driveway for a period.  
 
 40. Ms Collins points out the steps to the western edge of the formal garden, where 
 this meets the woodland. Ms Collin notes that some areas have become overgrown 
 only in the last couple of years within the formal garden.  
 
 41. Ms Collins confirms that the extent of the Application Land was the enclosed 
 boundary throughout the period of her knowledge.  
 
 Richard Turner  
  
 42. The Statutory Declaration of Richard Turner covers the period of 2013 to present, 
 throughout which Mr Turner has lived at the Application Land with Ms Collins and 
 their family.  
 
 43. Mr Turner makes a distinction between the formal garden and the woodland.  
 
 44. The formal garden is identified as edged in red on his plan, including the garages, 
 sheds and greenhouses. The use of the formal garden is helpfully described and 
 includes normal garden activities, such as sitting out, tending to plants, vegetables 
 and chickens, playing games as well as parties.  
 
 45. Mr Turner identifies the main driveway and car parking areas as present 
 throughout the period of his knowledge.  
  
 46. Mr Turner identifies an additional access which leads to the main car parking 
 area to the north of the building, identified in green on his plan and which also leads 
 on as a footway to the steps at the southern lawn.  
 
 47. At the north-west corner of the building is an area of large planting, next to the 
 car parking area. On this area, temporary electricity generators have been placed 
 over the years when needed due to frequent power cuts.  
 
 48. The woodland is shown as the land outside of the formal garden area which 
 includes an electricity supply pole. Mr Turner confirms that he regularly walked the 
 woodland with his dog prior to 2017.  
 
 49. As to the extent of the formal garden, Mr Turner refers to the driveway and path 
 separating the formal garden and the woodlands. Along this line he refers to buried 
 brickwork which he considers must have been the foundations of the railings referred 
 to by Mr Bateman and Mr Osborne.  
 
 50. Mr Turner confirms that the extent of the Application Land was the enclosed 
 boundary throughout his knowledge.  
 
 Historic photographs  
  

Page 326

9



13 
 

 51. At Appendices 9-11, we enclose historic photographs of a sunken garden which 
 was situated to the south-east of the main building.  
 
 52. The applicants believe these photographs were taken between 1950-1970s.  
 
 53. The photographs were passed to the applicants from the Merritt family who 
 owned and occupied the Application Land prior to the Batemans.  
 
 54. The applicants understand that the sunken garden was removed at some point 
 for the Batemans due to the high level of maintenance required and incompatibility 
 with an office use.  
 
 Aerial photographs  
  
 55. Our client has obtained two aerial photographs which do assist in identifying the 
 features at the Application Land throughout the relevant period.  
 
 1969  
  
 56. At Appendix 12, we enclose an aerial photograph taken on 29 October 1969. This 
 is one year after the provisional registration of the Application Land.  
 
 57. The building is clearly present along with the hardstanding parking area and main 
 access to its north. The formal garden includes the lawns and sunken garden. Clearly 
 present is the large area of ornamental planting to the northwest of the main building 
 (where it meets the parking area).  
 
 1988  
  
 58. At Appendix 13, we enclose an aerial photograph taken on 7 August 1988.  
 
 59. As in the 1969 photograph, the building is clearly present along with the 
 hardstanding parking area and main access to its north. The formal garden includes 
 the lawns but the sunken garden has been removed and laid to lawn. Clearly present 
 is the large area of ornamental planting to the northwest of the main building (where 
 it meets the parking area).  
 
 60. The features appear to be the same as those identified by Mr Bateman, Mr 
 Osborne, Ms Collins and Mr Turner. It can be concluded that the extent of building, 
 formal garden (including parking and main access) and woodland has remained the 
 same since the aerial photograph of 1969.  
 
 Documentary evidence  
  
 2013 sales particulars  
  
 61. At Appendix 14, we enclose a copy of the 2013 sales particulars for the property 
 which helpfully include a number of photographs of the formal garden.  
 
 62. On the front page and the fifth page are photographs of the front elevation of the 
 main building (the photographs are taken facing south), showing the substantial 
 parking area to the immediate north of the building and large planting area to the 
 north-west of the building (referred to by Mr Turner and visible from the aerial 
 photographs).  
 

Page 327

9



14 
 

 63. On the second page is a photograph from the southern lawn (the photograph is 
 taken facing south), showing part of the south of the formal garden.  
 
 64. On the third page is a photograph from the southern lawn (the photograph is 
 taken facing south), showing part of the south of the formal garden where the 
 boundary escapes further south-west into an area of planting which is considered by 
 the makers of the Statutory Declarations to comprise formal garden rather than 
 woodland.  
 
 65. On the fourth page is a photograph of the main access, showing iron gates and 
 substantial planting and line of trees alongside this.  
 
 66. On the tenth page are three photographs. The photograph at the top right shows 
 the southern lawn of the formal garden and area of planting to the south-west 
 referred to in paragraph 63 above. The photograph on the bottom right shows the 
 access driveway and substantial planting and trees alongside it. The photograph on 
 the bottom left appears to be taken within the woodland.  
 
 67. On the twelfth page is a photograph of the rear elevation of the building (the 
 photograph is taken facing north), showing the southern lawn of the formal garden.  
 
 OS maps  
  
 68. At Appendix 4, we enclose a copy of CgMs’ report of 2016. This contains a 
 number of OS maps.  
 
 69. At Figure 6 of the report, the 1961 map clearly shows the presence of the main 
 building, parking area to the immediate north and planting to the north-east of the 
 main building. The main access is also visible. Demarcations around the main 
 building seem to indicate the lawn and planting to the north of the main building as 
 laid out in a formal garden style. Similarly, the lawn and planting to the south of the 
 main building (as well as the steps and viewing platform) also suggest that this would 
 have been used as a formal garden.  
 
 70. At figure 7 of the report, the 1971-74 map clearly shows the presence of the 
 same features as those in the 1961 map. The other access through the woodland 
 present on the 1961 map is not shown on the 1971-74 map.  
 
 71. At figure 8 of the report, the 1988-89 map shows the presence of the same 
 features as the 1971-74 map. There is an additional road laid out to the east of the 
 main building (not within the extent of the commons registration and therefore not 
 within the extent of the Application Land).  
  
 Summary  
  
 72. In respect of the main building known as The Hallams, every OS map, aerial 
 photograph and statutory declaration confirms the presence of the building 
 throughout the relevant period of 24 September 1968 to present. Clearly, the 
 requirements of paragraph 6(2)(b) and (d) have been met in respect of the building 
 and there can be no uncertainty in respect of this.  
 
 73. The entire Application Land has comprised formal garden (including parking and 
 access) and woodland throughout the relevant period of 24 September 1968 to 
 present.  
 

Page 328

9



15 
 

 74. Applying the Stephenson [test] to determine the extent of the curtilage of the 
 main building:  
 
 Physical layout  
  
 75. It has been demonstrated through a review of the historical maps, aerial 
 photography and witness evidence that the Application Land was and still is enclosed 
 with the main building and used in conjunction with it. This is relevant as set out at 
 paragraph 18(v) of Challenge Fencing.  
 
 76. The Deregistration Land5 immediately surrounds the main building and excludes 
 the woodland to the west.  
  
 77. The Deregistration Land includes the main access road and parking area 
 immediately to the north of the main building. This is identifiable in every OS map, 
 aerial photograph and statutory declaration confirms the presence of the building 
 throughout the relevant period of 24 September 1968 to present.  
 
 78. The Deregistration Land includes the formal or “ornamental” garden which 
 comprised and still comprises lawns, flower beds, trees and planting.  
 
 79. The formal garden was bounded by railings to the western site of the building 
 where it meets the woodland (which is outside of the Deregistration Land but within 
 the Application Land). These railings are referred to by Mr Bateman and Mr Osborne 
 (although Mr Osborne’s northern line follows farther west than Mr Bateman. Surrey 
 County Council should note that the Deregistration Land is proposed to be the 
 narrower line set out by Mr Bateman). The brick wall base of the railings is visible in 
 some places along that boundary which follows north to south, with steps present in 
 the southern part.  
 
 80. Mr Osborne and Mr Turner both refer to a pathway running along this line, where 
 the formal garden meets the woodland. Although Mr Osborne’s northern line follows 
 farther west than Mr Turner, Surrey County Council should note that the 
 Deregistration Land is proposed to be the narrower line set out by Mr Turner (which 
 also accords with Mr Bateman’s recollection).  
 
 81. Within the formal garden within the Deregistration Land [there] were (and still are) 
 ancillary garden buildings including sheds and greenhouses. These are identified by 
 Mr Osborne, Mr Turner and Ms Collins. Typical garden paraphernalia including 
 children’s play equipment and seating areas are also identified within the formal 
 garden included within the Deregistration Land.  
 
 82. In the earlier part of the relevant period, the formal garden within the 
 Deregistration Land included the water tanks, sunken garden, art studio, changing 
 room and swimming pool. These have over time been removed and laid over to lawn 
 used as part of the garden activities of the occupiers from time to time.  
 
 83. During the Batemans’ time, many picnic benches were set out on the formal 
 garden lawns and used by members of staff.  
 
 84. The extent of formal garden is not unusual when considering the size of the main 
 building itself. The main building known as the Hallams is 15,000 sq feet. It currently 

                                            
5 This is the land shown hatched blue on the plan in Appendix 2. 

 

Page 329

9



16 
 

 has 11 bathrooms and a larger number of bedrooms, having been built in 1895 as 
 the principal residence of a 147 acre estate including stables, coach house and a 
 number of ancillary cottages.The relative size between the claimed curtilage and the 
 building is a relevant consideration as identified by paragraph 18(iii) of the Challenge 
 Fencing decision.  
 
 85. The woodland (outside of the Deregistration Land but within the Application Land) 
 lies further to the west of the main building and was separated by railings during part 
 of the relevant period. The pathway along the boundary between the woodland and 
 the formal garden has been present throughout but become overgrown in the last 
 couple of years only.  
  
 Ownership past and present  
  
 86. The Application Land (including the Deregistration Land) has passed ownership 
 over the years, but as a whole parcel throughout the period relevant in this 
 application (September 1968 to present).  
 
 Use or function of the land and buildings, past and present  
  
 87. The main building known as The Hallams has been used as a residence or office 
 throughout the relevant period.  
 
 88. The main access and parking area have clearly been used in conjunction with the 
 use of the main building as such, as the only areas of access and hardstanding at the 
 Application Land.  
 
 89. The formal garden (within the Deregistration Land) have been used as a garden 
 for the main building. These contained and do still contain sheds, greenhouses,  
 planting and garden paraphernalia. Many picnic benches were once present, along 
 with the sunken garden, art studio, changing rooms and swimming pool. They were 
 separated by the railings and a pathway between the west boundary of the formal 
 garden and the east boundary of the woodland. The statutory declarations 
 demonstrate that they have been used for gardening, sitting out, playing, walking and 
 events.  
 
 90. The woodland (outside of the Deregistration Land but within the Application Land) 
 has been used during the time of the Batemans for enjoying the walkways and has 
 been used by the applicants for walking and playing.  
 
 Conclusion  
 
 91. On the basis of the evidence provided, it is clear that the Deregistration Land 
 meets the statutory tests for deregistration under this application. The Deregistration 
 Land has been since 24 September 1968 to present date covered by a building and 
 its curtilage. This should be removed from the register of common land.  
 
 92. On the basis of the evidence provided, the woodland (being the area of the 
 Application Land not contained within the Deregistration Land) meets some of the 
 criteria of curtilage and Surrey County Council is asked to make a determination in 
 respect of this.  
 
 93. Please do not hesitate to contact Chloe Karamian should there be any further 
 queries.  
 

Page 330

9



17 
 

26. I have set out at these submissions in full as I could not do them proper 

justice by providing merely a short précis. It will also be observed that the 

CRA is being asked to consider whether the unmanaged woodland to the 

west of the AL falls within the building curtilage of The Hallams. The 

application to de-register does not, however, relate to this area which will, in 

any event, continue to be registered common land.  

27. If it assists, my preliminary view about this is that as this area of scrub and 

mainly impenetrable woodland, someway distant from the main house, has 

little or no functional connection with the AL, I fail to see how it could sensibly 

be said to fall within what one might regard as the building curtilage. However, 

if an application were made to de-register the woodland then it would be my 

recommendation that there should be a non-statutory inquiry as I have noted 

concerns about the quality of the evidence advanced in relation to the 

woodland which would, I think, need to be tested by oral evidence. In the 

circumstances, whilst it would admittedly be useful to clarify, once and for all, 

the status of the woodland I am disinclined to recommend to the CRA that it 

should do so on the basis of the evidence presented to the CRA. The sensible 

course is, I think, to allow the amendment and to deal with the application in 

its amended form and to leave it to As to pursue a further application in 

relation to the woodland if they are minded to do so. I am loath to say any 

more at this stage about the status of the unmanaged woodland although I 

have considered it reasonable to offer a preliminary view about this and, of 

course, there are obvious implications which may be derived from my findings 

on the amended application.                

28. I was particularly interested in the statutory declaration of Dominic Bateman 

dated 27 November 2019 who was responsible for The Hallams in the period 

1979-2006 when it was held by trustees of the GC Bateman pension scheme. 

It is his evidence that the boundaries of the land comprising the AL 

represented the extent of the managed garden (which clearly rings true) 

although the woodland area to the west was, as he claims, maintained and 

accommodated numerous paths for those to walk on and enjoy the trees. I 

find this evidence difficult to accept as the area I saw has probably not been 

Page 331

9



18 
 

managed for a great many years, nor were there any paths that I could see, 

nor were any pointed out to me.  

29. Darren Osborne tells us in his statutory declaration dated 26 November 2019 

that he has been a part-time gardener at The Hallams since 1986. He says 

that the managed or ornamental garden around the main house is shown by 

the green line on the plan attached to his statement which, though slightly 

wider on the western side, coincides roughly in its shape with the AL. He also 

says that the ornamental garden was bordered on its western side by four foot 

high railings running between the steps on the southern boundary and a point 

quite close to the north-west corner of the AL. This is the red line shown on 

his plan which will be found at Appendix 7. I saw none of this when I visited 

the site, even though we walked within the same area, although there were, 

as I have already indicated, some old steps at one place on the western side 

enabling walkers to walk between the higher and lower levels on the edge of 

the managed area.  

30. Mr Osborne also says that he has maintained the woodland area to the west 

of the green edging. He refers to walkways (which were evidently used by 

Bateman employees) and the planting of new species of trees and 

rhododendrons, none of which I observed or were pointed out to me on my 

visit. Nor could I visualise the second of the two red lines which is claimed to 

represent an access (presumably on foot) between the main building and the 

northern edge of the property. Despite my concerns about elements of Mr 

Osborn’s evidence, it is beyond doubt that the AL would have been a 

coherent curtilage of the main building in terms of its function as closely 

managed garden land.   

31. The statutory declaration of Carol Collins dated 25 November 2019 gives us 

more of the history of the property. The plan attached to her statement tells us 

that the AL is (with other land outside the registered common on the eastern 

side) the managed area surrounding the main house (which I saw for myself) 

and that the woodland on the western side is, as she says, used ‘as a garden 

for walking and playing’. Such evidence concerns me as this area consists of 

largely of impenetrable scrub and unmanaged woodland (I might add that it 

Page 332

9



19 
 

was not my impression that the undergrowth within the woodland area was of 

recent origin or else had been deliberately laid out in this way, nor were these 

facts pointed out to me on my visit). It was not suggested to me by Mr Turner 

either that the area was in regular use for walks. Nor do I recall the ‘old stone 

bench’ mentioned by Carol Collins in paragraph 11 of her statutory declaration 

being pointed out to me on site and, in all probability, I would have taken a  

photograph of this feature if it had been.6 Her plan helpfully locates the steps 

already mentioned and this is why I am including it at Appendix 8.  

32. In his statutory declaration dated 27 November 2019 Richard Turner has 

marked out in red what he describes as ‘the formal gardens’ (which are 

undoubtedly well used by the family) which aligns with the AL and is 

consistent with what I myself observed on my visit to the site. Mr Turner also 

tells us that on the western side of the green area there used to be a vehicular 

track running in from a 5-bar gate on the northern boundary to the main 

house. I recall this access but it is unclear to me how this track could ever 

have been successfully used as an alternative access to the main house. In 

dealing with the steps (which he too depicts on his plan), he tells us that there 

is a pathway which leads down to a possible viewing area looking out over the 

valley which I recall we discussed on site. He also deals with the remnants of 

the brickwork running north from the southern boundary which he thinks 

represent the foundations for railings that ran alongside the pathway but 

which were not present when they moved in. There were admittedly some 

railings stacked near the steps but the evidence goes no further than this. It is 

though probable that there would have been an attractive path leading from 

the steps to the edge of the boundary on its southern side. The plan produced 

by Mr Turner is to be found at Appendix 9.  

The objections 

33. The OSS originally objected as they considered that the application land in its 

initial form (see plan at Appendix 1) included extensive areas of scrub and 

                                            
6 Neither of the officers who attended the site visit could recall seeing a stone bench although one of them referred in her    
notes to a ‘stone seat’ marked in the northern area of the western boundary of the AL. However, she cannot recall whether 
they actually saw this feature or were just told that there had been a stone seat in the past. 

Page 333

9



20 
 

woodland and went well beyond the building curtilage for present purposes 

such that it could not be regarded as part of the garden of The Hallams. Mr 

Craddock (who is a Case Officer for the OSS) also goes into the law in his 

helpful email dated 12 September 2016. He puts the OSS’s case in this way: 

 The land cannot be regarded as part of the garden of The Hallams, but more as a wilderness, 

and a buffer between Littleford Lane and the publicly accessible heath to the north, and the 

house and gardens. While the land is indisputably owned by the owners of The Hallams, that 

does not make it ‘intimately associated’ with the house and gardens, but a useful adjunct to it. 

It is certainly not some ‘small area’ which serves a purpose of The Hallams in a ‘necessary or 

useful way’. Even if the wilderness area were to now be considered to be part of the extended 

garden of The Hallams (and we do not accept that it is), we understand that The Hallams was 

formally, until 2006, occupied as offices, and suggest that the wilderness was even less likely 

to form part of the garden of an office. 

 … The wilderness area is not part of the curtilage for the purposes of the relevant test, and 

the application should be refused as regards that area … 

 For the avoidance of doubt, we have no objection to the application being granted in relation 

to the buildings contained within the application area, and the gardens, yards and other 

immediately ancillary land to them.  

34. So far as is material, Mr Byrne’s objection (and his objection statement is 

dated 9 August 2016) is, as I understand it, similarly based on the premise 

that the building curtilage of The Hallams would not extend to the unmanaged 

woodland. In his email to the CRA dated 6 June 2019 he puts it in this way: 

 The curtilage of a building is something rather different from the gardens and woodlands 

which provide the setting for a large country house; or the grounds, parks and estates 

surrounding such a house  

 … in such a case as the present one, wouldn’t it be truer to say that – apart from a metalled 

area immediately adjacent to the front and sides, and probably a ha-ha at the back – a house 

of this kind does not have a curtilage because it enjoys a setting which obviates the need 

for a curtilage?  

Conclusion          

Page 334

9



21 
 

35. I am satisfied that the AL is the proper building curtilage of The Hallams. It 

represents the historic garden curtilage and even today this is the area which 

can sensibly be said to be ancillary to the main house.  

36. The land to the west of the AL is, as Mr Craddock rightly says, more of a 

wilderness and a buffer between Littleford Lane and the publicly accessible 

heath to the north, and the main house and gardens. For one thing, the nature 

of its use is quite different and, for another, the area up to the Littleford Lane 

is, as it seems to me, physically remote from the AL. It is not as if such land is 

even necessary or useful to the main house and surrounding garden curtilage. 

For instance, it is not as if we are dealing with stabling and associated 

buildings within a courtyard or other outbuildings near the main house where, 

in terms of function, there would be an obvious association with the main 

house (see Skerrits).  

37. Accordingly, it is my recommendation to the CRA that the application to de-

register the land shown hatched blue on the plan at Appendix 2 is justified on 

the evidence presented by As and on the basis of my own inspection of the 

site. It follows that the commons registration within reference CL 435 should 

be adjusted by the removal of such land from the registration.  

 

 

William Webster 

3 Paper Buildings 

TEMPLE 

Inspector                 20 January 2020  

 

    

                      

Page 335

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Annexe C - Inspector's report (Appendices)

Page 337

9



Page 338

9



Page 339

9



Page 340

9



Page 341

9



Page 342

9



Page 343

9



Page 344

9



Page 345

9



Page 346

9



Page 347

9



Page 348

9



Page 349

9



Page 350

9



Page 351

9



Page 352

9



Page 353

9



Page 354

9



 

Figure 1 – Front aspect The Hallams 

 

 

 

Figure 2 – Rear aspect The Hallams 

 

 

Page 355

9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
	Minutes
	45/18 MINERALS/WASTE TA2019/1608 - Land at Kings Farm, Tilburstow Hill Road, South Godstone, Surrey RH9 8LB

	7 MINERALS & WASTE APPLICATION WA/2019/0796 - Loxley Well Site - Land South of Dunsfold Road and East of High Loxley Road, Dunsfold, Surrey
	Plan 2 Loxley 0072
	v1  P and R CommitteeLOXLEY 21May20

	8 MINERALS/WASTE EL18/3802 WO2018/1358 - Units 11 and 12 Wintersells Road, Byfleet, West Byfleet, Surrey KT14 7LF
	Plan 1 Wintersells0144
	783533843-2410-04_Proposed_Site_Plan_(M)_A2
	Sheets and Views
	A2_Landscape_Bottom


	681773843-2410-05_Building_Elevs_(B)_A0
	Sheets and Views
	A0LBL


	572253843-2410-07_Sens_Rec_Plan_(-)_A3
	v1  WINTERSELLSP and R Committee 21May20

	9 APPLICATION TO RECTIFY THE REGISTER OF COMMON LAND. LAND AT THE HALLAMS, LITTLEFORD LANE, BLACKHEATH, GUILDFORD
	Annexe A and Annexe B Plans The Hallams v1.2
	Annexe C Inspector's Report 20 Jan 2020
	Annexe C Inspector's report Appendices
	Figure 1 & 2 The Hallams




